ON THE PROOF THEORY OF INQUISITIVE LOGIC

MSc Thesis (Afstudeerscriptie)

written by

Valentin Müller (born May 22nd, 1991 in Singen, Germany)

under the supervision of **Dr Marianna Girlando** and **Dr Benno van den Berg**, and submitted to the Examinations Board in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MSc in Logic

at the Universiteit van Amsterdam.

Date of the public defense:Members of the Thesis Committee:July 6, 2023Dr Malvin Gattinger (chair)

Dr Malvin Gattinger (chair) Dr Marianna Girlando (supervisor) Dr Benno van den Berg (supervisor) Dr Fan Yang Prof Dr Lev Beklemishev



INSTITUTE FOR LOGIC, LANGUAGE AND COMPUTATION

Abstract

This thesis is a proof-theoretical study of various systems of inquisitive logic. In the first part, we consider the basic system of propositional inquisitive logic, denoted by InqB (see, e.g., Ciardelli 2022). We construct a natural deduction system for InqB, prove a normalization theorem and establish a restricted subformula property. Our system is based on an extended natural deduction formalism in which not only formulas, but also rules can act as assumptions that may be discharged in the course of a derivation. We then present a G3-style labelled sequent calculus with internalized support semantics for IngB. Our system is shown to satisfy a number of convenient structural properties such as cut-admissibility, height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction, and height-preserving invertibility of all rules. Afterwards, we modularly adapt our sequent calculus to other systems of inquisitive logic, including an intuitionistic variant of IngB described by Ciardelli et al. (2020) and extensions of InqB with Kripke modalities. We provide a general method that allows to construct cut-free labelled sequent calculi for all inquisitive Kripke logics characterized by a certain type of first-order formulas, known as geometric implications. This generalizes a famous result for ordinary modal logic established by Negri (2005).

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Marianna Girlando, for her invaluable guidance and support, and for her constant encouragement throughout the writing of this thesis. Marianna was always available to discuss the results of my work, while also giving me the freedom to develop my own ideas and to explore the topic on my own. Marianna, it was a real pleasure working with you and I couldn't have asked for a better supervisor. I would also like to thank the members of my defense committee— Fan Yang, Lev Beklemishev, Benno van den Berg, and Malvin Gattinger—for taking the time to read my thesis in full, and for their insightful questions and comments.

Contents

In	Introduction					
1	Pre	liminaries	1			
	1.1	Information States and Inquisitive Propositions	1			
	1.2	Propositional Inquisitive Logic	4			
	1.3	Truth-Conditionality	8			
	1.4	Properties of IngB	9			
	1.5	Standard Axiomatizations of InqB	11			
2	Nat	ural Deduction for InqB	16			
	2.1	The Natural Deduction System NinqB ⁺	16			
	2.2	Soundness and Completeness	21			
	2.3	Cut Segments and Conversions	23			
	2.4	Normalization	27			
	2.5	Properties of Normal Deductions	32			
3	Labelled Sequents for InqB 39					
	3.1	The Sequent Calculus GLinqB	39			
	3.2	Properties of GLinqB	44			
		3.2.1 Generalized Initial Sequents	44			
		3.2.2 Basic Admissibility and Invertibility Results	45			
		3.2.3 Admissibility of the Cut Rule	49			
		3.2.4 Further Admissibility Results	55			
	3.3	Soundness and Completeness	57			
	3.4	Towards a Proof Search Procedure for Inquisitive Logic	62			
4	Intu	uitionistic Inquisitive Logic	67			
	4.1	An Intuitionistic Variant of Inquisitive Logic	67			
	4.2	Standard Axiomatizations of Inql	72			
	4.3	The Sequent Calculus GLinqI	74			
	4.4	Basic Properties of GLinql	76			
	4.5	Soundness and Completeness	83			

5	Inqu	uisitive Kripke Logic	87		
	5.1	Kripke Modalities in Inquisitive Logic	88		
	5.2	Extensions of InqK	92		
		5.2.1 Some Basic Notions	93		
		5.2.2 Extensions of InqK Based on Normal Modal Logics	95		
		5.2.3 Geometric Extensions of InqK	97		
	5.3	Sequent Calculi for Geometric Extensions of InqK	99		
	5.4	Basic Properties	103		
	5.5	Indirect Completeness Proofs	108		
	5.6	Completeness via Countermodels	114		
Conclusion					
Bil	Bibliography				

Introduction

This thesis is devoted to the proof theory of inquisitive logic. Inquisitive logic provides a semantic framework for propositional and first-order logic that allows to formalize not only the informative content of sentences in natural language, but also the issues raised by such a sentence. This makes it possible to account for the meaning of both statements and questions in a uniform way. The basic system of propositional inquisitive logic was first described by Ciardelli (2009), Groenendijk and Roelofsen (2009) as well as Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011). Roughly speaking, this system is obtained by enriching classical propositional logic with a new connective \mathbb{V} , referred to as the inquisitive disjunction operator. This connective is used in order to form alternative questions such as 'Have you lost your wallet or your keys?' within the language of the system. Thus, intuitively, $\varphi \lor \psi$ stands for the question whether φ or ψ . The familiar truth-conditional semantics of classical logic is extended to a more general state-based semantics centered around the notion of *support*. That is, rather than specifying what it means for a formula to be true or false with respect to an atomic valuation (or with respect to a possible world), inquisitive semantics specifies what it means for a formula to be supported by an *information state*, representing a certain body of information. In inquisitive logic, information states are modelled as sets of possible worlds namely, those worlds that are compatible with the information conveyed by the state. Intuitively, a formula φ is said to be *supported* by an information state s, just in case s implies the information conveyed by φ and s resolves the issue raised by φ . From a technical point of view, standard inquisitive logic can be conceived from two different perspectives: on the one hand, it can be seen as a conservative extension of classical logic; on the other hand, it can be seen as a logic that is intermediate between intuitionistic and classical logic. However, inquisitive logic is not an intermediate logic in the usual sense, since it is not closed under uniform substitution. This makes it particularly difficult to define simple, analytic proof systems for inquisitive logic.

Recent years have seen a growing interest in the semantic features of inquisitive logic, its linguistic applications and its relationship to other frameworks (see, e.g., Ciardelli et al. 2019; Ciardelli 2022). However, the *proof-theoretical* properties of the system have received little attention in the literature so far. In fact, apart from a few exceptions (namely, Frittella et al. 2016; Chen and Ma 2017), there exists no work on the proof theory of inquisitive logic. The present thesis aims to fill this gap, by providing an extensive proof-theoretical investigation of basic inquisitive logic and related systems. The achievements of this thesis are manifold: on the one hand, we will construct various analytic proof systems for basic inquisitive logic and some of its variants, including a system of intuitionistic inquisitive logic described by Ciardelli et al. (2020) and a wide range of inquisitive modal logics; on the other hand, we will carefully investigate the properties of our proof systems and provide a solid ground for further research in this direction.

Roughly speaking, a proof system is said to be *analytic*, if every valid formula φ of the underlying logic has a proof containing only formulas that are, in some sense, 'relevant' to φ . In most

cases, this simply means that the proof system satisfies a suitable version of the *subformula property*: every valid formula φ should have a proof containing only subformulas of φ . Since this is a very demanding requirement, weaker forms of the subformula property are usually also accepted as being sufficient for an analytic proof system. In the case of natural deduction systems, analyticity is usually established by means of a *normalization theorem*, stating that every deduction in the system can be transformed into a deduction without 'detours' (cf. Troelstra and Schwichtenberg 1996, pp. 178–189). In the case of sequent calculi, there are two different methods. If the cut rule is assumed to be included in the calculus, then analyticity is typically established by a suitable *cut-elimination theorem*, i.e., by providing a constructive procedure that allows to transform any derivation in the system into a cut-free derivation. If the cut rule is not included in the calculus, then the system is already analytic *by design*. However, in order to establish the completeness of such a system proof-theoretically, one has to show that the cut rule is *admissible* in the system, i.e., whenever the premises of the rule are derivable, then so is the conclusion of the rule (cf. Negri and Von Plato 2001; Troelstra and Schwichtenberg 1996).¹ In this thesis, we will always opt for the second strategy, so all our sequent calculi are cut-free by definition.

While analyticity is taken to be the most important criterion for the quality of a proof system in this thesis, we will occasionally also evaluate our systems against other criteria. For example, in a well-designed system of natural deduction, we expect each connective to have exactly one introduction rule and exactly one elimination rule, and these rules should exhibit some kind of 'harmony' or 'symmetry' (a similar requirement should be adopted for the left and the right rules of a sequent calculus). Another important property is *modularity*: if one logic is an extension or a slight modification of another logic, then there should be an easy way to turn a proof system for the latter into a proof system for the former (ideally just by adding a few rules).

The main contributions of this thesis can be summarized as follows. In the first part, we consider the basic system of propositional inquisitive logic, denoted by IngB. We provide an elegant natural deduction system for InqB, establish a normalization theorem and derive a weak form of the subformula property for our system. This is achieved by adopting an extended natural deduction formalism inspired by the so-called calculus of higher-level rules developed by Schroeder-Heister (1981; 1984). In the extended setting, not only formulas, but also rules can serve as assumptions that may be discharged in the course of a derivation. Afterwards, we construct a cut-free labelled sequent calculus for IngB. Labelled sequent calculi extend the traditional sequent-style formalism introduced by Gentzen (1935a; 1935b) with labels, allowing to incorporate the semantics of a logic directly into the syntax of the proof system. Our sequent calculus is shown to have a number of convenient structural properties. In particular, we will see that the structural rules of weakening, contraction and cut are *admissible* in our system, i.e., whenever the premises of these rules are derivable, then also the conclusion is derivable. In the case of weakening and contraction, admissibility also preserves the height of derivations. We also show that each rule of our system is height-preserving invertible, i.e., if the conclusion of one of these rules is derivable, then so is each premise of the rule, with at most the same derivation height.

In the second part, we consider various extensions and modifications of basic inquisitive logic. First, we provide a labelled sequent calculus for an intuitionistic variant of InqB described by Ciardelli et al. (2020). Our sequent calculus for this variant is obtained from the sequent calculus for InqB in a modular way, and is shown to have the same structural properties. Finally, we consider various systems of inquisitive Kripke logic, i.e., extensions of InqB with modal operators interpreted over ordinary Kripke models (see Ciardelli 2016b, Chapter 6). We provide a generic method that allows to construct cut-free labelled sequent calculi for all inquisitive Kripke logics characterized by a certain type of first-order frame conditions, known as *geometric implications*. This generalizes a well-known result of Negri (2005) from the proof theory of ordinary (i.e., non-

¹ Alternatively, one can use a semantic argument in order to give a direct completeness proof for the cut-free calculus.

inquisitive) modal logic. Each of our sequent calculi is shown to satisfy cut-admissibility, heightpreserving admissibility of weakening and contraction, and height-preserving invertibility of all rules. Below, we provide a more detailed, chapter-by-chapter overview of the thesis.

Structure of the Thesis

Chapter 1. Preliminaries. In this chapter, we give a short introduction to inquisitive semantics and provide a detailed exposition of the basic system of propositional inquisitive logic (InqB). We also present some standard axiomatizations of InqB, including a natural deduction system introduced by Ciardelli (2016b) and a Hilbert-style system described by Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011). However, from a proof-theoretical point of view, none of these axiomatizations is well-behaved.

Chapter 2. Natural Deduction for InqB. We define a new natural deduction system for InqB and establish a normalization theorem for our system. More precisely, we provide a constructive procedure that allows to transform every deduction in our system into a deduction without 'detours'. Our system is based on an extended natural deduction formalism in which not only *formulas*, but also *rules* can act as assumptions. The basic idea is inspired by the work of Schroeder-Heister (1981; 1984; 2014). We also prove a restricted subformula property for our system, which turns out to be rather weak though. However, for a certain special case, a full subformula property will be obtained. Moreover, we will see that the subformula property is still strong enough to establish some interesting properties of inquisitive logic in a purely proof-theoretical way.

Chapter 3. Labelled Sequents for InqB. In this chapter, we provide a cut-free labelled sequent calculus for InqB. Our system, denoted by GLinqB, can be regarded as a G3-style sequent calculus in the sense of Ketonen (1944) and Kleene (1952), so weakening and contraction are fully 'absorbed' into the axioms and the remaining rules of the system. Labelled formulas will be used in order to incorporate the support semantics of InqB directly into the proof rules of GLinqB. We carefully investigate the structural properties of our system. In particular, we show that GLinqB enjoys cut-admissibility, height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction, and height-preserving invertibility of all rules. The completeness of GLinqB is established proof-theoretically, by exploiting the admissibility of the cut rule in our system. We also discuss a possible proof search strategy for GLinqB and prove a normal form result for the labels used in our system.

Chapter 4. Intuitionistic Inquisitive Logic. We define a labelled sequent calculus for a variant of InqB in which the background logic for statements is no longer classical logic, but intuitionistic logic. This variant is denoted by InqI and was first described by Ciardelli et al. (2020). Our sequent calculus for InqI is obtained from the system GLinqB in a very elegant way and is shown to have the same structural properties. The completeness is again established proof-theoretically.

Chapter 5. Inquisitive Kripke Logic. In this chapter, we consider various inquisitive logics obtained by enriching InqB with a modal operator \Box , interpreted over ordinary Kripke models. For every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we will define a corresponding inquisitive system Inq \mathfrak{L} . The weakest logic obtained in this way is denoted by InqK and can be seen as an inquisitive extension of the basic modal logic K. The most important contribution of this chapter is a general strategy that allows to construct a cut-free labelled sequent calculus $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ for every inquisitive Kripke logic Inq \mathfrak{L} determined by a finite set A of *geometric implications*, i.e., first-order frame conditions of the form $\forall \vec{w} (\varphi \rightarrow \psi)$, where φ and ψ do not contain implications or universal quantifiers. The construction is based on a method described by Negri (2003; 2005), which allows to generate sequent rules from geometric implications in a schematic way. Each of the systems $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ is shown to enjoy cut-admissibility, height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction, and heightpreserving invertibility of all rules. Our completeness proof is based on the construction of an infinite proof search tree and the extraction of a countermodel from an open branch of this tree.

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we will give a short introduction to inquisitive logic, explain the semantics of the system and describe some of its standard axiomatizations. The basic system of propositional inquisitive logic is denoted by InqB and goes back to the work of Ciardelli (2009), Groenendijk and Roelofsen (2009) as well as Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011).¹ From a technical point of view, InqB is obtained by enriching classical propositional logic with an *inquisitive disjunction operator* \forall , allowing to form alternative question within the language of the system. Thus, intuitively, a formula $\varphi \lor \psi$ represents the question *whether* φ or ψ . The ordinary truth-conditional semantics of classical logic is replaced by a more general *support semantics*, specifying the conditions under which a formula is supported by some body of information. This allows to define a generalized notion of entailment, capable of dealing not only with statements, but also with questions.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 1.1, we will sketch the basic ideas underlying inquisitive logic and motivate the semantic setup from an informal point of view. We will see that, in inquisitive logic, the main semantic difference between questions and assertions lies in the concept of truth-conditionality: a proposition is non-inquisitive, just in case it is truthconditional. In Section 1.2, we will then provide a formal exposition of the system InqB. The key concept is the so-called support relation, determining the support conditions for all formulas of InqB. Afterwards, in Section 1.3, we will define the notion of a *Harrop formula* and show that any such formula is guaranteed to be truth-conditional in InqB. In Section 1.4, we will describe some further properties of the system. It will turn out that InqB can be considered from two different angles: on the one hand, it may be seen as a conservative extension of classical logic; on the other hand, it can be seen as a non-standard intermediate logic. In Section 1.5, finally, we will present some well-known axiomatizations of InqB, including a non-normalizing natural deduction system and a Hilbert-style axiomatization based on the Kreisel-Putnam axiom. We also provide a new Hilbert-style system for InqB and establish its completeness in a proof-theoretical way.

1.1 Information States and Inquisitive Propositions

We start by giving an informal explanation of the fundamental semantic concepts and the basic ideas underlying inquisitive logic. A more comprehensive exposition of the material is provided by Ciardelli (2016b, Chapter 1) as well as Ciardelli et al. (2019, Chapter 2).

Traditionally, logic is considered to be the study of valid inference patters between a specific type of linguistic entities, namely *declarative sentences*, or *statements*, or *assertions*.² In classical

¹ Important predecessors of modern inquisitive logic include the partition theory of questions (Groenendijk and Stokhof 1984), Groenendijk's *logic of interrogation* (Groenendijk 1999; ten Cate and Shan 2007) and inquisitive pair semantics (Groenendijk 2009; Mascarenhas 2009). For further details, we refer to Ciardelli (2022, pp. 41–49).

² Throughout this thesis, the terms 'declarative sentence', 'statement' and 'assertion' will be used synonymously.

logic, the semantic content of such a sentence is usually assumed to be given by its *truth conditions*, i.e., by the conditions that must be satisfied by a state of affairs in order to make the sentence true. In this section, any formal specification of a complete state of affairs will be referred to as a *possible world*. In particular, we do not care about the concrete way in which possible worlds are represented; instead, we simply assume an intuitive understanding of this concept.

It is well known that there is also an alternative way of formalizing the meaning of a declarative sentence. Under this approach, which is very common in the literature on *intensional logic*, the semantic content of an assertion is identified with its *truth-set*, i.e., the set of all possible worlds making the assertion true. The truth-set of an assertion α is also referred to as the *proposition expressed by* α (cf. Stalnaker 1976, p. 80). Thus, in this setting, a proposition simply amounts to a subset $P \subseteq W$, where W stands for the entire logical space (i.e., the set of all possible worlds).

This standard way of formalizing the semantic content of sentences works well, if only *assertions* are involved. However, it falls short as soon as one wishes to formalize also the meaning of *questions*. For one thing, it is not clear what it could mean for an interrogative sentence to be true or false at a possible world; for another, an appropriate formalization of questions should take into account not only the *informative content* of a sentence, but also the *issues* it raises.

Inquisitive logic overcomes this limitation by employing a more general semantics centered around the notion of *support*. That is, rather than specifying what it means for a sentence to be true or false at a possible world, inquisitive semantics specifies what it means for a sentence to be supported by an *information state*. Formally, an information state is modelled as a set of possible worlds—namely, those worlds that are compatible with the information conveyed by the state.³ Writing again W for the entire logical space, we thus adopt the following definition.

Definition 1.1.1 (Information State). An *information state* is a set of possible worlds $s \subseteq W$.

Intuitively, every information state represents a certain *body of information*, since it locates the actual world within a particular sphere of the logical space. More formally, a state $s \subseteq W$ conveys the information that the actual world is one of the worlds in s and that all worlds in $W \setminus s$ are *ruled out*. Note that, if we have $s \subseteq t$ for some states $s, t \subseteq W$, then every world ruled out by t is also ruled out by s, so s contains at least as much information as t. For this reason, any subset $s \subseteq t$ of an information state t is also referred to as an *enhancement* of t.

Observe that the empty set, \emptyset , and the set of all possible worlds, W, are also information states. Intuitively, W is the least informative state, because it does not rule out any candidate for the actual world. In this sense, one might say that W is the *trivial* information state. The empty state \emptyset , on the other hand, rules out every candidate for the actual world, so it represents an inconsistent body of information. For this reason, we refer to \emptyset as the *inconsistent state*.

Using the notion of an information state, it is now possible to represent the semantic content of both *questions* and *assertions* in a uniform way. In inquisitive semantics, this is achieved by enriching the structure of propositions, enabling them to encode not only the information conveyed by a sentence, but also the issues it raises. But how could such an issue be modelled formally? The basic idea is to identify an inquisitive proposition with a *set of information states*: those states that contain enough information to resolve the issue raised by the proposition.

There are now two things to consider. First, it seems natural to assume that every issue can be resolved by at least one information state, so propositions should always be *non-empty*. Secondly, if the issue raised by a proposition is resolved by some state *s*, then it should also be resolved by every enhancement of *s*. In other words, we should require propositions to be *downward closed*.

Definition 1.1.2 (Proposition). A *proposition* is a set of information states $P \subseteq \mathcal{P}(W)$ such that:

- (i) P is non-empty, i.e., $P \neq \emptyset$,
- (ii) P is downward closed, i.e., for all $s, t \subseteq W$, if $s \in P$ and $t \subseteq s$, then also $t \in P$.

³ This way of modelling information is also used outside inquisitive logic (see, e.g., Hintikka 1962; Stalnaker 1978).



Figure 1.1: Some propositions.

The *informative content* of a proposition P is denoted by info(P) and defined to be the union of all states in P. That is, info(P) is the information state given by $info(P) := \bigcup P$. Clearly, every proposition P must contain the inconsistent state: because P is non-empty, there must be at least one state $s \in P$. But then, since P is downward closed and $\emptyset \subseteq s$, it also holds $\emptyset \in P$. In inquisitive logic, the most fundamental semantic concept is taken to be *support*, rather than *truth*. Intuitively, a state s supports a proposition P, just in case it implies the information conveyed by P, i.e., $s \subseteq info(P)$, and it resolves the issue raised by P, i.e., $s \in P$. Observe that the first of these two conditions is implied by the second. Thus, support can simply be defined as follows.

Definition 1.1.3 (Support). An information state *s* supports a proposition *P*, if $s \in P$.

Using the notion of support, one can now also define a suitable notion of *truth*. Intuitively, P is true at a world w, if w is compatible with the information conveyed by P, i.e., $w \in info(P)$. But this just means that P is supported by the singleton state $\{w\}$, so we define truth as follows.

Definition 1.1.4 (Truth). A proposition P is *true* at a world $w \in W$, if P is supported by $\{w\}$.

In order to make sense of the notions just introduced, let us consider some examples. Figure 1.1 depicts a number of propositions over the set of worlds $W = \{w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4\}$. For simplicity, only the maximal elements of the propositions are displayed. The reader should bear in mind, however, that all enhancements of these maximal elements are also assumed to be included in the propositions.⁴ The maximal elements of a proposition P are also referred to as the alternatives of P. The proposition in Figure 1.1 (a) has only one alternative, so it does not raise any issue, but simply conveys the information that the actual world is a member of $\{w_1, w_2, w_3\}$. The very same information is conveyed by the proposition in Figure 1.1 (b), but this proposition also raises the issue as to whether the actual world is contained in $\{w_1, w_2\}$ or in $\{w_1, w_3\}$. In order to resolve this issue consistently, an information state has to establish either that the actual world is in $\{w_1, w_2\}$ or that the actual world is in $\{w_1, w_3\}$. The proposition in Figure 1.1 (c) does not convey any (non-trivial) information, but raises the issue as to which of the four worlds is the actual one. Thus, an information state supports this issue, just in case it is either inconsistent or it contains exactly one candidate for the actual world. The proposition in Figure 1.1 (d), finally, corresponds to the power set $\mathcal{P}(W)$, so it is trivially supported by every state $s \subseteq W$.

In inquisitive logic, the semantic difference between questions and assertions is captured by the concept of *inquisitiveness*. Intuitively, a proposition P is *inquisitive*, if the information conveyed by P does not suffice to resolve the issue raised by P. This leads to the following definition.

Definition 1.1.5. A proposition *P* is *inquisitive*, if $info(P) \notin P$.

Intuitively, an inquisitive proposition represents the semantic content of a *question*, whereas a non-inquisitive proposition represents the semantic content of a *statement*. One readily sees that,

⁴ So, for example, the proposition in Figure 1.1 (a) actually corresponds to the set of states $\mathcal{P}(\{w_1, w_2, w_3\})$.

for propositions containing only *finitely many* states, the concept of inquisitiveness is closely related to the number of alternatives of a proposition: a finite proposition P is inquisitive if and only if P has at least two alternatives. For *infinite* propositions, however, this connection breaks down, since there may also be inquisitive propositions that do not have any alternatives.⁵ To see some examples, consider again the propositions depicted in Figure 1.1. An easy inspection shows that the propositions in (b) and (c) are inquisitive, but the ones in (a) and (d) are not.

So far, we have characterized non-inquisitive propositions solely in terms of their informative content. However, it is also possible to characterize non-inquisitive propositions differently, by using the concept of *truth-conditionality*. This concept is defined in the following way.

Definition 1.1.6 (Truth-Conditionality). A proposition P over W is *truth-conditional*, if for every state $s \subseteq W$, we have: s supports P if and only if, for all worlds $w \in s$, P is true at w.

In other words, a truth-conditional proposition is a proposition for which support at a state s simply comes down to truth at every world in s. It is now easy to show that P is truth-conditional if and only if info(P) is the unique alternative in P, i.e., if P is non-inquisitive. Hence, truth-conditionality represents the fundamental semantic difference between questions and assertions: every non-inquisitive proposition is truth-conditional, and every inquisitive proposition is not.

Fact 1.1.7. A proposition P is non-inquisitive if and only if P is truth-conditional.

Finally, one can now also define a notion of semantic *entailment* between propositions. Intuitively, a proposition P entails another proposition Q, if the information conveyed by P implies the information conveyed by Q, i.e., $info(P) \subseteq info(Q)$, and every state that resolves the issue raised by P also resolves the issue raised by Q, i.e., $P \subseteq Q$. But note that the first of these two conditions is implied by the second, so entailment can simply be defined as follows.

Definition 1.1.8 (Entailment). A proposition *P* entails another proposition *Q*, if $P \subseteq Q$.

Note that, in inquisitive semantics, entailment is not restricted to *statements*, but may also involve *questions*. For example, a statement α entails a question μ , if the information conveyed by α resolves the issue raised by μ . And a question μ entails a statement α , if μ presupposes the information conveyed by α . For further information, we refer to Ciardelli (2022, p. 16).

1.2 Propositional Inquisitive Logic

Let us now give a more formal exposition of the system. The basic framework of propositional inquisitive logic is denoted by InqB and was first described by Ciardelli (2009), Groenendijk and Roelofsen (2009) as well as Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011). It may be conceived as the result of enriching classical propositional logic with a question-forming operator \mathbb{V} , referred to as the *inquisitive disjunction operator*. Intuitively, \mathbb{V} is used in order to form *alternative questions* within the language of InqB, so a formula of the form $\varphi \mathbb{V} \psi$ is intended to denote the question *whether* φ or ψ . To make things precise, we henceforth assume a countably infinite set P of atomic propositions, denoted by the meta-variables p, q, r, etc. The formulas of InqB are now built up from the atoms in P and the falsum constant \bot by means of the binary connectives \land , \rightarrow and \mathbb{V} .

Definition 1.2.1 (Language of InqB). The language of InqB is denoted by \mathcal{L}^{B} and consists of all formulas generated by the following grammar, where *p* ranges over atomic propositions from P:

$$\varphi ::= p \mid \bot \mid \varphi \land \varphi \mid \varphi \to \varphi \mid \varphi \lor \varphi.$$

⁵ To see an example, consider the infinite proposition P defined by $P := \{[n] \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$, where $[n] := \{0, \ldots, n\}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Clearly, we have $info(P) = \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathbb{N} \notin P$, so P is inquisitive. But since every element of P is included in some larger element, P does not have any alternatives (cf. Ciardelli et al. 2019, p. 20).

We will adopt the usual abbreviations familiar from classical logic. That is, the *verum constant* \top , the *negation operator* \neg and the *classical disjunction operator* \lor are taken to be defined by $\top := \neg \bot$, $\neg \varphi := \varphi \rightarrow \bot$ and $\varphi \lor \psi := \neg (\neg \varphi \land \neg \psi)$, respectively. As we will see below, the semantics for \lor is quite different from the one for \mathbb{V} , so these two operators should not be confused. In addition, we also introduce the *question mark operator*?, which is defined as follows.

Definition 1.2.2 (Question Mark Operator). For every $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we put $?\varphi := \varphi \vee \neg \varphi$.

Intuitively, $?\varphi$ represents the polar question *whether* φ . By what was said above, the connective \mathbb{V} plays a special role in InqB, because it allows us to form interrogative sentences within the language of the system. Conversely, we thus expect any formula not containing \mathbb{V} to be purely declarative. In the system InqB, the underlying background logic for declarative sentences is assumed to be classical logic, so \mathbb{V} -free formulas will also be referred to as *classical formulas*.

Definition 1.2.3 (Classical Formula). A formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is said to be *classical*, if φ does not contain any occurrences of \mathbb{V} . The set of all classical formulas in \mathcal{L}^{B} is denoted by $\mathcal{L}_{c}^{\mathsf{B}}$.

In what follows, we will always use α , β , γ , etc., as meta-variables for classical formulas, while φ , ψ , χ , etc., will be used for arbitrary formulas of InqB. Let us now turn to the semantics of the system. The formulas of InqB are evaluated with respect to so-called *propositional information models*. Any such model consists of a non-empty set of possible worlds W and a valuation function V, assigning a truth value to each atomic proposition $p \in P$ at each possible world $w \in W$.

Definition 1.2.4 (Information Model). An *information model* is a pair $M = \langle W, V \rangle$, where W is a non-empty set of *possible worlds*, and $V : W \times P \rightarrow \{0, 1\}$ is a *valuation function*.

Recall that, in inquisitive logic, the most fundamental semantic concept is taken to be *support*, not *truth*. Thus, instead of defining what it means for a formula to be true at a possible world, we have to define what it means for a formula to be supported by an information state. Formally, information states are modelled as sets of possible worlds, so we adopt the following definition.

Definition 1.2.5. Let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be a model. An *information state* over M is a subset $s \subseteq W$.

Following the terminology introduced in the previous section, we will refer to \emptyset as the *inconsistent state* and to every non-empty state $s \neq \emptyset$ as a *consistent state*. Moreover, a subset $s \subseteq t$ of a state t is also said to be an *enhancement* of t. We are now ready to give an inductive definition of the support conditions for all formulas in the language of InqB (cf. Ciardelli 2016b, pp. 47–50).

Definition 1.2.6 (Support Semantics for InqB). Let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be a model. The *support relation* \models between states $s \subseteq W$ and formulas $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is inductively defined in the following way:

(i) $M, s \models p :\Leftrightarrow V(w, p) = 1$ for all $w \in s$,

(ii) $M, s \models \bot :\Leftrightarrow s = \emptyset$,

(iii) $M, s \models \varphi \land \psi :\Leftrightarrow M, s \models \varphi \text{ and } M, s \models \psi$,

- (iv) $M, s \models \varphi \rightarrow \psi :\Leftrightarrow$ for all $t \subseteq s$, if $M, t \models \varphi$, then $M, t \models \psi$,
- (v) $M, s \models \varphi \lor \psi :\Leftrightarrow M, s \models \varphi \text{ or } M, s \models \psi.$

If $M, s \models \varphi$ holds, then we say that φ is *supported* by s in M. The support clauses can be read as follows. An atomic formula p is supported by a state s, just in case p is true at every world in s. The falsum constant \bot is supported only by the inconsistent state \emptyset . A conjunction is supported by a state s, if each of the two conjuncts is supported by s. An implication is supported by s, if every enhancement of s which supports the antecedent also supports the consequent. And an alternative question is supported by s, if s supports at least one of the two alternatives. Using Definition 1.2.6, one can now also derive support conditions for the defined connectives \neg and \lor . For the sake of simplicity, let us say that a state *s* over some model *M* is *incompatible* with a formula φ , notation $s \ddagger \varphi$, if there exists no consistent enhancement $t \subseteq s$ such that $M, t \models \varphi$. It is now possible to prove the following proposition (cf. Ciardelli 2022, p. 58).

Proposition 1.2.7. Let M be a model, let s be a state over M and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be formulas. (i) $M, s \models \neg \varphi \Leftrightarrow s \ddagger \varphi$,

(ii) $M, s \models \varphi \lor \psi \iff$ there is no consistent $t \subseteq s$ such that both $t \ddagger \varphi$ and $t \ddagger \psi$.

As outlined in Section 1.1, the notion of *truth* can be recovered from the notion of support in a natural way: a formula is true at a world w, just in case it is supported by the singleton state $\{w\}$.

Definition 1.2.8 (Truth). Let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be a model, let $w \in W$ be a world and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula. We write $M, w \models \varphi$ and say that φ is *true* at w, if we have $M, \{w\} \models \varphi$.

By an easy inspection of the support conditions given above, one can now spell out the *truth conditions* for all formulas of InqB. We summarize the resulting clauses in the next proposition.

Proposition 1.2.9 (Truth Conditions). Let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be a model and let $w \in W$ be a world.

(i) $M, w \models p \Leftrightarrow V(w, p) = 1,$ (ii) $M, w \nvDash \bot,$ (iii) $M, w \models \varphi \land \psi \Leftrightarrow M, w \models \varphi \text{ and } M, w \models \psi,$ (iv) $M, w \models \varphi \rightarrow \psi \Leftrightarrow M, w \nvDash \varphi \text{ or } M, w \models \psi,$ (v) $M, w \models \varphi \lor \psi \Leftrightarrow M, w \models \varphi \text{ or } M, w \models \psi,$ (vi) $M, w \models \neg \varphi \Leftrightarrow M, w \nvDash \varphi,$ (vii) $M, w \models \varphi \lor \psi \Leftrightarrow M, w \models \varphi \text{ or } M, w \models \psi.$

As can be seen, the classical connectives simply have their usual truth conditions familiar from classical logic. Moreover, the truth conditions for the inquisitive disjunction \mathbb{V} are exactly the same as those for the classical disjunction \vee . That is, if we restrict ourselves to *singleton states*, then \mathbb{V} and \vee become indistinguishable. This, however, is no longer the case as soon as we consider states of *arbitrary size*. For example, if *s* is a state containing a world where *p* is true and another world where *p* is false, then $p \vee \neg p$ is supported by *s*, but $?p = p \mathbb{V} \neg p$ is not.

The truth-set of a formula φ in a model M is now defined to be the set of all worlds in M where φ is true. And the support-set of φ in M is the set of all states that support φ in M.

Definition 1.2.10. Let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be a model and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula.

- (i) The *truth-set* of φ in M is the information state given by $|\varphi|_M := \{w \in W \mid M, w \models \varphi\}$.
- (ii) The support-set of φ in M is the set of states given by $\langle \varphi \rangle_M := \{ s \subseteq W \mid M, s \models \varphi \}.$

An important feature of support in InqB is *persistency*: if a formula is supported by an information state s, then it is also supported by every enhancement $t \subseteq s$. In addition, it is possible to show that each formula of InqB is supported by the inconsistent state \emptyset . In a sense, this may be seen as a semantic version of the well-known *principle of explosion (ex falso quodlibet)*.

Proposition 1.2.11. Let M be a model, let s and t be states over M and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula.

- (i) Persistency: if $M, s \models \varphi$ and $t \subseteq s$, then $M, t \models \varphi$.
- (ii) Empty state property: $M, \emptyset \models \varphi$.

Both statements are proved by induction on the structure of φ . As a consequence of this result, one readily sees that, for any formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$ and any model M, the support-set $\langle \varphi \rangle_{M}$ is in fact a *proposition* in the sense of Definition 1.1.2: it is *downward closed* by the persistency of support



Figure 1.2: The propositions expressed by some formulas of InqB. In the figures, pq stands for a world where p and q are both true, $p\overline{q}$ for a world where p is true and q is false, etc.

in InqB; and it is *non-empty*, since φ is always supported by \emptyset . Clearly, the truth-set $|\varphi|_M$ simply amounts to the *informative content* of this proposition, so we have $|\varphi|_M = \bigcup \langle \varphi \rangle_M$.

Let us now consider some examples. Figure 1.2 depicts a number of propositions expressible by formulas in the language of InqB. The underlying model is assumed to contain four possible worlds: pq represents a world where both p and q are true, $p\overline{q}$ represents a world where p is true and q is false, and so on. As usual, only maximal elements are displayed, so all enhancements of the depicted states are also assumed to be included in the propositions. First, consider the formulas in Figure 1.2 (a–d). Each of these formulas is *classical* and the associated propositions have exactly one alternative, so they are all *non-inquisitive* in the sense of Definition 1.1.5. In fact, as we shall see below, this can be generalized: classical formulas are always truth-conditional in InqB. Note that the maximal elements are simply the usual truth-sets familiar from classical logic. So, for example, the unique alternative for $p \land q$ is just the set of worlds where p and q are both true, and the unique alternative for $p \land q$ is the set of worlds where p is false or q is true.

Consider now the formulas in Figure 1.2 (e–h). Each of these formulas is *non-classical* and the associated propositions are *inquisitive*. Figure 1.2 (e) depicts a polar question $?p = p \vee \neg p$ such as 'Have you lost your wallet?' An information state resolving this question should either establish that p or that $\neg p$. Thus, in particular, it does *not* suffice to establish that at least one of p and $\neg p$ must be true: an information state really has to *choose* one of the two alternatives. A similar observation holds for the formula $p \vee q$, depicted in Figure 1.2 (f). Intuitively, this formula represents an alternative question such as 'Have you lost your wallet or your keys?' The formula in Figure 1.2 (g), on the other hand, is a conjoined question, which corresponds to a sentence of the form 'Have you lost your wallet, and are you upset?' In order to resolve the issue expressed by this question, an information alter has to resolve each of the two conjuncts. The formula in Figure 1.2 (h), finally, is a conditional question of the form $p \to ?q$. In order to resolve the issue expressed by this question, one has to resolve ?q under the assumption that p. That is, a state s supports $p \to ?q$, just in case q is either true at all p-worlds in s, or it is false at all p-worlds in s. This corresponds to a sentence of the form 'If you have lost your wallet, will you be upset?'

Using the support relation for InqB, one can now also define a suitable notion of *entailment*. In fact, entailment can simply be characterized as *preservation of support*: a formula φ entails another formula ψ , just in case every state that supports φ in a model M also supports ψ in M.

Definition 1.2.12 (Entailment). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas. We write $\Gamma \models \varphi$ and say that Γ *entails* φ , if for every model $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ and for every state $s \subseteq W$, we have: $M, s \models \Gamma$ implies $M, s \models \varphi$. Here, $M, s \models \Gamma$ is used as an abbreviation for ' $M, s \models \psi$ for all $\psi \in \Gamma$ '.

Observe that we have $\varphi \models \psi$ if and only if $\langle \varphi \rangle_M \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle_M$ for every model M. Hence, with respect to the semantic content of formulas, entailment in InqB simply amounts to set-inclusion, as anticipated in Definition 1.1.8. The notions of *logical equivalence* and *validity* are now defined in the usual way. That is, two formulas are called equivalent, if they mutually entail each other. And a formula is said to be valid, if it is supported by every information state over ever model.

Definition 1.2.13 (Equivalence and Validity). Let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$ be formulas.

- (i) We say that φ and ψ are *equivalent*, notation $\varphi \equiv \psi$, if we have both $\varphi \models \psi$ and $\psi \models \varphi$.
- (ii) We say that φ is *valid*, notation $\models \varphi$, if it holds $M, s \models \varphi$ for all models M and all states s.

Finally, it is worth noting that InqB also validates the well-known *deduction theorem*, i.e., for every subset $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$ and for all formulas $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$, we have: $\Gamma, \varphi \models \psi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi \rightarrow \psi$.

1.3 Truth-Conditionality

In Section 1.1, we have already seen that truth-conditionality represents the fundamental semantic difference between questions and assertions: a proposition is non-inquisitive if and only if it is truth-conditional. For formulas of InqB, the concept of truth-conditionality is defined as follows.

Definition 1.3.1 (Truth-Conditionality). A formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is *truth-conditional*, if for all models M and for all states s over M, we have: $M, s \models \varphi$ if and only if $M, w \models \varphi$ for all $w \in s$.

Observe that, by persistency, the left-to-right direction of the equivalence is satisfied by *every* formula. Hence, the important part of the definition is the converse implication: the support conditions of a truth-conditional formula are always completely determined by its truth conditions. We might now say that a formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$ is an *assertion*, if φ is truth-conditional, and we might say that φ is a *question* otherwise. As pointed out in the discussion above, formulas not involving \mathbb{V} behave in essentially the same way as in classical logic. Thus, it should not come as a surprise that *classical formulas*—in the sense of Definition 1.2.3—are always truth-conditional in inquisitive logic. In fact, it is even possible to identify a richer syntactic fragment of InqB that is guaranteed to have this property. The formulas in this fragment are known as *Harrop formulas*.⁶

Definition 1.3.2 (Harrop Formulas). The set of *Harrop formulas* is denoted by $\mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and consists of all formulas generated by the following grammar, where $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ ranges over arbitrary formulas:

$$\alpha ::= p \mid \bot \mid \alpha \land \alpha \mid \varphi \to \alpha.$$

In other words, by a Harrop formula, we simply mean any formula of InqB in which all occurrences of \mathbb{V} are contained in the antecedent of an implication. Observe that, in particular, every classical formula is also a Harrop formula. However, the converse of this statement is *not* true. For example, $(p \mathbb{V}q) \rightarrow p$ is a Harrop formula, but it is not a classical formula, because it contains an occurrence of \mathbb{V} . By overloading notation, we will henceforth use the meta-variables α , β , γ , etc., for both *classical formulas* and *Harrop formulas*. No confusion will arise, since it will always be clear from the context whether a classical formula or a Harrop formula is meant. We are now ready to prove the desired statement: in InqB, Harrop formulas are always truth-conditional.

⁶ Harrop formulas were introduced by Ronald Harrop (1956; 1960) in order to strengthen the well-known disjunction and existence property for intuitionistic logic (cf. Troelstra and Schwichtenberg 1996, p. 107). We will come back to this concept in Chapter 2 in order to give a purely syntactical proof of the disjunction property for InqB.

Proposition 1.3.3. Every Harrop formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is truth-conditional.

Proof. By induction on the structure of α . The base case and the inductive step for \wedge are straightforward. Thus, we only need to consider the case in which α is of the form $\alpha = \varphi \rightarrow \beta$ for some arbitrary formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and some Harrop formula $\beta \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}_{H}$. Let M be an arbitrary model and let s be an arbitrary state. By what was said above, it suffices to show that, if $M, w \models \varphi \rightarrow \beta$ for all $w \in s$, then $M, s \models \varphi \rightarrow \beta$. We prove the contrapositive: if $M, s \nvDash \varphi \rightarrow \beta$, then there exists a world $w \in s$ such that $M, w \nvDash \varphi \rightarrow \beta$. Suppose that we have $M, s \nvDash \varphi \rightarrow \beta$, i.e., there exists some $t \subseteq s$ such that $M, t \nvDash \varphi$ and $M, t \nvDash \beta$. By induction hypothesis, we know that β is truth-conditional. Hence, because $M, t \nvDash \beta$, there must be some world $w \in t$ such that $M, w \nvDash \beta$. Since $M, t \vDash \varphi$ and $w \in t$, this world also satisfies $M, w \vDash \varphi \rightarrow \beta$, as desired. \Box

As an immediate corollary, it follows that every classical formula of InqB is truth-conditional and therefore purely declarative. Note that, since classical formulas have their usual truth conditions in InqB, we thus arrive at the following general conclusion: a classical formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ is supported by an information state if and only if α is classically true at every world in the state.

Corollary 1.3.4. Every classical formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ is truth-conditional.

In addition, recall that $\neg \varphi$ was defined to be an abbreviation for $\varphi \rightarrow \bot$, which is a Harrop formula. Hence, not only classical formulas, but also every negated formula is truth-conditional in InqB. In order to conclude this section, let us now mention some alternative ways of characterizing truth-conditionality in inquisitive logic. First, we introduce the following terminology: the *classical variant* of a formula φ is denoted by φ^{cl} and defined to be the classical formula obtained from φ by replacing every occurrence of \lor by an occurrence of \lor . It is now possible to show that a formula φ is truth-conditional if and only if φ is equivalent to φ^{cl} . Consequently, every truthconditional formula can equivalently expressed as a classical formula. Using this fact, one easily checks that there is a tight connection between truth-conditionality and the *double negation law*: a formula φ is truth-conditional if and only if φ is equivalent to $\neg \neg \varphi$ (cf. Ciardelli 2022, pp. 65–66).

Proposition 1.3.5. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula. The following three conditions are equivalent:

- (i) φ is truth-conditional,
- (ii) φ satisfies $\varphi \equiv \varphi^{cl}$,
- (iii) φ satisfies $\varphi \equiv \neg \neg \varphi$.

1.4 **Properties of InqB**

We now want to give a brief outline of some further properties of inquisitive logic. First of all, a characteristic feature of InqB is the fact that truth-conditional assumptions always distribute over inquisitive disjunctions: an alternative question $\varphi \vee \psi$ is entailed by some set of truth-conditional formulas Γ if and only if at least one of the two alternatives is entailed by Γ . This is usually referred to as the *split property* and may be seen as a variant of the famous *disjunction property under hypotheses* known from intuitionistic logic (cf. Troelstra and Schwichtenberg 1996, p. 106).

Proposition 1.4.1 (Split Property). Let $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of truth-conditional formulas and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary formulas. It holds $\Gamma \models \varphi \lor \psi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$ or $\Gamma \models \psi$.

A proof is provided by Ciardelli (2022, p. 80). Closely related to this is another interesting property: if α is truth-conditional, then any formula of the form $\alpha \rightarrow (\varphi \vee \psi)$ is equivalent to the formula $(\alpha \rightarrow \varphi) \vee (\alpha \rightarrow \psi)$. This is known as the *split equivalence* (cf. Ciardelli 2022, p. 82).

Proposition 1.4.2 (Split Equivalence). Let $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a truth-conditional formula and let $\varphi, \psi \in$ \mathcal{L}^{B} be arbitrary formulas. It holds $\alpha \to (\varphi \vee \psi) \equiv (\alpha \to \varphi) \vee (\alpha \to \psi)$.

Proof. Let $\alpha, \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary such that α is truth-conditional. Moreover, let M be an arbitrary model and let s be an arbitrary state. First of all, one easily checks that, for any $\chi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we have $M, s \models \alpha \rightarrow \chi$ iff $M, s \cap |\alpha|_M \models \chi$ by the truth-conditionality of α . Hence, it follows:

$$\begin{array}{lll} M,s\models\alpha\rightarrow(\varphi\vee\psi)&\Leftrightarrow&M,s\cap|\alpha|_{M}\models\varphi\vee\psi\\ &\Leftrightarrow&M,s\cap|\alpha|_{M}\models\varphi\text{ or }M,s\cap|\alpha|_{M}\models\psi\\ &\Leftrightarrow&M,s\models\alpha\rightarrow\varphi\text{ or }M,s\models\alpha\rightarrow\psi\\ &\Leftrightarrow&M,s\models(\alpha\rightarrow\varphi)\vee(\alpha\rightarrow\psi).\end{array}$$

Observe that, in inquisitive logic, the split equivalence has a very natural interpretation: a declarative sentence α resolves an alternative question, just in case the information conveyed by α establishes at least one of the two alternatives. Another important property is a well-known normal form result, established by Ciardelli (2016b, pp. 56–57). It says that every formula of IngB is equivalent to an inquisitive disjunction of classical formulas. As we shall see below, this normal form of a formula plays a crucial role in the completeness proof for the standard axiomatization of IngB (see Section 1.5). In order to prove this result, one first defines, for every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$, a finite set of classical formulas $\mathcal{R}(\varphi)$, representing the different 'ways' in which φ might be settled by an information state. The elements of $\mathcal{R}(\varphi)$ are also referred to as the *resolutions* of φ .

Definition 1.4.3 (Resolutions). Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula. The set of *resolutions* of φ is denoted by $\mathcal{R}(\varphi)$ and inductively defined in the following way:

(i) $\mathcal{R}(p) := \{p\}$ for all $p \in \mathsf{P}$,

(ii) $\mathcal{R}(\perp) := \{\perp\},\$

- (iii) $\mathcal{R}(\varphi \land \psi) := \{\alpha \land \beta \mid \alpha \in \mathcal{R}(\varphi) \text{ and } \beta \in \mathcal{R}(\psi)\},\$ (iv) $\mathcal{R}(\varphi \rightarrow \psi) := \{\bigwedge_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}(\varphi)} (\alpha \rightarrow f(\alpha)) \mid f : \mathcal{R}(\varphi) \rightarrow \mathcal{R}(\psi)\},\$ (v) $\mathcal{R}(\varphi \lor \psi) := \mathcal{R}(\varphi) \cup \mathcal{R}(\psi).$

By induction on φ , one easily verifies that $\mathcal{R}(\varphi)$ is in fact finite and contains only classical formulas. Resolutions can also be defined for *sets of formulas*. Given any subset $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we say that $f: \Gamma \to \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ is a resolution function of Γ , just in case f satisfies $f(\varphi) \in \mathcal{R}(\varphi)$, for all $\varphi \in \Gamma$. A resolution of Γ is now defined to be a set of classical formulas $\Delta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ such that, for some resolution function f of Γ , we have $\Delta = \{f(\varphi) \mid \varphi \in \Gamma\}$. In other words, a resolution of Γ is just a set of classical formulas containing one resolution for each element of Γ . The set of all resolutions of Γ is denoted by $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$. It is now possible to prove the desired normal form result: every formula is equivalent to the inquisitive disjunction of its resolutions (cf. Ciardelli 2016b, p. 57).

Proposition 1.4.4. For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, it holds $\varphi \equiv \alpha_1 \vee \ldots \vee \alpha_n$, where $\mathcal{R}(\varphi) = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$.

Finally, let us say a bit more about the relationship between inquisitive logic and classical propositional logic, henceforth denoted by CPL. We already observed that, in InqB, classical formulas are always truth-conditional, with the same truth conditions as in classical logic. Consequently, if we treat \mathbb{V} as a new connective that is added to the language of classical logic, then InqB can be seen as a conservative extension of CPL: if we restrict ourselves to classical formulas, then entailment in InqB simply amounts to entailment in classical logic (cf. Ciardelli 2022, p. 78).

Proposition 1.4.5 (Conservativity over Classical Logic). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of classical formulas. We have $\Gamma \models \alpha$ if and only if α is entailed by Γ in classical propositional logic.

However, one can also take a different perspective on inquisitive logic. This perspective was examined in detail by Ciardelli (2009) as well as Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011) and treats InqB as logic which is *intermediate* between CPL and intuitionistic propositional logic (IPL). Let us elaborate a bit more on this. First of all, if we identify \mathbb{V} with the ordinary disjunction operator of classical logic, then every formula falsified by some possible world in CPL is clearly also falsified by the corresponding singleton state in InqB. As a consequence, CPL can be conceived as an extension of InqB, so we have InqB \subseteq CPL.⁷ Observe that this inclusion must be strict: for example, the formula $?p = p \mathbb{V} \neg p$ is only valid in CPL, but not in InqB. On the other hand, it is also possible to show that, if \mathbb{V} is identified with the ordinary disjunction of intuitionistic logic, then InqB can be seen as an extension of IPL, i.e., we have IPL \subseteq InqB. Again, note that this inclusion is strict: for instance, the formula $\neg p \rightarrow p$ is only valid in InqB, but not in IPL. Putting things together, we thus obtain the following proposition (cf. Ciardelli and Roelofsen 2011, p. 71).

Proposition 1.4.6. Suppose that the inquisitive disjunction \forall is identified with the disjunction operator of intuitionistic and classical logic, respectively. Then we have IPL \subsetneq InqB \subsetneq CPL.

In this sense, inquisitive logic is in fact 'intermediate' between IPL and CPL. This, however, does *not* mean that InqB is also an *intermediate logic* in the usual sense.⁸ The reason is that InqB is not closed under uniform substitution: for example, the classical formula $\neg \neg p \rightarrow p$ is valid in InqB, but the substitution instance $\neg \neg ?p \rightarrow ?p$ is not (cf. Ciardelli and Roelofsen 2011, p. 67).

1.5 Standard Axiomatizations of InqB

In preparation of the main part of this thesis, we now want to recall some standard axiomatizations of inquisitive logic. Throughout this thesis, we will often make use of these axiomatizations in order to establish the completeness of our proof systems in a proof-theoretical manner. Arguably the most widespread axiomatization of InqB today is a system of natural deduction, which was first described by Ciardelli (2016b). This system, henceforth denoted by NinqB, is obtained by extending a standard natural deduction system for intuitionistic propositional logic (see Figure 1.3) with two additional rules, denoted by (split) and (dne), respectively (see Figure 1.4).

Let us briefly comment on the rules of this system. As can be seen, the intuitionistic base calculus presented in Figure 1.3 simply comprises the usual introduction and elimination rules for the connectives, together with the intuitionistic absurdity rule (efq), accounting for the validity of the principle of explosion (*ex falso quodlibet*). Observe that, in the rules $\forall I$ and $\forall E$, the inquisitive disjunction operator \forall now takes the role of the 'ordinary' disjunction of intuitionistic logic. Consider now the special rules depicted in Figure 1.4. Importantly, these rules come with a side condition, saying that α must be a *classical formula* in the sense of Definition 1.2.3. Without this restriction, neither of the two rules would be sound for InqB.⁹ The *split rule*, denoted by (split), allows to distribute a classical antecedent over an inquisitive disjunction, which accounts for the left-to-right direction of the split equivalence established in Proposition 1.4.2 (the other direction of the equivalence is already derivable by means of the intuitionistic rules). The *double negation rule*, on the other hand, is denoted by (dne) and allows to infer a classical formula α from its dou-

⁷ Here and in the following, we adopt the convention of identifying a logic with the set of its validities. Thus, InqB refers to the set of all formulas valid in inquisitive logic and CPL refers to the set of all formulas valid in classical logic.

⁸ Recall that an *intermediate logic* is a consistent extension of IPL that is closed under modus ponens and uniform substitution (see, e.g., Chagrov and Zakharyaschev 1997, p. 109). For further information about the connections between intermediate logics and InqB, we refer to Ciardelli (2009) as well as Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011).

⁹ For example, if we would allow α to range over arbitrary formulas in the rule (split), then we would be able to derive the invalid formula $(?p \rightarrow p) \lor (?p \rightarrow \neg p)$ from the intuitionistically valid formula $?p \rightarrow ?p$. And if we would allow α to be non-classical in the rule (dne), then NinqB would simply be a proof system for classical logic.

$$\frac{\varphi \quad \psi}{\varphi \land \psi} \land I \qquad \frac{\varphi_1 \land \varphi_2}{\varphi_i} \land E \quad (i = 1, 2) \qquad \frac{\varphi_i}{\varphi_1 \lor \varphi_2} \lor I \quad (i = 1, 2)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \varphi \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \chi \end{bmatrix} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \varphi \\ \vdots \\ \chi \end{bmatrix} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \varphi \\ \vdots \\ \psi \\ \varphi \rightarrow \psi \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow I \qquad \frac{\varphi \rightarrow \psi \quad \varphi}{\psi} \rightarrow E \qquad \frac{1}{\varphi} \text{ (efq)}$$

Figure 1.3: A natural deduction system for intuitionistic propositional logic (IPL). The inquisitive disjunction operator \mathbb{V} is identified with the ordinary intuitionistic disjunction.

$$\frac{\alpha \to (\varphi \vee \psi)}{(\alpha \to \varphi) \vee (\alpha \to \psi)} \text{ (split)} \qquad \qquad \frac{\neg \neg \alpha}{\alpha} \text{ (dne)}$$

Figure 1.4: Special rules of the natural deduction system NinqB described by Ciardelli (2016b). In either case, we require α to be a classical formula, so we must have $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$.

ble negation $\neg \neg \alpha$. This accounts for the fact that, in virtue of Proposition 1.3.5, every classical formula does indeed behave 'classically' in InqB, in the sense that we have $\alpha \equiv \neg \neg \alpha$ for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{c}^{\mathsf{B}}$.

Definition 1.5.1 (The System NinqB). We define NinqB to be the natural deduction system consisting of the 'intuitionistic' rules given in Figure 1.3 and the special rules given in Figure 1.4.

The *provability relation* of NinqB is denoted by \vdash_N and defined in the usual way. That is, given any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^B$, we write $\Gamma \vdash_N \varphi$ and say that φ is *provable* from Γ in NinqB, if there exists a deduction \mathcal{D} in NinqB such that φ is the conclusion of \mathcal{D} and all open hypotheses of \mathcal{D} are contained in Γ . In this case, \mathcal{D} is also said to be a *deduction for* $\Gamma \vdash_N \varphi$.

The completeness of NinqB is established by a canonical model construction. To make things precise, let $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of classical formulas.¹⁰ We say that Γ is *consistent*, if $\Gamma \not\vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \bot$. And we say that Γ is *maximally consistent*, if Γ is consistent and there is no proper extension $\Delta \supseteq \Gamma$ with $\Delta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ such that Δ is also consistent. The *canonical model* for InqB is defined to be the pair $M_c := \langle W_c, V_c \rangle$, where W_c is the set of all maximally consistent sets of classical formulas and V_c is given by $V_c(\Gamma, p) = 1 :\Leftrightarrow p \in \Gamma$, for all $\Gamma \in W_c$ and $p \in \mathsf{P}$. As shown by Ciardelli (2016b, pp. 90–91), one can now prove a support-based generalization of the well-known *truth lemma*, familiar from completeness proofs for classical logic. This is known as the *support lemma* and says that, for every state $S \subseteq W_c$ and for every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we have $M_c, S \models \varphi$ if and only if $M_c, \bigcap S \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$. Using this fact, it is now possible to establish the desired completeness result.

Theorem 1.5.2 (Soundness and Completeness). The system NinqB is sound and complete with respect to InqB. That is, for every $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{N} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$.

A proof is provided by Ciardelli (2016b, pp. 85–92). The soundness is shown by a straightforward induction on the structure of a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{N} \varphi$ in NinqB. For the completeness part,

 $[\]frac{10}{10}$ The restriction to classical formulas is not essential here. It is only used in order to simplify the discussion a bit.

Axioms:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\text{A1}) & \varphi \to (\psi \to \varphi), \\ (\text{A2}) & (\varphi \to (\psi \to \chi)) \to ((\varphi \to \psi) \to (\varphi \to \chi)), \\ (\text{A3}) & (\varphi \land \psi) \to \varphi \text{ and } (\varphi \land \psi) \to \psi, \\ (\text{A4}) & \varphi \to (\psi \to (\varphi \land \psi)), \\ (\text{A5}) & \varphi \to (\varphi \lor \psi) \text{ and } \psi \to (\varphi \lor \psi), \\ (\text{A6}) & (\varphi \to \chi) \to ((\psi \to \chi) \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \to \chi)), \\ (\text{A7}) & \bot \to \varphi. \end{array}$

The only rule of inference is *modus ponens*: from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$.

Figure 1.5: A Hilbert-style system for intuitionistic propositional logic (IPL). The inquisitive disjunction operator \mathbb{V} is again identified with the ordinary intuitionistic disjunction.

Axioms:(IPL) All axioms of the 'intuitionistic' system given in Figure 1.5,(Split) $(\alpha \rightarrow (\varphi \lor \psi)) \rightarrow ((\alpha \rightarrow \varphi) \lor (\alpha \rightarrow \psi))$, where $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ is classical,(DN) $\neg \neg \alpha \rightarrow \alpha$, where $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ is classical.The only rule of inference is modus ponens: from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$.

Figure 1.6: The Hilbert-style system HinqB.

assume that $\Gamma \not\models_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$. One can then show that there exists some resolution $\Delta \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ such that, for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}(\varphi)$, it holds $\Delta \not\models_{\mathsf{N}} \alpha$. Suppose now that $\mathcal{R}(\varphi) = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$ and let i with $1 \leq i \leq n$ be arbitrary. Since $\Delta \not\models_{\mathsf{N}} \alpha_i$, it is clear that the set $\Delta \cup \{\neg \alpha_i\}$ must be consistent. Hence, by a suitable version of Lindenbaum's lemma, it can be extended to a maximally consistent set $\Theta_i \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$. Let now $S \subseteq W_c$ be the state given by $S := \{\Theta_1, \ldots, \Theta_n\}$. Using the support lemma, one can then show that we have $M_c, S \models \Gamma$ and $M_c, S \not\models \varphi$, so it follows $\Gamma \not\models \varphi$.

For our purposes, it will often be more convenient to base our considerations on a *Hilbert-style system* for InqB, rather than on a natural deduction system. Such a Hilbert-style system can easily be obtained by converting the natural deduction rules of NinqB into corresponding axiom schemes. The resulting proof system, henceforth denoted by HinqB, is presented in Figure 1.6. As can be seen, HinqB is obtained by extending a standard Hilbert-style system for intuitionistic logic (see Figure 1.5) with two additional axiom schemes, denoted by (Split) and (DN), respectively. These axiom schemes are used in order to simulate the effect of the split rule and the double negation rule included in the natural deduction system NinqB. Note that, as before, we require α to be a *classical formula*. Furthermore, in HinqB, the only rule of inference is modus ponens.

Definition 1.5.3 (The System HinqB). We define HinqB to be the Hilbert-style system depicted in Figure 1.6. The provability relation of HinqB is denoted by \vdash_{H} and inductively defined in the usual way. That is, for every set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we write $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ and say that φ is *provable* from Γ in HinqB, if at least one of the following three conditions is satisfied:

- (i) φ is an element of Γ ,
- (ii) φ is an instance of one of the axiom schemes of HinqB,

(iii) There exists some $\psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ such that $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ and $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi \to \varphi$.

If the last condition is satisfied, we also say that $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \varphi$ is obtained from $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \psi$ and $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \psi \rightarrow \varphi$ by an application of modus ponens. The easiest way to prove the soundness and completeness of this system is to show that HinqB is *equivalent* to the natural deduction system NinqB, in the sense that everything provable in HinqB is also provable in NinqB and vice versa. First of all, using induction on the definition of $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \varphi$, it is easy to show that the provability relation \vdash_{H} is *monotonic*, i.e., for all $\Gamma, \Delta \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$, if we have $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \varphi$ and $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta$, then also $\Delta \vdash_{H} \varphi$. Using this fact, it is now possible to prove the *deduction theorem* for HinqB.

Theorem 1.5.4 (Deduction Theorem). In HingB, we have $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{H} \psi$ if and only if $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \varphi \to \psi$.

Proof. We first prove the right-to-left direction. Suppose that $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$. By monotonicity, this yields $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$. Furthermore, by definition of \vdash_{H} , we also have $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. Now, from $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ and $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$, it follows $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ by an application of modus ponens.

In order to prove the left-to-right direction, suppose $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$. We show $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$ by induction on the definition of $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$. By Definition 1.5.3, there are the following possibilities.

Case 1: Suppose that $\psi \in \Gamma \cup \{\varphi\}$, i.e., we have $\psi \in \Gamma$ or $\psi = \varphi$. If it holds $\psi \in \Gamma$, then we also have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ by definition of \vdash_{H} . Using axiom (A1) and an application of modus ponens, this yields $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$. On the other hand, if $\psi = \varphi$, then $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$ follows immediately from the fact that $\varphi \to \varphi$ is already provable in the intuitionistic base calculus given in Figure 1.5.

Case 2: Suppose that ψ is an axiom of HinqB. Then, by definition of \vdash_{H} , we also have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$. Now, using axiom (A1) and an application of modus ponens, it follows $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$.

Case 3: Suppose that $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ is obtained from $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \chi$ and $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \chi \to \psi$ by an application of modus ponens. Then, by induction hypothesis, we must also have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \chi$ and $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to (\chi \to \psi)$. Because $(\varphi \to (\chi \to \psi)) \to ((\varphi \to \chi) \to (\varphi \to \psi))$ is an instance of axiom scheme (A2), we now obtain $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$ by two applications of modus ponens. \Box

We are now ready to prove that HingB is equivalent to the natural deduction system NingB.

Theorem 1.5.5. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas. We have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ in the Hilbert-style system HingB if and only if $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ holds in the natural deduction system NingB.

Proof. For the left-to-right direction, one proceeds by induction on the definition of $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. This is very easy, since all axioms of HinqB are clearly derivable in NinqB and modus ponens corresponds to $\rightarrow E$. For the right-to-left direction, one can use induction on the structure of a natural deduction proof \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$. This is also straightforward, since most of the rules of NinqB correspond directly to some axiom of HinqB and the discharging of hypotheses can be 'simulated' using the deduction theorem for HinqB. For example, suppose that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of $\rightarrow I$. In this case, φ is of the form $\varphi = \psi \rightarrow \chi$ and \mathcal{D} contains an immediate subdeduction for $\Gamma, \psi \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \chi$. By induction hypothesis, we now have $\Gamma, \psi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \chi$ in our Hilbert-style system HinqB. But then, by the deduction theorem, it follows $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi \rightarrow \chi$ and therefore $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. \Box

Corollary 1.5.6 (Soundness and Completeness). The system HinqB is sound and complete with respect to InqB. That is, for every $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{H} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$.

Proof. The statement follows immediately from Theorems 1.5.2 and 1.5.5.

It is worth noting that there is also an alternative Hilbert-style axiomatization for InqB, which was shown to be sound and complete by Ciardelli (2009) as well as Ciardelli and Roelofsen (2011). This system, presented in Figure 1.7, is defined in the same way as our system HinqB, except that the double negation axiom is now restricted to atomic formulas and the split axiom is replaced

Axioms:(IPL)All axioms of the 'intuitionistic' system given in Figure 1.5,(KP) $(\neg \varphi \rightarrow (\psi \vee \chi)) \rightarrow ((\neg \varphi \rightarrow \psi) \vee (\neg \varphi \rightarrow \chi)),$ (ADN) $\neg \neg p \rightarrow p$, where $p \in \mathsf{P}$ is atomic.The only rule of inference is modus ponens: from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$.

Figure 1.7: The Hilbert-style system HinqB_{KP}.

by the so-called *Kreisel-Putnam axiom* (KP).¹¹ Observe that (KP) has almost the same form as our split axiom: the only difference is that the classical formula involved in (Split) is now replaced by a negated formula $\neg \varphi$. In virtue of Proposition 1.3.5, the two axiom schemes are easily seen to be equivalent in InqB. For one thing, every negated formula $\neg \varphi$ is equivalent to its classical variant $\neg \varphi^{cl}$, so (Split) entails (KP). For another, every classical formula α is equivalent to its double negation $\neg\neg \alpha$, so (KP) entails (Split). However, later on in this thesis, we will also consider an *intuitionistic* variant of InqB, in which \forall -free formulas do not in general validate the double negation law. In order to allow for a smooth transition to this modified setting, we decided to adopt the Hilbert-style system HinqB rather than the alternative system presented in Figure 1.7.

¹¹ The Kreisel-Putnam axiom has some historical significance: Łukasiewicz (1952) famously conjectured that IPL is the strongest intermediate logic having the disjunction property. This was disproved by Kreisel and Putnam (1957), who used the axiom scheme (KP) in order to construct a proper extension of IPL which still satisfies this property.

Natural Deduction for InqB

Readers familiar with proof theory may have noticed that there is a serious lack of 'harmony' in the standard natural deduction system for inquisitive logic: the split rule (split), depicted in Figure 1.4, appears to be rather artificial and does not fit into the scheme of introduction and elimination rules typical of natural deduction systems in the style of Gentzen (1935a; 1935b) and Prawitz (1965). As a result, it is difficult to come up with a reasonable notion of a 'detour' in a deduction and to establish a suitable normal form result for NinqB. In order to overcome these limitations, we will now present a more well-behaved natural deduction system for InqB. Our system, henceforth referred to as NinqB⁺, is based on an extended natural deduction formalism in which not only *formulas*, but also *rules* can act as assumptions that may be discharged in the course of a derivation. The basic idea is inspired by the so-called *calculus of higher-level rules* developed by Schroeder-Heister (1981; 1984; 2014) as a 'natural extension of natural deduction'. We will see that, in the extended setting, the split rule can be fully 'absorbed' by a suitably reformulated version of the elimination rule for \mathbb{V} . This makes it possible to prove a *normalization theorem* for our system: every deduction in NingB⁺ can be reduced to a deduction without detours.

The chapter is structured as follows. In Section 2.1, we will define some basic notions and give a detailed exposition of the natural deduction system NinqB⁺. In Section 2.2, we will then show that NinqB⁺ is equivalent to the standard natural deduction system for inquisitive logic: everything which is provable in NinqB⁺ is also provable in NinqB and vice versa. The soundness and completeness of NinqB⁺ then follows as an immediate corollary. In Section 2.3, we will provide a precise definition of the notion of a detour and give a brief outline of the normalization procedure for our system. Afterwards, in Section 2.4, we will turn to the proof of our normalization theorem. More precisely, we will describe an effective procedure that allows to transform any deduction in our system into a deduction containing no detours. This requires an extension of the technique used in classical and intuitionistic logic and will make up the main part of this chapter. In Section 2.5, finally, we will derive several corollaries from our normalization theorem. It will turn out that our system only satisfies a weak form of the subformula property, so it is not an analytic proof system in a strict sense. However, for a certain special case, a full subformula property will be obtained. Moreover, the subformula property for NinqB⁺ is still strong enough to establish various properties of inquisitive logic in a purely proof-theoretical way.

2.1 The Natural Deduction System NinqB⁺

We start by providing a formal exposition of our proof system. As explained above, we will use an extended natural deduction formalism which is strongly inspired by the so-called *calculus of higher-level rules* introduced by Schroeder-Heister (1981; 1984; 2014). The basic idea can be explained as follows: in ordinary natural deduction systems, formulas can be used as *assumptions* or *hypotheses*, and by applying certain rules of inference, these assumptions may become *discharged* in the course of a derivation. The extended setting considered here generalizes this idea: instead of allowing only *formulas* to act as assumptions, we now also allow *rules* to be assumed and discharged in a natural deduction proof. More precisely, every proof tree in our system will be constructed from two types of rules: on the one hand, our system comprises a finite number of *primitive rules*—namely, an introduction rule and an elimination rule for each connective and certain additional rules for the falsum constant \perp . The primitive rules are considered to be a 'static' component of our proof system, so applications of these rules never get discharged by other rules. On the other hand, we also allow proof trees to contain one or more applications of so-called *non-primitive rules*. These rules are treated as *assumptions* (made purely for the sake of argument) and have to be discharged by other rule applications in the proof tree.

Let us now turn to the technical details. In many respects, our system is much simpler than the framework described by Schroeder-Heister (1981; 1984). Most importantly, Schroeder-Heister also considers non-primitive rules that are able to discharge other non-primitive rules, which in turn may discharge further non-primitive rules, and so on. In other words, Schroeder-Heister's system is capable of dealing with rules of *arbitrary level*, where the level of a rule is taken to represent the complexity of the rule: formulas are identified with rules of level 0 and a rule of level $n \ge 1$ is built up from rules of level at most n - 1 (cf. Schroeder-Heister 1981, p. 47).¹ In our system, the discharging of non-primitive rules will be accomplished only by one rule—namely, a suitably reformulated version of the elimination rule for the connective \mathbb{V} . Thus, in particular, non-primitive rules are never allowed to discharge any other non-primitive rules or open hypotheses in a proof tree. Instead, every non-primitive rule of our system will simply be of the form

$$\frac{\alpha_1 \quad \alpha_2 \quad \cdots \quad \alpha_n}{\varphi}$$

where $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ are classical formulas (acting as the *premises* of the rule) and $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is an arbitrary formula (acting as the *conclusion* of the rule).² Given any finite set of classical formulas $\Theta = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$ and an arbitrary formula φ , we will also use ' $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ ' as a name for the non-primitive rule with premises $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ and conclusion φ .³ There are now two important things to note here. First of all, we always require the premises of a non-primitive rule to be *classical formulas*, so these premises are not allowed to contain occurrences of the inquisitive disjunction operator \forall (see Definition 1.2.3). The importance of this restriction will become apparent later on, when we will establish the soundness of our proof system. Secondly, every non-primitive rule is assumed to be *non-schematic*, in the sense that both the premises $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ and the conclusion φ are considered to be *fixed* formulas, rather than syntactic meta-variables that may be substituted by arbitrary formulas from the language. In other words, the non-primitive rules of our system are always *specific*: they allow us to infer one specific formula φ from a fixed set of *n* specific formulas $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$. As soon as one of the formulas $\varphi, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ is replaced by some other formula, we obtain a *distinct* non-primitive rule that will *not* be identified with the original one.

Definition 2.1.1 (Non-Primitive Rule). By a *non-primitive rule*, we mean any (non-schematic) rule that allows to infer a specific formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ from a specific set of *n* classical formulas $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$. Given any finite set of classical formulas $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ and an arbitrary $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we will also write $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ for the non-primitive rule with conclusion φ and set of premises Θ .

As we will see below, every application of a non-primitive rule in a proof tree will be either *open* or it will be *discharged*. The notational conventions regarding the discharging of non-primitive

¹ In his 1984 paper, Schroeder-Heister uses a slightly different level assignment, but the basic idea is the same.

² So, using the terminology of Schroeder-Heister (1981), one could say that all our non-primitive rules are of level ≤ 1 .

³ Thus, in particular, we do not assign any order to the premises $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ of a non-primitive rule.

$$\frac{\varphi \quad \psi}{\varphi \land \psi} \land I \qquad \frac{\varphi_1 \land \varphi_2}{\varphi_i} \land E \quad (i = 1, 2) \qquad \frac{\varphi_i}{\varphi_1 \lor \varphi_2} \lor I \quad (i = 1, 2) \qquad \frac{\bot}{\varphi} \text{ (efq)}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} [\varphi] \\ \mathcal{D} \\ \frac{\psi}{\varphi \rightarrow \psi} \rightarrow I \quad \frac{\varphi \rightarrow \psi \quad \varphi}{\psi} \rightarrow E \qquad \frac{\mathcal{O}[\Theta]}{\chi} \begin{bmatrix} [\Theta] \Rightarrow \varphi] \\ \mathcal{D}_1 \\ \mathcal{D}_2 \\ \mathcal{D}_3 \\ \mathcal{D}_4 \\ \mathcal{X} \\ \forall E_+ \\ \frac{\bot}{\alpha} \text{ (raa)}$$

Figure 2.1: Primitive rules of the natural deduction system NinqB⁺. In the rule $\forall E_+$, we require Θ to be a finite set of classical formulas. And in the rule (raa), α must be classical.

rules will be essentially the same as those used for ordinary hypotheses in natural deduction. So, given a non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and a proof tree \mathcal{D} with conclusion ψ , we will use the notation

$$\begin{array}{c} \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi \\ \mathcal{D} \\ \psi \end{array}$$

in order to emphasize the fact that \mathcal{D} contains some (possibly zero) undischarged applications of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$. By enclosing a non-primitive rule in square brackets, as in $[\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi]$, we indicate that the corresponding applications of the rule have been *discharged*. Note that, as an important special case, we also allow the set of premises Θ of a non-primitive rule to be *empty*. Clearly, using a non-primitive rule of the form $\emptyset \Rightarrow \varphi$ in a proof tree has exactly the same effect as assuming φ as a *hypothesis* in the tree, so $\emptyset \Rightarrow \varphi$ may simply be identified with φ .

We are now ready to define our natural deduction system NinqB⁺. The *primitive rules* of our system are presented in Figure 2.1. As can be seen, NinqB⁺ is obtained from the natural deduction system given in Figure 1.3 by omitting the ordinary elimination rule for \mathbb{V} , and by adding two special rules, denoted by $\mathbb{V}E_+$ and (raa), respectively.⁴ Let us give a brief explanation of these special rules. The rule (raa) is a restricted version of *reductio ad absurdum* and formalizes the principle of proof by contradiction: if we can derive \bot from a hypothesis $\neg \alpha$, then we are entitled to infer α and to discharge all open occurrences of the hypothesis $\neg \alpha$. Note that, in order to make sure that NinqB⁺ is sound with respect to InqB, this rule is restricted to *classical formulas* (without this restriction, we would simply obtain a proof system for classical logic).

The rule $\forall E_+$, on the other hand, is a generalization of the ordinary elimination rule for \forall and should be read as follows: let \mathcal{D}_1 be a proof tree ending with some formula $\varphi \lor \psi$ and suppose that there exists a finite set of classical formulas $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ such that each element of Θ occurs as an open hypothesis in \mathcal{D}_1 . Moreover, let \mathcal{D}_2 and \mathcal{D}_3 be two proof trees ending with χ such that \mathcal{D}_2 contains some undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$, and \mathcal{D}_3 contains some undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$. Then, using the rule $\forall E_+$, we are entitled to infer χ and to discharge all open occurrences of the hypotheses from Θ in \mathcal{D}_1 , all undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ in \mathcal{D}_2 , and all undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ in \mathcal{D}_2 , and all undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ in \mathcal{D}_2 , and all undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$ in \mathcal{D}_3 . Note that, by choosing $\Theta = \emptyset$ in an application of $\forall E_+$, one can also obtain the ordinary elimination rule for \forall as a special case:

⁴ Of course, by the 'ordinary elimination rule for W', we always mean the rule which is just like the standard elimination rule for disjunction in intuitionistic logic, except that W is identified with the intuitionistic disjunction operator.

where the label u is used in order to indicate that the corresponding applications of the rules $\emptyset \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\emptyset \Rightarrow \psi$ are discharged by the application of $\forall E_+$ at the bottom of the proof tree.

Definition 2.1.2 (Primitive Rules of the System NinqB⁺). We define NinqB⁺ to be the 'higher-level' natural deduction system whose primitive rules are the ones given in Figure 2.1.

Any proof tree built up using the primitive rules of our system and arbitrary (open or discharged) applications of non-primitive rules will be referred to as a *quasi-deduction*. Throughout this chapter, quasi-deductions will be denoted by the meta-variables $\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}_1, \mathcal{D}_2$, etc. Given a formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^B$ and an arbitrary set of formulas and non-primitive rules Γ , we will write $\Gamma \vdash_N^+ \varphi$ and say that φ is *derivable from* Γ , if there exists a quasi-deduction \mathcal{D} such that φ is the conclusion of \mathcal{D} and all open hypotheses and open applications of non-primitive rules in \mathcal{D} are contained in Γ . In this case, \mathcal{D} is also said to be a *quasi-deduction for* $\Gamma \vdash_N^+ \varphi$. By a *deduction* in the system NinqB⁺, we mean a quasi-deduction in which all applications of non-primitive rules are discharged by some application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. So, in particular, every deduction is also a quasi-deduction, but not the other way around. Given any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^B$, we will say that φ is provable from Γ in our system, if there exists a deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_N^+ \varphi$ in NinqB⁺. In order to see a concrete example, let $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{L}^B_c$ be classical formulas and let $\varphi, \psi, \chi \in \mathcal{L}^B$ be arbitrary formulas. We may then construct the following quasi-deduction in our system:

$$\frac{ \begin{array}{ccc} \underline{\chi \rightarrow \alpha \ [\chi]^v} \\ \underline{\alpha \rightarrow (\beta \rightarrow (\varphi \lor \psi)) \ [\alpha]^u} \\ \underline{\beta \rightarrow (\varphi \lor \psi)} \\ \underline{\varphi \lor \psi} \\ \underline{\varphi \lor \psi} \\ \end{array} \rightarrow E \begin{array}{c} \underline{\beta} \\ \underline{\beta} \\ \underline{\beta} \\ \underline{\gamma \leftrightarrow \varphi} \\ \underline{\gamma \leftrightarrow \varphi} \\ \underline{\gamma \leftrightarrow \varphi} \\ \underline{\gamma \leftrightarrow \psi} \\ \underline{\gamma \leftrightarrow \psi}$$

As indicated by the label u, all applications of the non-primitive rules $\alpha, \beta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\alpha, \beta \Rightarrow \psi$ in this quasi-deduction are discharged by the application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ at the bottom. Hence, this quasi-deduction contains no undischarged applications non-primitive rules, so it is also a *deduction*.

In order to conclude this section, let us now introduce some useful terminology. The set of classical formulas Θ involved in an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ will be referred to as the set of *auxiliary* formulas of this application. By the *auxiliary rules* of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, we will henceforth mean the non-primitive rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$ which are discharged in the course of this application. And the *side formulas* of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ are the two formulas φ and ψ serving as the conclusions of the auxiliary rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$. It is easy to see that applications of the rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$ may also involve some *redundancy*. For example, if one of the auxiliary rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$ of such an application does not occur in the corresponding quasi-deduction ending with χ , then the application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ can always be eliminated. The process is illustrated below, where we assume that $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ does not occur as an undischarged rule in the subtree \mathcal{D}_2 :

$$\begin{array}{cccc} [\Theta]^{u} & [\Theta \Rightarrow \psi]^{u} \\ \mathcal{D}_{1} & \mathcal{D}_{2} & \mathcal{D}_{3} \\ \hline \varphi \vee \psi & \chi & \chi \\ \hline \chi & & \chi \\ \end{array} \\ & & \chi \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{converts to} & \mathcal{D}_{2} \\ \chi \\ \chi \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$

Furthermore, if an auxiliary formula α does not occur as an open hypothesis in the quasideduction ending with the premise $\varphi \vee \psi$, then one can always simplify the application of $\vee E_+$ by removing α from the set of auxiliary formulas. This is illustrated by the following conversion:

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} [\Theta]^u & [\Theta, \alpha \Rightarrow \varphi]^u & [\Theta, \alpha \Rightarrow \psi]^u \\ \mathcal{D}_1 & \mathcal{D}_2 & \mathcal{D}_3 \\ \frac{\varphi \lor \psi & \chi & \chi}{\chi} \lor E^u_+ \end{array} & \begin{array}{cccc} [\Theta]^u & [\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi]^u & [\Theta \Rightarrow \psi]^u \\ \mathcal{D}_1 & \mathcal{D}_2' & \mathcal{D}_3' \\ \frac{\varphi \lor \psi & \chi & \chi}{\chi} \lor E^u_+ \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$

where α is assumed not to occur as an open hypothesis in \mathcal{D}_1 , and the quasi-deductions \mathcal{D}'_2 and \mathcal{D}'_3 are obtained from \mathcal{D}_2 and \mathcal{D}_3 by replacing all open occurrences of the rules $\Theta, \alpha \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta, \alpha \Rightarrow \psi$ by the simplified rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$, respectively.⁵ For technical reasons, we will henceforth assume that applications of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ never involve any redundancy of this kind. In particular, every quasi-deduction under consideration is assumed to satisfy the conditions mentioned in the following lemma, which is a direct consequence of the observations made above.

Lemma 2.1.3. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula and let Γ be a set of formulas and non-primitive rules. If φ is derivable from Γ in our system, then there exists a quasi-deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ such that every auxiliary rule and every auxiliary formula of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_{+}$ in \mathcal{D} does in fact have at least one undischarged occurrence in the corresponding subtree belonging to this application.

For later purposes, we also need to define a suitable notion of *substitution*. To this end, let \mathcal{D} be a quasi-deduction containing some undischarged applications of a non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and let \mathcal{D}' be a quasi-deduction for $\Gamma, \Theta \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$, where Γ is an arbitrary set of formulas and non-primitive rules. In this case, we will write $\mathcal{D}{\mathcal{D}' : \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi}$ for the result of replacing every undischarged application of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ in \mathcal{D} by an occurrence of the tree \mathcal{D}' . For example, let Θ be the set of classical formulas $\Theta = {\alpha, \beta}$ and let \mathcal{D} be the following quasi-deduction:



In this quasi-deduction, there are three undischarged applications of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$, marked with the symbol #. Let now Γ be a set of formulas and non-primitive rules and let \mathcal{D}' be a quasi-deduction for $\Gamma, \Theta \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$. The quasi-deduction $\mathcal{D}\{\mathcal{D}' : \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi\}$ is then of the form

In other words, $\mathcal{D}{\mathcal{D}': \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi}$ is obtained from \mathcal{D} by simultaneously substituting the quasideduction \mathcal{D}' for every undischarged occurrence of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$. Note that, if some formula from Θ does not actually occur as an open hypothesis in \mathcal{D}' , then every subtree in \mathcal{D} ending with the corresponding premise of $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ will simply be omitted in the course of the substitution (in this case, some open hypotheses or undischarged rules in \mathcal{D} may get 'lost', but this is unproblematic). Clearly, by performing such a substitution, we do not change the conclusion of the quasi-deduction \mathcal{D} , and $\mathcal{D}{\mathcal{D}': \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi}$ cannot contain any new undischarged rules or open hypotheses that were not already present in \mathcal{D} or \mathcal{D}' . In fact, it is easy to verify the following claim.

⁵ Note that, by performing this conversion, all subtrees ending with the premise α of the corresponding applications of the rules $\Theta, \alpha \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta, \alpha \Rightarrow \psi$ are simply omitted from \mathcal{D}_2 and \mathcal{D}_3 . The details are left to the reader.

Fact 2.1.4. Let Γ and Δ be arbitrary sets of formulas and non-primitive rules, let $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^B$ be a finite set of classical formulas and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^B$ be arbitrary formulas. If \mathcal{D} is a quasi-deduction for $\Delta, \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi \vdash_N^+ \psi$ (so \mathcal{D} possibly contains some undischarged applications of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$) and if \mathcal{D}' is a quasi-deduction for $\Gamma, \Theta \vdash_N^+ \varphi$, then $\mathcal{D}\{\mathcal{D}' : \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi\}$ is a quasi-deduction for $\Gamma, \Delta \vdash_N^+ \psi$.

2.2 Soundness and Completeness

Before turning to the main part of this chapter, let us first establish the soundness and completeness of our proof system. We have to show that, for any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$, there exists a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in NinqB⁺ if and only if φ is entailed by Γ in InqB. To this end, we will prove that NinqB⁺ is *equivalent* to the standard natural deduction system NinqB introduced in Definition 1.5.1, i.e., everything that is provable in NinqB⁺ is also provable in NinqB and vice versa. First, we show that NinqB⁺ is *sound* with respect to NinqB: if a formula φ is provable from a set of hypotheses in NinqB⁺, then it is also provable from these hypotheses in NinqB.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas. If it holds $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in our natural deduction system NinqB⁺, then we also have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ in the standard natural deduction system NinqB.⁶

Proof. We will show that every deduction in NinqB⁺ can be transformed into a deduction in NinqB. For this purpose, let NinqB^a be the *auxiliary system* which is just like NinqB⁺, except that NinqB^a also includes the ordinary elimination rule $\forall E$ from Figure 1.3 and the special rules (split) and (dne) from Figure 1.4. As before, by a *quasi-deduction* in NinqB^a, we mean any proof tree built up using the primitive rules of NinqB^a and arbitrary (open or discharged) applications of non-primitive rules. And a *deduction* in NinqB^a is a quasi-deduction in which all applications of non-primitive rules are discharged by applications of $\forall E_+$. The derivability relation of NinqB^a is denoted by \vdash_N^a , so we write $\Gamma \vdash_N^a \varphi$, if there exists a quasi-deduction \mathcal{D} in NinqB^a such that φ is the conclusion of \mathcal{D} and all undischarged rules and open hypotheses of \mathcal{D} are in Γ .

We will prove the following more general claim: for any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, if there exists a deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{a} \varphi$ in the auxiliary system NinqB^{*a*}, then there also exists a deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ in the standard system NinqB (since every deduction in NinqB⁺ is also a deduction in NinqB^{*a*}, this is sufficient to establish the claim). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be an arbitrary set of formulas and let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{a} \varphi$ in the auxiliary system NinqB^{*a*} (so, in particular, \mathcal{D} cannot contain any undischarged applications of non-primitive rules). Moreover, let *n* be the number of applications of the modified elimination rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$ in \mathcal{D} . Using induction on *n*, we show that there is also a deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ in the standard system NinqB.

For the base case, assume that \mathcal{D} contains n = 0 applications of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. In this case, \mathcal{D} cannot contain any applications of non-primitive rules since every such application would have to be discharged by some application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. Hence, we only need to get rid of all applications of (raa) in \mathcal{D} . Let \mathcal{D}' be the proof tree obtained from \mathcal{D} by rewriting every application of (raa) as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \neg \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{u} & \begin{bmatrix} \neg \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{u} \\ \mathcal{D}'' & \text{converts to} & \frac{\bot}{\neg \neg \alpha} \\ \frac{\bot}{\alpha} (\operatorname{raa})^{u} & \frac{\neg \neg \alpha}{\alpha} (\operatorname{dne}) \end{bmatrix}$$

Then, clearly, \mathcal{D}' is a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash^a_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ which contains no applications of non-primitive rules and no applications of the rules $\forall E_+$ and (raa). Consequently, \mathcal{D}' is also a deduction in the standard natural deduction system NinqB, so we may conclude $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$, as desired.

⁶ Recall that we write \vdash_{N}^{+} for the provability relation of NinqB⁺ and \vdash_{N} for the provability relation of NinqB.

For the inductive step, assume that \mathcal{D} contains $n \ge 1$ applications of the rule $\forall E_+$. In this case, we select a topmost application of $\forall E_+$ in \mathcal{D} . In other words, we write \mathcal{D} in the form

$$\begin{array}{cccc} [\Theta]^u & [\Theta \Rightarrow \psi_1]^u & [\Theta \Rightarrow \psi_2]^u \\ \mathcal{D}_3 & \mathcal{D}_1 & \mathcal{D}_2 \\ \hline \psi_1 \lor \psi_2 & \chi & \chi \\ \chi & \chi \\ \mathcal{D}_4 \\ \end{array} \\ \mathbb{V} E^u_+$$

where none of the quasi-deductions \mathcal{D}_1 , \mathcal{D}_2 and \mathcal{D}_3 contains an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. By assumption, Θ is a finite set of classical formulas, so we must have $\Theta = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k\}$ for some $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$. Let now i = 1, 2 be arbitrary and consider the subtree \mathcal{D}_i ending with the premise χ of the selected application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. Let Δ_i be the set of all open hypotheses and undischarged rules other than $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi_i$ in this subtree. That is, Δ_i is the smallest set such that \mathcal{D}_i is a quasi-deduction for $\Delta_i, \Theta \Rightarrow \psi_i \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^a \chi$. Furthermore, let \mathcal{D}_i^* be the quasi-deduction obtained from \mathcal{D}_i by rewriting every undischarged application of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi_i$ in the following way:

where $\bigwedge \Theta$ stands for the conjunction of the elements of Θ and the dashed line indicates k-1 applications of the rule $\land I$. Then, clearly, \mathcal{D}_i^* contains no undischarged applications of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi_i$ anymore, but it contains an additional open hypothesis $\bigwedge \Theta \rightarrow \psi_i$ instead. In other words, \mathcal{D}_i^* must be a quasi-deduction for $\Delta_i, \bigwedge \Theta \rightarrow \psi_i \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^a \chi$. Using the quasi-deductions \mathcal{D}_1^* and \mathcal{D}_2^* thus obtained, we may now transform the whole deduction \mathcal{D} into the proof tree \mathcal{D}^* of the form

where $\mathbb{V}E$ refers to the ordinary elimination rule for \mathbb{V} . Note that, since every element of Θ is assumed to be a classical formula, the conjunction $\bigwedge \Theta$ of these elements must also be a classical formula, so the indicated application of (split) is in fact correct. It is now easy to see that \mathcal{D}^* does not contain any new undischarged rules or open hypotheses that were not already present in \mathcal{D} . Hence, \mathcal{D}^* must still be a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathbb{N}}^a \varphi$. Furthermore, by construction, \mathcal{D}^* contains only n-1 applications of the modified elimination rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$. Therefore, using the induction hypothesis, we now obtain the desired deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathbb{N}} \varphi$ in the standard system NinqB. \Box

Next, we will show that our system is also *complete* with respect to NinqB: if φ is provable from a set of hypotheses in NinqB, then it is also provable from these hypotheses in NinqB⁺.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas. If $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ holds in the standard natural deduction system NinqB, then we also have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in our new natural deduction system NinqB⁺.

Proof. By what was said in the previous section, every instance of the ordinary elimination rule $\forall E$ can be identified with an instance of the generalized rule $\forall E_+$ in which the set of auxiliary

formulas Θ is taken to be the empty set. Therefore, it suffices to show that the special rules (split) and (dne), depicted in Figure 1.4, are derivable in our system NinqB⁺.⁷ In order to show the derivability of (split), let $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a classical formula and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary formulas. Using the generalized rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$, we may then construct the following deduction in NinqB⁺:

$$\frac{\alpha \to (\varphi \lor \psi) \quad [\alpha]^w}{\frac{\varphi \lor \psi}{} \to E} \quad \frac{\frac{[\alpha]^u}{\varphi} w}{(\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi)} \lor I \quad \frac{\frac{[\alpha]^v}{\psi} w}{(\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi)} \lor I}{(\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi)} \bigvee I \quad \frac{\frac{[\alpha]^v}{\psi} w}{(\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi)} \lor I}_{\forall E^w_+}$$

Note that, as indicated by the label w, all applications of the non-primitive rules $\alpha \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\alpha \Rightarrow \psi$ in this deduction are discharged by the application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ at the bottom. Hence, the rule (split) is in fact derivable in our system. The derivability of the rule (dne), on the other hand, can be established by the following deduction in NinqB⁺, where $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ is again a classical formula:

$$\frac{\neg \neg \alpha \quad [\neg \alpha]^u}{\frac{\bot}{\alpha} (\operatorname{raa})^u} \to E$$

As we have seen, each of the rules $\forall E$, (split) and (dne) is derivable in NinqB⁺. Consequently, given any subset $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and a deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ in the standard system NinqB, one can always transform \mathcal{D} into a corresponding deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in NinqB⁺. \Box

By combining the previous two lemmas, we may now conclude that our system is in fact equivalent to the standard natural deduction system for inquisitive logic: everything that is provable in NinqB⁺ is also provable in the standard system NinqB and vice versa. Since NinqB is sound and complete with respect to InqB, this yields the desired completeness result for our system.

Theorem 2.2.3 (Soundness and Completeness). The system NinqB⁺ is sound and complete with respect to InqB. That is, for any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$.

Proof. The statement follows directly from Theorem 1.5.2, Lemma 2.2.1 and Lemma 2.2.2.

2.3 Cut Segments and Conversions

In this and the next section, we will establish a so-called *normalization theorem* for our system, i.e., we will show that every deduction in NinqB⁺ can be transformed into a detour-free deduction. The underlying technique goes back to Gentzen, who started thinking about normalization in the early 1930s as part of his work on the consistency of Peano arithmetic (cf. Von Plato 2008; 2012). Unfortunately, Gentzen did not succeed in proving normalization for classical natural deduction, which led him to develop the sequent calculus and to prove a cut-elimination theorem instead. (For intuitionistic logic, however, Gentzen had already found a direct normalization proof, but never published it. This became known in 2005, when a handwritten manuscript of his doctoral thesis was found. See Von Plato 2008). The first published proof of normalization for both classical and intuitionistic logic was provided by Prawitz (1965). Let us start by giving a brief explanation of the basic idea. Roughly speaking, by a *cut formula* in a deduction, we mean an occurrence of a formula that is introduced by an application of an introduction rule or an application of a rule for the falsum constant, and which is eliminated right away by an application

⁷ Roughly speaking, a rule is said to be *derivable* in our system, if it satisfies the condition that, whenever there is a deduction for each of the premises of the rule, then there is also a deduction for the conclusion of the rule.

of an elimination rule (so, in a sense, a cut formula may be regarded as a 'detour' in a deduction, since a formula which has just been introduced gets instantly eliminated again). For example, consider the following deduction in our system, where α is assumed to be a classical formula and the two applications of $\alpha \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\alpha \Rightarrow \psi$ are discharged by the application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ at the end:

$$\frac{\alpha \to \varphi \quad [\alpha]^v}{(1) \quad \frac{\varphi}{\varphi \otimes \psi} \otimes I} \to E \quad (2) \quad \frac{\frac{\neg \varphi \quad \frac{[\alpha]^w}{\varphi} v}{\frac{\bot}{\varphi \wedge \psi} (\text{efq})}}{\frac{\psi}{\psi} \wedge E} \quad (3) \quad \frac{\frac{[\alpha]^u}{\psi} v}{\frac{\alpha \to \psi}{\varphi \to I^u} [\alpha]^w}{\frac{\psi}{\varphi \otimes \psi} \otimes E^v_+} \to E$$

This deduction contains three cut formulas, marked with (1), (2) and (3), respectively. The first one is the formula marked with (1), since this formula is obtained by the introduction rule for \mathbb{V} and eliminated right away by the corresponding elimination rule. The second cut formula is (2), because this formula is introduced by an application of a falsum rule and eliminated by the elimination rule for conjunction. And the last cut formula is (3), since this formula is obtained by the introduction rule for \rightarrow and instantly eliminated again by the respective elimination rule.

In order to make things precise, let us introduce some further terminology. Given any application of a (primitive or non-primitive) rule of inference, we will call the formula occurrences directly above the line the *premises*, and the formula occurrence directly below the line the *conclusion* of this application. For each of the binary connectives \land , \rightarrow and \lor , our system comprises exactly one *introduction rule* and exactly one *elimination rule*.⁸ In addition, NinqB⁺ also includes the rules (efq) and (raa), which we will refer to as *falsum rules*. In elimination rules, we distinguish between two types of premises, referred to as *major premises* and *minor premises*, respectively.

Definition 2.3.1 (Major Premise, Minor Premise). In an application of an elimination rule, the premise which contains the corresponding occurrence of the logical connective is said to be the *major premise* of this application. All other premises (if any) will be referred to as *minor premises*.

So, for example, in an application of $\rightarrow E$, the major premise is the formula of the form $\varphi \rightarrow \psi$ and the minor premise is the formula φ . And in an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, the major premise is the formula $\varphi \mathbb{V} \psi$ and the minor premises are the two occurrences of χ standing immediately above the line. Without loss of generality, we will assume that the major premise of an elimination rule is always the *leftmost* premise of this rule. It might now seem that a cut could simply be defined as an occurrence of a formula which is both the conclusion of an introduction rule or the conclusion of a falsum rule, and the major premise of an elimination rule. However, things are actually a bit more complicated, since applications of the rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$ allow us to produce *repetitions* of formulas in deductions. For example, one could also construct a deduction of the following form:

$$\frac{\underbrace{\begin{array}{cccc} \vdots \\ \theta_1 \lor \theta_2 \end{array}}_{\begin{array}{c} \frac{\chi_1 \lor \chi_2 \end{array}}{ & \frac{\varphi & \psi}{\varphi \land \psi} \land I & \vdots \\ & \frac{\varphi \land \psi}{\varphi \land \psi} \land V & \psi \\ & \frac{\varphi \land \psi}{\varphi \land \psi} \land E \end{array}}_{\begin{array}{c} \frac{\varphi \land \psi}{\varphi \land \psi} \land E \end{array}} \lor E_+ \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \vdots \\ \varphi \land \psi \\ \psi \land \psi \\ \psi \land \psi \\ \end{array}}_{\begin{array}{c} \psi \land \psi \\ \varphi \land \psi \\ \varphi \land \psi \end{array}} \lor E_+$$

This deduction contains a sequence of three consecutive occurrences of the formula $\varphi \wedge \psi$, starting with the conclusion of an introduction rule and ending with the major premise of an elimination rule. Clearly, our definition of a cut should also account for detours of this kind. Thus, rather than

⁸ Note that, for the inquisitive disjunction operator \mathbb{V} , the elimination rule is now the 'higher-level' rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$, rather than the ordinary elimination rule for disjunction used in classical and intuitionistic natural deduction.

considering single occurrences of formulas, we must actually consider sequences of consecutive occurrences of the same formula. A sequence of this kind will be referred to as a *segment*.

Definition 2.3.2 (Segment). Let \mathcal{D} be a quasi-deduction in our system. By a *segment* of length n in \mathcal{D} , we mean a sequence ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n of n consecutive occurrences of a formula φ in \mathcal{D} such that:

- (i) ξ_1 is not the conclusion of an application of $\forall E_+$,
- (ii) each ξ_i with $1 \leq i < n$ is a minor premise of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$,
- (iii) ξ_n is not a minor premise of an application of $\forall E_+$.

A *cut segment* is now defined to be a segment that begins with the conclusion of an introduction rule or the conclusion of a falsum rule, and ends with the major premise of an elimination rule.

Definition 2.3.3 (Cut Segment). Let \mathcal{D} be a quasi-deduction in NinqB⁺. By a *cut segment* of length n in \mathcal{D} , we mean a segment ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n in \mathcal{D} such that ξ_1 is the conclusion of an introduction rule or the conclusion of a falsum rule, and ξ_n is the major premise of an elimination rule. If π is a cut segment, then the unique formula occurring in π will also be called the *cut formula* of π .

The main goal of this chapter is to show that any deduction can be transformed into a deduction containing no cut segments. A cut-free deduction will also be referred to as a *normal deduction*.

Definition 2.3.4 (Normal Deduction). A deduction \mathcal{D} is said to be a *normal deduction*, if \mathcal{D} contains no cut segments and all conclusions of falsum rule applications in \mathcal{D} are atomic formulas.

The overall structure of our normalization proof will be as follows: first, we will show that the falsum rules can be restricted to instances in which the conclusion is an atomic formula. Afterwards, we will describe a procedure that allows to get rid of all cut segments starting with the conclusion of an introduction rule. The argument is based on the observation that any cut segment of length n > 1 can be transformed into a cut segment of length one by permuting the major premise at the end of the segment over the minor premises of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ in the middle of the segment. This is achieved by performing the following *permutation conversion*, where (E) stands for an arbitrary instance of an elimination rule with major premise χ and conclusion μ :

Unfortunately, naive applications of the permutation conversion do not necessarily yield the desired result. The reason is that (E) itself might be an instance of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ which discharges some hypotheses occurring in the subtree \mathcal{D}_3 . In this case, permuting the major premise of (E) upwards would cause the respective hypotheses in \mathcal{D}_3 to become *open* hypotheses. For example, consider the following deduction in our system, which contains two consecutive applications of $\mathbb{V}E_+$:

In this deduction, the upper application of $\forall E_+$ (i.e., the one with label u) is associated with the set of auxiliary formulas Θ and the lower application of $\forall E_+$ (i.e., the one with label v) is associated with the set of auxiliary formulas Ω . Since some of the auxiliary formulas from Ω also occur as hypotheses in the subtree \mathcal{D}_3 , we cannot simply apply the aforementioned permutation conversion, since this would cause these hypotheses to become open. However, this problem can easily be resolved, since it is always possible to 'shift' all occurrences of the hypotheses from Ω in \mathcal{D}_3 to the subtrees \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 . To make this more precise, let us assume that it holds $\Theta = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$ and $\Omega = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m\}$, where each α_i and each β_i is a classical formula. Moreover, let k = 1, 2 be arbitrary and let \mathcal{D}_k^* be the quasi-deduction obtained from \mathcal{D}_k by rewriting every open application of the non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_k$ in the following way:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\mathcal{D}'_{1} & \mathcal{D}'_{n} \\
\underline{\alpha_{1} & \cdots & \alpha_{n}} \\
\varphi_{k} \\
\mathcal{D}''
\end{array} \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_{k} \quad \text{converts to} \quad \begin{array}{cccc}
\mathcal{D}'_{1} & \mathcal{D}'_{n} \\
\underline{\alpha_{1} & \cdots & \alpha_{n} & \beta_{1} & \cdots & \beta_{m}} \\
\underline{\alpha_{1} & \cdots & \alpha_{n} & \beta_{1} & \cdots & \beta_{m}} \\
\varphi_{k} \\
\mathcal{D}''
\end{array}$$

In other words, we simply replace all undischarged applications of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_k$ in \mathcal{D}_k by undischarged applications of $\Theta, \Omega \Rightarrow \varphi_k$. Note that, in the course of this conversion, we add a number of new occurrences of the open hypotheses β_1, \ldots, β_m to the proof tree. Using the quasi-deductions \mathcal{D}_1^* and \mathcal{D}_2^* thus obtained, we can now transform the whole deduction into

In this deduction, the lower application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ does not discharge any hypotheses in \mathcal{D}_3 anymore, since all open hypotheses from Ω in \mathcal{D}_3 are now discharged by the upper application. Therefore, we can now safely apply our permutation conversion in order to permute the major premise of the lower application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ over the minor premises of the upper application.

Using successive applications of the permutation conversion, it is possible to transform any cut segment into a cut segment containing only a single occurrence of the cut formula. The cut itself can then be eliminated using the following *logical conversions* for cut segments of length one:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\mathcal{D}_{1} & \mathcal{D}_{2} \\
\frac{\varphi_{1} & \varphi_{2}}{\varphi_{1} \wedge \varphi_{2}} \wedge I \\
\frac{\varphi_{i}}{\varphi_{i}} & \wedge E \\
\mathcal{D}_{3}
\end{array}$$
converts to
$$\begin{array}{c}
\mathcal{D}_{i} \\
\varphi_{i} \\
\varphi_{i} \\
\mathcal{D}_{3}
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{cccc} & \mathcal{D}_{1} & & \mathcal{D}_{2} \\ & & \mathcal{D}_{1} & & & \varphi \\ & & \frac{\psi}{\varphi \to \psi} \to I^{u} & \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{\varphi} & & \text{converts to} & & \mathcal{D}_{1} \\ & & & \frac{\psi}{\varphi \to \psi} \to E & & & \psi \\ & & & \mathcal{D}_{3} & & & \mathcal{D}_{3} \end{array}$$

 $[\omega]^u$

Observe that, in the last conversion, we use the substitution operator defined in Section 2.1, so $\mathcal{D}_i \{\mathcal{D}_3 : \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_i\}$ stands for the result of replacing every undischarged application of the non-

primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_i$ in \mathcal{D}_i by an occurrence of the quasi-deduction \mathcal{D}_3 (this is in fact legitimate, since \mathcal{D}_3 is assumed to end with the conclusion φ_i). Using Fact 2.1.4, it is easy to verify that this conversion does not affect the conclusion or the set of open hypotheses of the whole deduction, i.e., for any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, if the full proof tree was a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \varphi$ before the conversion, then it will also be such a deduction after the conversion.

The main difficulty in our normalization proof arises from the fact that each of the logical conversions may produce new cut segments and the last two conversions may even *increase* the total number of cut segments in a deduction. Therefore, it is not obvious from the outset that repeated applications of these conversions will eventually yield a normal deduction. For example, in the conversion rule for cut formulas of the form $\varphi \to \psi$, each of the two formulas φ and ψ may become a new cut formula and all cut segments occurring in the subtree \mathcal{D}_2 might be *duplicated*, depending on how often φ occurs as an open hypothesis in \mathcal{D}_1 . Furthermore, in the conversion rule for cut formulas of the form φ_i but also every formula in the set Θ may become a new cut formula, and these formulas can be arbitrarily 'complex'. In addition, all cut segments in \mathcal{D}_3 might be duplicated, depending on how often $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_i$ occurs as an undischarged rule in \mathcal{D}_i .

2.4 Normalization

Let us now turn to the proof of normalization for our system. We first show that the falsum rules, (efq) and (raa), can be restricted to instances in which the conclusion is an atomic formula.⁹ Note that, since major premises of elimination rules are never atomic, this also shows that cut segments starting with the conclusion of a falsum rule can always be avoided in a deduction. In order to prove the desired claim, we will argue that one can successively reduce the complexity of the conclusion of a falsum rule application until it finally becomes an atomic formula. Here, the complexity of a formula will be measured in terms of its *degree*, which is defined in the following way.

Definition 2.4.1. The *degree* of a formula φ , notation $deg(\varphi)$, is inductively defined as follows:

- (i) deg(p) := 0 for all atoms $p \in \mathsf{P}$, and $deg(\bot) := 1$,
- (ii) $deg(\psi \otimes \chi) := deg(\psi) + deg(\chi) + 1$ for $\otimes \in \{\land, \rightarrow, \lor\}$.

In other words, the degree of a formula simply amounts to the number of occurrences of the logical symbols \bot , \land , \rightarrow , \lor in this formula. The basic idea of our argument is to decrease the degree of the conclusion of a falsum rule application step by step, by applying suitable conversions to the deduction. To make this more precise, let us first introduce some useful terminology. The conclusion of a falsum rule application will also be referred to as a *falsum rule conclusion*. A falsum rule conclusion φ in a deduction \mathcal{D} is said to be *maximal*, if there is no falsum rule conclusion of higher degree in the deduction, i.e., if for every falsum rule conclusion ψ in \mathcal{D} , we have $deg(\psi) \leq deg(\varphi)$. And the *falsum rank* of a deduction \mathcal{D} is the pair of natural numbers $fr(\mathcal{D}) = (m, n)$ defined in the following way: if all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} are atomic, then we put $fr(\mathcal{D}) := (0, 0)$. Otherwise, we put $fr(\mathcal{D}) := (m, n)$, where *m* is the degree of a maximal falsum rule conclusion in \mathcal{D} and *n* is the number of maximal falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} .

We will show that any deduction of falsum rank greater than (0,0) can be transformed into a deduction of lower falsum rank (by iterating this argument, we will then finally arrive at a deduction containing only atomic falsum rule conclusions). In order to make this notion of 'greater than' and 'lower than' precise, we will assume that falsum ranks are ordered *lexicographically*. That is, given a deduction \mathcal{D} with $fr(\mathcal{D}) = (m, n)$ and another deduction \mathcal{D}' with $fr(\mathcal{D}') = (m', n')$, we will write $fr(\mathcal{D}) < fr(\mathcal{D}')$ and say that the falsum rank of \mathcal{D} is *smaller* than the falsum rank of \mathcal{D}' , if we either have m < m', or we have both m = m' and n < n'. We will also write > for the *inverse relation* of the lexicographic ordering <. Using these notions, we

⁹ To be clear: by an *atomic formula*, we will always mean a propositional letter from the set P introduced at the beginning of Section 1.2. Thus, in particular, the falsum constant \perp will *not* be treated as an atomic formula.

can now prove the desired result: if φ is provable from a set of hypotheses Γ in our system, then one can always find a deduction of φ from Γ in which all falsum rule conclusions are atomic.

Lemma 2.4.2. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$ be a set of formulas. If $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ holds in our system, then there exists a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in which the conclusion of every falsum rule application is atomic. Proof. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$ be arbitrary and suppose that there exists a deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in our system. If all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} are atomic, then we are finished. Otherwise, \mathcal{D} contains at least one non-atomic falsum rule conclusion and we must have $fr(\mathcal{D}) = (m, n) > (0, 0)$ for some integers $m, n \ge 0$. We first show that \mathcal{D} can be transformed into a deduction \mathcal{D}' with smaller falsum rank. To this end, let θ be a maximal falsum rule conclusion in \mathcal{D} such that all falsum rule conclusions above θ in \mathcal{D} are of smaller degree than θ . That is, θ satisfies $deg(\theta) = m$, and it holds $deg(\mu) < m$ for all falsum rule conclusions μ in the subtree ending with θ .

First, suppose that θ is the conclusion of an application of (raa). In this case, θ must be a *classical formula*. Depending on the form of θ , we now perform one of the following conversions:



Let \mathcal{D}' be the deduction arising from the conversion and let $fr(\mathcal{D}') = (m', n')$ be the falsum rank of \mathcal{D}' . In the first two conversions, the old application of (raa) is replaced by one or more new applications of (raa) and the conclusions of these new applications are of lower degree than the conclusion θ of the old application. Moreover, although the quasi-deduction \mathcal{D}_1 is used twice in the first conversion, this cannot increase the the total number of maximal falsum rule conclusions: by assumption, all falsum rule conclusions occurring in \mathcal{D}_1 are of lower degree than θ . On the other hand, in the last conversion, the application of (raa) is completely eliminated. Hence, if θ was the only maximal falsum rule conclusion in \mathcal{D} , then the degree of a maximal falsum rule conclusion in \mathcal{D}' must be smaller than m, so it holds m' < m. And if θ was not the only maximal falsum rule conclusion in \mathcal{D} , then the number of maximal falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D}' must be smaller than n, so we have both m' = m and n' < n. In either case, it follows $fr(\mathcal{D}') < fr(\mathcal{D})$, as desired.

2.4. Normalization

Assume now that θ is the conclusion of an application of (efq). In this case, the conversions for the classical connectives are similar to the ones presented above, so we only need to consider the case in which θ is of the shape $\theta = \psi \vee \chi$. The corresponding conversion has the following form:

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\mathcal{D}_1 & & \mathcal{D}_1 \\
\frac{\perp}{\psi \otimes \chi} \text{ (efq)} & \text{converts to} & & \frac{\frac{\perp}{\psi} \text{ (efq)}}{\psi \otimes \chi} \\
\mathcal{D}_2 & & \mathcal{D}_2
\end{array}$$

In this conversion, the new falsum rule conclusion is again of lower degree than the old one. Therefore, if \mathcal{D}' is the deduction arising from the conversion, then we must have $fr(\mathcal{D}') < fr(\mathcal{D})$.

Now, as we have seen, each of the conversions reduces the falsum rank of \mathcal{D} . Thus, by repeating the procedure, we can construct a sequence of deductions with strictly decreasing falsum ranks. Since the lexicographic ordering on falsum ranks is well-founded, this finally yields a deduction \mathcal{D}'' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \varphi$ such that $fr(\mathcal{D}'') = (0,0)$, so all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D}'' are atomic. \Box

It is easy to check that this proof would fail, if the conclusion of (raa) would be allowed to contain the inquisitive disjunction operator \mathbb{V} . This is an interesting observation, because the restriction posed on (raa), tracing back to Ciardelli's (2016) double negation rule, was initially motivated on purely *semantic* grounds. It thus seems that there might be a deeper connection between non-inquisitiveness in natural language and normalization in natural deduction systems.

Next, we need to show that one can also eliminate all cut segments starting with the conclusion of an introduction rule. The overall strategy will be similar to the technique employed in the previous lemma: we always select a cut segment with maximum complexity, transform the deduction in such a way that the complexity is decreased and repeat the procedure until each cut segment has been eliminated. However, as we have seen in Section 2.3, the 'higher-level' elimination rule $\forall E_+$ now causes some additional complications. In particular, by performing the logical conversion for cut segments ending with the major premise of an application of $\forall E_+$, each of the auxiliary formulas of this application (i.e., each of the formulas from the set Θ) may become a new cut formula, and these formulas can have an arbitrarily large degree. In order to solve this problem, we need a more sophisticated measure of the 'complexity' of a formula.

Definition 2.4.3 (Inquisitive Degree, Classical Degree, Rank). Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula.

- (i) The *inquisitive degree* of φ is denoted by deg_i(φ) and defined to be the number of occurrences of the inquisitive disjunction W in φ. And the *classical degree* of φ is denoted by deg_c(φ) and defined to be the number of occurrences of the connectives ∧ and → in φ.
- (ii) The rank of φ is defined to be the ordered pair given by $rank(\varphi) := (deg_i(\varphi), deg_c(\varphi)).$

In what follows, we will assume that ranks of formulas are ordered lexicographically. That is, we will write $rank(\varphi) < rank(\psi)$ and say that the rank of φ is *smaller* than the rank of ψ , if we either have $deg_i(\varphi) < deg_i(\psi)$, or we have both $deg_i(\varphi) = deg_i(\psi)$ and $deg_c(\varphi) < deg_c(\psi)$. The following lemma summarizes some immediate consequences of the preceding definitions.

Lemma 2.4.4. Let $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary formulas. It holds:

(i) $rank(\varphi_i) < rank(\varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_2)$ for i = 1, 2 and $\otimes \in \{\land, \rightarrow, \lor\}$,

(ii) $rank(\alpha) < rank(\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2)$ for every classical formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$.

Proof. We only prove statement (ii), the other part is trivial. Let $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary formulas and let $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a classical formula. Since $\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2$ contains an occurrence of \vee , its inquisitive degree must satisfy $deg_i(\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2) \geq 1$. On the other hand, because α is a classical formula, we also know that it holds $deg_i(\alpha) = 0$. Therefore, it follows $deg_i(\alpha) < deg_i(\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2)$, so we may conclude $rank(\alpha) < rank(\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2)$ by definition of the lexicographic ordering. \Box
Most importantly, this lemma tells us that the logical conversions described in Section 2.3 do indeed decrease the complexity of cut segments in a deduction: if a new cut formula arises from one of these conversions, then it must always be of smaller rank than the original one. Using the rank of a formula, we may now define some useful concepts. First of all, by the *rank of a cut segment*, we will henceforth mean the rank of the cut formula occurring in this segment. For convenience, the rank of a cut segment π will also be denoted by $rank(\pi)$. The notion of a maximal cut segment and the cut rank of a deduction are now defined in the following way.

Definition 2.4.5 (Maximal Cut Segment, Cut Rank). Let \mathcal{D} be a deduction in our system.

- (i) By a maximal cut segment in \mathcal{D} , we mean a cut segment π in \mathcal{D} such that π has maximal rank, i.e., for every cut segment σ in \mathcal{D} holds $rank(\sigma) < rank(\pi)$ or $rank(\sigma) = rank(\pi)$.
- (ii) The *cut rank* of \mathcal{D} is the triple $cr(\mathcal{D}) = (m, n, p)$ defined as follows: if \mathcal{D} contains no cut segments, then we put $cr(\mathcal{D}) := (0, 0, 0)$. Otherwise, we put $cr(\mathcal{D}) := (m, n, p)$, where (m, n) is the rank of a maximal cut segment in \mathcal{D} and p is the number of maximal cut segments in \mathcal{D} .

As with the ranks of formulas, we assume that cut ranks of deductions are ordered *lexico-graphically*. In other words, given a deduction \mathcal{D} with $cr(\mathcal{D}) = (m, n, p)$ and another deduction \mathcal{D}' with $cr(\mathcal{D}') = (m', n', p')$, we will write $cr(\mathcal{D}) < cr(\mathcal{D}')$ and say that the cut rank of \mathcal{D} is *smaller* than the cut rank of \mathcal{D}' , if one of the following three conditions is satisfied: (1) m < m', or (2) m = m' and n < n', or (3) m = m', n = n' and p < p'. It is now possible to show that cut ranks of non-normal deductions can always be decreased: every deduction containing at least one cut segment can be transformed into a deduction of smaller cut rank.

Lemma 2.4.6. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas and let \mathcal{D} be a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ such that all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} are atomic. If $cr(\mathcal{D}) > (0,0,0)$, then there exists a deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ such that $cr(\mathcal{D}') < cr(\mathcal{D})$ and all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D}' are still atomic.

Proof. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be an arbitrary set of formulas, let \mathcal{D} be a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ and suppose that all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} are atomic. So, in particular, \mathcal{D} cannot contain any cut segments starting with the conclusion of a falsum rule application.¹⁰ Furthermore, let $cr(\mathcal{D}) = (m, n, p)$ be the cut rank of \mathcal{D} and assume that it holds $cr(\mathcal{D}) > (0, 0, 0)$. Then, clearly, \mathcal{D} must contain at least one cut segment (which, by assumption, must start with the conclusion of an introduction rule). Let now π be a maximal cut segment in \mathcal{D} such that all cut segments occurring above π in \mathcal{D} are of lower rank than π . In other words, π is a cut segment with $rank(\pi) = (m, n)$, and it holds $rank(\sigma) < rank(\pi)$ for every cut segment σ occurring in the subtree ending with the conclusion of the elimination rule at the bottom of π . Let ξ be the cut formula occurring in π and let k be the length of the segment π . If k > 1, then we first perform the following *permutation conversion*, possibly in combination with a prior 'shifting' of hypotheses, in order to avoid hypotheses in \mathcal{D}_3 to become open in the course of the permutation:¹¹

Note that, although this conversion produces two identical copies of \mathcal{D}_4 , this cannot increase the cut rank of the deduction: by assumption, π is an uppermost maximal cut segment, so all cut segments occurring in \mathcal{D}_4 are of lower rank than π . Each application of the permutation conversion

¹⁰ Again, this follows immediately from the fact that major premises of elimination rules are always non-atomic.

¹¹That is, if (E) is an instance of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ that discharges some open hypotheses in the subtree \mathcal{D}_3 , then we first apply the procedure described in Section 2.3 in order to 'shift' these hypotheses from \mathcal{D}_3 to the subtrees \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 .

reduces the length of the cut segment by one, so after k-1 steps, we must arrive at a deduction \mathcal{D}^* for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \varphi$ in which π contains only a single occurrence of the cut formula ξ . Since neither the 'shifting' of hypotheses nor the permutation itself can produce any new maximal cut segments, this deduction \mathcal{D}^* must have the same cut rank as \mathcal{D} , so it holds $cr(\mathcal{D}^*) = (m, n, p)$. Depending on the form of the cut formula ξ , we now perform the corresponding *logical conversion*:

$egin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{D}_1 & \mathcal{D}_2 & & \ rac{arphi_1 & arphi_2}{2} & \wedge I & \ rac{arphi_1 \wedge arphi_2}{arphi_i} & \wedge E & \ \mathcal{D}_3 & & \end{array}$	converts to	$egin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{ccc} [\psi]^{u} \\ \mathcal{D}_{1} \\ \frac{\chi}{\psi \to \chi} \to I^{u} & \mathcal{D}_{2} \\ \frac{\chi}{\psi \to \chi} \to Z^{u} & \psi \\ \chi \\ \mathcal{D}_{3} & \to E \end{array} $	converts to	$egin{array}{lll} \mathcal{D}_2 \ \psi \ \mathcal{D}_1 \ \chi \ \mathcal{D}_3 \end{array}$
$ \begin{array}{cccc} [\Theta]^{u} \\ \mathcal{D}_{3} & [\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_{1}]^{u} & [\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_{2}]^{u} \\ \underline{\varphi_{i}} & \nabla_{1} & \mathcal{D}_{2} \\ \hline \frac{\varphi_{i}}{\varphi_{1} \otimes \varphi_{2}} \otimes I & \chi & \chi \\ & \chi & \chi & \chi \\ & \chi & \chi \\ & \mathcal{D}_{4} \end{array} $	converts to	$\mathcal{D}_i \{ \mathcal{D}_3 : \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_i \}$ χ \mathcal{D}_4

We consider in detail only the case in which ξ is of the form $\xi = \varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2$, so we assume that the last of these three conversions has been performed. Let \mathcal{D}' be the deduction arising from the conversion and let $cr(\mathcal{D}') = (m', n', p')$ be the cut rank of \mathcal{D}' . First of all, it is easy to see that \mathcal{D}' is still a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \varphi$ and all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D}' are still atomic. Moreover, recall that $\mathcal{D}_i \{\mathcal{D}_3 : \Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_i\}$ stands for the result of replacing every undischarged application of the rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi_i$ in \mathcal{D}_i by an occurrence of \mathcal{D}_3 . Hence, the only new cut formulas possibly arising from the conversion are the formula φ_i and the classical formulas contained in the set Θ . By Lemma 2.4.4, we know that it holds $rank(\varphi_i) < rank(\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2)$ and $rank(\alpha) < rank(\varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2)$ for every classical formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$. Therefore, all new cut formulas must be of lower rank than the original cut formula $\xi = \varphi_1 \vee \varphi_2$. Furthermore, by assumption, all cut segments occurring in \mathcal{D}_3 are of rank smaller than (m, n), so we are not in danger of duplicating maximal cut segments. Thus, if ξ was the only maximal cut segment in \mathcal{D}^* , then we have (m', n') < (m, n). Otherwise, we have (m', n') = (m, n) and p' < p. In either case, it follows $cr(\mathcal{D}') < cr(\mathcal{D})$, as desired. \Box

Observe that this proof would fail, if the set of auxiliary formulas Θ of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ would be allowed to contain non-classical formulas. Again, this is an interesting observation, since the restriction to classical formulas, inherited from the split rule depicted in Figure 1.4, was initially motivated purely semantically. We are now ready to prove the main result of this chapter: every deduction in our natural deduction system reduces to a normal deduction.

Theorem 2.4.7 (Normalization Theorem). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas. Every deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ in the system NinqB⁺ can be transformed into a normal deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$.

Proof. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary and let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$. By Lemma 2.4.2, we may assume that all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} are atomic. If \mathcal{D} is already normal, then we are finished. Otherwise, we can repeatedly apply Lemma 2.4.6 in order to construct a sequence $\mathcal{D}_1, \mathcal{D}_2, \mathcal{D}_3$, etc., of deductions for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ such that the corresponding cut ranks form a descending chain $cr(\mathcal{D}) > cr(\mathcal{D}_1) > cr(\mathcal{D}_2) > \ldots$ After a finite number of steps, this must result in a deduction \mathcal{D}' with $cr(\mathcal{D}') = (0, 0, 0)$. But then, clearly, \mathcal{D}' is a normal deduction. \Box

2.5 **Properties of Normal Deductions**

In order to conclude our treatment of natural deduction, let us now investigate some consequences of our normalization theorem. To this end, we first need to introduce some terminology. Recall that, by an *auxiliary rule* of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ with major premise $\varphi \mathbb{V}\psi$ and set of auxiliary formulas Θ , we mean any occurrence of the non-primitive rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$ which is discharged in the course of this application. And the *side formulas* of such an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ are the occurrences of the formulas φ and ψ serving as the conclusions of the auxiliary rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$. The notion of a *track* in a deduction is now defined in the following way.

Definition 2.5.1 (Track). Let \mathcal{D} be a deduction in NinqB⁺. By a *track* in \mathcal{D} , we mean a sequence of formula occurrences $\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n$ in \mathcal{D} such that each of the following conditions is satisfied:

- (i) φ_1 is an open or discharged hypothesis in \mathcal{D} .
- (ii) Each φ_i with $1 \le i < n$ is not a premise of a non-primitive rule and not the minor premise of an application of $\rightarrow E$, and it holds:
 - (a) If φ_i is not the major premise of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, then its successor φ_{i+1} is simply the formula occurrence standing immediately below φ_i .
 - (b) If φ_i is the major premise of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, then its successor φ_{i+1} is one of the side formulas of this application.
- (iii) φ_n is either a premise of a non-primitive rule, or it is the minor premise of an application of $\rightarrow E$, or it is the conclusion of the deduction \mathcal{D} .

In other words, a track in a deduction \mathcal{D} is a sequence of consecutive formula occurrences in \mathcal{D} , beginning with a hypothesis and possibly ending with the conclusion of \mathcal{D} , except that (1) a track passing through the major premise of an application of $\forall E_+$ is always continued at one of the side formulas of this application, and (2) a track always stops as soon as a premise of a non-primitive rule or the minor premise of an application of $\rightarrow E$ is encountered. So, as a consequence, none of the formula occurrences in a track, except possibly the last one, can be a premise of a non-primitive rule or the minor premise of an application of $\rightarrow E$. In what follows, a track τ in a deduction \mathcal{D} will be referred to as a *main track*, if the last formula occurrence in τ is the conclusion of the deduction \mathcal{D} . To see an example, let us consider the following deduction:

$$(1) \quad \underbrace{(\alpha \otimes \beta) \to (\varphi \otimes \psi)}_{(2) \quad \underline{\varphi \otimes \psi}} \quad \underbrace{(5) \quad \frac{[\alpha]^u}{\alpha \otimes \beta} \otimes I}_{(5) \quad \underline{\varphi \otimes \psi}} \otimes I \quad \underbrace{(8) \quad \frac{[\alpha \wedge \beta]^v}{(9) \quad \underline{\alpha} \quad \psi} \wedge E}_{(3) \quad \underline{\varphi} \quad u} \wedge E \quad \underbrace{(12) \quad \frac{\neg \psi}{(13) \quad \underline{\omega} \quad \psi}}_{(13) \quad \underline{\omega} \quad \psi} \otimes E_{+}^{(13)} \to E \\ \underbrace{(12) \quad \frac{\neg \psi}{(13) \quad \underline{\omega} \quad \psi}}_{(14) \quad \underline{\varphi} \quad (efq)}_{(efq) \quad \underline{\omega} \quad \underline{\omega} \quad \psi}_{(14) \quad \underline{\varphi} \quad \underline{\omega} \quad \underline{\omega$$

A straightforward inspection shows that this deduction contains exactly six tracks. The main tracks of the deduction are the two sequences $\tau_1 = (1, 2, 3, 4, 5)$ and $\tau_2 = (12, 13, 14, 4, 5)$. And the other four tracks are the sequences $\tau_3 = (1, 2, 15)$, $\tau_4 = (6, 7)$, $\tau_5 = (8, 9)$ and $\tau_6 = (10, 11)$. It is easy to see that every deduction in our system must have at least one main track. In fact, such a main track can always be found by going upwards from the conclusion of the deduction in such a way that, if a side formula of an application of $\forall E_+$ or the conclusion of an application of $\rightarrow E$ is encountered, then the search is always continued at the major premise of this application. In addition, one can show that every formula occurrence in a deduction belongs to at least one track.

Proposition 2.5.2. Let D be a deduction in our system. Then D has at least one main track. Furthermore, every formula occurrence in D belongs to some track in D.

Proof. The basic idea is as follows: first, we define a *pre-track* in a quasi-deduction \mathcal{D} in exactly the same way as a track, except that a pre-track is also allowed to start with the conclusion of an undischarged application of a non-primitive rule. A pre-track is said to be *maximal*, if it ends with the conclusion of the deduction. Using induction on the structure of a quasi-deduction, it is then possible to show that each quasi-deduction must have at least one maximal pre-track and that every formula occurrence in a quasi-deduction belongs to at least one pre-track. The desired statement now follows from the observation that, if \mathcal{D} is a *deduction* (i.e., if all applications of non-primitive rules in \mathcal{D} are discharged), then every pre-track in \mathcal{D} is also a track.

Obviously, every track can also be divided into a sequence of *segments* rather than into a sequence of *formula occurrences*. The first segment in a track will be referred to as the *top segment* of the track and the last segment will be referred to as its *end segment*. For simplicity, we also say that a segment is the *conclusion* of a rule of inference, if the first formula occurrence in the segment is such a conclusion. And a segment is said to be a (major or minor) *premise* of a rule application, if the last formula occurrence in the segment is such a premise. Recall that, in a normal deduction, no segment can be both the conclusion of an introduction rule or the conclusion of a falsum rule, and the major premise of an elimination rule. As a consequence, we now obtain the following fact.

Proposition 2.5.3 (Structure of Tracks). Let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction and let τ be a track in \mathcal{D} . All major premises of elimination rules in τ precede all premises of falsum rules and all premises of introduction rules in τ . Moreover, there can be at most one premise of a falsum rule in τ and this premise succeeds all major premises of elimination rules and precedes all premises of introduction rules.

Proof. Let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction, let τ be a track in \mathcal{D} and let π_1, \ldots, π_n be the sequence of segments in τ . We start by proving the first claim. Towards a contradiction, suppose that there exists a premise of an introduction rule or a premise of a falsum rule in τ that precedes a major premise of an elimination rule. Then, clearly, there must be a segment π_i which is both the conclusion of an introduction rule or falsum rule, and the major premise of an elimination rule. But this is a contradiction to the assumption that \mathcal{D} is normal. Hence, all major premises of elimination rules in τ .

For the second claim, suppose for a contradiction that there is a premise of an introduction rule which precedes a premise of a falsum rule in τ . Consider the last such premise π_i . By what was said above, the successor π_{i+1} cannot be the major premise of an elimination rule, so it must be the premise of a falsum rule. But in this case, the formula occurring in π_{i+1} is \bot , which is impossible since \bot cannot be the conclusion of an introduction rule. Thus, all premises of falsum rules succeed all major premises of elimination rules and precede all premises of introduction rules in τ . This also shows that there can be at most one premise of a falsum rule in τ : otherwise, there would be a premise of a falsum rule that is immediately followed by another premise of a falsum rule, which is a contradiction to the assumption that all falsum rule conclusions in \mathcal{D} are atomic. \Box

Proposition 2.5.3 tells us that every track in a normal deduction can be divided into two (possibly empty) parts: an *elimination part* containing only major premises of elimination rules, and an *introduction part* containing only premises of introduction rules and the end formula of the track. In order to strengthen this result, we first define the concept of a *strictly positive subformula*.

Definition 2.5.4. The *strictly positive subformulas* of $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ are inductively defined as follows:

- (i) φ is a strictly positive subformula of itself.
- (ii) If $\psi \otimes \chi$ with $\otimes \in \{\land, \lor\}$ is a strictly positive subformula of φ , then so are both ψ and χ .
- (iii) If $\psi \to \chi$ is a strictly positive subformula of φ , then so is χ .

In other words, an occurrence of a subformula is strictly positive, if it is not contained in the antecedent of an implication. Note that, in particular, a *Harrop formula* might now simply be described as a formula that does not contain any strictly positive subformulas of the form $\varphi \vee \psi$

(see Definition 1.3.2). By inspection of the primitive rules of our system, it is now easy to check that, if a track contains a premise of an introduction rule, then this premise must always be a strictly positive subformula of its immediate successor in the track. And if a track contains a major premise of an elimination rule, then this premise always contains its immediate successor as a strictly positive subformula.¹² As a consequence, we now obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 2.5.5. Let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction, let τ be a track in \mathcal{D} and let π_1, \ldots, π_n be the sequence of segments in τ . There is a segment π_k in τ , called the minimum segment of τ , such that:

- (i) Each π_i with $1 \le i < k$ is a major premise of an elimination rule and the formula occurring in π_i is a strictly positive subformula of the formula occurring in the top segment π_1 .
- (ii) π_k is a premise of an introduction rule or the premise of a falsum rule or it is the conclusion of \mathcal{D} .
- (iii) Each π_i with k < i < n is a premise of an introduction rule and the formula occurring in π_i is a strictly positive subformula of the formula occurring in the end segment π_n .

Proof. Let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction, let τ be a track in \mathcal{D} and let π_1, \ldots, π_n be the sequence of segments in τ . If τ contains a premise of an introduction rule or a premise of a falsum rule, then let π_k be the segment that ends with the first such formula in τ . Otherwise, let π_k be the end segment of the track τ . Then, by Proposition 2.5.3, all segments preceding π_k in τ must be major premises of elimination rules and all segments succeeding π_k in τ are premises of introduction rules. The second part of statements (i) and (iii) can now be established by a straightforward induction on the length of the elimination part and the introduction part, respectively.

Note that, by definition, every track in a deduction either ends with a premise of a nonprimitive rule, or with the minor premise of an application of $\rightarrow E$, or it ends with the conclusion of the deduction. Thus, one can assign an *order* to all tracks in a deduction in the following way: a main track is assigned the order 0, and a track ending with the minor premise of an instance of $\rightarrow E$ is assigned the order m + 1, if the major premise of this instance belongs to a track of order m. Finally, if τ is a track ending with a premise α of a non-primitive rule $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$, discharged by some application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, then we assign τ the order m+1, where m is the maximum order of all tracks starting with the auxiliary formula α of this application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. So, for example, let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary deduction and suppose that \mathcal{D} contains an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ of the following form:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} [\Theta]^u & [\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi]^u & [\Theta \Rightarrow \psi]^u \\ \mathcal{D}_1 & \mathcal{D}_2 & \mathcal{D}_3 \\ \hline \varphi \lor \psi & \chi & \chi \\ \hline \chi & \chi & \chi \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$

Consider an arbitrary auxiliary formula $\alpha \in \Theta$ and let τ_1, \ldots, τ_n be the collection of all tracks in \mathcal{D}_1 that start with an occurrence of the discharged hypothesis α . In this case, every track in \mathcal{D}_2 or \mathcal{D}_3 that ends with the premise α of one of the auxiliary rules $\Theta \Rightarrow \varphi$ and $\Theta \Rightarrow \psi$ will be assigned the order m + 1, where m is the maximum order of the tracks τ_1, \ldots, τ_n . In what follows, the order of a track τ will also be denoted by $ord(\tau)$. We can now prove the following statement.

Proposition 2.5.6. Let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction and let τ be a track in \mathcal{D} . If τ contains the major premise of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, then every track starting with an auxiliary formula of this application is of order strictly greater than $ord(\tau)$. As a consequence, a main track of a normal deduction can never begin with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction and suppose that \mathcal{D} contains a major premise $\varphi \vee \psi$ of some application of $\vee E_+$ with set of auxiliary formulas Θ . Let τ_1, \ldots, τ_n be the collection of all tracks containing this major premise $\varphi \vee \psi$ and let \mathcal{D}' be the subtree ending with $\varphi \vee \psi$. Then, clearly,

¹² Note that, for this observation to hold, it is in fact essential that tracks passing through the major premise of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ are always continued at one of the side formulas (rather than at the conclusion) of this application.

the initial parts of τ_1, \ldots, τ_n ending with $\varphi \vee \psi$ are the only main tracks of \mathcal{D}' and the auxiliary formulas from Θ can occur as hypotheses only in \mathcal{D}' . Therefore, either there exists an $\alpha \in \Theta$ which is the top formula of some τ_i , or every track starting with an auxiliary formula from Θ is of order greater than $ord(\tau_i)$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$. Towards a contradiction, assume that there exists an $\alpha \in \Theta$ which is the top formula of some τ_i . By Proposition 2.5.5, $\varphi \vee \psi$ occurs in the elimination part of τ_i , so it must be a subformula of α . But this is impossible, since α is a classical formula and $\varphi \vee \psi$ is not. Thus, every track starting with an auxiliary formula from Θ must be of order greater than $ord(\tau_i)$, for all $1 \leq i \leq n$. This establishes the first claim. The second claim follows as an immediate consequence: for, if a main track of a normal deduction would start with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\vee E_+$, then also the major premise of this application would have to belong to this track. However, as we have just seen, this cannot be the case. \Box

It is well known that, for the standard system of intuitionistic natural deduction, one can prove an unrestricted version of the so-called *subformula property*: every formula occurring in a normal intuitionistic deduction is either a subformula of the conclusion of the deduction, or it is a subformula of some open hypothesis of the deduction (cf. Prawitz 1965, p. 53). Unfortunately, for the natural deduction system NinqB⁺, this is not in general the case. As in classical logic, one problem arises from the presence of the *reductio ad absurdum rule*, since this rule allows to construct normal deductions like the one below, where $p \in P$ is an arbitrary atomic formula:

$$\frac{[\neg p]^u \quad p}{\frac{\perp}{p} (\operatorname{raa})^u} \to \mathsf{E}$$

As can be seen, this normal deduction contains an occurrence of the negated formula $\neg p$ and a subsequent occurrence of \bot , but neither of these two formulas is a subformula of the conclusion or a subformula of an open hypothesis of the deduction. Consequently, in our system, a normal deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ might in general also contain the constant \bot or the negation of an atomic formula occurring in φ or in Γ .¹³ For convenience, we will henceforth say that a formula φ is a *weak subformula* of some formula ψ , just in case φ is either a subformula of ψ , or it is the negation of an atomic subformula of ψ , or it is of the form $\varphi = \bot$. So, in our system, a normal deduction may contain not only subformulas, but also weak subformulas of the conclusion or the open hypotheses of the deduction. However, there is also a more severe problem arising from the intricate structure of the 'higher-level' elimination rule $\mathbb{V}E_+$. For example, in the system NinqB⁺, one can also construct a normal deduction of the following form, where α , $\beta \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ are classical formulas:

$$\frac{\alpha \to (\varphi \vee \varphi) \quad \frac{[\alpha \land \beta]^u}{\alpha} \land E \quad \frac{\alpha \quad \beta}{\alpha \land \beta} \land I \quad \frac{\alpha \quad \beta}{\alpha \land \beta} \land I}{\frac{\varphi \vee \varphi}{\varphi} \vee \varphi} \overset{I}{\to} E \quad \frac{\varphi \land \beta}{\varphi} u \quad \frac{\varphi \land \beta}{\varphi} u \overset{I}{\to} E^u_+$$

In this deduction, there are three occurrences of the auxiliary formula $\alpha \wedge \beta$, belonging to the application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ at the bottom of the deduction. However, this formula is neither a subformula of the conclusion nor a subformula of an open hypothesis of the proof tree. Note that, in a sense, $\alpha \wedge \beta$ behaves just like a *cut formula* here: it is the conclusion of an introduction rule in the two subtrees ending with the minor premise φ ; and it is, at the same time, the major premise of an elimination rule in the subtree on the left-hand side. Given these observations, we cannot hope to obtain a strong subformula property for NinqB⁺. In fact, in our system, the subformula property only holds up to the first track starting with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$.

¹³ Note that, since all falsum rule applications in normal deductions are restricted to instances in which the conclusion is an atomic formula, this is in fact sufficient in order to account for the effect of the rule (raa).

Theorem 2.5.7 (Restricted Subformula Property). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of formulas and let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$. Moreover, let m be the largest number such that no track of order $\leq m$ begins with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$.¹⁴ Then every formula occurring in a track τ of \mathcal{D} with $ord(\tau) \leq m$ is a weak subformula of some formula in $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\}$.

Proof. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary, let \mathcal{D} be a normal deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ and let m be the largest number such that no track of order $\leq m$ in \mathcal{D} begins with an auxiliary formula of some application of $\forall E_+$. Consider an arbitrary track τ in \mathcal{D} such that $ord(\tau) \leq m$. Then, clearly, τ cannot start with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ and it cannot end with a premise of a non-primitive rule. We now proceed by induction on the order of τ . Let $ord(\tau) = k$ and suppose that the statement holds for all tracks of order less than k. Moreover, let ψ_1, \ldots, ψ_n be the sequence of formulas in τ and let ψ_i be arbitrary. First, assume that ψ_i occurs below the minimum segment in τ . Then, by Proposition 2.5.5, ψ_i is a subformula of the end formula ψ_n , which must be either the conclusion of \mathcal{D} or a minor premise of $\rightarrow E$. If ψ_n is the conclusion of \mathcal{D} , then we are finished. And if ψ_n is a minor premise of $\rightarrow E$, then the associated major premise must belong to a track of order less than k, so the claim follows from the induction hypothesis. Assume now that ψ_i occurs in the minimum segment or above the minimum segment. Then, by Proposition 2.5.5, ψ_i is a subformula of the hypothesis ψ_1 at the top of τ . If this hypothesis is not discharged, then we are done. Otherwise, it must be discharged by an application of (raa) or $\rightarrow I$. If ψ_1 is discharged by (raa), then ψ_i must either be of the form \perp or it must be the negation of an atom occurring in the introduction part of τ or in the introduction part of some track of order less than k. Hence, using the induction hypothesis, we may conclude that ψ_i is a weak subformula of some formula in $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\}$. And if ψ_1 is discharged by an application of $\rightarrow I$, then the conclusion of this application must belong to the introduction part of τ or to the introduction part of some track of order less than k, so the statement follows in the same way as above.

This result is rather weak and shows that applications of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ may have a very disturbing impact on the structure of normal deductions. However, there is also an important special case in which the subformula property for our system can be strengthened: if $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathbb{N}}^+ \varphi$ can be established by a deduction in which all auxiliary formulas of applications of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ are *implication-free*, then one can always find a normal deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathbb{N}}^+ \varphi$ which satisfies a full subformula property.¹⁵

Proposition 2.5.8. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and let \mathcal{D} be a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ such that all auxiliary formulas of applications of $\mathbb{V}E_{+}$ in \mathcal{D} are implication-free. Then there is a normal deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ such that every formula occurring in \mathcal{D}' is a weak subformula of some formula in $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\}$.

Proof. We only sketch the basic idea. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary and let \mathcal{D} be a deduction for $\Gamma \vdash^+_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ such that all auxiliary formulas of applications of $\forall E_+$ in \mathcal{D} are implication-free. Moreover, let us say that a formula ψ is a *prime formula*, if it is either atomic of it is of the form $\psi = \bot$. We first show that all applications of $\forall E_+$ in \mathcal{D} can be restricted to instances in which the auxiliary formulas are prime. To this end, we select a topmost application of $\forall E_+$ in \mathcal{D} which has at least one non-prime auxiliary formula γ . By assumption, γ is implication-free, so we must have $\gamma = \alpha \land \beta$ for some classical formulas $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}_c$. Let $\Theta = \{\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n\}$ be the set of all other auxiliary formulas of this application of $\forall E_+$. We can then write \mathcal{D} in the form

¹⁴ Recall that, by what was said in Proposition 2.5.6, no main track of \mathcal{D} can begin with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$. Thus, because main tracks are the only tracks of order 0, we must always have $m \geq 1$.

¹⁵ Of course, by an *implication-free* formula, we mean a formula not containing any occurrences of the connective \rightarrow .

Let now i = 1, 2 be arbitrary and let \mathcal{D}_i^* be the quasi-deduction obtained from \mathcal{D}_i by rewriting every undischarged application of the non-primitive rule $\Theta, \alpha \wedge \beta \Rightarrow \psi_i$ in the following way:

Thus, in the resulting quasi-deduction \mathcal{D}_i^* , every undischarged application of the rule $\Theta, \alpha \wedge \beta \Rightarrow \psi_i$ is replaced by an undischarged application of the rule $\Theta, \alpha, \beta \Rightarrow \psi_i$. Using the quasi-deductions \mathcal{D}_1^* and \mathcal{D}_2^* thus obtained, we can now transform the whole deduction \mathcal{D} into

$$\begin{split} [\Theta]^u & \frac{[\alpha]^u \ [\beta]^u}{\alpha \wedge \beta} \wedge I & [\Theta, \alpha, \beta \Rightarrow \psi_1]^u & [\Theta, \alpha, \beta \Rightarrow \psi_2]^u \\ \mathcal{D}_3 & \mathcal{D}_1^* & \mathcal{D}_2^* \\ & \frac{\psi_1 \vee \psi_2 & \chi & \chi}{\mathcal{D}_4} \vee E_+^u \end{split}$$

Observe that, in the resulting deduction, the old auxiliary formula $\alpha \wedge \beta$ is now replaced by two new auxiliary formulas α and β , which are of lower degree than the old one. Therefore, by repeating the procedure, we must finally arrive at a deduction \mathcal{D}^* for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \varphi$ in which all auxiliary formulas of applications of $\forall E_+$ are prime. We now apply the procedure described in Section 2.4, in order to transform \mathcal{D}^* into a normal deduction \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \varphi$. Clearly, this does not affect the auxiliary formulas in the deduction, so these formulas must still be prime in \mathcal{D}' .

We will now prove that every formula in \mathcal{D}' is a weak subformula of some formula in $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\}$. To this end, let ξ be an arbitrary formula occurrence in \mathcal{D}' . Then, by Proposition 2.5.2, ξ must belong to some track $\tau = \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$ in \mathcal{D} . We now proceed by induction on the order of τ . Most cases are treated in the same way as in the proof of Theorem 2.5.7. We only need to consider the case in which τ starts with an auxiliary formula discharged by an application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$, and the case in which τ ends with a premise of a non-primitive rule. First, assume that τ starts with an auxiliary formula. By assumption, this formula is prime, so the elimination part of au must be empty and ξ must occur in the introduction part of τ . But then, by Proposition 2.5.5, ξ is a subformula of the formula ψ_n occurring at the bottom of τ , which must be either the conclusion of \mathcal{D}' , or a minor premise of $\rightarrow E$, or a premise of a non-primitive rule. If ψ_n is the conclusion of \mathcal{D}' , then we are finished. And if ψ_n is a minor premise of $\rightarrow E$ or a premise of a non-primitive rule, then ψ_n must also occur as a subformula on some track of order less than $ord(\tau)$, so the statement follows from the induction hypothesis.¹⁶ Assume now that τ ends with a premise of a non-primitive rule, belonging to some application of $\forall E_+$. By assumption, this premise is prime, so the introduction part of τ must be empty and ξ occurs in the elimination part of τ . Hence, by Proposition 2.5.5, ξ is a subformula of the hypothesis ψ_1 at the top of τ . If this hypothesis is open, then we are done. Otherwise, ψ_1 must be discharged by some application of $\mathbb{V}E_+$ or it must be discharged by an application of (raa) or $\rightarrow I$. If ψ_1 is discharged by $\forall E_+$, then we use the same argument as above. And if ψ_1 is discharged by (raa) or $\rightarrow I$, then ξ must occur as a weak subformula in some track of order less than $ord(\tau)$, so the statement follows from the induction hypothesis.

Although one cannot in general hope to obtain a strong subformula property for our system, it is nevertheless possible to establish some interesting properties of inquisitive logic in a purely

¹⁶ Note that, if ψ_n is a premise of a non-primitive rule, then this rule must be discharged by some application of $\forall E_+$. Consequently, ψ_n also occurs as a (discharged) hypothesis in the subtree ending with the major premise of this application of $\forall E_+$. And by definition of $ord(\tau)$, every track starting with such a hypothesis is of order less than $ord(\tau)$.

proof-theoretical way. For example, using Theorem 2.5.7, we can now prove that our system is *conservative* over classical logic: if a classical formula is provable from a set of classical hypotheses, then it is also provable from these hypotheses in classical logic (see also Proposition 1.4.5).

Proposition 2.5.9 (Conservativity over Classical Logic). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of classical formulas. If it holds $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \alpha$ in our system, then α is provable from Γ in classical natural deduction.

Proof. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of classical formulas and suppose that $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \alpha$. Then, by Theorem 2.4.7, there exists a normal deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^+ \alpha$. Let m be the largest number such that no track of order $\leq m$ in \mathcal{D} begins with an auxiliary formula of an application of $\forall E_+$. Towards a contradiction, suppose that there is a formula with main connective \forall in \mathcal{D} . Let τ be a track containing such a formula $\varphi \lor \psi$ and suppose that no track of order less than $ord(\tau)$ also contains such a formula. Then, in particular, all major premises of applications of $\forall E_+$ must occur on tracks of order $\geq ord(\tau)$. Hence, by Proposition 2.5.6, the corresponding auxiliary formulas can occur only on tracks of order $> ord(\tau)$, so it follows $ord(\tau) \leq m$. Thus, by Theorem 2.5.7, $\varphi \lor \psi$ must be a weak subformula of some formula in $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\}$. But this is impossible, since all formulas in $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\}$ are classical. Therefore, \mathcal{D} does not contain a formula with main connective \forall . Consequently, \mathcal{D} contains no applications of $\forall I$ or $\forall E_+$, so it is also a deduction in classical logic. \Box

Furthermore, by exploiting the structure of normal deductions, one can also give a purely syntactical proof of the *disjunction property* for inquisitive logic: if an inquisitive disjunction is provable from a set of Harrop formulas, then at least one of the two disjuncts must be provable from this set. This can be seen as a special case of the split property described in Proposition 1.4.1.

Proposition 2.5.10 (Disjunction Property). Let $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of Harrop formulas and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary. If it holds $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi \lor \psi$ in our system, then also $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ or $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \psi$.

Proof. Let $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a set of Harrop formulas, so no formula in Γ has a strictly positive subformula with main connective \mathbb{V} . Moreover, let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary and suppose that it holds $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi \vee \psi$. Then, by Theorem 2.4.7, there exists a normal deduction \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi \vee \psi$. Consider the conclusion $\varphi \lor \psi$ of this deduction. We show that $\varphi \lor \psi$ must have been obtained by an application of $\forall I$. First, suppose for a contradiction that $\varphi \forall \psi$ is the conclusion of an application of $\forall E_+$. Consider the major premise $\chi_1 \lor \chi_2$ of this application and let $\tau = \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$ be a track to which $\chi_1 \vee \chi_2$ belongs. By Proposition 2.5.5, $\chi_1 \vee \chi_2$ occurs in the elimination part of τ , so it must be a strictly positive subformula of the hypothesis ξ_1 at the top of τ . As a consequence, this hypothesis cannot be discharged by $\mathbb{V}E_+$, since this would require ξ_1 to be a classical formula. In addition, ξ_1 can also not be discharged by an application of (raa) or $\rightarrow I$, since no such application occurs below $\chi_1 \vee \chi_2$ in \mathcal{D} . Thus, ξ_1 must be an open hypothesis. But this implies $\xi_1 \in \Gamma$, which is a contradiction to the assumption that Γ contains only Harrop formulas. Hence, $\varphi \vee \psi$ is not the conclusion of an application of $\forall E_+$. However, it can also not be the conclusion of another elimination rule: for, if it were, then $\varphi \lor \psi$ would be the minimum segment of a main track τ in \mathcal{D} and therefore a strictly positive subformula of the hypothesis at the top of τ . Using the same argument as above, one could then show that this hypothesis must be open, in contradiction to the assumption that Γ is a set of Harrop formulas. Furthermore, since $\varphi \lor \psi$ is non-atomic, it can also not be the conclusion of a falsum rule. Hence, $\varphi \lor \psi$ must be the conclusion of an application of $\forall I$. But then, clearly, \mathcal{D} contains an immediate subdeduction for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \varphi$ or for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}}^{+} \psi$. \Box

Labelled Sequents for InqB

In this chapter, we will provide a cut-free labelled sequent calculus for InqB. Labelled sequent calculi play an important role in the proof theory of non-classical logics and can be seen as an extension of the traditional sequent-style formalism developed by Gentzen (1935a; 1935b). The systematic study of these proof systems was primarily promoted by Negri, who developed labelled sequent calculi for a wide range of modal and intermediate logics (see Negri 2005; Dyckhoff and Negri 2012).¹ The basic idea is to enrich the language of ordinary sequent calculi in order to incorporate the semantics of a logic directly into the syntax of the proof system. In the extended setting, sequents are no longer built up from ordinary formulas, but from expressions of the form $\pi : \varphi$, where π is a label and φ is a formula. In our sequent calculus, labels will be used to represent information states and $\pi : \varphi$ will be interpreted as ' φ is supported by π '.

The chapter is structured as follows. In Section 3.1, we will provide a detailed description of our labelled sequent calculus for IngB. Our system will be denoted by GLingB and can be regarded as a G3-style sequent calculus in the sense of Ketonen (1944) and Kleene (1952), so weakening and contraction are fully 'absorbed' into the axioms and the remaining rules of the system. In Section 3.2, we will investigate some important properties of our sequent calculus. Above all, we will prove that the structural rules of weakening, contraction and cut are *admissible* in GLingB, i.e., whenever the premises of these rules are derivable in our system, then also the conclusion is derivable. In the case of weakening and contraction, admissibility also preserves the height of derivations. In addition, we will show that each rule of GLingB is *height-preserving invertible*, i.e., whenever the conclusion of one of these rules is derivable, then also each premise of the rule is derivable, with at most the same derivation height. In Section 3.3, we will then prove the soundness and completeness of our sequent calculus. The completeness will be established proof-theoretically, i.e., instead of giving a semantic argument, we will exploit the admissibility of the cut rule in our system in order to show that GLingB is complete with respect to the Hilbert-style system HingB introduced in Chapter 1. In Section 3.4, finally, we will outline a possible proof search strategy for our sequent calculus and discuss some issues that have to be resolved in order to make sure that the procedure is terminating. We also establish a normal form result for the labels used in our system, which might play an important role in an effective proof search procedure for GLingB. However, the full specification of the desired algorithm will be left for future work.

3.1 The Sequent Calculus GLinqB

Let us start by giving a formal exposition of our labelled sequent calculus for InqB. Our system, henceforth denoted by GLinqB, can be seen as a non-trivial extension of a labelled sequent cal-

¹ Important predecessors of modern-day labelled sequent calculi include the modal sequent calculus with 'spotted formulas' provided by Kanger (1957), the 'prefixed tableaux' of Fitting (1983), the 'indexed' sequent calculi described by Mints (1997) and the labelled natural deduction systems of Viganò (2000). See also Goré and Ramanayake (2012).

culus for intuitionistic logic previously described by Dyckhoff and Negri (2012). An alternative labelled sequent calculus for InqB has been provided by Chen and Ma (2017), but their system is not as well-behaved as the system GLinqB presented here. For one thing, Chen and Ma (2017) do not provide a modular construction, capable of being easily adapted to variants of InqB such as the system of intuitionistic inquisitive logic discussed in the next chapter. For another, our system is also much simpler and allows for a more elegant cut-admissibility proof.

From a technical point of view, GLinqB may be regarded as a G3-style sequent calculus in the sense of Ketonen (1944) and Kleene (1952). Sequent calculi of this type usually enjoy very strong structural properties, arising from the fact that the structural rules of weakening and contraction are fully 'absorbed' into the axioms and the remaining rules of these systems. For further details about the family of G3-style calculi, we refer to Troelstra and Schwichtenberg (1996, pp. 77–85).

Labelled sequent calculi were systematically developed by Negri (2005) and may be seen as an extension of the traditional sequent-style formalism originating with Gentzen (1935a; 1935b). The basic idea is to enrich the underlying language of a sequent calculus so as to incorporate some kind of semantic information directly into the syntax of the proof system. In the extended setting, sequents are no longer built up from ordinary formulas, but from expressions of the form $\pi : \varphi$, where π is some label and φ is a formula. The interpretation of the extended language now varies, depending on the semantics of the underlying logic. So, for example, in a labelled sequent calculus for *modal logic*, π might be a representation of a possible world in a Kripke model and an expression of the form $\pi : \varphi$ could stand for the statement ' φ is true at π ' (cf. Negri 2005).

In our labelled sequent calculus for InqB, we have to incorporate the more complicated *support* semantics described in Chapter 1. For this reason, labels will not be used in order to represent possible worlds, but in order to represent *information states* (i.e., sets of worlds). An expression of the form $\pi : \varphi$ is then interpreted as ' φ is supported by π '. In order to make this precise, we henceforth assume two countably infinite sets of *state variables*, defined by $\mathfrak{S} := \{w_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}\}$ and $\mathfrak{V} := \{x_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}\}$, respectively. In what follows, the variables in \mathfrak{S} are used for *singleton states* and the variables in \mathfrak{V} are used for states of *arbitrary size*. In order to avoid confusion, we will always use the meta-variables u, v, w, etc., for elements of \mathfrak{S} and the meta-variables x, y, z, etc., for elements of \mathfrak{V} . The set of labels is now built up from the variables in \mathfrak{S} and \mathfrak{V} by means of additional symbols representing the intersection and the union of two information states.

Definition 3.1.1 (Labels). The set of *labels* is denoted by $\Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ and consists of all expressions generated by the following grammar, where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ are arbitrary variables:

$$\pi ::= w \mid x \mid \emptyset \mid \pi \cdot \pi \mid \pi + \pi.$$

Throughout this thesis, we will use the meta-variables π , σ , τ , etc., for arbitrarily complex labels. Intuitively, a label of the form $\pi \cdot \sigma$ represents the *intersection* of the states described by π and σ , while $\pi + \sigma$ stands for the *union* of π and σ . The constant \emptyset , on the other hand, represents the *inconsistent state*. For simplicity, we will also use $\pi\sigma$ as an abbreviation for $\pi \cdot \sigma$. We can now define two types of expressions, referred to as *labelled formulas* and *relational atoms*, respectively.

Definition 3.1.2 (Labelled Formula, Relational Atom). By a *labelled formula*, we mean an expression of the form $\pi : \varphi$, where $\pi \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ is a label and $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is a formula. A *relational atom*, on the other hand, is an expression of the form $\pi \leq \sigma$, where $\pi, \sigma \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ are both labels.

As outlined above, labelled formulas will be used in order to incorporate the semantic support relation of InqB directly into the syntax of our proof system. Thus, intuitively, $\pi : \varphi$ should be read as ' φ is supported by π '. Relational atoms, on the other hand, are used in order to represent the *subset ordering* on information states, so $\pi \leq \sigma$ stands for the statement ' π is a subset of σ '.

The elements of our proof system will be referred to as *sequents*. Formally, a sequent is defined to be an expression of the form $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, where Γ is a finite multiset containing labelled formulas and relational atoms, and Δ is a finite multiset containing *only* labelled formulas (but no

relational atoms). Hence, in particular, we allow relational atoms to occur only on the left-hand side of a sequent, but not on the right-hand side. This will simplify our treatment and is more in line with the intuitionistic system described by Dyckhoff and Negri (2012).² Given any sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, we also call Γ the *antecedent* and Δ the *succedent* of the sequent. As in ordinary sequent calculi, sequents are assumed to have a 'conjunctive' reading on the left and a 'disjunctive' reading on the right. Moreover, the sequent arrow \Rightarrow will be interpreted as an implication in the meta-language. Thus, intuitively, a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is considered to be 'valid', if it satisfies the condition that, whenever all expressions in Γ are 'true', then at least one expression in Δ is 'true'.³ A precise definition of this notion of 'validity' and 'truth' will be provided in Section 3.3. For the moment, we content ourselves with an intuitive interpretation of sequents.

We are now ready to define our labelled sequent calculus for InqB. Our system will be denoted by GLinqB and can be found in Figure 3.1. Throughout this chapter, any finite tree of sequents built up from the axioms and the rules of our system will be referred to as a *derivation* or a *proof tree* in GLinqB. Moreover, given any finite set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we will say that φ *is provable from* Γ , if there exists a derivation for the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in our system, where x is an arbitrary state variable from \mathfrak{V} and $x : \Gamma$ is the set of labelled formulas defined by $(x : \Gamma) := \{x : \psi \mid \psi \in \Gamma\}$. Intuitively, this accounts for the fact that, in InqB, entailment is defined as *preservation of support*: φ is entailed by Γ , if every state which supports all formulas in Γ also supports φ (see Definition 1.2.12). As we shall see below, the concrete choice of the variable x is actually irrelevant when it comes to provability in our system: if a sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB, then also $y : \Gamma \Rightarrow y : \varphi$ will be derivable, for every state variable $y \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Definition 3.1.3 (The System GLinqB). We define GLinqB to be the labelled sequent calculus depicted in Figure 3.1. A sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is called *derivable* in our system, if there exists a proof tree in GLinqB ending with this sequent. For any finite subset $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we also say that φ is provable from Γ in GLinqB, if there is some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ such that $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB.⁴

A proof tree ending with a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is also referred to as a *derivation for* $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. In what follows, derivations will be denoted by the meta-variables $\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}_1, \mathcal{D}_2$, etc. By a *branch* in a derivation \mathcal{D} , we mean any sequence β of consecutive sequents in \mathcal{D} such that the first sequent in β is the conclusion (i.e., the root node) of \mathcal{D} and the last sequent in β is one of the axioms (i.e., a leaf node) in \mathcal{D} . The *length of a branch* β is taken to be the number of sequents occurring in β . And the *height of a derivation* \mathcal{D} is defined to be the length of a longest branch in \mathcal{D} .

As can be seen from Figure 3.1, the components of our system may roughly be divided into three groups. The first group consists of *axioms* or, as they are sometimes called, *initial sequents*. Each axiom reflects the idea that certain sequents are trivially 'valid' given the intuitive interpretation of labelled formulas and relational atoms outlined above. For example, Ax^{\perp} accounts for the fact that \perp is only supported by the inconsistent state \emptyset . Therefore, if w is a variable representing a *singleton*, then $w : \perp$ must always be 'false', so any sequent of the form $w : \perp, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ will be 'valid'. Observe that, in the first axiom Ax, we require p to be an *atomic formula*.

Let us now turn to the second group, consisting of the *logical rules* of our system. As in traditional sequent calculi, each logical connective is assigned a pair of rules, consisting of a *left rule* and a *right rule*. In addition to that, we now also have a left and a right rule for atomic formulas and for the falsum constant \perp . Intuitively, the logical rules are used in order to reflect the *support conditions* for the formulas of InqB presented in Definition 1.2.6. So, for example, the

² Nevertheless, it also *possible* to define an extension of our system in which relational atoms may occur on both sides of a sequent. For a large class of modal logics, systems of this kind have been described in detail by Negri (2005).

³ Note that, in particular, every sequent in our system should be interpreted as a statement in the *meta-language*, rather than as a formula in the *object language*. This is an important difference to ordinary (i.e., label-free) sequent calculi, where the meaning of a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ can usually also be described by the formula $\Lambda \Gamma \rightarrow \bigvee \Delta$.

⁴ Note that, since every set is also a multiset, the notion of derivability is actually defined for $x: \Gamma \Rightarrow x: \varphi$.

Axioms:
$\overline{w:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p} \ Ax \qquad \overline{w:\bot,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} \ Ax^{\bot} \qquad \overline{w\leqslant\emptyset,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} \ Ax^{\psi}$
Logical Rules:
$\frac{w:p,w\leqslant\pi,\pi:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{w\leqslant\pi,\pi:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}Lp\qquad\qquad \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:p}Rp$
$\frac{w:\bot,w\leqslant\pi,\pi:\bot,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{w\leqslant\pi,\pi:\bot,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}L\bot\qquad\qquad \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:\bot}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\bot}R\bot$
$\frac{\pi:\varphi,\pi:\psi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{\pi:\varphi\wedge\psi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} L\wedge \qquad \qquad \frac{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\psi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\wedge\psi} R\wedge$
$\frac{\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{\pi:\varphi\otimes\psi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} L \otimes \frac{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi,\pi:\psi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\otimes\psi} R \otimes$
$\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \pi: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} L \to$
$\frac{x \leqslant \pi, x: \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x: \psi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi \rightarrow \psi} R \rightarrow$
Order Rules:
$\frac{\pi \leqslant \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (tr) \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi \sigma + \pi \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (dis)$
$\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma\tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (in) } \qquad \frac{\pi + \tau \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (un) }$
$\frac{\pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (il) } \qquad \frac{\sigma\pi \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ir) } \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ul)}$
$\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ur) } \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \frac{w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (sg)}$
$\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (rf)} \frac{w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (cd)}$

Figure 3.1: The system GLinqB. In each case, w ranges over variables from \mathfrak{S} , x ranges over variables from \mathfrak{V} , and π , σ , τ , etc., stand for arbitrary labels. In applications of Rp and $R \perp$, w must be a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion of the rule and π is required to be a non-singleton label, so we must have $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. Similarly, x must be a fresh variable in $R \rightarrow$.

rules Lp and Rp account for the fact that an atom $p \in \mathsf{P}$ is supported by a state π if and only if this atom is true at every world in π , i.e., if p is supported by every singleton state $w \subseteq \pi$. The rules $L \to$ and $R \to$, on the other hand, reflect the support clause for implication: a formula $\varphi \to \psi$ is supported by a state π , if every enhancement of π that supports φ also supports ψ .

Importantly, each of the rules Rp, $R\perp$ and $R\rightarrow$ is subject to a *side condition*, imposing certain restrictions on the variables involved in applications of these rules. In particular, in an application of Rp or $R\perp$, we require $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ to be a *fresh variable*, i.e., a variable not occurring in the conclusion of the rule. And in an application of $R\rightarrow$, we require $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ to be fresh. Throughout this thesis, the fresh variables involved in applications of Rp, $R\perp$ and $R\rightarrow$ will also be referred to as the *eigenvariables* of these rules. Moreover, a rule with eigenvariables is said to be a *dynamic*

rule, and all other rules are called *static rules*. Note that, for the rules Rp and $R\perp$, there is also another restriction, saying that π must be a non-singleton label satisfying $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. As we shall see below, this restriction is necessary in order to make sure that the rules Rp and $R\perp$ are height-preserving invertible, in the sense that, whenever the conclusion of one of these rules is derivable, then also the corresponding premise is derivable, with at most the same derivation height.⁵

Finally, let us consider the third group, consisting of the so-called *order rules*. The purpose of these rules is to formalize the set-theoretic properties of information states. For example, the rules (rf) and (tr) account for the *reflexivity* and the *transitivity* of the subset ordering \subseteq . And the rule (in) says that, if a state π is a subset of two other states σ and τ , then π is also a subset of their intersection $\sigma \cap \tau$. A similar property of the union operator is formalized by the rule (un): if two states π and τ are both subsets of some other state σ , then also their union $\pi \cup \tau$ must be a subset of σ . The rules (sg) and (cd) are somewhat special, since they allow to make a *case distinction* in a derivation. Intuitively, (sg) says that, if a state π is a subset of \emptyset) or π must be equal to w (in which case w is also a subset of π). The rule (cd), on the other hand, accounts for the fact that, if a singleton w is a subset of the union of two states π and σ .

Note that, by instantiating the meta-variables π , σ , τ , etc., with labels, one might sometimes also produce a *duplication* of relational atoms (i.e., two copies of the same relational atom) in the conclusion of an order rule. In order to avoid certain technicalities arising from such a duplication, we henceforth need to adopt the so-called *closure condition* going back to Negri (2003).⁶

Convention 3.1.4 (Closure Condition). If an instance of an order rule produces a duplication of an atom $\pi \leq \sigma$ in the conclusion of the rule, then also the contracted instance of the rule (in which the two copies of $\pi \leq \sigma$ are replaced by a single $\pi \leq \sigma$) is assumed to be part of our system.

So, for example, the instance of the rule (un) depicted on the left-hand side below is also allowed to be replaced by the corresponding contracted instance shown on the right-hand side:

$$\frac{\pi + \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (un) } \text{ can be replaced by } \frac{\pi + \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (un) }$$

Clearly, for every order rule, there is only a finite number of contracted rules to be added to our system, so this convention is unproblematic (see also Negri and Von Plato 1998; Negri 2005).

As we have seen in Chapter 2, our natural deduction system for InqB only satisfies a weak form of the subformula property, so it is not an *analytic* proof system in a strict sense. For the system GLinqB, this problem no longer occurs. In fact, using induction on the structure of a derivation, one can easily prove that GLinqB satisfies an unrestricted version of the subformula property, provided that we ignore all labels (and therefore all relational atoms) occurring in a derivation.

Fact 3.1.5 (Subformula Property). *If all labels are ignored, then every formula occurring in a derivation* \mathcal{D} *for* $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ *is a subformula of some formula in* Γ *or a subformula of some formula in* Δ .

In this sense, our proof system is indeed fully 'analytic'. However, for labelled sequent calculi, it is also reasonable to consider another kind of analyticity, which can be expressed by the so-called *subterm property*. Roughly speaking, a labelled sequent calculus is said to satisfy the subterm property, if in this proof system, every label occurring in a derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is either an eigenvariable or a label occurring in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ (cf. Negri and Von Plato 2011; Dyckhoff and Negri 2012). Clearly, this constraint is *not* satisfied by the proof system GLinqB. For example, by

⁵ Strictly speaking, the constraint $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ is only needed for the rule Rp, but not for the rule $R \perp$. However, adopting the constraint for both Rp and $R \perp$ has some technical advantages that will become apparent later on.

⁶ The importance of the closure condition will become clearer in Section 3.2.2. For the moment, it suffices to understand that, without the closure condition, our system would lose some important structural properties.

performing a root-first application of the order rule (un) in a derivation \mathcal{D} , one can create a new label of the form $\pi + \sigma$, which is not guaranteed to occur in the conclusion of \mathcal{D} .

We conclude this section by introducing some useful terminology. In each of the rules and axioms presented in Figure 3.1, the multiset Γ is called the *left context* and the multiset Δ is called the *right context*. In the conclusion of each rule, and also in the axioms, the labelled formulas and relational atoms not belonging to the context are said to be *principal*. The corresponding expressions occurring in the premises of a rule are called *active*. So, for example, in an application of $R \rightarrow$ with premise $x \leq \pi, x : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \psi$ and conclusion $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, the labelled formula $\pi : \varphi \rightarrow \psi$ is principal, and each of the expressions $x \leq \pi, x : \varphi$ and $x : \psi$ is active. On the other hand, in an application of (ul) with premise $\pi \leq \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, there is no principal expression and the only active expression is $\pi \leq \pi + \sigma$. Observe that, in the order rules and in each of the logical rules Lp, $L\perp$ and $L\rightarrow$, the principal expressions occurring in the conclusion of expressions is necessary in order to make sure that these rules are *invertible*, in the sense that, whenever their conclusion is derivable, then also each of their premises is derivable. We will return to the concept of invertibility in the next section.

3.2 **Properties of GLinqB**

In this section, we will investigate some important properties of our proof system. Most importantly, we will show that the cut rule and the rules of weakening and contraction are *admissible* in GLinqB. That is, whenever the premises of one of these rules are derivable in our system, then also the conclusion of the rule is derivable. In the case of weakening and contraction, admissibility also preserves the height of derivations. In addition to that, we will prove that all rules of GLinqB are *height-preserving invertible*, i.e., whenever the conclusion of one of these rules is derivable, then also each premise of the rule is derivable, with at most the same derivation height.

3.2.1 Generalized Initial Sequents

We first show that one can derive generalized versions of the initial sequents of our system. For the initial sequent Ax, this is accomplished by the following lemma. Note that, intuitively, the first sequent in the lemma also reflects the *persistency* of the support relation: if φ is supported by a state σ and if π is an enhancement of σ , then φ is also supported by π (see Proposition 1.2.11).

Lemma 3.2.1. All sequents of the following form are derivable in GLinqB:

(i) $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi,$ (ii) $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi,$

(ii)
$$\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi.$$

Proof. The derivability of (i) is established by induction on the structure of φ . For the base case, assume that $\varphi = p$ is atomic. If π satisfies $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we construct the following derivation:

$$\frac{\overline{w:p,w\leqslant\sigma,w\leqslant\pi,\pi\leqslant\sigma,\sigma:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}}{\frac{w\leqslant\sigma,w\leqslant\pi,\pi\leqslant\sigma,\sigma:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}{\frac{w\leqslant\pi,\pi\leqslant\sigma,\sigma:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}{\pi\leqslant\sigma,\sigma:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}Rp}} L_{p}^{Aa}$$

If we have $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$, then the derivation is the same, except that we omit the applications of (tr) and Rp at the bottom of the derivation. The case $\varphi = \bot$ is treated in essentially the same way. In the inductive step for conjunction and implication, we construct the following two derivations:⁷

⁷ In the following, we will use dashed lines in derivations in order to indicate the use of an assumption or the application of a previously established result (such as, e.g., a lemma saying that a certain rule is admissible). If necessary, we will also write '...' to indicate that some expressions in a sequent are not shown explicitly due to a lack of space.

The inductive step for inquisitive disjunction is similar to the inductive step for conjunction. The sequent in (ii) can now be obtained from the sequent in (i) by an application of the rule (rf). \Box

The following lemma shows that there are also derivable generalizations of Ax^{\emptyset} and Ax^{\perp} . Intuitively, the first two sequents account for the fact that, in InqB, every formula is supported by the inconsistent state \emptyset . This corresponds to the *empty state property* expressed by Proposition 1.2.11. The last two sequents reflect the support conditions for the falsum constant: since \bot is supported only by \emptyset , any enhancement of a state supporting \bot also supports every other formula.

Lemma 3.2.2. All sequents of the following form are derivable in GLinqB:

(i) $\pi \leq \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi,$ (ii) $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \emptyset : \varphi,$ (iii) $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi,$ (iv) $\pi : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi.$

Proof. The derivability of (i) and (iii) is established by induction on φ . We only prove the derivability of (iii). For the base case, let $\varphi = p$ be atomic. If $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we construct the derivation

$$\frac{\overline{w: \bot, w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}}{\frac{w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}{\frac{w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p} Rp} L\bot$$

If $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$, then the derivation is the same, except that we leave out the applications of (tr) and Rp. The case $\varphi = \bot$ is similar. In the inductive step for \land and \mathbb{V} , the statement follows directly from the induction hypothesis. And in the inductive step for \rightarrow , we construct the following derivation:

$$\frac{x \leqslant \sigma, x \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x: \chi}{x \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x: \chi \atop \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \bot, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x: \chi} R \rightarrow$$

This concludes the induction. For the sequent in (i), the induction works in essentially the same way. The sequents in (ii) and (iv) can be derived from (i) and (iii) by an application of (rf). \Box

3.2.2 Basic Admissibility and Invertibility Results

Next, we want to establish some important structural properties of our proof system. In particular, we will see that the structural rules of weakening and contraction are height-preserving admissible in our system and that each rule of GLinqB is height-preserving invertible. For the sake of clarity, let us first define the relevant notions. By the rules of *weakening* and *contraction*, we will henceforth mean the six rules depicted in Figure 3.2. As can be seen, the weakening rules

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} LW \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} RW \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} W^{\leqslant}$$
$$\frac{\pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} LC \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} RC \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} C^{\leqslant}$$

Figure 3.2: The structural rules of weakening and contraction.

(displayed in the first row) allow us to introduce a new expression in the antecedent or the succedent of a sequent. And the contraction rules (displayed in the second row) are used in order to remove multiple occurrences of the same expression in a sequent. Note that, in particular, weakening and contraction are applicable not only to *labelled formulas*, but also to *relational atoms*.

A rule of inference is said to be *admissible* in GLinqB, if it satisfies the condition that, whenever each premise of the rule is derivable, then also the conclusion of the rule is derivable. Thus, intuitively, an admissible rule may be regarded as a rule that is *redundant*: if something is derivable by using an admissible rule, then it is also derivable without using the admissible rule. If the admissibility of a rule preserves the height of derivations, then the rule is also said to be *height-preserving admissible* (cf. Troelstra and Schwichtenberg 1996; Negri and Von Plato 2001).⁸

Definition 3.2.3 (Admissibility). Let \mathcal{R} be a rule with premises P_1, \ldots, P_m and conclusion C.

- (i) We say that \mathcal{R} is *admissible* in our system if, whenever an instance of P_1, \ldots, P_m is derivable in GLingB, then also the corresponding instance of C is derivable in GLingB.
- (ii) We say that \mathcal{R} is *height-preserving admissible* (or *hp-admissible*) in GLinqB if, whenever an instance of P_1, \ldots, P_m is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n in GLinqB, then also the corresponding instance of C is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n in GLinqB.

On the other hand, we will say that a rule is *invertible* if, whenever the conclusion of the rule is derivable, then also each of the premises of the rule is derivable. And a rule is said to be *height-preserving invertible*, if the invertibility of the rule preserves the height of derivations.

Definition 3.2.4 (Invertibility). Let \mathcal{R} be a rule with premises P_1, \ldots, P_m and conclusion C.

- (i) We say that \mathcal{R} is *invertible* in GLinqB if, whenever an instance of C is derivable in GLinqB, then also the corresponding instance of P_i is derivable in GLinqB, for every $1 \le i \le m$.
- (ii) We say that \mathcal{R} is *height-preserving invertible* (or *hp-invertible*) in GLinqB if, whenever an instance of C is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n in our system, then also the corresponding instance of P_i is derivable by a tree of height at most n, for every $1 \le i \le m$.

For technical reasons, we also need to show that our system allows to perform *height-preserving substitutions* on labels. To this end, we first define a substitution operator in the following way.

Definition 3.2.5 (Substitution). Let $s \in \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V}$ be a variable and let $\pi \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ be an arbitrary label. The result of substituting π for s in a label is inductively defined by the following clauses:

(i) for any variable $t \in \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V}$, we put $t(\pi/s) := \pi$, if s = t, and we put $t(\pi/s) := t$, if $s \neq t$,

(ii)
$$\emptyset(\pi/s) := \emptyset$$
,

(iii) $(\sigma \circledast \tau)(\pi/s) := \sigma(\pi/s) \circledast \tau(\pi/s)$ for $\circledast \in \{\cdot, +\}$.

If Γ is a multiset of labelled formulas and relational atoms, we also write $\Gamma(\pi/s)$ for the result of substituting π for s in every label occurring in Γ . The *substitution rules* are defined to be the rules

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)} (u/w) \qquad \text{ and } \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma(\pi/x) \Rightarrow \Delta(\pi/x)} (\pi/x)$$

⁸ Recall that, by the *height* of a derivation \mathcal{D} , we mean the length of a longest branch in \mathcal{D} .

where u and w are variables from \mathfrak{S} , x is a variable from \mathfrak{V} , and π is an arbitrary label. Thus, in particular, we allow singleton variables to be replaced only by other singleton variables, but not by any other label. Variables from \mathfrak{V} , on the other hand, can be replaced by arbitrary labels.

Proposition 3.2.6. The substitution rules are hp-admissible in GLingB.

Proof. For the sake of brevity, we only prove the hp-admissibility of the first substitution rule (for the second rule, the proof is similar). Let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and let $u, w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be arbitrary singleton variables. Using induction on the height of \mathcal{D} , we show that $\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)$ is also derivable, with at most the same derivation height. For the base case, assume that \mathcal{D} has height n = 1. In this case, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must be an instance of an axiom. But then, clearly, the sequent $\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)$ is also an instance of this axiom, so the claim follows.⁹

For the inductive step, suppose that \mathcal{D} has height n > 1. We consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If this rule does not have an eigenvariable from the set \mathfrak{S} , then we simply apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and then the rule itself. On the other hand, if the last rule in \mathcal{D} has an eigenvariable from \mathfrak{S} , then we first use the induction hypothesis in order to rename the eigenvariable, before performing the desired substitution (u/w). To see an example, let us suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of Rp. In this case, \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\substack{v \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, v : p \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : p}} Rp$$

where $v \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable, π is a non-singleton label and \mathcal{D}' is a derivation of height n-1. By applying the induction hypothesis to the subderivation \mathcal{D}' , we first replace the eigenvariable v by a fresh variable $v' \in \mathfrak{S}$ satisfying the condition $v' \neq w$. This yields a derivation \mathcal{D}'' of height at most n-1 for $v' \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, v' : p$. We can now apply the induction hypothesis again in order to perform the substitution (u/w) in the derivation \mathcal{D}'' . Using a subsequent application of Rp, we thus obtain the desired derivation of height at most n for $\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)$.

Recall that, according to Definition 3.1.3, a formula φ is said to be *provable* from Γ in GLinqB, if for some variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable. The previous proposition tells us that, in fact, the concrete choice of this variable does not matter: if the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB, then also $y : \Gamma \Rightarrow y : \varphi$ is derivable, for any $y \in \mathfrak{V}$. We are now ready to prove the desired admissibility and invertibility results: weakening and contraction are height-preserving admissible in our system and each rule of GLinqB is height-preserving invertible.

Proposition 3.2.7. The weakening rules are hp-admissible in GLinqB.

Proof. We only prove the hp-admissibility of LW. For the other two weakening rules, the proof is similar. Let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and let $\pi : \varphi$ be an arbitrary labelled formula. Using induction on the height of \mathcal{D} , we show that $\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is also derivable, with at most the height of \mathcal{D} . For the base case, suppose that \mathcal{D} has height n = 1. This means that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is an instance of an axiom. But then, clearly, $\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is also an axiom.

For the inductive step, assume that \mathcal{D} has height n > 1. We consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If this rule does not have an eigenvariable, then we apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and the the rule itself. Otherwise, we first use Proposition 3.2.6 in order to introduce a fresh eigenvariable not occurring in the weakening formula $\pi : \varphi$. For example, suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of $R \rightarrow$ with eigenvariable x, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\substack{x \leqslant \sigma, x : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, x : \chi\\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \sigma : \psi \to \chi}} R \rightarrow$$

 $^{^9\,}$ Note that, for this step, it is in fact essential that u is also a variable from $\mathfrak{S}.$ Otherwise, it might be the case that

 $[\]Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is an instance of an axiom, but the sequent resulting from the substitution is not an axiom anymore.

where \mathcal{D}' is a derivation of height n-1. By performing a height-preserving substitution in the subderivation \mathcal{D}' , we obtain a derivation of height at most n-1 for $y \leq \sigma, y : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, y : \chi$, where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in π . By induction hypothesis, this yields a derivation of height at most n-1 for $\pi : \varphi, y \leq \sigma, y : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, y : \chi$. Hence, by an application of $R \rightarrow$, we obtain the desired derivation of height at most n for $\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \sigma : \psi \rightarrow \chi$. \Box

Proposition 3.2.8. All rules of GLinqB are hp-invertible.

Proof. For the 'cumulative' rules of our system (that is, for the rules Lp, $L\perp$, $L\rightarrow$ and for the order rules), hp-invertibility follows immediately from the hp-admissibility of weakening. For all other rules of GLinqB, the proof proceeds by induction on the height of a derivation for the conclusion of the rule. We illustrate the basic idea for the rule Rp. Let $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ be a non-singleton label, let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$ and let n be the height of \mathcal{D} . Moreover, let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be an arbitrary variable not occurring in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$. Using induction on n, we show that $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ is also derivable by a proof tree of height at most n.

For the base case, assume that \mathcal{D} has height n = 1. Then, clearly, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$ must be an instance of an axiom. Since we have $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ by assumption, one readily sees that the labelled formula $\pi : p$ cannot be principal in this axiom (recall that, in an instance of Ax, the principal formula must always be labelled with a variable from \mathfrak{S}). Hence, the sequent $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ is also an instance of an axiom and therefore derivable by a proof tree of height n = 1.¹⁰

For the inductive step, suppose that \mathcal{D} has height n > 1. If the last step in \mathcal{D} is a rule for which $\pi : p$ is not principal, then we apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule (possibly together with a height-preserving substitution), and we then use the same rule again. On the other hand, if \mathcal{D} ends with an application of Rp for which $\pi : p$ is principal, then \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\underset{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, u : p}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p}} Rp$$

where $u \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable and \mathcal{D}' is of height n-1. By substituting w for u in the subderivation \mathcal{D}' , we now obtain the desired derivation of height at most n for $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$. \Box

Proposition 3.2.9. The contraction rules are hp-admissible in GLinqB.

Proof. The hp-admissibility of the three contraction rules is established *simultaneously*, by induction on the height of a derivation for the premise of the respective rule. More generally, let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for some sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, let n be the height of \mathcal{D} and suppose that either the antecedent or the succedent of $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ contains a duplication of some relational atom or a duplication of some labelled formula. Using induction on n, we show that also the contracted version of the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n.

For the base case, assume that \mathcal{D} has height n = 1, so $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is an instance of an axiom. But then, clearly, also the contracted version of $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must be an instance of this axiom.

For the inductive step, suppose that \mathcal{D} has height n > 1. There are the following possibilities. *Case 1:* Suppose that the duplicated expression in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is a relational atom $\pi \leq \sigma$. In this case, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must be of the form $\pi \leq \sigma, \pi \leq \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$. We now consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If at most one of the two occurrences of $\pi \leq \sigma$ is principal in this rule, then we simply apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and then the same rule again. And if both occurrences of $\pi \leq \sigma$ are principal in the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} , then we use the *closure*

¹⁰ Note that, without the restriction $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, this argument would no longer work. In fact, in this case, it might be the case that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$ is an axiom, but $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ is not (namely, if $\pi : p$ is the principal formula of the axiom). Thus, the restriction $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ makes sure that the invertibility of Rp is in fact *height-preserving*.

condition (Convention 3.1.4). For example, suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of (un) for which both occurrences of $\pi \leq \sigma$ are principal. In this case, \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\frac{\pi + \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}} (\mathsf{un})$$

where \mathcal{D}' is of height n-1. By applying the induction hypothesis to \mathcal{D}' , we get a derivation of height at most n-1 for $\pi + \pi \leq \sigma, \pi \leq \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$. Now, by the closure condition, we can use the *contracted version* of (un) in order to obtain a derivation of height at most n for $\pi \leq \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$.

Case 2: Suppose that the duplicated expression in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$. Without loss of generality, assume that the duplication occurs in the *succedent*, so $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is of the form $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi$ (if the duplication is in the antecedent, the proof is similar). We now consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in this rule, then both occurrences of $\pi : \varphi$ also appear in each of the premises of the rule. Thus, by applying the induction hypothesis to the premises and then the same rule again, we obtain the desired derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \varphi$. On the other hand, if $\pi : \varphi$ is principal in the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} , we consider the following cases.

Case 2.1: Let $\varphi = p$ be atomic. In this case, \mathcal{D} ends with an application of Rp, so it is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\substack{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, w : p, \pi : p \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : p, \pi : p}} Rp$$

where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable, π satisfies $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ and \mathcal{D}' is of height n-1. By applying the hp-invertibility of Rp and a subsequent height-preserving substitution to the subderivation \mathcal{D}' , we get a derivation of height at most n-1 for the sequent $w \leq \pi, w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, w : p, w : p$. Now, using the induction hypothesis and a subsequent application of Rp, this yields the desired derivation of height at most n for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : p$. The case $\varphi = \bot$ is treated similarly.

Case 2.2: Let $\varphi = \psi \land \chi$. In this case, the last step is an application of $R \land$, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2}}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi: \psi, \pi: \psi \land \chi \qquad \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi: \chi, \pi: \psi \land \chi} R \land$$

where \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 are of height at most n-1. By applying the hp-invertibility of $R \wedge$ to each of the two derivations \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 , we obtain derivations of height at most n-1 for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \psi, \pi : \psi$ and $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \chi, \pi : \chi$. By induction hypothesis and a subsequent application of $R \wedge$, this yields the desired derivation of height at most n for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \psi \wedge \chi$. The case $\varphi = \psi \vee \chi$ is similar.

Case 2.3: Let $\varphi = \psi \to \chi$. In this case, \mathcal{D} ends with an application of $R \to$, so it is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\substack{x \leqslant \pi, x : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, x : \chi, \pi : \psi \to \chi \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \psi \to \chi, \pi : \psi \to \chi}} R \rightarrow$$

where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ is fresh and \mathcal{D}' is of height n-1. We now apply the hp-invertibility of $R \to$ and a subsequent height-preserving substitution to \mathcal{D}' in order to obtain a derivation of height at most n-1 for $x \leq \pi, x \leq \pi, x : \psi, x : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, x : \chi, x : \chi$. By induction hypothesis and an application of $R \to$, this yields the desired derivation of height at most n for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \psi \to \chi$. \Box

3.2.3 Admissibility of the Cut Rule

In this section, we will show that the structural rule of cut is admissible in GLinqB. This can be seen as the most important structural property of our proof system and will help us to establish

the completeness of GLinqB in a purely proof-theoretical manner (see Section 3.3). First, let us introduce some terminology. By the *cut rule*, we will henceforth mean the sequent rule given by

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi \quad \pi: \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} \text{ (cut)}$$

where $\pi : \varphi$ is an arbitrary labelled formula, referred to as the *cut formula* of the corresponding application of the cut rule. Note that, if we take $\Delta = \emptyset$ and read the sequent arrow \Rightarrow as an implication in the meta-language, then the cut rule has a very natural interpretation: if a statement $\pi : \varphi$ follows from some set of assumptions Γ , and if Θ follows from $\pi : \varphi$ and Σ , then we can always infer Θ directly from Γ and Σ , without using the intermediate step represented by $\pi : \varphi$ (so, in a sense, the occurrence of $\pi : \varphi$ is 'cut out' by the rule). The formulation of the cut rule given above is also said to be *context-mixing* (or *multiplicative*), since we allow the contexts of the left and the right premise to be distinct. There is also a *context-sharing* (or *additive*) version of the cut rule, in which these contexts are required to be the same. However, due to the admissibility of weakening and contraction, the two formulations are easily seen to be equivalent: adding one version of the cut rule to GLingB has exactly the same effect as adding the other version to GLingB.¹¹

Importantly, our admissibility proof for the cut rule will be fully *constructive*, in the sense that it can easily be turned into an effective procedure that allows to transform any given derivation containing applications of the cut rule into a corresponding cut-free derivation. The general idea goes back to Gentzen (1935a; 1935b), who first proved a cut-elimination theorem for classical and intuitionistic first-order logic (this is known today as *Gentzen's Hauptsatz*). Since then, many extensions and variations of Gentzen's method have been developed. Our argument will be somewhat similar to the standard cut-admissibility proof for G3-style systems outlined by Negri and Von Plato (2001, pp. 35–40).¹² The basic idea is to consider an arbitrary application of the cut rule and to prove the admissibility of the rule by induction on the complexity of this application.

However, when measuring the complexity of a cut formula π : φ , we must now also take into account the complexity of the label π , rather than considering only the complexity of the formula φ , as it is done in standard cut-admissibility proofs for labelled and unlabelled sequent calculi (see, e.g., Negri 2005). To this end, we first define the degree of a label in the following way.

Definition 3.2.10. The *degree of a label* π is denoted by $deg(\pi)$ and defined as follows: if $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a singleton variable, then we put $deg(\pi) := 0$, and if $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we put $deg(\pi) := 1$.

In other words, we simply assign the degree 0 to every singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and the degree 1 to every non-singleton label $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. The degree of a formula φ is now defined to be the number of occurrences of the logical symbols in φ , so we adopt the following definition.

Definition 3.2.11. The degree of a formula φ , notation $deg(\varphi)$, is inductively defined as follows:

- (i) deg(p) := 0 for all atoms $p \in \mathsf{P}$, and $deg(\bot) := 1$,
- (ii) $deg(\psi \otimes \chi) := deg(\psi) + deg(\chi) + 1$ for $\otimes \in \{\land, \rightarrow, \lor\}$.

Finally, using the degree of a label and the degree of a formula, we define the rank of a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ to be pair of natural numbers $rank(\pi : \varphi) := (deg(\varphi), deg(\pi))$, where $deg(\varphi)$ is the degree of the formula φ and $deg(\pi)$ is the degree of the label π . In order to compare the ranks of labelled formulas, we will employ a *lexicographic ordering*. That is, we will write $rank(\pi : \varphi) < rank(\sigma : \psi)$ and say that the rank of $\pi : \varphi$ is *smaller* than the rank of $\sigma : \psi$, if we either have $deg(\varphi) < deg(\psi)$, or we have both $deg(\varphi) = deg(\psi)$ and $deg(\pi) < deg(\sigma)$. The following lemma summarizes some immediate consequences of the preceding definitions.

¹¹Moreover, the cut-admissibility proof given below can easily be adapted to the context-sharing version of the rule.

¹² A corresponding cut-elimination strategy is described by Troelstra and Schwichtenberg (1996, pp. 94–101).

Lemma 3.2.12. Let π and σ be arbitrary labels and let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be a singleton variable. It holds:

- (i) If $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then $rank(w:\varphi) < rank(\pi:\varphi)$,
- (ii) $rank(\pi : \varphi_i) < rank(\sigma : \varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_2)$ for i = 1, 2 and $\otimes \in \{\land, \rightarrow, \mathbb{W}\}$.

Proof. For the first part, suppose that $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. Then, by Definition 3.2.10, we have deg(w) = 0 and $deg(\pi) = 1$, so it follows $deg(w) < deg(\pi)$. Using the definition of the lexicographic ordering, this yields $rank(w : \varphi) < rank(\pi : \varphi)$, as desired. For the second part, it suffices to observe that we have $deg(\varphi_i) < deg(\varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_2)$, so the rank of $\pi : \varphi_i$ must be lexicographically smaller than the rank of $\sigma : \varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_2$, regardless of the degrees of π and σ . \Box

We are now ready to define a suitable measure of the complexity of a cut rule application. To this end, let us consider the following cut, where D_1 and D_2 are two derivations in our system:

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2}}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \qquad \pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \frac{\Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \varphi}{\Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} \text{ (cut)}$$

The *rank* of the indicated cut rule application is defined to be the rank of the associated cut formula $\pi : \varphi$. Thus, in particular, we assume that ranks of cut rule applications are ordered lexicographically. The *height* of the cut rule application is defined to be the sum $h(\mathcal{D}_1) + h(\mathcal{D}_2)$, where $h(\mathcal{D}_1)$ is the height of the derivation \mathcal{D}_1 and $h(\mathcal{D}_2)$ is the height of the derivation \mathcal{D}_2 .¹³ In other words, the height of a cut rule application is the sum of the heights of the two derivations for the premises of this application. In order to prove our cut-admissibility theorem for GLinqB, we will now use a main induction on the rank of a cut rule application, together with a subinduction on the height of this application. That is, given an arbitrary application of the cut rule, we will show that the corresponding derivation can be transformed in such a way that all new applications of the cut rule are either of lower rank than the original one, or they are of the same rank but have lower height. Using this strategy, we are now able to prove the desired admissibility result.

Theorem 3.2.13 (Cut-Admissibility). The cut rule is admissible in GLinqB.

Proof. Throughout this proof, we consider an arbitrary application of the cut rule given by

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2}}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \qquad \pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} (\mathsf{cut})$$

where \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 are two derivations in GLinqB. Let $d_1 := deg(\varphi)$ be the degree of the formula φ , let $d_2 := deg(\pi)$ be the degree of the label π , and let $h := h(\mathcal{D}_1) + h(\mathcal{D}_2)$ be the height of the selected cut rule application. In order to prove the admissibility of the cut rule, we proceed by a main induction on the rank (d_1, d_2) of the cut rule application, with a subinduction on the height h of the cut.¹⁴ In other words, we have to show that the proof tree can be transformed in such a way that all new cut rule applications are either of rank smaller than (d_1, d_2) , or they are also of rank (d_1, d_2) , but their height is less than h. Note that, in particular, there are now *two* induction hypotheses: we have a *main induction hypothesis*, saying that all cuts of rank (d_1, d_2) and of height smaller than h are admissible. We need to consider the following three main cases:

- (1) At least one of \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 is an instance of an axiom.
- (2) \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 are not axioms, and the cut formula is not principal in at least one of \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 .
- (3) D_1 and D_2 are not axioms, and the cut formula is principal on both sides.

¹³ Again, by the *height* of a derivation, we mean the length of a longest branch in this derivation.

¹⁴ Or, to put it differently, we perform a well-founded *lexicographic induction* on the triple (d_1, d_2, h) .

Case 1: Suppose that at least one of \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 is an axiom. There are the following possibilities.

Case 1.1: At least one of \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 is an instance of an axiom and the cut formula $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in this instance. In this case, the conclusion of the cut rule application must also be an axiom, so we can eliminate the cut completely. For example, suppose that the left premise of the cut rule application is an instance of Ax for which $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal, so the cut is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{\frac{w:p,\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w:p,\pi:\varphi}{w:p,\Gamma,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta,\Theta,w:p}} Ax \qquad \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D}_{2} \\ \pi:\varphi,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta \\ (\mathsf{cut}) \end{array}$$

As can be seen, the conclusion $w : p, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, w : p$ is also an instance of Ax, so it can be derived without any applications of the cut rule. For the other axioms, the argument is similar.

Case 1.2: \mathcal{D}_1 is an instance of Ax for which $\pi : \varphi$ is principal, and \mathcal{D}_2 ends with a rule \mathcal{R} for which $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal. In this case, we permute the cut upwards over the application of \mathcal{R} on the right, possibly in combination with a height-preserving substitution in order to rename the eigenvariable of \mathcal{R} . To see a representative case, let us assume that \mathcal{D}_2 ends with an application of the rule Rp for which the cut formula is not principal, so the cut is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{\underbrace{w:p,\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w:p} Ax} \quad \frac{u \leqslant \sigma, w:p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, u:q}{w:p,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, \sigma:q} Rp$$
$$\underbrace{w:p,\Gamma,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma:q}_{w:p,\Gamma,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta,\Theta,\sigma:q} (cut)$$

where σ is a non-singleton label and $u \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the sequent w: $p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, \sigma : q$. Using the hp-admissibility of substitution, this proof tree is transformed into

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{w:p,\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w:p} Ax \qquad \begin{array}{c} u \leqslant \sigma, w:p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, u:q\\ v \leqslant \sigma, w:p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, v:q\\ \hline w:p, \Gamma, v \leqslant \sigma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, v:q\\ w:p, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma:q \end{array} Rp$$

where $v \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the sequent $w : p, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma : q$. In this proof tree, the new application of the cut rule is of lower height than the original one, so it can be eliminated by the subinduction hypothesis in order to obtain the desired cut-free derivation.

Case 1.3: \mathcal{D}_1 is an instance of Ax for which $\pi : \varphi$ is principal, and \mathcal{D}_2 ends with an application of Lp for which $\pi : \varphi$ is also principal. In this case, the cut rule application must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{w:p,\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w:p} Ax \quad \frac{u:p,u \leqslant w, w:p,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{u \leqslant w, w:p,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} Lp$$

$$\frac{u:p,u \leqslant w,w:p,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{u \leqslant w,w:p,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta,\Theta} (cut)$$

Using the admissibility of weakening, we can now eliminate the cut by constructing the following proof tree, where 'W' refers to a sequence of multiple applications of the weakening rules:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D}'_2 \\ \\ \underline{u : p, u \leqslant w, w : p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \\ \underline{u \leqslant w, w : p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \\ \overline{u \leqslant w, w : p, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} W \end{array}$$

Case 1.4: Both of the derivations \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 are instances of Ax and the cut formula $\pi : \varphi$ is principal on both sides. In this case, the application of the cut rule must be of the following form:

$$\frac{\overline{w:p,\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w:p} \ Ax}{w:p,\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \varphi:p} \frac{w:p,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, w:p}{w:p,\Gamma,\Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, w:p}$$
(cut)

3.2. Properties of GLingB

As can be seen, the conclusion is also an instance of Ax, so the cut can be eliminated completely.

Case 1.5: \mathcal{D}_2 is an instance of Ax^{\perp} for which $\pi : \varphi$ is principal, and \mathcal{D}_1 ends with an application of some rule \mathcal{R} . Note that, since $\pi : \varphi$ is the principal formula of the instance of Ax^{\perp} on the right, it must be of the form $w : \perp$ for some singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$. Consequently, the cut formula cannot be principal in the application of \mathcal{R} on the left: this would only be possible, if \mathcal{R} would be an instance of R^{\perp} ; but in this case, π would have to be a non-singleton label, i.e., $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. Therefore, we may assume that $w : \perp$ is not principal in \mathcal{D}_1 . Using this fact, we can now permute the cut upwards over the application of \mathcal{R} on the left, possibly in combination with a height-preserving substitution in order to rename the eigenvariable of \mathcal{R} . For example, if \mathcal{D}_1 ends with an application of $R \rightarrow$ for which the cut formula is not principal, then the cut is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{1}}{\frac{x \leqslant \sigma, x : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \chi, w : \bot}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \sigma : \psi \to \chi, w : \bot}} R \to \frac{w : \bot, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{w : \bot, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \frac{Ax^{\bot}}{(\mathsf{cut})}$$

where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \sigma : \psi \to \chi, w : \bot$. Using the hp-admissibility of substitution, we can now eliminate the cut by constructing the proof tree

T/

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D}_{1} \\ \frac{x \leqslant \sigma, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x: \chi, w: \bot}{y \leqslant \sigma, y: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, y: \chi, w: \bot} (y/x) & \frac{w: \bot, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{w: \bot, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \\ \frac{y \leqslant \sigma, y: \psi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, y: \chi}{\Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma: \psi \rightarrow \chi} R \rightarrow \end{array}$$

where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is some fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion. In this proof tree, the new cut is of lower height than the old one, so it can be eliminated by the subinduction hypothesis.

Case 1.6: \mathcal{D}_2 is an instance of Ax for which $\pi : \varphi$ is principal, and \mathcal{D}_1 ends with an application of some rule \mathcal{R} . In this case, we proceed in the same way as in the previous case.

Case 2: Suppose that neither \mathcal{D}_1 nor \mathcal{D}_2 is an axiom and the cut formula $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in at least one of \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 . Without loss of generality, assume that $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in the left derivation \mathcal{D}_1 , and let \mathcal{R} be the last rule applied in \mathcal{D}_1 (if $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal on the right, then the argument is similar). Since $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in \mathcal{D}_1 , we can now permute the cut upwards over the application of \mathcal{R} on the left, possibly in combination with a height-preserving substitution in order to rename the eigenvariable of \mathcal{R} . To see a concrete example, let us assume that \mathcal{D}_1 ends with an application of the two-premise rule (sg). In this case, the cut must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{1}}{\sigma \leqslant \emptyset, \sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} \frac{\mathcal{D}''_{1}}{w \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{\pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \frac{\sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi}{\sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} \text{ (cut)}$$

We now permute the cut upwards over the application of (sg) by constructing the proof tree

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2} \qquad \mathcal{D}'_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2} \qquad \mathcal{D}''_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2} \qquad \\
\frac{\sigma \leqslant \emptyset, \sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \quad \pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\sigma \leqslant \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \quad \pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} (\text{cut}) \qquad \frac{w \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \quad \pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{w \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant w, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} (\text{cut})$$

Note that, in this proof tree, both of the two new applications of the cut rule are of lower height than the original one, so they can be eliminated according to the subinduction hypothesis.

Case 3: Suppose that neither \mathcal{D}_1 nor \mathcal{D}_2 is an instance of an axiom, and the cut formula $\pi : \varphi$ is principal in both premises of the cut rule application. There are the following possibilities.

Case 3.1: Suppose that $\varphi = p$ is an atomic formula. In this case, the cut must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{1}}{\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: p}} Rp \quad \frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{u \leqslant \pi, \pi: p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} Lp$$

$$\frac{u: p, u \leqslant \pi, \pi: p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{u \leqslant \pi, \pi: p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} Lp$$
(cut)

where $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ is a non-singleton label and $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$. Using the admissibility of substitution and contraction, this proof tree is now transformed in the following way, where 'C' stands for a sequence of multiple applications of the contraction rules:

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{1}}{\underbrace{\substack{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p \\ \overline{u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, u : p}}}_{u \leqslant \pi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, \overline{u} : p} \mathcal{D}'_{1}}{\underbrace{\frac{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p \\ \overline{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p}}_{u : p, u \leqslant \pi, \overline{\pi} : p, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}}_{u : p, u \leqslant \pi, \overline{\Gamma}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} (\text{cut})$$

In this proof tree, the uppermost of the two new cuts (i.e., the one with cut formula $\pi : p$) has lower height than the original one, so it can be eliminated according to the subinduction hypothesis. On the other hand, since $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ and $u \in \mathfrak{S}$, we also have $rank(u : p) < rank(\pi : p)$ by Lemma 3.2.12 (i). Therefore, the lowermost cut (i.e., the one with cut formula u : p) has lower rank than the original one, so it can be eliminated by the main induction hypothesis.

Case 3.2: Let $\varphi = \bot$. This case is treated in essentially the same way as the previous case. *Case 3.3:* Let $\varphi = \psi \land \chi$. In this case, the cut rule application must have the following form:

$$\frac{\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{D}_{1}^{\prime} & \mathcal{D}_{1}^{\prime\prime} & \mathcal{D}_{2}^{\prime} \\ \\ \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi & \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \chi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \land \chi} R \land & \frac{\pi : \psi, \pi : \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\pi : \psi \land \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} L \land \\ \hline \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta \end{array}$$

Using the admissibility of contraction, we now transform the proof tree into

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}^{\prime\prime}}{\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \chi}{\prod_{i=1}^{\Gamma} \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi}{\pi : \chi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta}} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}^{\prime}}{\pi : \chi, \pi : \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} (\text{cut})$$

In the resulting tree, all new cuts are of lower rank than the old one, so they can be eliminated by the main induction hypothesis (i.e., we first use the induction hypothesis in order to remove the topmost cut, and we then use the induction hypothesis again in order to remove the second cut). *Case 3.4:* Let $\varphi = \psi \vee \chi$. This case is similar to the previous case.

Case 3.5: Let $\varphi = \psi \rightarrow \chi$. In this case, the cut rule application must have the following form:

$$\frac{ \begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{D}'_1 & \mathcal{D}'_2 & \mathcal{D}''_2 \\ \frac{x \leqslant \pi, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x: \chi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \to \chi} R \rightarrow & \frac{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi: \psi \to \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, \sigma: \psi & \sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi: \psi \to \chi, \sigma: \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi: \psi \to \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} L \rightarrow \\ \frac{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta}{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} L \rightarrow \end{array}$$

where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable. This derivation is now transformed into the proof tree

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}' \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D}'}{(\sigma \leqslant \pi)^2, \Gamma^2, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta^2, \Theta, \sigma : \chi \qquad \sigma \leqslant \pi, \sigma : \chi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta}{\frac{(\sigma \leqslant \pi)^3, \Gamma^3, \Sigma^2 \Rightarrow \Delta^3, \Theta^2}{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} (\text{cut})$$

$$\frac{\sigma:\varphi,\sigma\leqslant\pi,\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{\sigma\leqslant\pi,\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}\,(\mathsf{glp})\qquad\qquad \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:\alpha}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\alpha}\,(\mathsf{grp})$$

Figure 3.3: Admissible generalizations of Lp and Rp. In the rule (grp), w must be a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion of the rule and $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$ must be a Harrop formula.

where \mathcal{D}' and \mathcal{D}'' are the following two derivations:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D}'_{1} \\ \\ \underline{x \leqslant \pi, x : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \chi}_{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \to \chi} \mathcal{D}'_{2} & \mathcal{D}'_{1} \\ \hline \\ \hline \underline{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \to \chi}_{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \to \chi} \mathcal{R} \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} \sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi : \psi \to \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta, \sigma : \psi \\ \hline \\ \underline{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma : \psi}_{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma : \psi \to \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \sigma : \chi} (cut) \\ \hline \\ \underline{\sigma \leqslant \pi, r : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \chi}_{(\sigma \neq \pi)^{2}, \Gamma^{2}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta^{2}, \Theta, \sigma : \chi} \\ \\ \frac{\mathcal{D}'_{1}}{\frac{x \leqslant \pi, x : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \chi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \to \chi} \mathcal{R} \xrightarrow{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi : \psi \to \chi, \sigma : \chi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}_{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \sigma : \chi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} (cut) \\ \end{array}$$

As can be seen, the original cut is now replaced by four new cuts. An easy inspection shows that the two uppermost of these cuts (i.e., those with cut formula $\pi : \psi \to \chi$) are of lower height than the original one, and the two other cuts are of lower rank. Thus, using the subinduction hypothesis and then the main induction hypothesis, we can successively remove each of the four cuts. \Box

3.2.4 Further Admissibility Results

Using the results obtained in the previous sections, we now want to present a number of additional rules that can be shown to be admissible in GLinqB. First, we will prove the admissibility of the rules (glp) and (grp), depicted in Figure 3.3. In a sense, the rule (glp) can be seen as a generalization of the rule Lp, reflecting the *persistency* of the support relation in inquisitive logic: if a formula φ is supported by some state π and if σ is an enhancement of π , then φ must also be supported by σ (see Proposition 1.2.11). The rule (grp), on the other hand, generalizes the rule Rpand accounts for the *truth-conditionality* of Harrop formulas in InqB: if a Harrop formula α is true at every world in a state π , then α is supported by π (see Proposition 1.3.3).¹⁵ Note that the truthconditionality of α is in fact essential here (without this restriction, the rule would not be sound).

Proposition 3.2.14. The rules (glp) and (grp) are admissible in GLinqB.

Proof. We first show that (glp) is admissible. To this end, assume that $\sigma : \varphi, \sigma \leq \pi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable by a proof tree \mathcal{D} . Using this proof tree, we may then construct the following derivation, where 'C' stands for a sequence of multiple applications of the contraction rules:

$$\frac{\stackrel{\text{By Lemma 3.2.1 (i)}}{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi : \varphi \Rightarrow \sigma : \varphi} \quad \sigma : \varphi, \sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\stackrel{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\text{cut})$$

Hence, by the admissibility of the cut rule, it follows that (glp) is admissible. In order to prove the admissibility of the rule (grp), we proceed by induction on the structure of the Harrop formula α .

¹⁵ Recall that, by a *Harrop formula*, we mean any formula φ in which all occurrences of \mathbb{V} are contained in the antecedent of an implication. For an inductive definition of the set of all Harrop formulas, we refer to Definition 1.3.2.

For the base case, let $\alpha = p$ be an atomic formula and suppose that $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ is derivable, where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$. If we have $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then the derivability of $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$ follows immediately from the derivability of $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ by an application of the rule Rp. Thus, let us now assume that we have $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$. In this case, we can apply the substitution (π/w) to the sequent $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ in order to obtain a derivation for $\pi \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$. Now, using an application of the rule (rf), this yields the desired derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : p$. The case $\alpha = \bot$ is treated similarly.

In the inductive step, we only have to consider the following two cases.

Case 1: Let α be of the form $\alpha = \beta \wedge \gamma$ for some Harrop formulas $\beta, \gamma \in \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$. Suppose that the sequent $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \beta \wedge \gamma$ is derivable, where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is again a fresh variable. By the invertibility of the rule $R \wedge$, this implies that there is also a derivation \mathcal{D}_1 for the sequent $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \beta$ and a derivation \mathcal{D}_2 for the sequent $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \gamma$. Using these derivations and the induction hypothesis, we now obtain the desired derivation in the following way:

Case 2: Let α be of the form $\alpha = \varphi \to \beta$ for some arbitrary formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and some Harrop formula $\beta \in \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$. Suppose that the sequent $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \varphi \to \beta$ is derivable, where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is fresh. By the invertibility of the rule $R \to$, this implies that, for some fresh variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, there is also a derivation \mathcal{D} for the sequent $x \leq w, w \leq \pi, x : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta$. Using this derivation and the induction hypothesis, we may now construct the desired derivation in the following way, where 'W' refers to a sequence of multiple applications of the weakening rules:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D} \\ x \leqslant w, w \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ w \leqslant w, w \leqslant \pi, w : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \overline{\beta} \ (w/x) \\ \hline w \leqslant w, w : \varphi, w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \overline{\beta} \ (rf) \\ \hline w : \varphi, w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \beta \\ \hline w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \beta \\ \hline w \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \beta \\ \hline w \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \beta \\ \hline w \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x : \psi, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \beta \\ \hline \mu \leqslant x, x \leqslant \pi, x \otimes \pi, x \otimes$$

This concludes the induction. Therefore, the rule (grp) is admissible in GLinqB.

As a corollary of this proposition, we can now prove that, if α is a Harrop formula, then every sequent of the form $\pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi + \sigma : \alpha$ is derivable in GLinqB. Intuitively, this accounts again for the truth-conditionality of Harrop formulas in InqB: if a Harrop formula α is supported by two states π and σ , then it must also be supported by the union of π and σ .

Corollary 3.2.15. If $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$ is a Harrop formula, then every sequent of the form $\pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi + \sigma : \alpha$ is derivable in GLinqB.

Proof. For an arbitrary Harrop formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{H}^{\mathsf{B}}$, we may construct the following proof tree:

$$\frac{\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 3.2.1 (i)} \\ \hline w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \alpha \end{array}}{\begin{array}{c} w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \alpha \end{array}} \text{(cd)} \\ \frac{w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \alpha}{\pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi + \sigma : \alpha} \text{(grp)} \end{array}$$

Thus, by the admissibility of (grp), the desired sequent is derivable in GLinqB.

$$\frac{\pi \circledast \sigma \approx \sigma \circledast \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (com)} \qquad \frac{\pi \circledast (\sigma \circledast \tau) \approx (\pi \circledast \sigma) \circledast \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ass)}$$
$$\frac{\pi \circledast \pi \approx \pi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (id)} \qquad \frac{\pi(\sigma + \tau) \approx \pi\sigma + \pi\tau}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (i-dis)} \qquad \frac{\pi + \sigma\tau \approx (\pi + \sigma)(\pi + \tau)}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (u-dis)}$$
$$\frac{\pi(\pi + \sigma) \approx \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (i-abs)} \qquad \frac{\pi + \pi\sigma \approx \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (u-abs)}$$

Figure 3.4: Some further admissible rules. In each case, we assume that $\circledast \in \{\cdot, +\}$. The notation ' $\pi \approx \sigma$ ' is used as an abbreviation for the pair of relational atoms ' $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma \leq \pi$ '.

Finally, it is worth noting that our system also allows to derive the usual algebraic properties of the intersection and the union operator. In Figure 3.4, we summarize a number of additional rules that can be shown to be admissible in our sequent calculus. Note that, in the figure, the symbol \circledast acts as a placeholder, representing either the intersection or the union operator, and ' $\pi \approx \sigma$ ' is used as a shorthand for the pair of relational atoms ' $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma \leq \pi$ '. Intuitively, the rules (com), (ass) and (id) account for the commutativity, associativity and idempotence of union and intersection. The other four rules account for the usual distributivity and absorption laws.

Proposition 3.2.16. Each of the rules depicted in Figure 3.4 is admissible in GLinqB.

Proof. For the sake of brevity, we only show the admissibility of the two absorption rules (i-abs) and (u-abs). In order to prove the admissibility of (i-abs), let \mathcal{D} be a derivation for the sequent $\pi(\pi + \sigma) \approx \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. Using this derivation, we may then construct the following proof tree:

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}}{\frac{\pi(\pi+\sigma) \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi(\pi+\sigma), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi(\pi+\sigma), \pi \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} \stackrel{W}{\frac{\pi(\pi+\sigma) \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} (\text{il}) \\
\frac{\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}}{\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} (\text{ul})$$

Thus, (i-abs) is admissible. In order to prove the admissibility of (u-abs), let us now suppose that $\pi + \pi \sigma \approx \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable by a proof tree \mathcal{D} . We may then construct the derivation

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}}{\frac{\pi + \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi + \pi\sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi + \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi, \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} W_{\text{(ul)}} \frac{\pi + \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \pi, \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\frac{\pi + \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi, \pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} (\text{un})}$$

This show that (u-abs) is admissible. For the other rules from Figure 3.4, the proof is similar. \Box

3.3 Soundness and Completeness

In this section, we will prove the soundness and completeness of our sequent calculus, i.e., we will show that, for every finite set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and for every variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, there exists a derivation for $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in GLinqB if and only if φ is entailed by Γ in InqB.

To begin with, let us establish the soundness of our system. For this purpose, we have to prove that every sequent derivable in GLinqB is also 'valid' with respect to the support semantics of InqB. In order to give a precise definition of what it means for a sequent to be 'valid', we first need to specify how the labels of our proof system are interpreted in an information model.

Definition 3.3.1 (Interpretation). Let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be an information model.¹⁶ An *interpretation* over M is a function $I : \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V} \to \mathcal{P}(W)$ such that, for all singleton variables $w \in \mathfrak{S}$, the state $I(w) \subseteq W$ is a singleton. Given any interpretation I over some model M, it is inductively extended to a function from the set $\Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ of all labels to the set $\mathcal{P}(W)$ in the following way: (i) $I(\emptyset) := \emptyset$,

(ii) $I(\pi \cdot \sigma) := I(\pi) \cap I(\sigma)$

(iii)
$$I(\pi + \sigma) := I(\pi) \cup I(\sigma)$$
.

In other words, an interpretation is a function that assigns a singleton state to each variable from \mathfrak{S} and an arbitrary state to each variable from \mathfrak{V} . Such a function is then extended to arbitrary labels in the obvious way. So, in particular, the constant \emptyset is interpreted as the *inconsistent state*, $\pi \cdot \sigma$ is interpreted as the *intersection* of the states $I(\pi)$ and $I(\sigma)$, and $\pi + \sigma$ is interpreted as the *union* of $I(\pi)$ and $I(\sigma)$. Given any interpretation I over some model M, we will now say that a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is *satisfied* by I, just in case φ is supported by the state $I(\pi)$ in M. And a relational atom $\pi \leq \sigma$ is said to be satisfied by I, if the state $I(\pi)$ is an enhancement of $I(\sigma)$.

Definition 3.3.2 (Satisfaction). Let *I* be an interpretation over some model *M*. The notion of *satisfaction* is defined in the following way: we say that a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is satisfied by *I*, if we have $M, I(\pi) \models \varphi$. And a relational atom $\pi \leq \sigma$ is satisfied by *I*, if it holds $I(\pi) \subseteq I(\sigma)$.

We are now able to define a suitable notion of validity for sequents. As explained in Section 3.1, every sequent is assumed to have a 'conjunctive' reading on the left and a 'disjunctive' reading on the right. In line with this, we will call a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ valid in a model M, if every interpretation over M that satisfies all expressions in Γ also satisfies at least one expression in Δ .

Definition 3.3.3 (Validity). Let M be a model. We say that a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is *valid in* M, if for every interpretation I over M, the following holds: if I satisfies all labelled formulas and relational atoms in Γ , then there exists a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ in Δ such that I satisfies $\pi : \varphi$.

Using this notion of validity, we can now establish the soundness of our labelled sequent calculus: if a formula φ is provable from Γ in GLinqB, then φ is entailed by Γ in the basic system InqB.

Proposition 3.3.4 (Soundness). For every finite set of formulas $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ and for every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, if the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLingB for some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, then $\Gamma \models \varphi$.¹⁷

Proof. We first prove that, if a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable in GLinqB, then $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in every information model M. For this purpose, let $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ be an arbitrary sequent and suppose that there exists a derivation \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ in GLinqB. Moreover, let $M = \langle W, V \rangle$ be an arbitrary model. Using induction on the structure of \mathcal{D} , we show that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M.

In the base case, we have to show that all axioms of GLinqB are valid in M. This is straightforward. For example, let us assume that \mathcal{D} is an instance of Ax^{\perp} . In this case, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must be of the form $w : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ for some singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$. By Definition 3.3.1, every interpretation over M must assign a singleton state to w. Hence, because \bot is supported only by the inconsistent state \emptyset , there can be no interpretation over M that satisfies $w : \bot$, so the sequent $w : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is trivially valid in M. Similar arguments can be found for the other axioms.

¹⁶ Recall that W stands for a non-empty set of possible worlds and V stands for a valuation function, assigning a truth value to each atomic formula $p \in P$ at each possible world $w \in W$. For further details, we refer to Definition 1.2.4.

¹⁷ As before, we write $x : \Gamma$ for the set given by $(x : \Gamma) := \{x : \psi \mid \psi \in \Gamma\}$. Moreover, recall that $\Gamma \models \varphi$ was defined to hold, if for every model M and for every state s, it holds: $M, s \models \Gamma$ implies $M, s \models \varphi$ (see Definition 1.2.12).

For the inductive step, let us assume that D ends with an application of one of the logical rules or one of the order rules of GLinqB. For simplicity, we only consider a few representative cases.

Case 1: Suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of the rule Rp, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\substack{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, w : p \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : p}} Rp$$

where $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ is a non-singleton label and $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion of \mathcal{D} . By induction hypothesis, we know that the sequent $w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, w : p$ is valid in M. We have to show that this also holds for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : p$. Towards a contradiction, assume that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : p$ is *not* valid in M, i.e., there exists an interpretation I over M such that I satisfies all expressions in Γ , but I satisfies neither $\pi : p$ nor any expression in Θ . By the support conditions for atomic formulas (see Definition 1.2.6), this implies that there exists some world $u \in I(\pi)$ such that $M, u \not\models p$. Let now I^* be the interpretation which is just like I, except that the variable w is mapped to the singleton state $\{u\}$, so we put $I^*(w) := \{u\}$. Then, by assumption, I^* satisfies $w \leqslant \pi$ and each expression in Γ . Hence, by induction hypothesis, I^* must also satisfy w : p or some expression in Θ . If I^* satisfies w : p, then we must have $M, u \models p$, which is a contradiction to the fact that $M, u \not\models p$. And if I^* satisfies some element of Θ , then also the original interpretation I must satisfy this element, which is a contradiction to our assumption about I.

Case 2: Suppose that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of $L \perp$. In this case, \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{w : \bot, w \leqslant \pi, \pi : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} L \bot$$

$$\frac{w : \bot, w \leqslant \pi, \pi : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant \pi, \pi : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} L \bot$$

By induction hypothesis, $w : \bot, w \leq \pi, \pi : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. Suppose for a contradiction that $w \leq \pi, \pi : \bot, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is *not* valid. Then, in particular, there must be an interpretation I over M such that I satisfies both $w \leq \pi$ and $\pi : \bot$, so we have $I(w) \subseteq I(\pi)$ and $M, I(\pi) \models \bot$. Since \bot is only supported by the inconsistent state \emptyset , this implies $I(\pi) = \emptyset$. But then, because I(w) is non-empty by Definition 3.3.1, it follows $I(w) \not\subseteq I(\pi)$, which is a contradiction to $I(w) \subseteq I(\pi)$.

Case 3: Suppose that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of $L \rightarrow$, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi \qquad \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \pi: \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} L \to$$

By induction hypothesis, $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi \to \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$ and $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi \to \psi, \pi : \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ are both valid. In order to show that this also holds for the conclusion of \mathcal{D} , let I be an arbitrary interpretation over M and suppose that I satisfies $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi \to \psi$ and each expression in Θ . Then, by induction hypothesis, I must also satisfy $\pi : \varphi$ or some element of Δ . If the latter holds, then we are finished. Thus, let us assume that I satisfies $\pi : \varphi$. By assumption, we also have $I(\pi) \subseteq I(\sigma)$ and $M, I(\sigma) \models \varphi \to \psi$. Using the support conditions for implication (see Definition 1.2.6), one readily sees that this yields $M, I(\pi) \nvDash \varphi$ or $M, I(\pi) \models \psi$. Therefore, since I satisfies $\pi : \varphi$, it follows $M, I(\pi) \models \psi$. As we have seen, I satisfies each of the expressions $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi \to \psi, \pi : \psi$ and every element of Θ . But then, by induction hypothesis, I must also satisfy some element of Δ . Because I was arbitrary, this shows that the conclusion of \mathcal{D} is in fact valid in M.

Case 4: Suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of $R \rightarrow$, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\substack{x\leqslant \pi, x: \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, x: \psi\\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi: \varphi \to \psi}} R \rightarrow$$

where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion. By induction hypothesis, we know that $x \leq \pi, x : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, x : \psi$ is valid in M. In order to show that this also holds for the

conclusion of \mathcal{D} , suppose for a contradiction that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Theta, \pi : \varphi \to \psi$ is *not* valid in M, i.e., there exists an interpretation I over M such that I satisfies each element of Γ , but I neither satisfies $\pi : \varphi \to \psi$ nor any element of Θ . Then, since $M, I(\pi) \not\models \varphi \to \psi$, there must be some state $s \subseteq I(\pi)$ such that $M, s \models \varphi$ and $M, s \not\models \psi$. Let now I^* be the interpretation which is just like I, except that the variable x is mapped to s, so we put $I^*(x) := s$. Then, clearly, I^* satisfies $x \leqslant \pi, x : \varphi$ and each element of Γ . Therefore, by induction hypothesis, it must also satisfy $x : \psi$ or some element of Θ . If I^* satisfies $x : \psi$, then we have $M, s \models \psi$ by definition of I^* , which is a contradiction to $M, s \not\models \psi$. And if I^* satisfies some element of Θ , then also the original interpretation I must satisfy this element, which is a contradiction to our assumption about I.

Case 5: Suppose that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of the rule (un). In this case, \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\frac{\pi + \tau \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}} (\mathsf{un})$$

By induction hypothesis, $\pi + \tau \leq \sigma, \pi \leq \sigma, \tau \leq \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. We have to show that this also holds for the conclusion of \mathcal{D} . To this end, I be an arbitrary interpretation over M and suppose that I satisfies $\pi \leq \sigma, \tau \leq \sigma$ and each expression in Θ . Then, in particular, we have $I(\pi) \subseteq I(\sigma)$ and $I(\tau) \subseteq I(\sigma)$, so it follows $I(\pi) \cup I(\tau) \subseteq I(\sigma)$. Hence, I also satisfies the relational atom $\pi + \tau \leq \sigma$. Therefore, by induction hypothesis, some element of Δ must be satisfied by I. Since I was arbitrary, this shows that $\pi \leq \sigma, \tau \leq \sigma, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M.

Case 6: Suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of (sg), so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\pi \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant w, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant w, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} (sg)$$

By induction hypothesis, $\pi \leq \emptyset, \pi \leq w, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ and $w \leq \pi, \pi \leq w, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ are both valid in M. In order to show that this also holds for the conclusion of \mathcal{D} , let I be an arbitrary interpretation over M and suppose that I satisfies $\pi \leq w$ and each element of Θ . Since I(w) is a singleton and $I(\pi) \subseteq I(w)$, we must either have $I(\pi) = \emptyset$ or $I(\pi) = I(w)$. In the first case, I satisfies $\pi \leq \emptyset$, and in the second case, I satisfies $w \leq \pi$. Hence, by induction hypothesis, I satisfies some element of Δ , as desired. Because I was arbitrary, this shows that $\pi \leq w, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M.

The other rules are treated similarly. This concludes the induction. Let now $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be an arbitrary finite set and suppose that $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB for some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. As we have just seen, this implies that, for every model M and for every interpretation I over M, if $M, I(x) \models \psi$ for all $\psi \in \Gamma$, then $M, I(x) \models \varphi$. But then, clearly, we also have $\Gamma \models \varphi$. \Box

Next, we will establish the completeness of our sequent calculus. This will be achieved in a purely proof-theoretical manner, i.e., instead of giving a semantic argument, we will use our cutadmissibility theorem in order to show that GLinqB is complete with respect to the Hilbert-style system HinqB depicted in Figure 3.5. As demonstrated in Section 1.5, this Hilbert-style system is sound and complete with respect to InqB. Therefore, in order to prove the completeness of our sequent calculus, it suffices to show that every formula provable in HinqB is also provable in GLinqB. To this end, we first need to show that every axiom of HinqB is derivable in GLinqB.

Lemma 3.3.5. Let φ be an instance of one of the axiom schemes of HinqB. Then, φ is provable in GLinqB, *i.e.*, for any variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, there exists a derivation for the sequent $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in GLinqB.

Proof. For the 'intuitionistic' axioms given in Figure 1.5, the proof is a matter of routine (in fact, the only non-trivial case is the axiom $\bot \rightarrow \varphi$, but this axiom can be easily derived from part (iv) of Lemma 3.2.2). Therefore, we only need to show the derivability of the split axiom (Split) and

Axioms:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(IPL)} & \text{All axioms of the `intuitionistic' system given in Figure 1.5,} \\ \text{(Split)} & (\alpha \to (\varphi \vee \psi)) \to ((\alpha \to \varphi) \vee (\alpha \to \psi)) \text{, where } \alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}} \text{ is classical,} \\ \text{(DN)} & \neg \neg \alpha \to \alpha \text{, where } \alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}} \text{ is classical.} \end{array}$

The only rule of inference is *modus ponens*: from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$.



the double negation axiom (DN). In order to derive the split axiom, let $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a classical formula and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be arbitrary formulas. We may then construct the following derivation:

where the subderivation ${\mathcal D}$ is of the form

$$\frac{\text{By Lemma 3.2.1 (i)}}{\sum_{1 \leq z_{1} + z_{2}, \dots, z_{1} + z_{2} : \varphi \Rightarrow z_{1} : \varphi, z_{2} : \psi}}{(\dots, z_{1} + z_{2} : \varphi \Rightarrow z_{1} : \varphi, z_{2} : \psi} (\text{ul}) \frac{z_{2} \leq z_{1} + z_{2}, \dots, z_{1} + z_{2} : \psi \Rightarrow z_{1} : \varphi, z_{2} : \psi}{(\dots, z_{1} + z_{2} : \psi \Rightarrow z_{1} : \varphi, z_{2} : \psi}} (\text{ur}) \frac{z_{2} \leq z_{1} + z_{2}, \dots, z_{1} + z_{2} : \psi \Rightarrow z_{1} : \varphi, z_{2} : \psi}{(\dots, z_{1} + z_{2} : \psi \Rightarrow z_{1} : \varphi, z_{2} : \psi}} (\text{ur})$$

Note that, since α is a classical formula, it is also a Harrop formula, so Corollary 3.2.15 is in fact applicable here. In order to derive the double negation axiom (DN), let $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_c^{\mathsf{B}}$ be again a classical formula. Then, using the admissible rule (grp) from Figure 3.3, we may construct the derivation

Again, observe that α is also a Harrop formula, so the application of (grp) is in fact correct. \Box

In a similar way, one can also derive the axioms of the alternative Hilbert-style system HinqB_{KP} presented in Figure 1.7. The derivations are almost the same. In particular, in the derivation for the Kreisel-Putnam axiom (KP), one can again use Corollary 3.2.15, since negated formulas, too, are always Harrop formulas. In the derivation for the atomic double negation axiom (ADN), one can also use Rp instead of (grp). For the next step, let now (mp) be the *modus ponens rule* given by

$$\frac{\Rightarrow x:\varphi \implies x:\varphi \rightarrow \psi}{\Rightarrow x:\psi} \text{ (mp)}$$

Using our cut-admissibility theorem, it is easy to verify that (mp) is admissible in GLinqB.

Lemma 3.3.6. The modus ponens rule (mp) is admissible in GLinqB.

Proof. Suppose that there is a derivation \mathcal{D}_1 for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ and a derivation \mathcal{D}_2 for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi \to \psi$. We have to show that there is also a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \psi$. By applying the invertibility of the rule $R \to$ to the derivation \mathcal{D}_2 , we first obtain a derivation \mathcal{D}'_2 for $y \leq x, y : \varphi \Rightarrow y : \psi$, where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable. Using \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}'_2 , we may now construct the following derivation:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D}'_{2} \\ \\ \frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\Rightarrow x : \varphi} \quad \frac{y \leqslant x, y : \varphi \Rightarrow y : \psi}{x \leqslant x, x : \varphi \Rightarrow x : \psi} (x/y) \\ \\ \frac{\frac{x \leqslant x \Rightarrow x : \psi}{x \leqslant x \Rightarrow x : \psi} (\text{cut})}{\frac{x \leqslant x \Rightarrow x : \psi}{\Rightarrow x : \psi} (\text{rf})} \end{array}$$

Therefore, by the admissibility of the cut rule, it follows that (mp) is admissible in GLinqB. \Box

By combining the previous two lemmas, we can now prove that our labelled sequent calculus is weakly complete with respect to HinqB: if a formula φ is provable in the Hilbert-style system HinqB, then it is also provable in the sequent calculus GLinqB. The strong completeness of GLinqB is then obtained as an immediate corollary, by using the deduction theorem for HinqB.

Theorem 3.3.7. For every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$, if we have $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ in the Hilbert-style system HinqB, then the sequent $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB, for any variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$.¹⁸

Proof. The statement is proved by induction on the structure of a Hilbert-style proof for $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ (see Definition 1.5.3). This is trivial, since we already know that all axioms of HinqB are provable in GLinqB and that modus ponens is admissible in GLinqB (see Lemma 3.3.5 and 3.3.6).

Corollary 3.3.8 (Soundness and Completeness). The labelled sequent calculus GLinqB is sound and strongly complete with respect to InqB. That is, for every finite set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{B}$, we have $\Gamma \models \varphi$ if and only if $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB, for any variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Proof. The soundness of GLinqB has been established in Proposition 3.3.4. For the completeness part, let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be an arbitrary finite set of formulas and suppose that $\Gamma \models \varphi$. By the completeness of HinqB (see Corollary 1.5.6), this yields $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. Now, because Γ is finite, we have $\Gamma = \{\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n\}$ for some formulas $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$. Thus, from $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$, it follows $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi_1 \rightarrow (\psi_2 \rightarrow \ldots (\psi_n \rightarrow \varphi) \ldots)$ by the deduction theorem for HinqB (see Theorem 1.5.4). One readily sees that this implies $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \land \Gamma \rightarrow \varphi$, where $\land \Gamma$ is the conjunction of the formulas in Γ . Hence, by Theorem 3.3.7, we may conclude that $\Rightarrow x : \land \Gamma \rightarrow \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqB, for any $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. Therefore, by the invertibility of the rules $R \rightarrow$ and $L \land$, the sequent $y \leq x, y : \Gamma \Rightarrow y : \varphi$ is also derivable, where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is fresh. But then, by performing the substitution (x/y) and a subsequent application of (rf), we obtain the desired derivation for $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in GLinqB. \Box

3.4 Towards a Proof Search Procedure for Inquisitive Logic

In the previous section, we have seen that GLinqB is sound and complete with respect to inquisitive logic, so a formula φ is provable in our system if and only if φ is valid in InqB. It would now be desirable to have an effective *proof search procedure* for our sequent calculus, i.e., an algorithm that, given any formula φ as input, either outputs a derivation for a sequent of the form $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$, or a finite countermodel for the formula φ . In this section, we want to take a first step towards such an algorithm. In particular, we will outline the overall structure of a possible proof search

¹⁸ Recall that we write \vdash_{H} for the provability relation of the Hilbert-style system HinqB (see Definition 1.5.3).

strategy for GLinqB and discuss some problems that have to be resolved in order to make sure that the procedure is terminating. The full specification of the desired algorithm and the corresponding termination proof will be left for future work. We start by defining some basic notions.

Definition 3.4.1 (Proof Search Tree, Branch). Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{B}}$ be a formula. A *proof search tree* for φ is a finite tree of sequents \mathfrak{T} , built up from a root node of the form $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ with $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, by root-first applications of the rules of our system.¹⁹ A *branch* in a proof search tree \mathfrak{T} is a sequence β of consecutive sequents in \mathfrak{T} , starting with the root node and ending with one of the leaf nodes of \mathfrak{T} .

A branch β in a proof search tree is said to be *closed*, if the topmost sequent in β is an instance of one of the axioms of our system. Otherwise, the brach is said to be *open*. And a proof search tree \mathfrak{T} is called closed, if every branch in \mathfrak{T} is closed, and it is called open otherwise. Recall that, by a *dynamic rule*, we mean a sequent rule that allows to introduce a fresh variable (i.e., an *eigenvariable*) in the course of a derivation. In the sequent calculus GLinqB, this includes the logical rules Rp, $R\perp$ and $R\rightarrow$. All other rules of our system are said to be *static rules* (see Section 3.1).

As explained above, we are interested in an algorithm that allows to find sequent proofs for formulas in a systematic and mechanical way. The basic idea is to use a 'bottom-up' search strategy in the style of Schütte (1956) and Takeuti (1987). That is, given any formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{B}$ as input, our algorithm should start to construct a proof search tree \mathfrak{T} for φ by successively applying all rules of our system root-first to the topmost sequents in the tree. If the input formula φ is valid, then the search tree \mathfrak{T} should become closed after a finite number of steps. In this case, our algorithm should output \mathfrak{T} , which is now a derivation for the root node $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$. Otherwise, the procedure should stop as soon as some open branch in \mathfrak{T} satisfies a suitable *saturation condition*. Intuitively, a branch β is said to be *saturated*, if the topmost sequent in β is not an instance of an axiom and β is closed under non-redundant applications of all rules of our sequent calculus. If a branch β in the search tree \mathfrak{T} becomes saturated at some stage of the construction, then our algorithm should be able to use this branch in order to construct a *finite countermodel* M_{β} and an interpretation function I_{β} such that $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(x) \not\models \varphi$, where φ stands for the input formula.

In order for this strategy to work, one has to design the search procedure and the saturation condition for branches in such a way that the algorithm is guaranteed to *terminate* on each input, so every branch in the proof search tree should in fact become either closed or saturated after a finite number of steps. In addition to that, a saturated branch should always allow us to 'read off' the desired countermodel for the input formula. Unfortunately, finding a suitable saturation condition for our sequent calculus turns out to be quite difficult. In order to get an idea of the difficulties, let us discuss some technical problems that may arise during the search process.

One problem is related to the complex syntax of the labels used in our proof system. In particular, by performing a root-first application of an order rule, we may introduce a new label in a branch which can then be used in order to introduce further labels and so on. This might cause our algorithm to get stuck in an infinite loop of order rule applications, producing increasingly more complex labels. For instance, using only the rule (un), we may create an infinite loop of the form

$$\frac{((x+y)+x)+y \leqslant z, (x+y)+x \leqslant z, x+y \leqslant z, x \leqslant z, y \leqslant z, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\frac{(x+y)+x \leqslant z, x+y \leqslant z, x \leqslant z, y \leqslant z, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\frac{x+y \leqslant z, x \leqslant z, y \leqslant z, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{x \leqslant z, y \leqslant z, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} (un)$$

From a semantic point of view, the repeated applications of (un) in this loop do not yield any new information, since the relational atoms $x + y \leq z$, $(x + y) + x \leq z$ and $((x + y) + x) + y \leq z$ all

¹⁹ By a *root-first application* of a rule, we mean that the rule is applied 'bottom-up', i.e., if one of the leaf nodes of \mathfrak{T} is an instance of the conclusion of the rule, then we write the corresponding premises of the rule above this leaf node.

have exactly the same 'meaning'.²⁰ In order to avoid loops of this kind, one has to find a suitable mechanism that prevents our algorithm from producing 'equivalent' relational atoms in a branch.

Luckily, this problem has an easy solution, since it is possible to show that every label of our system can be reduced to a suitable *normal form*. To make this more precise, let us introduce some terminology. First of all, we say that two labels π and σ are *equivalent*, notation $\pi \equiv \sigma$, if for every model M and for every interpretation I over M, it is the case that $I(\pi) = I(\sigma)$. In other words, π and σ are equivalent, if they denote exactly the same information state under every possible interpretation. By an *intersection of variables*, we mean any label of the form $s_1s_2\cdots s_n$, where each s_i is a variable, i.e., $s_i \in \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$. Given an intersection of variables $\pi = s_1 \cdots s_n$, we will also write $S(\pi)$ for the set of variables given by $S(\pi) := \{s_1, \ldots, s_n\}$. It is now possible to show that each label of our system can be transformed into an equivalent label of the form $\pi_1 + \ldots + \pi_n$, where each π_i is an intersection of variables. In order to make sure that this normal form is unique, we have to require that the intersections π_1, \ldots, π_n and the variables occurring in these intersections are ordered in a fixed way. To this end, we henceforth assume a *strict total order* < on the set of all labels $\Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$, i.e., an irreflexive, asymmetric, transitive and connected relation between labels.²¹ The notion of a normal form can now be defined as follows.

Definition 3.4.2 (Normal Form). A label π is said to be a *normal form*, if π is either of the form \emptyset , or it is of the form $\pi = \pi_1 + \ldots + \pi_n$ and each of the following three conditions is satisfied:

- (i) Each π_i is an intersection of variables $\pi_i = s_1 \cdots s_k$ such that $s_i < s_j$ for all $1 \le i < j \le k$.
- (ii) For all intersections π_i and π_j with $1 \le i < j \le n$, we have $\pi_i < \pi_j$.
- (iii) There are no intersections π_i and π_j with $i \neq j$ such that $S(\pi_i) \subseteq S(\pi_j)$.

Observe that, by the first two conditions, no variable can occur more than once in any of the intersections π_i and these intersections must always be pairwise distinct. The last condition ensures that normal forms do not contain any 'superfluous' intersections: if we would have $S(\pi_i) \subseteq S(\pi_j)$ for two distinct intersections π_i and π_j , then it would follow $I(\pi_j) \subseteq I(\pi_i)$ for every interpretation I, so the label π_j could also be removed from the union $\pi_1 + \ldots + \pi_n$ without changing the 'meaning' of the normal form. Using the concept of a normal form, it is now possible to avoid redundant applications of order rules during the search process. Let us make this idea more precise. First of all, given any branch β in a proof search tree, we write \mathfrak{S}_{β} for the set of all variables from \mathfrak{S} that occur in β , and we write \mathfrak{V}_{β} for the set of all variables from \mathfrak{V} that occur in β . Moreover, let Λ_{β}^{nf} be the set of all normal forms built up from the variables in $\mathfrak{S}_{\beta} \cup \mathfrak{V}_{\beta}$. Note that, since every branch in a search tree is finite, both of the sets \mathfrak{S}_{β} and \mathfrak{V}_{β} must be finite as well. Using this fact, it is easy to see that Λ_{β}^{nf} contains only finitely many normal forms.

Proposition 3.4.3. For every branch β in a proof search tree, Λ_{β}^{nf} is finite.

Proof. Let β be an arbitrary branch in a proof search tree, let $V_{\beta} := \mathfrak{S}_{\beta} \cup \mathfrak{V}_{\beta}$ be the set of all variables occurring in β and let $n := |V_{\beta}|$ be the cardinality of V_{β} . Clearly, every normal form $\pi_1 + \ldots + \pi_k$ from Λ_{β}^{nf} can be uniquely encoded by the set $\{S(\pi_1), \ldots, S(\pi_k)\}$, which is a subset of $\mathcal{P}(V_{\beta})$. Since there are exactly 2^{2^n} such subsets, Λ_{β}^{nf} can contain at most 2^{2^n} elements. \Box

In addition, we can now prove the desired normal form result for the labels of our system.

Proposition 3.4.4 (Existence of Normal Forms). For every label π , there exists a unique normal form σ with $\pi \equiv \sigma$. Moreover, there is an algorithm that computes this normal form, for any label π .

Proof. Let π be an arbitrary label. In order to compute the normal form of π , we may perform the following steps: first, we use the left-to-right direction of the equivalences $\sigma(\tau_1 + \tau_2) \equiv \sigma \tau_1 + \sigma \tau_2$ and $(\tau_1 + \tau_2)\sigma \equiv \tau_1\sigma + \tau_2\sigma$ in order to distribute all intersections in π over the unions in π .

²⁰ This follows immediately from the way in which labels are interpreted in a model (see Definition 3.3.1).

²¹ We do not care about the exact definition of this relation—all that matters is that such a relation *can* be defined.

After a finite number of steps, this must result in a label of the form $\pi_1 + \ldots + \pi_n$, where each π_i is an intersection built up from variables and the constant \emptyset . If each π_i contains an occurrence of \emptyset , then the desired normal form is taken to be \emptyset . Otherwise, we delete all intersections π_i that contain \emptyset and all intersections π_i for which there is another intersection π_j with $S(\pi_j) \subseteq S(\pi_i)$. Finally, we use the equivalences $\sigma \tau \equiv \tau \sigma$ and $\sigma + \tau \equiv \tau + \sigma$ in order to arrange the remaining intersections π_i and the variables occurring in these intersections in the right order. Clearly, each of the transformations preserves equivalence, so this finally yields a normal form σ with $\pi \equiv \sigma$.

In order to prove the *uniqueness* of normal forms, it suffices to show that distinct normal forms are always non-equivalent. To this end, let π and σ be arbitrary normal forms and suppose that $\pi \neq \sigma$. We have to show that it also holds $\pi \not\equiv \sigma$. If one of π and σ is of the form \emptyset , then the argument is trivial. Thus, assume that $\pi = \pi_1 + \ldots + \pi_n$ and $\sigma = \sigma_1 + \ldots + \sigma_k$, where each π_i and each σ_i is an intersection of variables. Moreover, let $\Pi := \{\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_n\}$ and $\Sigma := \{\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k\}$. By a distinguishing term for π and σ , we mean an intersection of variables τ which is contained in only one of the two sets Π and Σ , but not in the other one. Since we have $\pi \neq \sigma$ by assumption, there clearly exists at least one distinguishing term for π and σ . Let now τ be a *smallest* distinguishing term, i.e., suppose that there is no other distinguishing term $\tau' \neq \tau$ with $S(\tau') \subseteq S(\tau)$. Without loss of generality, suppose that $\tau \in \Pi$ and $\tau \notin \Sigma$, i.e., there exists some π_i with $\tau = \pi_i$ and it holds $\tau \neq \sigma_j$ for all $1 \leq j \leq k$. Towards a contradiction, suppose that there is a σ_j with $S(\sigma_j) \subseteq S(\pi_i)$. Then, by Definition 3.4.2 (iii), this σ_i cannot be contained in Π . Hence, σ_i is a distinguishing term that is smaller than $\tau = \pi_i$, in contradiction to our assumption about τ . Thus, for every j with $1 \leq j \leq k$, we have $S(\sigma_i) \not\subseteq S(\pi_i)$. Let now M be a model with two distinct worlds w and u and let I be the interpretation that assigns the singleton $\{w\}$ to all variables in $S(\tau)$, and the singleton $\{u\}$ to every other variable. Then, clearly, we have $I(\tau) = I(\pi_i) = \{w\}$, so it follows $w \in I(\pi)$. However, since $S(\sigma_i) \not\subseteq S(\tau)$ for all $1 \leq j \leq k$, we must have $w \notin I(\sigma_j)$ for each $\sigma_j \in \Sigma$, which implies $w \notin I(\sigma)$. Now, from $w \in I(\pi)$ and $w \notin I(\sigma)$, we may conclude $\pi \not\equiv \sigma$.

In what follows, we will also write $nf(\pi)$ for the unique normal form of a label π . Using our normal form result, it is now possible to circumvent the aforementioned problem in a very elegant way. The basic idea is as follows: first, we can define a variant $GLinqB^{nf}$ of the proof system GLinqB by reformulating all order rules in such a way that the new labels introduced by these rules are always required to be in normal form. So, for example, the old formulation of the rule (un) presented in Figure 3.1 would be replaced by the following reformulated version:

$$\frac{\mathsf{nf}(\pi+\tau) \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (un)}$$

In the modified sequent calculus GLinqB^{nf}, we can now use a suitable loop-checking mechanism in order to avoid redundant applications of order rules during the construction of a proof search tree. For instance, before performing a root-first application of the rule (un) in a branch β , we first check whether the resulting atom nf($\pi + \tau$) $\leq \sigma$ does already occur in the topmost sequent of β . If this is the case, then the application is taken to be redundant and we refrain from applying the rule. Otherwise, the application is carried out in the usual way. Note that, in the system GLinqB^{nf}, all new labels introduced by order rule applications in a branch β are taken from the finite set Λ_{β}^{nf} , so there are only finitely many order rule applications to be performed at each step.²² This avoids the problem of infinite loops constructed from redundant applications of order rules.

However, there is also a more severe problem that has not been fully resolved yet. This problem arises from the interaction between the dynamic rules and the rule $L \rightarrow$ and might cause our algorithm to generate infinitely many new variables in the course of the search process. For

²² Strictly speaking, this also requires to impose a suitable restriction on those order rules that do not have any principal atoms in the conclusion of the rule. However, such a restriction is unproblematic. The details are left to the reader.
example, using alternating applications of the rules $R \rightarrow$ and $L \rightarrow$, our procedure might create an infinite loop of the following form (in applications of $L \rightarrow$, only the left premise is displayed):

$$\frac{z \leqslant x, z \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi, y: \varphi, z: \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi, y: \bot, z: \bot, z: \neg \varphi}{z \leqslant x, z \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi, y: \varphi, z: \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi, y: \bot, z: \bot} (\mathsf{tr}) L \Rightarrow \frac{z \leqslant x, y \leqslant x, x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi, y: \varphi, z: \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi, y: \bot, z: \bot}{y \leqslant x, x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi, y: \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi, y: \bot, z: \bot} R \Rightarrow \frac{y \leqslant x, x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi, y: \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi, y: \bot}{\frac{y \leqslant x, x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi, y: \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi, y: \bot}{x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi} L \Rightarrow \frac{x \leqslant x, x: \neg \neg \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi}{x: \neg \neg \varphi \Rightarrow x: \varphi} (\mathsf{rf})$$

As can be seen, each application of $L \rightarrow$ in this loop introduces an occurrence of the formula $\neg \varphi$ in the succedent of the corresponding premise. This formula is then used in an application of $R \rightarrow$ in order to introduce a fresh variable, giving rise to another application of $L \rightarrow$, and so on. Similar loops can also be constructed by using the dynamic rules Rp or $R \perp$ instead of $R \rightarrow$.

In order to resolve this problem, one would have to define a suitable saturation condition that tells our algorithm to refrain from applying a dynamic rule as soon as an 'essentially identical' application of the rule already occurs in the branch. For example, in the loop given above, the variable z does not yield any new information, since everything which can be obtained from the formulas labelled with z can also be obtained from the formulas labelled with y. The desired saturation condition should be able to detect this kind of redundancy in a search tree and should block the application of dynamic rules at an appropriate stage of the construction. For an intuitionistic labelled sequent calculus, such a saturation condition has been formulated by Negri (2014, pp. 39–41). Unfortunately, this condition cannot be easily adapted to our labelled sequent calculus for lnqB. The main problem lies in the complex syntax of the labels used in our system, which makes it much more difficult to detect loops of the type mentioned above and to construct the desired countermodel in an adequate way. A detailed solution to this problem is left for future work.

Intuitionistic Inquisitive Logic

Recall that, in the basic inquisitive system InqB, the underlying background logic for declarative sentences was assumed to be *classical*: every truth-conditional formula of InqB behaves in essentially the same way as a formula of classical propositional logic. We will now turn to a variant of inquisitive logic in which the logic of statements is no longer classical logic, but intuitionistic logic. This system, denoted by InqI and referred to as *intuitionistic inquisitive logic*, was introduced by Ciardelli et al. (2020). Roughly speaking, InqI may be regarded as the result of adding the question-forming operator \mathbb{V} to the basic system of intuitionistic propositional logic. In this chapter, we will present a cut-free labelled sequent calculus for InqI, investigate the structural properties of our proof system and establish its completeness in a proof-theoretical way.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 4.1, we will first provide a formal exposition of intuitionistic inquisitive logic. The language of Inql is obtained by enriching the language of basic inquisitive logic with a new primitive connective V, representing the non-inquisitive disjunction operator of the system. The formulas of Inql are evaluated with respect to ordinary intuitionistic Kripke models and the new connective \vee is interpreted in the same way as the so-called *tensor* disjunction adopted in dependence logic (see, e.g., Väänänen 2007; Yang and Väänänen 2016). In Section 4.2, we will present a completeness result by Ciardelli et al. (2020) and define a sound and complete Hilbert-style system for intuitionistic inquisitive logic. Afterwards, in Section 4.3, we will turn to the description of our labelled sequent calculus for Ingl. Our system will be denoted by GLingI and can be seen as a careful modification of the sequent calculus GLingB considered in the previous chapter. In fact, apart from a few minor changes, most of the rules of GLingB can be easily transferred to the system GLingI. In addition to that, GLingI also includes a number of new rules, reflecting the semantics of the tensor disjunction \lor and the properties of the accessibility relation of an intuitionistic Kripke model. In Section 4.4, we will explore the structural properties of our system. We will see that GLingI enjoys cut-admissibility, height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction and height-preserving invertibility of all rules. In Section 4.5, finally, we will prove the soundness and completeness of our system. As before, the completeness will be established proof-theoretically, by exploiting the admissibility of the cut rule in GLingI.

4.1 An Intuitionistic Variant of Inquisitive Logic

Let us first give a brief introduction to the system of intuitionistic inquisitive logic, henceforth referred to as Inql. A much more comprehensive exposition of the material is provided by Ciardelli et al. (2020). As explained above, Inql differs from the standard system of inquisitive logic in terms of the underlying background logic for declarative sentences: in InqB, the background logic was taken to be *classical logic*, whereas in Inql, it is assumed to be *intuitionistic logic*. At the

syntactic level, this means that, in InqI, the non-inquisitive disjunction operator \lor can no longer be viewed as a defined connective (as it was done in InqB), but has to be added to the language as a primitive operator. To make things precise, we assume again a countably infinite set P of atomic propositions, denoted by the meta-variables p, q, r, etc. The formulas of InqI are now built up from the atoms in P by means of the usual connectives of InqB and the new disjunction operator \lor .

Definition 4.1.1 (Language of Inql). The language of Inql is denoted by \mathcal{L}^{l} and consists of all formulas generated by the following grammar, where *p* ranges over atomic propositions from P:

$$\varphi ::= p \mid \bot \mid \varphi \land \varphi \mid \varphi \to \varphi \mid \varphi \lor \varphi \mid \varphi \lor \varphi.$$

The negation operator and the question mark operator are again treated as abbreviations, by putting $\neg \varphi := \varphi \rightarrow \bot$ and $?\varphi := \varphi \lor \neg \varphi$. Moreover, we will refer to \lor as the *inquisitive disjunction* and to \lor as the *standard disjunction* of Inql. As in the classical setting, the operator \lor is used in order to form interrogative sentences within the language of our system, so $\varphi \lor \psi$ represents the alternative question whether φ or ψ . Conversely, any formula not containing \lor is intended to represent a purely declarative sentence. In Inql, the underlying background logic for declarative sentences is no longer classical logic, but intuitionistic logic. For this reason, \lor -free formulas are now referred to as *standard formulas*, rather than classical formulas.

Definition 4.1.2 (Standard Formula). A formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ is said to be a *standard formula*, if φ contains no occurrences of \mathbb{V} . The set of all standard formulas is denoted by $\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathsf{I}}$.

Throughout this chapter, standard formulas will be denoted by the meta-variables α , β , γ , etc., whereas φ , ψ , χ , etc., will be used for arbitrary formulas of Inql. The formulas of our system are evaluated with respect to ordinary intuitionistic Kripke models. As usual, any such model consists of a set of possible worlds W, a reflexive and transitive accessibility relation R between these worlds, and a valuation function V satisfying the well-known persistency requirement.

Definition 4.1.3. An *intuitionistic Kripke model* is defined to be a triple $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$, where (i) W is a set whose elements are referred to as *possible worlds*,

- (i) *W* is a set whose elements are referred to as *possible workas*,
- (ii) $R \subseteq W \times W$ is a *preorder*, i.e., a reflexive and transitive relation on W,¹
- (iii) $V : W \times P \rightarrow \{0, 1\}$ is a valuation function satisfying the *persistency condition*: for all worlds $w, u \in W$ and for all atoms $p \in P$, if V(w, p) = 1 and wRu, then also V(u, p) = 1.

Intuitively, every world in an intuitionistic Kripke model may be regarded as an incomplete state of affairs, determining certain aspects of reality and being indeterminate with respect to certain other aspects. In line with this, wRu can be interpreted as saying that u is a *refinement* of w, in the sense that everything which is determined at w is also determined at u (but not necessarily the other way around). This is also reflected by the persistency condition: if a proposition p is determinately true at some world w, then it must stay so at every refinement of w.²

Let us introduce some terminology. Given an intuitionistic Kripke model $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ and arbitrary worlds $w, u \in W$, we will say that u is a *successor* of w in M, just in case we have wRu. The *upset of a world* $w \in W$ in M is denoted by R(w) and defined to be the set of all successors of w, so we put $R(w) := \{u \in W \mid wRu\}$. As usual, a set of worlds $s \subseteq W$ is also referred to as an *information state* over M. And the *upset of a state* $s \subseteq W$, notation R(s), is the

¹ Strictly speaking, Ciardelli et al. (2020) also require R to be *antisymmetric* (and thus a *partial order*). However, it is easy to see that this additional requirement does not affect the set of formulas valid with respect to the support semantics given below, so the two notions of an intuitionistic Kripke model give rise to essentially the same semantics.

² It is well known that there is also another natural interpretation of the components of an intuitionistic Kripke model. According to this interpretation, the worlds of a model are viewed as points in time and the accessibility relation describes the temporal order of these points. If an atom p has the value 1 at some world w, then this means that p has been proved at w. And if p has value 0 at w, then this means that p has not yet been proved at w (cf. Kripke 1965).

set of all successors of the elements of s, so we define $R(s) := \bigcup_{w \in s} R(w)$. Note that, as before, every state can be thought of as representing a certain body of information, because it locates the actual world within a particular region of the logical space.³ However, contrary to the classical setting, there are now *two* ways in which a state s may be strengthened: on the one hand, s may become more informative by eliminating some worlds from s, thus reducing the number of possible candidates for the actual world. On the other hand, s may also become more informative by replacing some of the worlds in s by other worlds that are more *refined* with respect to the preorder R. Hence, it is natural to define the notion of an enhancement in the following way.

Definition 4.1.4 (Enhancement). Let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be an intuitionistic Kripke model and let $s, t \subseteq W$ be states. We say that s is an *enhancement* of t in M, just in case $s \subseteq R(t)$.

As shown by the following proposition, one can also describe the reflexivity and transitivity of an accessibility relation in terms of *states*, rather than *worlds*. This will be useful later on, when we will translate the properties of an accessibility relation into corresponding sequent rules.

Proposition 4.1.5. Let W be a set of worlds and let $R \subseteq W \times W$ be a binary relation on W.

- (i) R is reflexive if and only if, for every state $s \subseteq W$, it holds $s \subseteq R(s)$.
- (ii) R is transitive if and only if, for all states $s, t \subseteq W$, if $s \subseteq R(t)$, then $R(s) \subseteq R(t)$.

Proof. We only prove part (ii), the other part is trivial. For the left-to-right direction, suppose that R is transitive. Moreover, let $s, t \subseteq W$ be arbitrary states and assume that $s \subseteq R(t)$. We need to show that it holds $R(s) \subseteq R(t)$. To this end, let $u \in R(s)$ be an arbitrary world. Then, by definition of R(s), there exists some world $v \in s$ such that vRu. Since $v \in s$ and $s \subseteq R(t)$, we also have $v \in R(t)$, so there must also be a world $w \in t$ with wRv. Now, from wRv and vRu, we may conclude wRu by the transitivity of R. But then, because $w \in t$, it follows $u \in R(t)$. Since u was an arbitrary world with $u \in R(s)$, this shows that $R(s) \subseteq R(t)$, as desired.

For the right-to-left direction, suppose that, for all states $s, t \subseteq W$, it is the case that, if $s \subseteq R(t)$, then $R(s) \subseteq R(t)$. Let $u, v, w \in W$ be arbitrary worlds and assume that it holds uRv and vRw. We have to show that uRw. For this purpose, let $s, t \subseteq W$ be the singleton states given by $s := \{v\}$ and $t := \{u\}$. Then, clearly, since uRv, we have $s \subseteq R(t)$, so it follows $R(s) \subseteq R(t)$ by assumption. On the other hand, from vRw, we may also conclude $w \in R(s)$. Together with $R(s) \subseteq R(t)$, this implies $w \in R(t)$. But then, because $t = \{u\}$, we also have uRw.

We can now give an inductive definition of the support conditions for all formulas of Inql.

Definition 4.1.6 (Support Semantics for Inql). Let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be an intuitionistic Kripke model. The support relation \models between states and formulas is inductively defined as follows: (i) $M, s \models p$: $\Leftrightarrow V(w, p) = 1$ for all $w \in s$,

(i)
$$M, s \models \bot :\Leftrightarrow s = \emptyset$$
,

(iii) $M, s \models \varphi \land \psi :\Leftrightarrow M, s \models \varphi \text{ and } M, s \models \psi$,

(iv) $M, s \models \varphi \rightarrow \psi$: \Leftrightarrow for all $t \subseteq R(s)$, if $M, t \models \varphi$, then $M, t \models \psi$,

(v) $M, s \models \varphi \lor \psi :\Leftrightarrow M, s \models \varphi \text{ or } M, s \models \psi$,

(vi)
$$M, s \models \varphi \lor \psi$$
 : \Leftrightarrow there are $t_1, t_2 \subseteq W$ such that $s = t_1 \cup t_2, M, t_1 \models \varphi$ and $M, t_2 \models \psi$.

If $M, s \models \varphi$ holds, then we say that φ is *supported* by the state s in M. Note that, for atomic formulas and for the logical symbols \bot , \land and \lor , the support clauses are exactly the same as in the basic system InqB (see Definition 1.2.6). The support clause for implication, on the other hand, has now been reformulated in order to account for the different notion of an enhancement in intuitionistic inquisitive logic: whereas in InqB, we only had to consider subsets $t \subseteq s$, we

³ More precisely, a state $s \subseteq W$ conveys the information that the actual world corresponds to one of the states of affairs in *s* and that all states of affairs not contained in *s* are ruled out as possible candidates for the actual world.

now have to consider subsets $t \subseteq R(s)$. A genuinely new component is the support clause for the standard disjunction \lor , which reads as follows: a formula $\varphi \lor \psi$ is supported by a state s, just in case it is possible to divide the worlds in s into two substates t_1 and t_2 such that φ is supported by t_1 and ψ is supported by t_2 . This corresponds to the semantics of the so-called *tensor disjunction* adopted in dependence logic, which in turn resembles the semantics of tensor in linear logic (cf. Väänänen 2007; Yang 2014; Yang and Väänänen 2016; Ciardelli 2016a).

As in the classical setting, entailment in Inql is simply defined as preservation of support. That is, given any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{l}}$, we will write $\Gamma \models \varphi$ and say that φ is *entailed* by Γ , if for every intuitionistic Kripke model M and for every state s over M, it is the case that $M, s \models \Gamma$ implies $M, s \models \varphi$ (where, as usual, $M, s \models \Gamma$ is used as an abbreviation for ' $M, s \models \psi$ for all $\psi \in \Gamma$ '). We will say that two formulas $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{l}}$ are *equivalent*, notation $\varphi \equiv \psi$, if these formulas mutually entail each other, i.e., if we have both $\varphi \models \psi$ and $\psi \models \varphi$. And a formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{l}}$ is said to be *valid* in Inql, if it is supported by every state over every model, i.e., if for every intuitionistic Kripke model M and for each state s, we have $M, s \models \varphi$ (cf. Ciardelli et al. 2020).

We now want to point out some interesting properties of Inql. First of all, it is easy to show that support in Inql is again *persistent*: if a formula φ is supported by a state *s*, then it is also supported by every enhancement of this state. Importantly, this now also holds for the refined notion of an enhancement given by Definition 4.1.4. In addition, we also have the usual *empty state property*, familiar from the basic system: in Inql, every formula is supported by the inconsistent state \emptyset .

Proposition 4.1.7. Let M be an intuitionistic Kripke model, let s and t be states and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{l}}$.

(i) Persistency: if $M, s \models \varphi$ and $t \subseteq R(s)$, then $M, t \models \varphi$.

(ii) Empty state property: $M, \emptyset \models \varphi$.

As before, both statements are proved by induction on φ . The notion of truth at a possible world is defined in exactly the same way as in the classical setting (see Definition 1.2.8). That is, given any formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^1$ and a world w in a model M, we will write $M, w \models \varphi$ and say that φ is *true* at w in M, just in case φ is supported by the singleton state $\{w\}$. Moreover, a formula φ is said to be *truth-conditional*, if for every model M and for every state s over M, we have $M, s \models \varphi$ if and only if $M, w \models \varphi$ for all worlds $w \in s$. In other words, a formula is truth-conditional, if its support conditions are completely determined by its truth conditions, in the sense that support at a state simply comes down to truth at every world in the state. As usual in inquisitive logic, truth-conditionality is again taken to be the fundamental semantic difference between declarative and interrogative sentences: a formula φ represents an assertion, if it is truth-conditional, and it represents a question otherwise. As anticipated above, it is now possible to show that standard formulas are always truth-conditional and therefore purely declarative in Inql.

Proposition 4.1.8. Every standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^1$ is truth-conditional.⁴

Proof. By induction on the structure of α . Most cases are treated in essentially the same way as in the classical setting (see the proof of Proposition 1.3.3). Thus, we only need to consider the case in which α is of the form $\alpha = \beta \lor \gamma$ for some $\beta, \gamma \in \mathcal{L}_s^l$. Let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be an arbitrary intuitionistic Kripke model and let s be an arbitrary state. We have to show that $M, s \models \beta \lor \gamma$ if and only if $M, w \models \beta \lor \gamma$ for all $w \in s$. The left-to-right direction follows directly from the persistency of support and from the fact that, for all $w \in s$, we have $\{w\} \subseteq R(s)$ by the reflexivity of R. For the right-to-left direction, suppose that we have $M, w \models \beta \lor \gamma$ for all $w \in s$. Using the semantics of \lor , one readily sees that this yields $M, w \models \beta$ or $M, w \models \gamma$ for all $w \in s$. Let now $t_1, t_2 \subseteq s$ be given by $t_1 := \{w \in s \mid M, w \models \beta\}$ and $t_2 := s \setminus t_1$. Then, clearly, we must have $M, w \models \beta$ for

⁴ As in our treatment of InqB, it is actually possible to extend this proposition to the class of those formulas in which *W* occurs only in the antecedent of an implication (one might refer to such a formula as an 'extended Harrop formula'). However, for our purposes, it is sufficient to prove the truth-conditionality of standard formulas only.

all $w \in t_1$, and $M, u \models \gamma$ for all $u \in t_2$. Therefore, by induction hypothesis, it follows $M, t_1 \models \beta$ and $M, t_2 \models \gamma$. Since $s = t_1 \cup t_2$, this implies $M, s \models \beta \lor \gamma$ by the semantics of \lor . \Box

Using this result, one can now also prove that, for standard formulas, the truth conditions determined by the support semantics of Inql are simply the familiar ones from intuitionistic logic.

Proposition 4.1.9 (Truth Conditions for Standard Formulas). Let M be an intuitionistic Kripke model, let w be a world in M and let $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{I}}$ be standard formulas. We have:

(i) $M, w \models p \iff V(w, p) = 1$, (ii) $M, w \not\models \bot$, (iii) $M, w \models \alpha \land \beta \iff M, w \models \alpha \text{ and } M, w \models \beta$, (iv) $M, w \models \alpha \rightarrow \beta \iff \text{for all } u \in R(w), \text{ if } M, u \models \alpha, \text{ then } M, u \models \beta$,

 $(\mathbf{v}) \ M, w \models \alpha \lor \beta \ \Leftrightarrow \ M, w \models \alpha \text{ or } M, w \models \beta.$

Proof. We only prove part (iv), the other parts are trivial. For the left-to-right direction, suppose that $M, w \models \alpha \rightarrow \beta$. Let $u \in R(w)$ be arbitrary such that $M, u \models \alpha$. Then, since $\{u\} \subseteq R(w)$ is an enhancement of $\{w\}$, it follows $M, u \models \beta$ by assumption. For the right-to-left direction, suppose that, for all worlds $u \in R(w)$, it is the case that $M, u \models \alpha$ implies $M, u \models \beta$. Let $s \subseteq R(w)$ be an arbitrary enhancement of $\{w\}$ such that $M, s \models \alpha$. Then, by Proposition 4.1.8, we must have $M, u \models \alpha$ for all $u \in s$. Using the assumption and the fact that $s \subseteq R(w)$, this yields $M, u \models \beta$ for all $u \in s$. But then, by Proposition 4.1.8, we may conclude $M, s \models \beta$. Since $s \subseteq R(w)$ was an arbitrary enhancement with $M, s \models \alpha$, this shows that $M, w \models \alpha \rightarrow \beta$, as desired.

Thus, putting things together, it follows that standard formulas do indeed behave 'intuitionistically' in Inql: they are always truth-conditional, so their support conditions are completely determined by their truth conditions; and these truth conditions are simply the ordinary ones from intuitionistic Kripke semantics. In other words, a standard formula α is supported by an information state *s* if and only if α is intuitionistically true at every world in *s*. Using this fact, it is easy to show that Inql is a *conservative extension* of intuitionistic logic: if we restrict ourselves to standard formulas, then entailment in Inql simply amounts to intuitionistic entailment.

Proposition 4.1.10 (Conservativity over Intuitionistic Logic). Let $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^l$ be a set of standard formulas. We have $\Gamma \models \alpha$ if and only if α is entailed by Γ in intuitionistic propositional logic.

Hence, with respect to standard formulas, Inql has exactly the same expressive power as ordinary intuitionistic logic. One might now ask whether this can be generalized to all truthconditional formulas of Inql. In other words, does the presence of questions in the language allow us to express new truth-conditional meanings, going beyond the expressivity of intuitionistic logic? As shown by Ciardelli et al. (2020, p. 101), the answer is negative: for every truthconditional formula of Inql, there exists an equivalent standard formula. Consequently, standard formulas are in fact representative of all truth-conditional meanings expressible in Inql.

Proposition 4.1.11. A formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ is truth-conditional if and only if there exists a standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}_{s}$ such that $\varphi \equiv \alpha$.

Finally, one can show that the inquisitive disjunction still validates the usual split property and the split equivalence familiar from our treatment of InqB (see Propositions 1.4.1 and 1.4.2).

Proposition 4.1.12 (Split Property, Split Equivalence). Let $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be a set of truth-conditional formulas, let $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be a truth-conditional formula and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be arbitrary formulas.

(i) Split property: $\Gamma \models \varphi \lor \psi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$ or $\Gamma \models \psi$.

(ii) Split equivalence: $\alpha \to (\varphi \lor \psi) \equiv (\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi)$.



Figure 4.1: Special rules of the natural deduction system Ninql described by Ciardelli et al. (2020). In the rules $\forall E$ and (split), we require α to be a standard formula, i.e., $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{I}}$.

4.2 Standard Axiomatizations of Inql

In their paper, Ciardelli et al. (2020) provide a sound and complete natural deduction system for Inql. Their proof system, henceforth denoted by Ninql, consists of the usual rules of the 'intuitionistic' base calculus given in Figure 1.3, and the special rules for the new connective \vee depicted in Figure 4.1. Let us give a brief explanation of the special rules of this system. First of all, the rules $\forall I$ and $\forall E$ are very similar to the ordinary rules for disjunction in classical and intuitionistic logic. However, in the elimination rule $\forall E$, the conclusion α is now required to be a *standard formula*. This restriction is necessary in order to make sure that Ningl is sound with respect to Inql. In particular, an unrestricted elimination rule for \lor would allow us to derive standard formulas that are not intuitionistically valid, in contradiction to Proposition 4.1.10.⁵ Due to the restriction on the elimination rule for \lor , it is now necessary to include additional rules, accounting for those properties of \lor that are not derivable in terms of $\lor I$ and $\lor E$. The rule (com) accounts for the commutativity of \lor , and (dis) accounts for the fact that standard disjunctions distribute over inquisitive disjunctions. The rule (ex), finally, allows to replace each disjunct in a standard disjunction by some other formula derivable from the disjunct. In addition to the special rules for \lor , the system also includes the usual split rule (split) familiar from the standard natural deduction system for IngB. The double negation rule (dne), however, is now excluded from the system: as before, this is necessary in order to make sure that Ningl is sound with respect to Ingl.

Definition 4.2.1 (The System Ninql). We define Ninql to be the natural deduction system comprising each of the rules presented in Figure 1.3, together with the special rules from Figure 4.1.

In what follows, we will write \vdash_N for the provability relation of Ninql. The soundness of the system is established by an easy induction on the structure of a derivation in Ninql. In order to prove the completeness of Ninql, one can first generalize the definition of resolutions and the normal form result for InqB (see Definition 1.4.3 and Proposition 1.4.4) to the extended language of Inql. The completeness of Ninql is then established in very much the same way as in the classical setting (see Theorem 1.5.2). For further details, we refer to Ciardelli et al. (2020, pp. 102–103).

Theorem 4.2.2 (Soundness and Completeness). The system Ninql is sound and complete with respect to Inql. That is, for every $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$.

For our purposes, it will be more convenient to have a Hilbert-style system for InqI, rather than a natural deduction system. As in the case of InqB, such a Hilbert-style system can be easily obtained by converting each of the natural deduction rules of NinqI into corresponding axiom

⁵ A concrete example is the Kreisel-Putnam axiom $(\neg p \rightarrow (q \lor r)) \rightarrow ((\neg p \rightarrow q) \lor (\neg p \rightarrow r))$, which is known to be invalid in intuitionistic logic. By dropping the restriction on $\lor E$, this formula would become provable in Ninql.

Axioms:			
(IPL)	All axioms of the 'intuitionistic' system given in Figure 1.5,		
(Intro)	$\varphi \to (\varphi \lor \psi) \text{ and } \psi \to (\varphi \lor \psi),$		
(Elim)	$(\varphi \to \alpha) \to ((\psi \to \alpha) \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \to \alpha))$, where α is a standard formula,		
(Com)	$(\varphi \lor \psi) \to (\psi \lor \varphi),$		
(Dis)	$(\varphi \lor (\psi \lor \chi)) \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \lor (\varphi \lor \chi)),$		
(Ex)	$(\varphi \to \varphi') \to ((\psi \to \psi') \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \to (\varphi' \lor \psi'))),$		
(Split)	$(\alpha \to (\varphi \lor \psi)) \to ((\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi))$, where α is a standard formula.		
The only rule of inference is <i>modus ponens</i> : from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$.			

Figure 4.2: The Hilbert-style system Hinql.

schemes. The resulting proof system, henceforth referred to as Hinql, is presented in Figure 4.2. The provability relation of the system Hinql is denoted by \vdash_{H} and inductively defined in the usual way. That is, given any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$, we will write $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ and say that φ is *provable* from Γ in Hinql, if φ is either an element of Γ , or φ is an axiom of Hinql, or there exists some formula $\psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ such that we have both $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ and $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi \to \varphi$ (in the last case, we also say that $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ is obtained from $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ and $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi \to \varphi$ by an application of modus ponens). Using induction on the definition of $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$, it is again easy to show that the provability relation \vdash_{H} is *monotonic*: if we have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ and $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta$, then also $\Delta \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. In order to establish the soundness and completeness of our Hilbert-style system, we will now prove that Hinql is equivalent to the natural deduction system Ninql, in the sense that everything provable in Ninql is also provable in Hinql and vice versa. To this end, one first has to establish the *deduction theorem* for Hinql.

Theorem 4.2.3 (Deduction Theorem). In Hingl, we have $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ if and only if $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$.

The proof works in exactly the same way as in the classical setting (see Theorem 1.5.4). That is, the left-to-right direction is established by a straightforward induction on the definition of $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$. For the right-to-left direction, one uses the fact that, from $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$, it follows $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$ by the monotonicity of \vdash_{H} . Together with $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$, this yields $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ by an application of modus ponens. Using the deduction theorem, it is now easy to show that our Hilbert-style system is in fact equivalent to the natural deduction system provided by Ciardelli et al. (2020). The soundness and completeness of Hinql then follows as an immediate corollary.

Theorem 4.2.4. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be a set of formulas. We have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ in the Hilbert-style system Hinql if and only if $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ holds in the natural deduction system Ninql.

Proof. The left-to-right direction is proved by induction on the definition of $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. This is straightforward, since all axioms of HinqI are obviously derivable in NinqI and modus ponens corresponds to $\rightarrow E$. For the right-to-left direction, one proceeds by induction on a natural deduction proof for $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$. This is also not difficult, since most of the natural deduction rules correspond directly to some axiom of HinqI and the discharging of hypotheses can be 'simulated' using the deduction theorem for HinqI. For further details, see the proof of Theorem 1.5.5.

Corollary 4.2.5 (Soundness and Completeness). The system Hinql is sound and complete with respect to Inql. That is, for every $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models \varphi$.

Proof. The statement follows immediately from Theorem 4.2.2 and Theorem 4.2.4.

4.3 The Sequent Calculus GLinql

We are now ready to introduce our labelled sequent calculus for Inql. Our proof system will be denoted by GLinql and can be seen as a slight modification of the labelled sequent calculus GLinqB described in Section 3.1. As before, we will assume two countably infinite sets of *state variables*, denoted by \mathfrak{S} and \mathfrak{V} , respectively. The variables in \mathfrak{S} are used for *singleton states* and the variables in \mathfrak{V} are used for *arbitrarily large* information states. In order to avoid confusion, we will again use the meta-variables u, v, w, etc., for variables from \mathfrak{S} , and the meta-variables x, y, z, etc., for variables from \mathfrak{V} . The *labels* of our system are now defined in the following way.

Definition 4.3.1 (Labels). The set of *labels* is denoted by $\Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ and consists of all expressions generated by the following grammar, where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ are arbitrary state variables:

$$\pi ::= w \mid x \mid \emptyset \mid \pi \cdot \pi \mid \pi + \pi \mid R(\pi).$$

As in our labelled sequent calculus for InqB, labels will be denoted by the meta-variables π , σ , τ , etc. Intuitively, every label can be seen as a description of an information state. So, in particular, $\pi \cdot \sigma$ stands for the *intersection* and $\pi + \sigma$ stands for the *union* of the states represented by π and σ . A label of the form $R(\pi)$, on the other hand, is intended to denote the *upset* of the state described by π , i.e., the set of all successors of the worlds in π (see Section 4.1). Following the convention adopted in the previous chapter, we will also write $\pi\sigma$ as a shorthand for $\pi \cdot \sigma$.

Let us recall some terminology. By a *relational atom*, we will mean an expression of the form $\pi \leq \sigma$, where $\pi, \sigma \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ are arbitrary labels. A *labelled formula*, on the other hand, is defined to be an expression of the form $\pi : \varphi$, where $\pi \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ is a label and $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ is a formula. Relational atoms and labelled formulas are interpreted in the usual way. That is, $\pi \leq \sigma$ stands for the statement ' π is a subset of σ ' and $\pi : \varphi$ stands for the statement ' φ is supported by π '. By a *sequent*, we will mean any expression of the form $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, where Γ is a finite multiset containing labelled formulas and relational atoms, and Δ is a finite multiset containing only labelled formulas (but no relational atoms). The intended meaning of a sequent is the same as in our treatment of InqB. Thus, intuitively, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is considered to be 'valid', if it is the case that, whenever all expressions in Γ are 'satisfied', then at least one of the expressions in Δ is 'satisfied'. Given any sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, we will also call Γ the *antecedent* and Δ the *succedent* of the sequent.

Our labelled sequent calculus for Inql is presented in Figure 4.3. As can be seen, most of the rules of our system are very similar to the corresponding rules of the sequent calculus GLingB discussed in the previous chapter. However, there are also some important differences. First of all, in the rules Lp and Rp, each of the relational atoms $w \leq \pi$ is now replaced by a relational atom of the form $w \leq R(\pi)$. This change has been made in order to account for the 'internal' persistency associated with the preorder R of a Kripke model (as opposed to the 'external' persistency of the support relation of InqI). That is, an atomic formula p is supported by a state π if and only if p is true at every world in the upset $R(\pi)$ of this state. A similar modification has also been adopted for the rules $L \perp$ and $R \perp$. The rules for implication have been slightly reformulated in order to accommodate the refined notion of an *enhancement* in intuitionistic inquisitive logic: whereas in InqB, an enhancement of a state s was simply defined to be a subset $t \subseteq s$, it is now defined to be a subset $t \subseteq R(s)$ (see Definition 4.1.4). In addition to that, our sequent calculus now also includes the new rules $L \lor$ and $R \lor$, which mirror the support conditions for standard disjunctions: a formula $\varphi \lor \psi$ is supported by a state π , just in case π can be divided into two subsets such that the first subset supports φ and the second subset supports ψ . Note that, in applications of $L \lor$, we require x and y to be fresh variables not occurring in the conclusion of the rule.

The order rules of our system are now divided into two groups, referred to as *internal order rules* and *external order rules*, respectively. The internal order rules are used in order to formalize

$$\begin{array}{l} \frac{\pi \leqslant \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{tr}) & \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi \sigma + \pi \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{dis}) \\ \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{in}) & \frac{\pi + \tau \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{un}) \\ \frac{\pi \sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{il}) & \frac{\sigma \pi \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{ir}) & \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{ul}) \\ \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{ur}) & \frac{\pi \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{sg}) \\ \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{rf}) & \frac{w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\mathrm{cd}) \end{array}$$

Figure 4.3: The system GLinql. As usual, w ranges over variables from \mathfrak{S} , x and y range over variables from \mathfrak{V} , and π , σ , τ , etc., stand for arbitrary labels. In the rules Rp and $R \perp$, w must be a fresh variable and π must be a non-singleton label, i.e., $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. Similarly, in $R \rightarrow$, x must be fresh. In applications of $L \lor$, we require x and y to be fresh and distinct from each other.

Am

the model-internal properties of the preorder R of an intuitionistic Kripke model. In particular, the rules (r-rf) and (r-tr) account for the state-based characterization of *reflexivity* and *transitivity* provided in Proposition 4.1.5. And the order rules (r-emp) and (r-dis) reflect the observation that we have $R(\emptyset) = \emptyset$ and $R(\pi \cup \sigma) = R(\pi) \cup R(\sigma)$, for all states π and σ .⁶ The external order rules, finally, are simply the usual order rules familiar from our labelled sequent calculus for InqB.

Definition 4.3.2 (The System GLinql). We define GLinql to be the sequent calculus depicted in Figure 4.3. A sequent is *derivable* in GLinql, if there exists a proof tree ending with this sequent in GLinql. Given any finite subset $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{l}}$, we say that φ is *provable* from Γ in GLinql, if for some (or, in fact, any) variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinql.⁷

In order to make sure that contraction on relational atoms is admissible in our system, we will again assume the *closure condition* discussed in the previous chapter: if an instance of an order rule produces a duplication of relational atoms in the conclusion of the rule, then also the contracted instance of the rule is added to our system (a more detailed explanation of the closure condition is provided in Section 3.1). To end this section, let us briefly recall some basic vocabulary. First of all, the fresh variables involved in applications of the rules Rp, $R\perp$, $R\rightarrow$ and $L\lor$ are again referred to as the *eigenvariables* of these rules.⁸ Furthermore, in each of the axioms and rules depicted in Figure 4.3, the multiset Γ is referred to as the *left context* and the multiset Δ is referred to as the *right context*. In an instance of an axiom or in the conclusion of a rule of inference, all expressions not belonging to the context are said to be *principal*. The corresponding expressions in the premises of a rule are called *active*. So, for example, in an instance of $L\lor$ with premise $\pi \leqslant x + y$, $x : \varphi$, $y : \psi$, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, the labelled formula $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$ is principal and each of the expressions $\pi \leqslant x + y$, $x : \varphi$ and $y : \psi$ is active. On the other hand, in an application of (r-tr) with premise $R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma)$, $\pi \leqslant R(\sigma)$, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\pi \leqslant R(\sigma)$, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\pi \leqslant R(\sigma)$, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\pi < R(\sigma)$ is principal, whereas both $R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma)$ and $\pi \leqslant R(\sigma)$ are active.

4.4 Basic Properties of GLinql

We will now point out some important features of our sequent calculus. As in the classical setting, we will see that GLinqI enjoys cut-admissibility, height-preserving invertibility of all rules and height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction. To begin with, we show the derivability of generalized initial sequents for our system. Note that, intuitively, the first sequent in the following lemma also reflects the more general notion of *persistency* in InqI: if φ is supported by a state σ and if π is a subset of $R(\sigma)$, then φ must also be supported by π (see Proposition 4.1.7).

Lemma 4.4.1. All sequents of the following form are derivable in GLinqI:

- (i) $\pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi$,
- (ii) $\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi$,
- (iii) $\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi.$

Proof. The derivability of (i) is established by induction on the structure of φ . For the base case, let us suppose that $\varphi = p$ is atomic. If it holds $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we construct the derivation

$$\frac{w: p, w \leqslant R(\sigma), w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: p, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}{w \leqslant R(\sigma), w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: p, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p} Lp} \frac{w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: p, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}{w \leqslant R(\pi), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: p, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p} (\mathsf{tr})} \frac{w \leqslant R(\pi), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: p, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w: p}{\pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: p, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: p} Rp$$

⁶ Both of these statements follow immediately from the definition of the upset operator given in Section 4.1.

⁷ As usual, we write $x : \Gamma$ for the multiset of labelled formulas given by $(x : \Gamma) := \{x : \psi \mid \psi \in \Gamma\}$.

⁸ So, in particular, in an application of the rule $L \lor$, there are now *two* eigenvariables, rather than just a single one.

If it holds $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$, then the derivation is the same, except that we leave out the applications of (tr), (r-tr) and Rp at the bottom of the derivation. The case $\varphi = \bot$ is treated similarly. In the inductive step for \land and \lor , the statement follows immediately from the induction hypothesis. And in the inductive step for \rightarrow and \lor , we construct the following two derivations:

$$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \text{By ind. hyp.} & \text{By ind. hyp.} \\ \hline R(x) \leqslant R(x), \ldots, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \ldots, R(x): \psi \\ \hline (\text{rf}) & \overline{R(y)} \leqslant R(y), \ldots, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \ldots, R(y): \chi \\ \hline (x, x: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \ldots, R(x): \psi \\ \hline (x, \pi \leqslant R(x) + R(y), R(\sigma) \leqslant R(x) + R(y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline (x, \pi \leqslant R(x) + R(y), R(\sigma) \leqslant R(x) + R(y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline (tr) \\ \hline (x, R(\sigma) \leqslant R(x+y), R(x+y) \leqslant R(x) + R(y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline (tr) \\ \hline (x, R(\sigma) \leqslant R(x+y), \sigma \leqslant x+y, x+y \leqslant R(x+y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline (tr) \\ \hline \hline \sigma \leqslant R(x+y), \sigma \leqslant x+y, x+y \leqslant R(x+y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline (tr) \\ \hline \hline \sigma \leqslant R(x+y), \sigma \leqslant x+y, x+y \leqslant R(x+y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline (tr) \\ \hline \hline \sigma \leqslant x+y, x+y \leqslant R(x+y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline \hline \sigma \leqslant x+y, x+y \leqslant R(x+y), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline \hline \sigma \leqslant x+y, \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), x: \psi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline \hline \sigma \leqslant R(\sigma), \sigma: \psi \lor \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \psi \lor \chi \\ \hline \end{array}$$

Finally, the sequents in (ii) and (iii) can be derived from (i) by using the rules (r-rf) and (tr). \Box

Lemma 4.4.2. All sequents of the following form are derivable in GLinqI:

(i) $\pi \leq \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi,$ (ii) $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \emptyset : \varphi,$ (iii) $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi,$ (iv) $\pi : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi.$

Proof. As before, the derivability of (i) and (iii) is established by induction on φ . We only show the derivability of (i). For the base case, suppose that $\varphi = p$ is atomic. If $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$, then (i) is an instance of Ax^{\emptyset} , so the proof is trivial. And if $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we construct the derivation

$$\frac{\overline{w \leqslant \emptyset, w \leqslant R(\emptyset), w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\emptyset), R(\emptyset) \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant R(\emptyset), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p}{w \leqslant R(\emptyset), w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\emptyset), R(\emptyset) \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant R(\emptyset), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p} (tr)$$

$$\frac{w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\emptyset), R(\emptyset) \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant R(\emptyset), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p}{w \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\emptyset), \pi \leqslant \theta, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p} (r-emp)} (tr)$$

$$\frac{w \leqslant R(\pi), \pi \leqslant R(\emptyset), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p}{w \leqslant R(\pi), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p} (tr)$$

$$\frac{w \leqslant R(\pi), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p}{w \leqslant R(\pi), \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \emptyset \leqslant R(\emptyset), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p} (tr)$$

The case $\varphi = \bot$ is treated in essentially the same way. In the inductive step for \land , \rightarrow and \lor , the proof is easy. And in the inductive step for \lor , we construct the following derivation:

$$\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi + \pi, \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \lor \chi, \pi : \psi \qquad \text{By ind. hyp.}}{\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi + \pi, \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \lor \chi, \pi : \chi}{\pi \leqslant \pi + \pi, \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \psi \lor \chi}} R \lor$$

This concludes the induction. For the sequent in (iii), the induction is similar. Finally, the sequents in (ii) and (iv) can be derived from (i) and (iii), respectively, by an application of (rf). \Box

Next, we will show that GLingI also preserves the structural properties of the labelled sequent calculus considered in the previous chapter. As before, a *branch* in a derivation \mathcal{D} is defined to be a sequence β of consecutive sequents in \mathcal{D} such that the first sequent in β is the conclusion of \mathcal{D} and the last sequent is one of the leaf nodes of \mathcal{D} . By the *length* of a branch β , we mean the number of sequents occurring in β . And the *height* of a derivation \mathcal{D} is defined to be the length of a longest branch in \mathcal{D} . A rule of inference is now said to be *height-preserving admissible* (or *hp-admissible*), if it satisfies the condition that, whenever all premises of the rule are derivable by a proof tree of height at most n, then also the conclusion of the rule is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n. If the admissibility of a rule is not height-preserving, then the rule is simply called *admissible*. Furthermore, we say that a rule is *height-preserving invertible* (or *hp-invertible*), if it satisfies the condition that, whenever the conclusion of the rule is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n, then also each of the premises of the rule is derivable by such a proof tree. For a more precise definition of the relevant concepts, the reader is referred to Section 3.2.2. The substitution operator for labels is defined in exactly the same way as in the classical setting (see Definition 3.2.5), except that, for any state variable $s \in \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V}$, we now also put $R(\sigma)(\pi/s) := R(\sigma')$, where σ' is the label given by $\sigma' = \sigma(\pi/s)$. The definition is then extended to multisets in the usual way, so we will write $\Gamma(\pi/s)$ for the result of substituting π for s in every label occurring in Γ . As before, the *substitution rules* are defined to be the rules

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)} (u/w) \qquad \text{ and } \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma(\pi/x) \Rightarrow \Delta(\pi/x)} (\pi/x)$$

where u and w are variables from \mathfrak{S} , x is a variable from \mathfrak{V} , and π is an arbitrary label.

Proposition 4.4.3. The substitution rules are hp-admissible in GLinql.

Proof. By induction on the height of a derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. For the base case, suppose that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable by a proof tree of height n = 1. In this case, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must be an axiom of GLinql. But then, clearly, $\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)$ and $\Gamma(\pi/x) \Rightarrow \Delta(\pi/x)$ are axioms as well.

For the inductive step, suppose that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable by a proof tree \mathcal{D} of height n > 1. We consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If this rule does not have eigenvariables, then we simply apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and then the same rule again. On the other hand, if the last rule in \mathcal{D} has eigenvariables, then we first appeal to the induction hypothesis in order to rename the eigenvariables, before performing the desired substitution. So, for example, suppose that we want to substitute a label $\pi \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ for some variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. Moreover, assume that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of the rule $L \lor$, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\sigma \leq y + z, y : \varphi, z : \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} \xrightarrow{\sigma : \varphi \lor \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} L \lor$$

where y and z are the eigenvariables of the indicated application of $L \lor$, and \mathcal{D}' is a derivation of height n-1. By applying the induction hypothesis to \mathcal{D}' , we first replace the eigenvariables y and z by fresh variables y' and z', respectively, such that x, y' and z' are pairwise distinct. This yields a derivation \mathcal{D}'' of height at most n-1 for $\sigma \leq y'+z', y': \varphi, z': \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$. We now apply the induction hypothesis again in order to perform the substitution (π/x) . By a subsequent application of $L\lor$, we then obtain the desired derivation of height at most n for $\Gamma(\pi/x) \Rightarrow \Delta(\pi/x)$. \Box

We are now ready to prove the desired results: the structural rules of weakening and contraction, given in Figure 4.4, are hp-admissible in GLinql and each rule of our system is hp-invertible.

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} LW \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} RW \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} W^{\leqslant}$$
$$\frac{\pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} LC \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} RC \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} C^{\leqslant}$$

Figure 4.4: The structural rules of weakening and contraction.

Proposition 4.4.4. The weakening rules are hp-admissible in GLinql.

Proof. For each of the three weakening rules, we proceed by induction on the height of a derivation \mathcal{D} for the premise of the respective rule. In the inductive step, we distinguish cases, depending on the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If this rule does not have eigenvariables, we simply apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and then the same rule again. Otherwise, we first use Proposition 4.4.3 in order to introduce fresh eigenvariables not clashing with the variables occurring in the weakening formula. For further details, see the proof of Proposition 3.2.7.

Proposition 4.4.5. All rules of GLinqI are hp-invertible.

Proof. The hp-invertibility of the logical rules for atomic formulas, the falsum constant and the connectives \land , \lor and \rightarrow is established in the same way as in the previous chapter (see Proposition 3.2.8). Furthermore, the hp-invertibility of the 'cumulative' rules (including the new rule $R\lor$ and the internal and external order rules) follows immediately from the hp-admissibility of weakening.⁹ Thus, we only need to show that $L\lor$ is hp-invertible. For this purpose, let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for $\pi: \varphi \lor \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and let n be the height of \mathcal{D} . Moreover, let $x, y \in \mathfrak{V}$ be arbitrary but distinct variables not occurring in $\pi: \varphi \lor \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. Using induction on n, we show that there is also a derivation of height at most n for the sequent $\pi \leq x + y, x: \varphi, y: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$.

For the base case, assume that \mathcal{D} has height n = 1. In this case, $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must be an instance of an axiom. Since $\varphi \lor \psi$ is not atomic, the labelled formula $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$ cannot be principal in this instance. Hence, the sequent $\pi \leq x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ must also be an instance of an axiom, so it is derivable by a proof tree of height n = 1, as desired.

For the inductive step, suppose that \mathcal{D} has height n > 1. If the last step in \mathcal{D} is a rule for which $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$ is not principal, then we simply apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule (possibly in combination with a height-preserving substitution in order to take care of eigenvariables), and we then use the very same rule again. On the other hand, if \mathcal{D} ends with an application of the rule $L\lor$ for which $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$ is principal, then \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\frac{\pi \leqslant z_1 + z_2, z_1: \varphi, z_2: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi: \varphi \lor \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} L \lor$$

where z_1 and z_2 are the eigenvariables of the indicated application of $L \lor$ and \mathcal{D}' is a derivation of height n-1. By substituting x for z_1 and y for z_2 in the subderivation \mathcal{D}' , we now obtain the desired derivation of height at most n for the sequent $\pi \leq x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$.

Proposition 4.4.6. The contraction rules are hp-admissible in GLinql.

⁹ Recall that, by a 'cumulative' rule, we mean a rule in which the principal formulas and the principal atoms from the conclusion are always repeated in each of the premises of the rule. See also Section 3.1 for further details.

Proof. For each of the three contraction rules depicted in Figure 4.4, the proof is done *simultaneously*, by induction on the height of a derivation for the premise of the respective rule. For simplicity, we only sketch the inductive step for the rule LC.¹⁰ Let \mathcal{D} be a derivation for some sequent of the form $\pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and let n > 1 be the height of \mathcal{D} . We show that there is also a derivation of height at most n for the contracted sequent $\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. To this end, consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in this rule, then both occurrences of $\pi : \varphi$ must also be present in each of the premises of the rule. Hence, by applying the induction hypothesis to the premises and then the same rule again, we obtain the desired derivation of height at most n for $\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. On the other hand, if $\pi : \varphi$ is not a standard disjunction, then the argument is the same as in the classical setting (see the proof of Proposition 3.2.9). Therefore, let us assume that $\varphi = \psi \lor \chi$ for some $\psi, \chi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$. In this case, \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\pi \leqslant x+y, x: \psi, y: \chi, \pi: \psi \lor \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}'} L \lor$$

where $x, y \in \mathfrak{V}$ are fresh variables and \mathcal{D}' is of height n-1. By applying the height-preserving invertibility of $L \lor$ and subsequent height-preserving substitutions to the conclusion of the subderivation \mathcal{D}' , we now obtain a derivation of height at most n-1 for the sequent $\pi \leqslant x+y, \pi \leqslant$ $x+y, x: \psi, x: \psi, y: \chi, y: \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. Using the induction hypothesis and a subsequent application of $L \lor$, this yields the desired derivation of height at most n for $\pi: \psi \lor \chi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. \Box

Next, we will prove that the cut rule is admissible in GLinql. As before, this rule is of the form

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \quad \pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta}$$
(cut)

where $\pi : \varphi$ is an arbitrary labelled formula, referred to as the *cut formula*. The overall structure of the cut-admissibility proof will be the same as in our treatment of InqB. We thus proceed by a main induction on the rank of an arbitrary cut rule application, with a subinduction on the height of this application. Moreover, as in the previous chapter, the rank of a cut formula $\pi : \varphi$ will be measured not only in terms of the complexity of the formula φ , but also in terms of the complexity of the associated label π . To this end, we first define the degree of a label in the familiar way.

Definition 4.4.7 (Degree of a Label). The *degree of a label* π is denoted by $deg(\pi)$ and defined as follows: if $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$, then we put $deg(\pi) := 0$, and if $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we put $deg(\pi) := 1$.

That is, as usual, we simply assign the degree 0 to every singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and the degree 1 to every non-singleton label $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. The degree of a formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$, on the other hand, is now defined to be the number of occurrences of the logical symbols \bot , \land , \rightarrow , \lor , \lor in φ . The rank of a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is again defined to be the pair $rank(\pi : \varphi) := (deg(\varphi), deg(\pi))$, where $deg(\varphi)$ is the degree of the formula φ and $deg(\pi)$ is the degree of the label π . As in the previous chapter, ranks of labelled formulas are compared using a *lexicographic ordering*, so we will write $rank(\pi : \varphi) < rank(\sigma : \psi)$ and say that the rank of $\pi : \varphi$ is smaller than the rank of $\sigma : \psi$, if we either have $deg(\varphi) < deg(\psi)$, or we have both $deg(\varphi) = deg(\psi)$ and $deg(\pi) < deg(\sigma)$.

Lemma 4.4.8. Let π and σ be arbitrary labels and let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be a singleton variable. It holds:

(i) If $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then $rank(w:\varphi) < rank(\pi:\varphi)$,

(ii) $rank(\pi:\varphi_i) < rank(\sigma:\varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_2)$ for i = 1, 2 and $\otimes \in \{\land, \rightarrow, \lor, \lor\}$.

¹⁰ As before, the contraction rules RC and C^{\leq} can be treated similarly. Note that, in order to show the hp-admissibility of C^{\leq} , one has to appeal to the *closure condition*. For further details, we refer to the proof of Proposition 3.2.9.

4.4. Basic Properties of GLinql

Both statements are proved in exactly the same way as in the classical setting (see the proof of Lemma 3.2.12). We now define the *height of a cut rule application* to be the sum of the heights of the two derivations for the premises $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$ and $\pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta$ of this application (where the height of a derivation is again taken to be the length of a longest branch in this derivation). And the *rank of a cut rule application* is defined to be the rank of the associated cut formula $\pi : \varphi$.

Theorem 4.4.9 (Cut-Admissibility). The cut rule is admissible in GLinql.

Proof. As before, we select an arbitrary application of the cut rule and proceed by a main induction on the rank of the cut formula, with a subinduction on the height of the cut. The general structure of the argument is the same as in the proof of Theorem 3.2.13. In particular, we need to consider the same main cases, and we perform essentially the same conversions in each case. The most interesting new part of the proof is the case in which the cut formula is of the form $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$ and principal on both sides. In this case, the cut rule application must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{2}}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \lor \psi \qquad \pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} \text{ (cut)}$$

where the left and the right subderivation are given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{1} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{1}^{\prime} & \mathcal{D}_{1}^{\prime \prime} \\ \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \sigma : \varphi}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \tau : \psi} \\ \pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \lor \psi \end{cases} R \lor$$
$$\mathcal{D}_{2} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{2}^{\prime} \\ \frac{\pi \leqslant x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} L \lor$$

Note that, without loss of generality, we may assume that the variable y does not occur in the label σ (if this condition is not satisfied, then we simply perform a height-preserving substitution in the subderivation \mathcal{D}'_2 in order to replace y by some fresh variable). Hence, using the hp-admissibility of substitution and contraction, we may now transform the whole derivation into the proof tree

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{\substack{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \tau : \psi}} \frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{\substack{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma : \varphi}} \frac{\pi \leqslant x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \sigma : \varphi, y : \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} (\sigma/x) }_{(\tau/y)} \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma : \varphi}{(\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau)^{2}, \tau : \psi, \Gamma, \Sigma^{2} \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta^{2}} (\text{cut})}{\substack{(\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau)^{3}, \Gamma^{2}, \Sigma^{3} \Rightarrow \Delta^{2}, \Theta^{3} \\ \overline{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta}} C }$$

where \mathcal{D}' and \mathcal{D}'' are the following two derivations:

$$\mathcal{D}' = \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}'_{1} & \mathcal{D}'_{2} \\ \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \sigma : \varphi}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta, \sigma : \varphi} & \frac{\pi \leqslant x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \text{ (cut)} \end{cases} L \lor \\ \mathcal{D}'' = \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}''_{1} & \frac{\mathcal{D}'_{2}}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \tau : \psi} & \frac{\pi \leqslant x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}{\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} \text{ (cut)} \end{cases} L \lor$$

$$\begin{array}{l} \displaystyle \frac{R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (rel)} & \displaystyle \frac{R(R(\pi)) \approx R(\pi), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (idem)} \\ \\ \displaystyle \frac{R(\pi + \sigma) \approx R(\pi) + R(\sigma), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (g-dis)} & \displaystyle \frac{R(\emptyset) \approx \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (g-emp)} \end{array}$$

Figure 4.5: Further admissible rules. In each case, ' $\pi \approx \sigma$ ' stands for ' $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma \leq \pi$ '.

As can be seen, the original cut rule application is now replaced by four new cuts. The two uppermost of these new cuts (i.e., those with cut formula $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$) are of lower height than the original one, and the two other cuts are of lower rank. Thus, using the subinduction hypothesis and then the main induction hypothesis, one can successively remove each of the four cuts. \Box

In order to conclude this section, let us point out some further properties of our sequent calculus. Figure 4.5 comprises a number of additional rules that can be shown to be admissible in GLinql. Note that, in the figure, the notation ' $\pi \approx \sigma$ ' is used as a shorthand for the pair of relational atoms ' $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma \leq \pi$ '. Intuitively, the rule (rel) accounts for the observation that, if a state π is a subset of some state σ , then also $R(\pi)$ must be a subset of $R(\sigma)$. The rule (idem) reflects the idempotence of the upset operator: applying the *R*-operator multiple times to a state has exactly the same effect as applying *R* only once to that state. The rules (g-dis) and (g-emp), finally, can be seen as simple generalizations of the internal order rules (r-dis) and (r-emp).

Proposition 4.4.10. Each of the rules depicted in Figure 4.5 is admissible in GLinql.

Proof. We only show the admissibility of the rules (rel) and (idem). For this purpose, suppose that the premise of (rel) is derivable by a proof tree D_1 and the premise of (idem) is derivable by a proof tree D_2 . Using these proof trees, we may then construct the following two derivations:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{D}_{1} \\ R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta \\ \hline R(\pi) \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \pi \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta \\ \hline \frac{R(\pi) \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} W \\ (r-tr) \\ \hline \frac{\pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \overline{R(\sigma)}, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (tr) \\ \hline \mathcal{D}_{2} \\ \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2} \\ R(R(\pi)) \leqslant \overline{R(\pi)}, \overline{R(\pi)} \leqslant \overline{R(R(\pi))}, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta \\ \hline \frac{R(R(\pi)) \leqslant \overline{R(\pi)}, \overline{R(\pi)} \leqslant \overline{R(R(\pi))}, \overline{R(\pi)} \leqslant \overline{R(\pi)}, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta \\ \hline \frac{R(R(\pi)) \leqslant \overline{R(\pi)}, \overline{R(\pi)} \leqslant \overline{R(\pi)}, \overline{R(\pi)} \leqslant \overline{R(\pi)}, \overline{\Gamma} \Rightarrow \Delta \\ \hline \frac{R(R(\pi)) \leqslant R(\pi), R(\pi) \leqslant R(\pi), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (tr) \end{array}$$

Hence, (rel) and (idem) are admissible. For the other rules from Figure 4.5, the proof is similar.

For later purposes, we also need to show that the truth-conditionality of standard formulas can be reflected by means of formal derivations in the system GLinql. This is accomplished by the following lemma. Intuitively, both of the sequents in the lemma express the fact that, if a standard formula α is supported by two states, then it is also supported by the union of these states. The proof proceeds by a routine induction on the structure of α and is therefore omitted.

Lemma 4.4.11. For any standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathsf{I}}$, the following sequents are derivable in GLinql: (i) $\pi : \alpha, \sigma : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi + \sigma : \alpha$,

(ii) $\pi \leq \sigma + \tau, \pi \sigma : \alpha, \pi \tau : \alpha, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \alpha$.

4.5 Soundness and Completeness

In order to conclude our treatment of intuitionistic inquisitive logic, we will now prove that GLinql is sound and complete with respect to Inql. First, let us establish the soundness of our proof system. The notion of an interpretation is defined in exactly the same way as in the classical setting, except that we now also need to specify how labels of the form $R(\pi)$ are interpreted.

Definition 4.5.1 (Interpretation). Let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be an intuitionistic Kripke model. An *interpretation* over M is a function $I : \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V} \to \mathcal{P}(W)$ such that, for all singleton variables $w \in \mathfrak{S}$, the state $I(w) \subseteq W$ is a singleton. Given any interpretation I over some model M, it is inductively extended to a function from the set of all labels to the set $\mathcal{P}(W)$ in the following way: (i) $I(\emptyset) := \emptyset$,

(ii) $I(\pi \cdot \sigma) := I(\pi) \cap I(\sigma)$,

- (iii) $I(\pi + \sigma) := I(\pi) \cup I(\sigma)$,
- (iv) $I(R(\pi)) := R(I(\pi)).$

Labelled formulas and relational atoms are interpreted in the usual way. That is, given any interpretation I over some intuitionistic Kripke model M, we will say that a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is *satisfied* by I, just in case φ is supported by the sate $I(\pi)$, i.e., if we have $M, I(\pi) \models \varphi$. And we will say that a relational atom $\pi \leq \sigma$ is satisfied by I, if $I(\pi)$ is a subset of $I(\sigma)$, i.e., if it holds $I(\pi) \subseteq I(\sigma)$. A sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is said to be *valid* in a Kripke model M, if for every interpretation I over M, the following holds: if I satisfies all expressions in Γ , then there exists a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ in Δ such that I satisfies $\pi : \varphi$. We are now ready to prove the soundness of our sequent calculus: if a formula φ is provable from Γ in GLinql, then φ is entailed by Γ in Inql.

Proposition 4.5.2 (Soundness of GLinql). For every finite set of formula $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ and for every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$, if the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinql for some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, then $\Gamma \models \varphi$.¹¹

Proof. We first show that, if a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable in GLinql, then $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is is valid in every intuitionistic Kripke model. Let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for some sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be an arbitrary intuitionistic Kripke model. Using induction on the structure of \mathcal{D} , we prove that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. Most cases can be treated in the same way as in the classical setting (see the proof of Proposition 3.3.4). Therefore, we only consider the following cases.

Case 1: Suppose that the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of the rule $L \lor$, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\pi \leq x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} \xrightarrow{\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} L \lor$$

where $x, y \in \mathfrak{V}$ are fresh variables not occurring in the conclusion of \mathcal{D} . By induction hypothesis, we know that $\pi \leq x + y, x : \varphi, y : \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. In order to show that this also holds for $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$, let I be an arbitrary interpretation over M and suppose that I satisfies $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$ and each expression in Θ . Since I satisfies $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi$, we must have $M, I(\pi) \models \varphi \lor \psi$, so there exist two states $t_1, t_2 \subseteq W$ such that $I(\pi) = t_1 \cup t_2, M, t_1 \models \varphi$ and $M, t_2 \models \psi$. Let now I^* be the interpretation which is just like I, except that x is mapped to t_1 and y is mapped to t_2 , so we put $I^*(x) := t_1$ and $I^*(y) := t_2$. Then, clearly, I^* satisfies $\pi \leq x+y, x : \varphi, y : \psi$ and each expression in Θ . Hence, by induction hypothesis, there must be some labelled formula in Δ which is also

¹¹Recall that we write $x : \Gamma$ for the set of labelled formulas given by $(x : \Gamma) := \{x : \psi \mid \psi \in \Gamma\}$.

Axioms: (IPL) All axioms of the 'intuitionistic' system given in Figure 1.5, $\varphi \to (\varphi \lor \psi)$ and $\psi \to (\varphi \lor \psi)$, (Intro) (Elim) $(\varphi \to \alpha) \to ((\psi \to \alpha) \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \to \alpha))$, where α is a standard formula, $(\varphi \lor \psi) \to (\psi \lor \varphi),$ (Com) $(\varphi \lor (\psi \lor \chi)) \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \lor (\varphi \lor \chi)),$ (Dis) $(\varphi \to \varphi') \to ((\psi \to \psi') \to ((\varphi \lor \psi) \to (\varphi' \lor \psi'))),$ (Ex) $(\alpha \to (\varphi \lor \psi)) \to ((\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi))$, where α is a standard formula. (Split) The only rule of inference is *modus ponens*: from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$.

Figure 4.6: The Hilbert-style system Hinql.

satisfied by I^* . Since neither x nor y occurs in Δ , this labelled formula must also be satisfied by the original interpretation I. Thus, because I was arbitrary, it follows that $\pi : \varphi \lor \psi, \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. If the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of $R\lor$, then the argument is similar.

Case 2: Suppose that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of (r-tr). In this case, \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{R(\pi) \leqslant R(\sigma), \pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta} \frac{\pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant R(\sigma), \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta}$$
(r-tr)

By induction hypothesis, we know that $R(\pi) \leq R(\sigma), \pi \leq R(\sigma), \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. Let now I be an arbitrary interpretation over M and suppose that I satisfies $\pi \leq R(\sigma)$ and each expression in Θ . Then, in particular, we must have $I(\pi) \subseteq R(I(\sigma))$. Because R is transitive, this implies $R(I(\pi)) \subseteq R(I(\sigma))$ by Proposition 4.1.5. Hence, I also satisfies $R(\pi) \leq R(\sigma)$. Therefore, by induction hypothesis, there must be some labelled formula in Δ which is satisfied by I. Since I was arbitrary, this shows that $\pi \leq R(\sigma), \Theta \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. If \mathcal{D} ends with an application of one of the other internal order rules, then the argument is similar.

This concludes the induction. Hence, if $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable in GLinql, then $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in every intuitionistic Kripke model. Let now $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be an arbitrary finite set of formulas and suppose that $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinql for some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. As we have seen, this implies that, for every model M and for every interpretation I over M, if $M, I(x) \models \psi$ for all $\psi \in \Gamma$, then also $M, I(x) \models \varphi$. But then, by definition of entailment, we clearly have $\Gamma \models \varphi$. \Box

Next, we will establish the completeness of our sequent calculus. To this end, we will exploit the completeness of the Hilbert-style system Hinql introduced in Section 4.2 and displayed again in Figure 4.6. First, we need to show that each of the axioms of Hinql is provable in GLinql.

Lemma 4.5.3. Let φ be an instance of one of the axiom schemes of Hinql. Then, φ is provable in GLinql, *i.e.*, for any variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, there exists a derivation for the sequent $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in GLinql.

Proof. As before, showing the derivability of the axiom schemes from Figure 1.5 is straightforward. Therefore, we only need to prove that the special axioms given in Figure 4.6 are derivable. For the axiom schemes (Intro), (Com) and (Dis), we may construct the following derivations:¹²

$$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.1 (iii)} \\ \hline y \leqslant y + \emptyset, y \leqslant \overline{R(x)}, y : \varphi \Rightarrow \dots, y : \varphi \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} y \leqslant y + \emptyset, y \leqslant \overline{R(x)}, y : \varphi \Rightarrow \dots, \emptyset : \psi \\ \hline y \leqslant y + \emptyset, y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \Rightarrow y : \varphi \lor \psi \\ \hline \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} y \leqslant y + \emptyset, y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \Rightarrow y : \varphi \lor \psi \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \Rightarrow y : \varphi \lor \psi \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \Rightarrow x : \varphi \to (\varphi \lor \psi) \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$
 \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.2 (ii)} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \\ \end{array}

¹² For simplicity, we only give a derivation for the first variant of (Intro). The other variant can be derived similarly.

In order to show the derivability of the axiom scheme (Elim), let now $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{I}}$ be a standard formula and let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be arbitrary formulas. We may then construct the following derivation:

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{By Lemma 4.4.1 (ii)} \\ \hline x_0x_1 \leqslant x_1, \dots, x_1 : \varphi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha, x_0x_1 : \varphi \\ \hline \dots, x_1 : \varphi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha, x_0x_1 : \varphi \\ \hline \dots, x_0 x_1 \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant R(z), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \dots, x_0x_1 \leqslant x_0, x_0 \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant R(z), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \dots, x_0x_1 \leqslant x_0, x_0 \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant R(z), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \dots, x_0 \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant R(z), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \dots, x_0 \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant R(z), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \dots, x_0 \leqslant R(z), R(z) \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \dots, x_0 \leqslant R(z), R(z) \leqslant R(y), x_0 \leqslant x_1 + x_2, y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \dots, x_0 \leqslant R(z), R(z) \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y \in \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \dots, x_0 \leqslant R(z), z \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), z \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_1 : \varphi, x_2 : \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), z \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_0 : \varphi \lor \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), z \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_0 : \varphi \lor \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), z \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_0 : \varphi \lor \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), z \leqslant R(y), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_0 : \varphi \lor \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha, z : \psi \rightarrow \alpha, x_0 : \varphi \lor \psi \Rightarrow x_0 : \alpha \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha \Rightarrow y : (\psi \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow ((\varphi \lor \psi) \rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \leqslant R(x), y : \varphi \rightarrow \alpha \Rightarrow y : (\psi \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow ((\varphi \lor \psi) \rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \approx \alpha \Rightarrow y : (\psi \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow ((\varphi \lor \psi) \rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \approx \alpha \Rightarrow y : (\psi \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow ((\varphi \lor \psi) \rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \approx \alpha \Rightarrow y : (\psi \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow ((\varphi \lor \psi) \rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \approx \alpha \Rightarrow y : (\psi \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow ((\varphi \lor \psi) \rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \approx \alpha \Rightarrow y \Rightarrow (\psi \Rightarrow \alpha) \Rightarrow (\psi \Rightarrow \alpha) \Rightarrow (\psi \Rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y \approx \alpha \Rightarrow y \Rightarrow (\psi \Rightarrow \alpha) \Rightarrow (\psi \Rightarrow \alpha) \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} x_0 \leqslant R(z), y$$

where the subderivation ${\mathcal D}$ is of the form

The derivation for the axiom (Ex) is similar to the derivation for (Elim). And the split axiom (Split) can be derived in exactly the same way as in the classical setting, by using part (i) of Lemma 4.4.11 (see also the proof of Lemma 3.3.5). Therefore, all axioms of Hinql are provable in GLinql. \Box

We are now ready to prove the desired completeness result for our sequent calculus. To this end, we first show that GLinqI is weakly complete with respect to the Hilbert-style system HinqI, i.e., if a formula φ is provable in HinqI, then it is also provable in GLinqI. The strong completeness of GLinqI then follows as an immediate corollary, by using the deduction theorem for HinqI.

Theorem 4.5.4. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be an arbitrary formula. If we have $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ in the Hilbert-style system HinqI, then the sequent $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqI, for any variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Proof. By induction on the structure of a Hilbert-style proof for $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. In the base case, one has to show that all axioms of Hinql are provable in GLinql. This has been done in Lemma 4.5.3. For the inductive step, it suffices to show that the rule of *modus ponens*, given by

$$\frac{\Rightarrow x:\varphi \Rightarrow x:\varphi \rightarrow \psi}{\Rightarrow x:\psi} \text{ (mp)}$$

is admissible in GLinql. This follows directly from the invertibility of $R \rightarrow$ and the admissibility of the cut rule in GLinql. For further details, the reader is referred to the proof of Lemma 3.3.6. \Box

Corollary 4.5.5 (Soundness and Completeness). *The labelled sequent calculus* GLinql *is sound* and strongly complete with respect to Inql. That is, for every finite set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{l}$, we have $\Gamma \models \varphi$ if and only if $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinql, for any variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Proof. The soundness of GLinql has been established in Proposition 4.5.2. For the completeness part, one may use essentially the same argument as in the proof of Corollary 3.3.8. We only sketch the basic idea. Let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{I}}$ be an arbitrary finite set of formulas and suppose that $\Gamma \models \varphi$. Then, by the completeness of Hinql (see Corollary 4.2.5), we must have $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. Now, using the deduction theorem for Hinql (see Theorem 4.2.3), one readily sees that this yields $\vdash_{\mathsf{H}} \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$, where $\bigwedge \Gamma$ stands for the conjunction of the formulas in Γ . Hence, by Theorem 4.5.4, we may conclude that $\Rightarrow x : \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$ is derivable in GLinql, for an arbitrary variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. Using the invertibility of $R \to$ and $L \land$, this implies that $y \leq R(x), y : \Gamma \Rightarrow y : \varphi$ is also derivable, where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is some fresh variable. But then, by performing the substitution (x/y) and a subsequent application of (r-rf), we obtain the desired derivation for $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in GLinql.

Inquisitive Kripke Logic

In this chapter, we will extend our labelled sequent calculus for InqB to various systems of *modal* inquisitive logic. In the literature on this topic, two general settings have been discussed so far, both of which originate with the work of Ciardelli and Roelofsen (see Ciardelli 2014; Ciardelli and Roelofsen 2015; Ciardelli 2016b). In this chapter, we will only consider the first of these two settings, which is known as *inquisitive Kripke logic* (cf. Ciardelli 2016b, Chapter 6). The second setting extends the first one with 'properly inquisitive modalities' and will not be treated in this thesis. For further information about this second setting, we refer to Ciardelli (2016b, Chapter 7).

Roughly speaking, inquisitive Kripke logic is the result of enriching InqB with a modal operator \Box , interpreted over ordinary Kripke models—or, to put it differently, the result of adding the question-forming operator \lor to ordinary modal logic. The weakest logic obtained in this way will be called InqK and constitutes an inquisitive extension of the basic modal logic K. Although InqK has some advantages over ordinary modal logic when it comes to formalizing modal statements in natural language more uniformly, we will see that the presence of questions in the language does not allow us to express new *truth-conditional* meanings: given any truth-conditional formula in InqK, one can always find an equivalent formula in ordinary modal logic.

Just as in standard modal logic, it is possible to construct various extensions of InqK by restricting the semantic consequence relation to specific classes of Kripke frames. So, for example, by restricting the semantics to the class of all *reflexive* and *transitive* frames, we may construct an inquisitive extension InqKT4 of the standard modal logic KT4 (which is also known as S4). More generally, for every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , one can define a corresponding inquisitive system Inq \mathfrak{L} . Furthermore, as shown by Ciardelli (2016b), there exists a general strategy that allows to transform any sound and complete axiomatization of a *canonical* normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} into a sound and complete axiomatization of its inquisitive counterpart, Inq \mathfrak{L} . Unfortunately, the proof systems obtained in this way are not *analytic* and Ciardelli's strategy only yields a *recursive* axiomatization for Inq \mathfrak{L} , if a decidable set of axioms for \mathfrak{L} is already known in advance.

For this reason, we will henceforth focus on a specific class of inquisitive Kripke logics. This class comprises all logics Inq \mathfrak{L} whose characteristic frame property can be described by a number of *geometric implications*, i.e., first-order formulas of the form $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \rightarrow \psi)$, where φ and ψ are not allowed to contain implications or universal quantifiers. The most important contribution of this chapter is a general method that allows to construct a cut-free labelled sequent calculus GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A for every inquisitive system Inq \mathfrak{L} determined by some finite set A of geometric implications. This generalizes a famous result for standard modal logic established by Negri (2005).

The chapter is structured as follows. In Section 5.1, we will define the basic system of inquisitive Kripke logic, denoted by InqK. The formulas of the language are evaluated with respect to ordinary Kripke models and the support clause for \Box can be seen as a natural generalization of the ordinary truth-conditional semantics for \Box familiar from standard modal logic. We will see that, although \Box may now also embed questions (rather than just assertions), any formula of the form $\Box \varphi$ will be truth-conditional and therefore non-inquisitive. In Section 5.2, we will consider various extensions of the basic framework. For every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we will define a corresponding inquisitive system InqL, obtained from InqK by restricting the semantics to Kripke models based on £-frames. After presenting a generic completeness result by Ciardelli (2016b), we then give a precise definition of the class of all geometric extensions of InqK. In Section 5.3, we will turn to the construction of labelled sequent calculi for the full class of geometric extensions of IngK. To this end, we will describe a general strategy that allows to transform any set of geometric implications into a corresponding set of sequent rules. For every inquisitive logic Inq£ determined by some finite set of geometric axioms A, we thus obtain a cut-free labelled sequent calculus $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$. In Section 5.4, we will investigate the properties of our sequent calculi. We will see that each of our proof systems enjoys cut-admissibility, height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction and height-preserving invertibility of all rules. In Section 5.5, we will prove the soundness of our calculi and show that, for some concrete choices of the underlying base logic \mathfrak{L} , the completeness of $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ may also be established indirectly, by using a suitable Hilbert-style system for InqL. In Section 5.6, finally, we will give a general completeness proof, covering each of the calculi $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$. The argument is based on the construction of an infinite proof search tree and the extraction of a countermodel from an open branch of this tree.

5.1 Kripke Modalities in Inquisitive Logic

Let us start by introducing the basic framework of inquisitive Kripke logic. The system described in this section will be called $InqK^1$ and may be considered from two different angles: on the one hand, it may be seen as the result of adding the question-forming operator V to the standard system K of basic modal logic. On the other hand, it can be conceived as the result of adding the Kripke modality \Box to the system InqB of basic inquisitive logic. As before, we will assume an infinite set P of atomic propositions, denoted by p, q, r, etc. The formulas of InqK are now built up from the atoms in P by means of the usual connectives of InqB and the modal operator \Box .

Definition 5.1.1 (Language of InqK). The language of InqK is denoted by \mathcal{L}^{K} and consists of all formulas generated by the following grammar, where *p* ranges over atomic propositions from P:

$$\varphi ::= p \mid \bot \mid \varphi \land \varphi \mid \varphi \to \varphi \mid \varphi \lor \varphi \mid \Box \varphi.$$

As in the basic system InqB, the connectives \neg and \lor will be treated as abbreviations, by putting $\neg \varphi := \varphi \rightarrow \bot$ and $\varphi \lor \psi := \neg(\neg \varphi \land \neg \psi)$. In addition, the dual modality \diamondsuit is taken to be defined by $\diamondsuit \varphi := \neg \Box \neg \varphi$. The symbols \Box and \diamondsuit will also be called the *box operator* and the *diamond operator*, respectively. By adopting the terminology used in the previous chapters, we will refer to \lor as the *inquisitive disjunction* and to \lor as the *standard disjunction* of our system. Moreover, a formula not containing occurrences of \lor is said to be a *standard formula*. As before, standard formulas will be denoted by the meta-variables α , β , γ , etc., whereas φ , ψ , χ , etc., will be used for arbitrary formulas. Moreover, the set of all standard formulas is denoted by \mathcal{L}_s^{κ} .

For the sake of illustration, we will usually adopt an *epistemic* interpretation of the modalities. Under this interpretation, \Box is used to express the *knowledge* of an agent, so $\Box \varphi$ may be read as 'The agent knows φ ' and $\Diamond \varphi$ may be read as ' φ is compatible with the knowledge of the agent' or 'The knowledge of the agent does not rule out φ '. The reader should bear in mind, however, that the epistemic reading is not the only possible interpretation and different readings of \Box and \Diamond can be given as well. A short overview is provided by Ciardelli (2022, pp. 249–250, 252).

¹ It should be noted that Ciardelli (2016b) uses the name InqBK instead of InqK. In order to avoid an overly complicated nomenclature (especially when introducing our sequent calculi), we will henceforth deviate from this notation.

Note that, in the language \mathcal{L}^{K} , the modality \Box can be used to embed both *questions* and *assertions*. This is an important difference to standard modal logic, where \Box can only be applied to statements. To appreciate this fact, let us consider the following sentences in natural language:

- (1) Alice knows that Bob is lying.
- (2) Alice knows whether Bob is lying.

In the first sentence, Alice's knowledge is directed towards a *purely declarative* proposition, saying that Bob is lying. Thus, if we take \Box to express Alice's knowledge, then (1) can be represented by a standard formula of the shape $\Box p$. Intuitively, we expect this formula to be true at a possible world, if Alice's knowledge state at this world entails the information conveyed by p. Now, consider sentence (2). In this sentence, Alice's knowledge is directed towards an inquisitive proposition—namely, the proposition whether Bob is lying. In the language \mathcal{L}^{K} , this corresponds to a formula of the form \Box ?*p*, where \Box now embeds the alternative question ?*p*.² Intuitively, this formula is true at a world, just in case Alice's knowledge state at this world settles the issue raised by ?p. Note that, by the semantics of \mathbb{V} , this is equivalent to saying that Alice's knowledge either entails p or it entails $\neg p$, so we expect \Box ?p to be equivalent to the standard formula $\Box p \lor \Box \neg p$. In fact, as we will see later on, the modal operator \Box always distributes over inquisitive disjunctions, turning them into standard ones, so IngK validates the equivalence $\Box(\varphi \otimes \psi) \equiv \Box \varphi \vee \Box \psi$. As a consequence, an inquisitive disjunction occurring in the scope of a box operator can always be paraphrased away by means of a standard disjunction. So, what is the point of allowing questions to be embedded under \Box in IngK? The answer is that, by adding \mathbb{V} to standard modal logic, InqK allows for a *uniform treatment* of sentences like (1) and (2). This is an advantage over standard modal logic, where paraphrasing is necessary in order to cope with sentences like (2).

We now want to give a brief outline of the semantics of InqK and sketch some important properties of the system. Our presentation mainly follows the exposition given by Ciardelli (2016b, Chapter 6), which is also an excellent source for further details. To start with, the formulas of InqK are evaluated with respect to ordinary Kripke models, which are defined in the usual way.

Definition 5.1.2 (Kripke Frame, Kripke Model). A *Kripke frame* is defined to be a pair $F = \langle W, R \rangle$, where W is a set whose elements are called *worlds*, and $R \subseteq W \times W$ is a binary relation on W, referred to as the *accessibility relation* of the frame. By a *Kripke model*, we mean a triple $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$, where $\langle W, R \rangle$ is a Kripke frame and $V : W \times P \rightarrow \{0, 1\}$ is a *valuation function*.

Given a Kripke frame $F = \langle W, R \rangle$ and worlds $w, u \in W$, we will say that u is a *successor* of w in F, just in case we have wRu. Furthermore, the *neighbourhood* of a world w in F is denoted by R(w) and defined to be the set of all successors of w, so we put $R(w) := \{u \in W \mid wRu\}$. As before, a set of worlds $s \subseteq W$ is also referred to as an *information state* over F.

Intuitively, every world in a Kripke model may be conceived as a possible *state of affairs*. This is similar to the interpretation of worlds in the basic inquisitive system InqB. However, in contrast to the standard setting, the state of affairs represented by a world w is now determined not only by the propositional atoms true at w, but also by the information state R(w) assigned to w. Under the epistemic interpretation of \Box explained above, R(w) could be taken to represent the information available to an agent at world w—or, to put it differently, the set of worlds considered to be possible according to the current knowledge of the agent at that world.

Since formulas of inquisitive logic are evaluated with respect to *information states*, rather than *worlds*, we cannot simply adopt the usual truth-conditional semantics for \Box known from standard modal logic. Instead, we have to find a suitable *support clause* for formulas of the shape $\Box \varphi$. But how could such a support clause look like? Recall that, under the epistemic interpretation, a

² As usual, $?\varphi$ is defined to be an abbreviation for $\varphi \vee \neg \varphi$.

formula of the form $\Box \varphi$ is read as 'The agent knows φ '. Now, given a specific world w in a Kripke model, we would expect an agent to know a proposition φ at w, just in case the agent's knowledge state R(w) at w entails the information conveyed by φ , and R(w) settles the issue raised by φ . In other words, the agent knows φ at world w if and only if R(w) supports φ . By generalizing this observation to information states, we thus find that a formula $\Box \varphi$ should be supported by a state s if and only if, for every world $w \in s$, the formula φ is supported by R(w). This yields the following support semantics for the language of InqK (cf. Ciardelli 2016b, p. 202).

Definition 5.1.3 (Support Semantics for InqK). Let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be a Kripke model. The support relation \models between states $s \subseteq W$ and formulas $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ is inductively defined as follows: (i) $M, s \models p :\Leftrightarrow V(w, p) = 1$ for all $w \in s$,

(ii) $M, s \models \bot :\Leftrightarrow s = \emptyset$,

(iii) $M, s \models \varphi \land \psi :\Leftrightarrow M, s \models \varphi \text{ and } M, s \models \psi$,

(iv) $M, s \models \varphi \rightarrow \psi :\Leftrightarrow$ for all $t \subseteq s$, if $M, t \models \varphi$, then $M, t \models \psi$,

(v) $M, s \models \varphi \lor \psi :\Leftrightarrow M, s \models \varphi \text{ or } M, s \models \psi$,

(vi) $M, s \models \Box \varphi \iff M, R(w) \models \varphi$ for all $w \in s$.

If $M, s \models \varphi$ holds, then we say that φ is *supported* by s in M. Observe that, in InqK, the notion of support is defined in exactly the same way as in the basic system InqB, except that we now also have a support clause for the modal operator \Box . Using the support relation \models , we can now define some important semantic concepts. To begin with, given a Kripke frame $F = \langle W, R \rangle$ and a formula φ , we write $F \models \varphi$ and say that φ is *valid in the frame* F, if for every model $M = \langle F, V \rangle$, based on F, and for every state $s \subseteq W$, we have $M, s \models \varphi$. A formula φ is said to be *valid in* InqK, denoted $\models \varphi$, if φ is valid in every frame. Furthermore, given a formula φ and a set of formulas Γ , we write $\Gamma \models \varphi$ and say that φ is *entailed* by Γ , if for every Kripke model $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ and for every state $s \subseteq W$, it is the case that $M, s \models \Gamma$ implies $M, s \models \varphi$.³ Finally, two formulas φ and ψ are called *equivalent*, notation $\varphi \equiv \psi$, if we have both $\varphi \models \psi$ and $\psi \models \varphi$.

We now want to highlight some basic properties of InqK. For a more detailed account, we refer to Ciardelli (2016b, Chapter 6). First of all, it is easy to check that the support relation of InqK is persistent and that every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{K}$ is supported by the empty information state.

Proposition 5.1.4. Let M be a Kripke model, let s and t be states and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ be a formula.

(i) Persistency: if $M, s \models \varphi$ and $t \subseteq s$, then $M, t \models \varphi$.

(ii) Empty state property: $M, \emptyset \models \varphi$.

Both statements can be proved by a straightforward induction on the structure of φ . Next, we can show that InqK validates the usual principle of *necessitation*: if a formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{K}$ is valid in InqK, then so is $\Box \varphi$. In addition, \Box distributes over implications, so InqK validates the well-known axiom scheme K familiar from standard modal logic (cf. Blackburn et al. 2001, p. 33).

Proposition 5.1.5 (Validity of K and Necessitation). For all $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, the following holds: (i) $\models \Box(\varphi \rightarrow \psi) \rightarrow (\Box \varphi \rightarrow \Box \psi)$.

$$(l) \vdash \Box(\varphi \to \psi) \to (\Box \varphi \to \Box \psi)$$

```
(ii) if \models \varphi, then \models \Box \varphi.
```

Proof. The proof of the first part is easy and therefore omitted. In order to prove the second part, suppose that we have $\models \varphi$. Let M be an arbitrary Kripke model and let s be an arbitrary state over M. Because $\models \varphi$, we must have $M, R(w) \models \varphi$ for all worlds $w \in s$. Hence, by the support clause for \Box , it follows $M, s \models \Box \varphi$. Since M and s were arbitrary, this shows that $\models \Box \varphi$.

We now want to work out some more exciting properties of lnqK. As in our treatment of basic inquisitive logic, lnqB, we will say that a formula φ is *true* at a world w of a model M,

³ As before, $M, s \models \Gamma$ is used as a shorthand for ' $M, s \models \psi$ for all $\psi \in \Gamma$ '.

if φ is supported by the singleton state $\{w\}$. In this case, we also write $M, w \models \varphi$ instead of $M, \{w\} \models \varphi$. Moreover, a formula φ is said to be *truth-conditional*, if for every model M and every state s, we have: $M, s \models \varphi$ if and only if $M, w \models \varphi$ for all $w \in s$. That is, a truth-conditional formula is a formula for which support at a state simply boils down to truth at every world in the state. Now, by a straightforward inspection of the support clause for \Box given in Definition 5.1.3, one readily sees that every formula of the form $\Box \varphi$ is truth-conditional in InqK.

Proposition 5.1.6. For every $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, the formula $\Box \varphi$ is truth-conditional.

In our exposition of the basic system InqB, we have already seen that all standard formulas of classical logic remain truth-conditional in the inquisitive setting (see Corollary 1.3.4). Proposition 5.1.6 tells us that this can be generalized to all formulas of standard *modal* logic, i.e., to all formulas in \mathcal{L}^{K} not containing \mathbb{V} . In fact, since \Box *always* yields a truth-conditional formula–even when applied to a question—we may even identify a richer syntactic fragment of InqK that is guaranteed to have this property. The formulas in this fragment will be referred to as *declaratives*.

Definition 5.1.7. The *declarative fragment* of InqK is the set of formulas $\mathcal{L}_{!}^{\mathsf{K}}$ generated by the following grammar, where *p* ranges over atoms and φ ranges over arbitrary formulas in \mathcal{L}^{K} :

$$\alpha ::= p \mid \bot \mid \Box \varphi \mid \alpha \land \alpha \mid \alpha \to \alpha.$$

By overloading notation, we will henceforth use the meta-variables α , β , γ , etc., for both *declarative* formulas and *standard* formulas. In any case, no confusion will arise, since it will always be clear from the context whether a declarative or a standard formula is meant. Note that every standard formula is also a declarative formula but not vice versa: for instance, $\Box(p \vee q)$ is a declarative, but not a standard formula, since it contains an occurrence of \mathbb{V} . Now, using Proposition 5.1.6 and the fact that truth-conditionality is preserved by the connectives \bot , \wedge and \rightarrow , we may conclude that every formula in the declarative fragment of InqK is truth-conditional.

Proposition 5.1.8. Every formula in the fragment \mathcal{L}_1^K is truth-conditional.

By the support clause for \Box , we know that $\Box \varphi$ is true at a world w of a Kripke model M, just in case φ is supported by the neighbourhood R(w) of w. Consequently, if φ is a *truth-conditional* formula, then the truth conditions for $\Box \varphi$, as determined by our support semantics, are simply the familiar ones from standard modal logic, so we have $M, w \models \Box \varphi$ if and only if $M, u \models \varphi$ for all worlds u with wRu. Now, because every standard formula is truth-conditional—with the same truth conditions as in standard modal logic—it is easy to see that lnqK must be a *conservative extension* of the basic modal logic K. That is, a standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ is valid in lnqK if and only if α is valid in K. As shown by Ciardelli (2016b, p. 209), there is even a more intriguing connection between lnqK and standard modal logic: a formula of lnqK is truth-conditional if and only if it is equivalent to some standard modal formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$. Therefore, with respect to *statements*, lnqK has exactly the same expressive power as standard modal logic.

Proposition 5.1.9. A formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ is truth-conditional if and only if there exists a standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathsf{K}}$ such that $\varphi \equiv \alpha$.

The right-to-left direction of the proposition is trivial, since standard formulas are always truth-conditional by Proposition 5.1.8. For the other direction, one uses the observation that every $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ can be translated to a standard formula $\varphi^s \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}_s$ in such a way that φ and φ^s have the same truth conditions. Thus, if φ itself is truth-conditional, then φ^s will be equivalent to φ (cf. Ciardelli 2016b, pp. 208–209). We already mentioned above that, intuitively, a formula of the form \Box ? *p* should be equivalent to $\Box p \lor \Box \neg p$. The following proposition confirms this intuition: in InqK, the modality \Box distributes over inquisitive disjunctions, turning them into standard ones.

Proposition 5.1.10 (Distributivity of \Box over \lor). For all $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, it holds $\Box(\varphi \lor \psi) \equiv \Box \varphi \lor \Box \psi$.

Proof. By Proposition 5.1.8, we know that $\Box(\varphi \lor \psi)$ and $\Box \varphi \lor \Box \psi$ are both truth-conditional. Hence, it suffices to check that they have the same truth conditions. This is achieved as follows:

$$\begin{array}{lll} M,w \models \Box(\varphi \lor \psi) & \Leftrightarrow & M, R(w) \models \varphi \lor \psi \\ & \Leftrightarrow & M, R(w) \models \varphi \text{ or } M, R(w) \models \psi \\ & \Leftrightarrow & M, w \models \Box \varphi \text{ or } M, w \models \Box \psi \\ & \Leftrightarrow & M, w \models \Box \varphi \lor \Box \psi. \end{array}$$

Observe that, in the last step, we used the ordinary truth conditions for the defined connective \lor , which clearly remain valid in InqK (see also Proposition 1.2.9).

Using the support semantics given in Definition 5.1.3, one may now also derive a support clause for the defined modality \Diamond (for the other defined operators, the clauses are the same as in InqB).

Proposition 5.1.11 (Support-Conditions for \diamondsuit). For every Kripke model M and for every state s, we have $M, s \models \diamondsuit \varphi$ if and only if, for every $w \in s$, there exists some $u \in R(w)$ such that $M, u \models \varphi$.

Note that, as a consequence, $\Diamond \varphi$ is true at a world w of a model M, just in case we have $R(w) \cap |\varphi|_M \neq \emptyset$, where $|\varphi|_M$ denotes the truth-set of φ with respect to M (see Definition 1.2.10). Thus, as expected, $\Diamond \varphi$ expresses that the agent's knowledge is *compatible* with the information conveyed by φ . For later purposes, we also need the following lemma, saying that failure of support can be restricted to states of *finite* size: if a formula φ is *not* supported by some state s, then one can always find a finite enhancement $t \subseteq s$ such that φ is not supported by t.

Lemma 5.1.12. Let M be a Kripke model. For every formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ and for every state s over M, if it holds $M, s \not\models \varphi$, then there exists a finite substate $t \subseteq s$ such that $M, t \not\models \varphi$.

Proof. By induction on the structure of φ . The base case and the inductive step for \wedge are trivial. Consider now the case in which φ is of the form $\varphi = \psi \rightarrow \chi$. Suppose that we have $M, s \not\models \psi \rightarrow \chi$ for some state s over M. By the semantics of \rightarrow , there must be some $r \subseteq s$ such that $M, r \models \psi$ and $M, r \not\models \chi$. Hence, by induction hypothesis, there exists a finite subset $t \subseteq r \subseteq s$ such that $M, t \not\models \chi$. Since we have $M, r \models \psi$ and $t \subseteq r$, we must also have $M, t \models \psi$ by the persistency of support in lnqK. Therefore, t is a finite substate of s such that $M, t \not\models \psi \rightarrow \chi$.

Let now φ be of the form $\varphi = \psi \lor \chi$ and suppose that we have $M, s \nvDash \psi \lor \chi$. By the semantics of \lor , this yields $M, s \nvDash \psi$ and $M, s \nvDash \chi$. Thus, by induction hypothesis, there are finite subsets $t_1, t_2 \subseteq s$ such that $M, t_1 \nvDash \psi$ and $M, t_2 \nvDash \chi$. Consider the union $t := t_1 \cup t_2$. Since t_1 and t_2 are both finite, t must be finite as well. Now, suppose for a contradiction that $M, t \vDash \psi \lor \chi$. This yields $M, t \vDash \psi$ or $M, t \vDash \chi$, so it follows $M, t_1 \vDash \psi$ or $M, t_2 \vDash \chi$ by the persistency of support. But this is a contradiction to our assumption about t_1 and t_2 . Hence, we have $M, t \nvDash \psi \lor \chi$.

Finally, let us consider the case $\varphi = \Box \psi$. Suppose that we have $M, s \not\models \Box \psi$ for some state s over M. By the semantics of \Box , there must be some world $w \in s$ such that $M, R(w) \not\models \psi$. But then, clearly, for the finite state $t \subseteq s$ given by $t := \{w\}$, we also have $M, t \not\models \Box \psi$. \Box

5.2 Extensions of InqK

In the previous section, we constructed InqK as an inquisitive extension of the basic modal logic K. It is well known that K can be seen as the *weakest* standard modal logic, since validity in K simply boils down to validity in *all* Kripke frames. For this reason, in standard modal logic, one usually also defines various extensions of K: either by imposing further restrictions on the accessibility relation of a Kripke frame, or by requiring frames to validate certain additional axioms.

In this section, we will do something analogous for the inquisitive system InqK. More precisely, for every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we will define a corresponding inquisitive extension Inq \mathfrak{L} . After introducing some standard terminology, we will see a general completeness result by Ciardelli (2016b), covering all those systems Inq \mathfrak{L} for which the underlying base logic \mathfrak{L} is *canonical*. At the end of this section, we will also introduce a special class of inquisitive logics, referred to as *geometric extensions* of InqK. Roughly speaking, this class comprises all systems Inq \mathfrak{L} that can be determined by first-order frame conditions of the form $\forall \vec{w} (\varphi \rightarrow \psi)$, where φ and ψ are not allowed to contain implications or universal quantifiers. This will become important in Section 5.3, where we will define cut-free labelled sequent calculi for the full class of geometric extensions of InqK.

5.2.1 Some Basic Notions

To begin with, let us recall some basic terminology from standard modal logic. For a more comprehensive exposition of the material, we refer to Blackburn et al. (2001, Chapter 4). First, a *normal modal logic* is a set of standard formulas \mathfrak{L} such that \mathfrak{L} contains all propositional tautologies and all instances of the K-schema, and \mathfrak{L} is closed under modus ponens and necessitation.

Definition 5.2.1 (Normal Modal Logic). By a *normal modal logic*, we will mean any set of standard modal formulas $\mathfrak{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ such that each of the following four conditions is satisfied:

- (i) \mathfrak{L} contains all instances of propositional tautologies,
- (ii) \mathfrak{L} contains all formulas of the form $\Box(\alpha \to \beta) \to (\Box \alpha \to \Box \beta)$,
- (iii) If $\alpha \in \mathfrak{L}$ and $(\alpha \to \beta) \in \mathfrak{L}$, then $\beta \in \mathfrak{L}$,
- (iv) If $\alpha \in \mathfrak{L}$, then $\Box \alpha \in \mathfrak{L}$.

Observe that normal modal logics are characterized in a purely syntactic manner. In fact, Definition 5.2.1 can be seen as a straightforward generalization of the concept provability in Hilbertstyle systems for modal logics. It is a generalization, since it does not talk directly about proofs in such a system, but focuses on what is actually important: the availability of certain axioms and the closure under modus ponens and necessitation. In line with this syntactic perspective, we will also say that a standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ is a *theorem* of a normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , notation $\vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$, if α is an element of \mathfrak{L} . More generally, given any set of standard formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ and a normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we write $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$ and say that α is deducible from Γ in \mathfrak{L} , just in case we have $\vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$ or there are formulas $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n \in \Gamma$ such that $\vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} (\beta_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge \beta_n) \to \alpha$.

Note that, according to Definition 5.2.1, the set of *all* standard formulas is also a normal modal logic (one might call this the 'trivial' or the 'inconsistent' modal logic). Furthermore, it is easy to verify that any (finite or infinite) intersection of normal modal logics is again a normal modal logic. As a consequence, one can show that, for every set of standard formulas $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$, there exists a *smallest* normal modal logic \mathfrak{L}_{Γ} containing Γ , i.e., \mathfrak{L}_{Γ} satisfies $\Gamma \subseteq \mathfrak{L}_{\Gamma}$, and for every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} with $\Gamma \subseteq \mathfrak{L}$, we have $\mathfrak{L}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \mathfrak{L}$. In what follows, we will call \mathfrak{L}_{Γ} the normal modal logic generated or axiomatized by Γ , and we say that Γ is an axiom system for \mathfrak{L}_{Γ} .

Let us consider some examples of normal modal logics. The normal modal logic generated by the empty set is denoted by K and may be conceived as the *smallest* or the *weakest* normal modal logic, since we clearly have $K \subseteq \mathfrak{L}$ for every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} . Now, let us turn to some extensions of K. In Table 5.1, we list a number of well-known axiom schemes from standard modal logic. For every combination of these schemes, we may obtain an extension of the basic system K by constructing the normal modal logic generated by the schemes. It is common practice to denote the systems obtained in this way simply by attaching the names of the corresponding schemes to the letter K. So, for example, KT refers to the normal modal logic generated by the scheme T, whereas KD4 stands for the modal logic generated by the schemes D and 4. However, some logics also carry traditional names that are often more common in the literature. For instance, instead of KT, KD, KT4 and KT5, one also writes T, D, S4 and S5, respectively.

Axiom Scheme		Frame Condition	First-Order Formula
Т	$\Box \alpha \to \alpha$	Reflexivity	$\forall u.Ruu$
4	$\Box \alpha \to \Box \Box \alpha$	Transitivity	$\forall uvw.(Ruv \land Rvw \to Ruw)$
5	$\Diamond \alpha \to \Box \Diamond \alpha$	Euclideanness	$\forall uvw.(Ruv \land Ruw \to Rvw)$
В	$\alpha \to \Box \diamondsuit \alpha$	Symmetry	$\forall uv.(Ruv \to Rvu)$
D	$\Box \alpha \to \diamondsuit \alpha$	Seriality	$\forall u \exists v. Ruv$

Table 5.1: Some famous axiom schemes and the corresponding frame properties.

It is well known that axiom schemes of standard modal logic can also be used to characterize certain classes of Kripke frames. Roughly speaking, we say that a class C of Kripke frames is *defined* by a scheme Θ , just in case, for every frame F, we have $F \in C$ if and only if F validates all instances of Θ .⁴ The classes of frames defined by the schemes T, 4, 5, B and D are presented in the second column of Table 5.1. Thus, for example, one can show that a Kripke frame F is *reflexive* if and only if all instances of the T-schema are valid in F; and a frame F is *transitive* if and only if all instances of axiom scheme 4 are valid in F. As indicated in the last column of the table, many properties of frames can also be characterized by a formula of first-order logic. This will become important in Section 5.2.3, where we want to consider the class of all Kripke frames that are characterized by a certain type of such formulas, known as *geometric implications*.

So far, we have considered normal modal logics mainly from a syntactic point of view. But there is also a *semantic* perspective. To make things precise, we must introduce some further terminology. Given a normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we say that a frame F is an \mathfrak{L} -frame, if F validates every formula in \mathfrak{L} . Moreover, for every set of standard formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$, we write $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$ and say that α is entailed by Γ in \mathfrak{L} , if for every Kripke model M, based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame, and for every world w in M, it is the case that $M, w \models \Gamma$ implies $M, w \models \alpha$. In other words, $\models_{\mathfrak{L}}$ is the consequence relation obtained by restricting the usual notion of entailment in standard modal logic to Kripke models based on \mathfrak{L} -frames.⁵ The link between the syntactic and the semantic perspective is provided by the concepts of soundness and completeness which are defined in the usual way.

Definition 5.2.2 (Soundness and Completeness). Let \mathfrak{L} be a normal modal logic. We say that \mathfrak{L} is *sound*, if for every set of standard formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$ implies $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$. And \mathfrak{L} is called *complete*, if for any $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$, it is the case that $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$ implies $\Gamma \vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$.

A useful tool for showing the completeness of a normal modal logic are *canonical models*. Towards a definition of this concept, consider an arbitrary normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} and an arbitrary set of standard formulas $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$. We say that Γ is \mathfrak{L} -consistent, if $\Gamma \not\vdash_{\mathfrak{L}} \bot$. And we say that Γ is *maximally* \mathfrak{L} -consistent, if Γ is \mathfrak{L} -consistent and no proper extension $\Delta \supseteq \Gamma$ is also \mathfrak{L} -consistent.

Definition 5.2.3 (Canonical Model for \mathfrak{L}). Let \mathfrak{L} be a normal modal logic. The *canonical model* for \mathfrak{L} is the Kripke model $M_{\mathfrak{L}} = \langle W_{\mathfrak{L}}, R_{\mathfrak{L}}, V_{\mathfrak{L}} \rangle$ defined as follows:

- (i) $W_{\mathfrak{L}}$ is the set of all maximally \mathfrak{L} -consistent sets,
- (ii) $(\Gamma, \Delta) \in R_{\mathfrak{L}} \iff \text{for all } \alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathsf{K}}, \text{ if } \Box \alpha \in \Gamma, \text{ then } \alpha \in \Delta,$
- (iii) $V_{\mathfrak{L}}(\Gamma, p) = 1 \iff p \in \Gamma.$

The Kripke frame $F_{\mathfrak{L}} := \langle W_{\mathfrak{L}}, R_{\mathfrak{L}} \rangle$ is also referred to as the *canonical frame* for \mathfrak{L} . Crucially, in the canonical model for any normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , truth at a world Γ simply boils down to membership in the set Γ . This is known as the *truth lemma* (cf. Blackburn et al. 2001, p. 199).

⁴ Recall that, in standard modal logic, a formula α is said to be *valid* in a Kripke frame *F*, just in case α is true at every world of every Kripke model *M* based on *F*. Since standard modal formulas are guaranteed to be truth-conditional in InqK, this coincides with the notion of validity introduced in Section 5.1.

⁵ One may also define entailment more generally, by relativizing consequence to an *arbitrary* class of frames C (cf. Blackburn et al. 2001, p. 31). Our definition can then be seen as the special case in which C is the class of all *L*-frames.

Proposition 5.2.4 (Truth Lemma). For every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , for every maximally \mathfrak{L} -consistent set $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ and for every standard formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have: $M_{\mathfrak{L}}, \Gamma \models \alpha$ if and only if $\alpha \in \Gamma$.

The usefulness of canonical models stems from the fact that, for many modal logics, they provide us with a simple completeness proof. However, this only works if the frame $F_{\mathfrak{L}}$ actually validates the formulas in \mathfrak{L} . A normal modal logic satisfying this constraint is said to be *canonical*.

Definition 5.2.5 (Canonicity). A normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} is *canonical*, if $F_{\mathfrak{L}}$ is an \mathfrak{L} -frame.

It is well known that every normal modal logic generated by one or more of the axiom schemes given in Table 5.1 is canonical. However, there are also normal modal logics that are *not* canonical. A famous example of such a logic is KL, the normal modal logic generated by the *Löb axiom*: $\Box(\Box \alpha \rightarrow \alpha) \rightarrow \Box \alpha$. A proof of this fact is provided by Blackburn et al. (2001, p. 211). As outlined above, canonicity always implies completeness, so we have the following general result.

Proposition 5.2.6. If a normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} is canonical, then it is complete.

The general idea of the proof can be described as follows: suppose that \mathfrak{L} is canonical and $\Gamma \not\models_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$. Then, $\Gamma \cup \{\neg \alpha\}$ is \mathfrak{L} -consistent. Thus, by a suitable variant of Lindenbaum's lemma, it can be extended to a maximally \mathfrak{L} -consistent set Δ . We now have $M_{\mathfrak{L}}, \Delta \models \Gamma$ and $M_{\mathfrak{L}}, \Delta \not\models \alpha$ by the truth lemma. Since \mathfrak{L} is canonical, $M_{\mathfrak{L}}$ is based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame, so this yields $\Gamma \not\models_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$.

5.2.2 Extensions of InqK Based on Normal Modal Logics

For every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we may now define a corresponding inquisitive system Inq \mathfrak{L} which extends the system InqK introduced above. Formally, Inq \mathfrak{L} is obtained from InqK by restricting entailment to Kripke models based on \mathfrak{L} -frames, so we adopt the following definition.

Definition 5.2.7 (The Systems Inq \mathfrak{L}). Let \mathfrak{L} be a normal modal logic. For any set of formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, we write $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \varphi$ and say that φ *is entailed by* Γ *in* Inq \mathfrak{L} , if for every Kripke model M, based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame, and for every state s over M, we have: if $M, s \models \Gamma$, then $M, s \models \varphi$.

Given any normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we will also say that Inq \mathfrak{L} is the inquisitive system *based on* \mathfrak{L} . Observe that, in particular, InqK is the system based on the smallest normal modal logic, K. Moreover, it is easy to see that, for every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} , Inq \mathfrak{L} is in fact an *extension* of InqK, in the sense that every formula valid in InqK is also valid in Inq \mathfrak{L} but not necessarily the other way around. In other words, if InqK and Inq \mathfrak{L} are identified with the sets of their validities, then InqK \subseteq Inq \mathfrak{L} . As an immediate consequence of this, we obtain the following facts.

Proposition 5.2.8. For every normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} and for all formulas $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have:

$$(i) \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\operatorname{Inq}} \Box(\varphi \to \psi) \to (\Box \varphi \to \Box \psi),$$
$$(ii) \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\operatorname{Inq}} \Box(\varphi \lor \psi) \to (\Box \varphi \lor \Box \psi),$$

(iii) If
$$\models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\ldots,\mathfrak{q}} \varphi$$
, then $\models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\ldots,\mathfrak{q}} \Box \varphi$.

Proof. The statements follow immediately from Propositions 5.1.5 and 5.1.10.

In Section 5.1, we already mentioned that InqK is a *conservative extension* of the normal modal logic K. Thus, a standard formula is valid in InqK if and only if it is valid in K. The following proposition shows that this can be generalized to each of the logics Inq£ (cf. Ciardelli 2016b, p. 213).

Proposition 5.2.9 (Conservativity over \mathfrak{L}). Let \mathfrak{L} be a normal modal logic. Then, for every set of standard formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\alpha\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have: $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \alpha$ if and only if $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}} \alpha$.

$$\frac{\alpha \to (\varphi \lor \psi)}{(\alpha \to \varphi) \lor (\alpha \to \psi)} \text{ (split)} \qquad \frac{\Box(\varphi \to \psi)}{\Box \varphi \to \Box \psi} \text{ (\rightarrow dis)}$$
$$\frac{\neg \neg \alpha}{\alpha} \text{ (dne)} \qquad \frac{\Box(\varphi \lor \psi)}{\Box \varphi \lor \Box \psi} \text{ (\forall dis)} \qquad \frac{\varphi}{\Box \varphi} \text{ (nec)}$$

Figure 5.1: Special rules of the natural deduction system for Inq \mathfrak{L} given by Ciardelli (2016b). In the rules (split) and (dne), $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{!}^{\mathsf{K}}$ must be a *declarative* formula. Moreover, the rule (nec) can only be applied if the subdeduction ending with φ has no open hypotheses.

However, note that this correspondence between a normal modal logic \mathfrak{L} and its inquisitive counterpart, $\operatorname{Inq}\mathfrak{L}$, is restricted to *standard formulas* only. In particular, it may very well be the case that \mathfrak{L} validates certain axiom schemes for *standard* formulas that do not remain valid in $\operatorname{Inq}\mathfrak{L}$ when instantiated with *arbitrary* formulas from \mathcal{L}^{K} . For example, consider the modal logic T, axiomatized by the scheme $\Box \alpha \to \alpha$. By Proposition 5.2.9, we know that this scheme remains valid in $\operatorname{Inq}\mathsf{T}$ for all *standard* formulas $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$. However, for *arbitrary* $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, the scheme $\Box \varphi \to \varphi$ turns out to be invalid in $\operatorname{Inq}\mathsf{T}$. To see this, let M be a reflexive Kripke model with two worlds u and w such that $R = \{(u, u), (w, w)\}, V(u, p) = 0$ and V(w, p) = 1. Then, clearly, for the state $s = \{u, w\}$, we have $M, s \models \Box ?p$ and $M, s \nvDash ?p$, so it follows $\nexists_{\mathsf{T}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \Box ?p \to ?p$.

In order to conclude this section, we now want to present a generic completeness result by Ciardelli (2016b) that holds for all systems Inq \mathfrak{L} which are based on a *canonical* modal logic \mathfrak{L} . More precisely, we will describe a general strategy that allows to turn any axiom system Θ for a canonical modal logic \mathfrak{L} into a sound and complete natural deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} for its inquisitive counterpart, Inq \mathfrak{L} . Recall that, by an *axiom system* for a modal logic \mathfrak{L} , we mean any set of standard formulas $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ such that \mathfrak{L} is the smallest normal modal logic containing Θ . Thus, for example, the empty set would be an axiom system for the logic K, and the set containing all standard instances of $\Box \alpha \to \alpha$ would be an axiom system for the logic T. Note that, in principle, it would also be legitimate to take \mathfrak{L} *itself* as an axiom system for \mathfrak{L}^6

Now, given any canonical modal logic \mathfrak{L} , Ciardelli (2016b, pp. 214–217) provides us with a general recipe that allows to transform any axiom system $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ for \mathfrak{L} into a sound and complete natural deduction system for the corresponding inquisitive logic Inq \mathfrak{L} . The system obtained by Ciardelli's method will be referred to as Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} and can be defined in the following way.

Definition 5.2.10 (The Systems Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ}). Let \mathfrak{L} be a canonical modal logic and let $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^K$ be an axiom system for \mathfrak{L} . The natural deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} comprises all rules of the system presented in Figure 1.3, together with the axioms from Θ and the special rules depicted in Figure 5.1.

In what follows, we will write \vdash_{Θ}^{N} for the provability relation of the system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} . Note that, for every canonical modal logic \mathfrak{L} , Definition 5.2.10 does not give us a *single* proof system for Inq \mathfrak{L} , but a whole *family* of such systems—namely, one system for each possible choice of Θ .

Furthermore, by definition, all elements of the underlying axiom system Θ for \mathfrak{L} are also taken to be axioms of the natural deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} . So, for instance, in the natural deduction system for InqT, we might adopt all instances of the schema $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \alpha$, and in the system for InqK4, we might adopt all instances of $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \Box \Box \alpha$.⁷ This is necessary in order to account

⁶ As we will see later on, this has some notable consequences for the *decidability* of Ciardelli's proof systems.

⁷ Note that, in either case, we require α to be a *standard formula*, i.e., $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$.

for the fact that $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ is a *conservative extension* of \mathfrak{L} , so $Ninq\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ should allow us to derive the characteristic schemes of the underlying base logic \mathfrak{L} and all logical consequences thereof.

Let us now say a bit more about the special rules given in Figure 5.1. First of all, in the rules (split) and (dne), the meta-variable α is now allowed to range over arbitrary *declarative* formulas and not just over *standard* formulas. Thus, α is allowed to contain occurrences of \forall , provided that they are in the scope of a box operator. This is necessary in order to account for the truth-conditionality of declarative formulas in Inq \mathfrak{L} (see Proposition 5.1.8). The rules (\rightarrow dis), (\forall dis) and (nec), on the other hand, are used to account for the fact that \Box distributes over both \rightarrow and \forall , and that necessitation is valid in each of the systems Inq \mathfrak{L} (see Proposition 5.2.8). Note that, in the necessitation rule (nec), we require all hypotheses of the deduction to be *discharged*. Without this restriction, our systems would allow us to prove invalid formulas such as $p \rightarrow \Box p$.⁸ It is now possible to show that each of the systems Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} is sound and complete with respect to Inq \mathfrak{L} .

Theorem 5.2.11 (Soundness and Completeness). Let \mathfrak{L} be a canonical modal logic and let $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ be an axiom system for \mathfrak{L} . For every $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have: $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \varphi$.

A proof is provided by Ciardelli (2016b, pp. 217–221). For the completeness part, he uses the canonical model $M_{\mathfrak{L}}$ for \mathfrak{L} . The basic idea is as follows: suppose that we have $\Gamma \not\models_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$. Using a support-based generalization of the truth lemma, this allows us to find a state S over $M_{\mathfrak{L}}$ such that $M_{\mathfrak{L}}, S \models \Gamma$ and $M_{\mathfrak{L}}, S \not\models \varphi$. But then, since \mathfrak{L} is canonical, it follows $\Gamma \not\models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \varphi$.

5.2.3 Geometric Extensions of InqK

Ciardelli's completeness result for the Kripke logics $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ obviously has some limitations. For one thing, his natural deduction systems $Ninq\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ are clearly not *analytic* in the sense that one might prove a normalization theorem for them and derive a suitable version of the subformula property thereof. For another, Ciardelli's general strategy is only applicable *in practice*, if a suitable axiom system Θ for \mathfrak{L} is already known in advance. In order to be a bit more specific about this, suppose that we want to use Ciardelli's method in order to find a sound and complete natural deduction system for some $Inq\mathfrak{L}$, where \mathfrak{L} is assumed to be canonical. If an appropriate set of axioms Θ for \mathfrak{L} is not given to us in advance, all we can do is to use the set \mathfrak{L} *itself* as an axiom system for \mathfrak{L} when constructing the natural deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} .⁹ However, in this case, we are facing the problem that \mathfrak{L} might not be a *decidable* set of formulas, so the resulting axiomatization for $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ is not guaranteed to be *recursive*.¹⁰ Furthermore, rather than considering modal logics from an axiomatic point of view, we are often more interested in modal logics given to us by a *frame condition* such as 'the logic of all reflexive frames' or 'the logic of all transitive frames'.

For this reason, we will henceforth only consider inquisitive systems based on a certain type of canonical modal logics. The logics belonging to this type are known as *geometric extensions* of the basic system K and they are determined by a first-order frame condition of the form $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \rightarrow \psi)$, where φ and ψ are not allowed to contain implications or universal quantifiers. A frame condition of this kind is also known as a *geometric implication* (see Negri 2003; 2005).¹¹ To make

⁸ Strictly speaking, Ciardelli (2016b, pp. 214–217) uses a slightly more general version of the necessitation rule, which may be described in the following way: given a subdeduction of φ from Γ and additional premises $\Box \psi$ for each $\psi \in \Gamma$, we may infer $\Box \varphi$ and discharge all hypotheses in Γ . However, due to the presence of the rule (\rightarrow dis), the two formulations of the necessitation rule are easily seen to be equivalent.

⁹ As mentioned in the previous section, this would in fact be a legitimate choice in Ciardelli's construction.

¹⁰ Recall that an axiomatization of a logic is said to be *recursive*, if it has a decidable set of axioms (cf. Blackburn et al. 2001, p. 342). By *Craig's theorem*, this is equivalent to saying that the set of theorems of the logic is *recursively enumerable* (cf. Craig 1953; Putnam 1965). Observe that, since Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} comprises all formulas from Θ as axioms, it will only be a recursive axiomatization for Inq \mathfrak{L} , if Θ is a decidable axiom system for \mathfrak{L} (see also Ciardelli 2016b, p. 216).

¹¹ This terminology actually comes from the field of *topos theory*, where first-order theories axiomatized by geometric implications are an important subject of study. For further details, we refer to Mac Lane and Moerdijk (1994).

things precise, let us import some further terminology from standard modal logic. In what follows, properties of frames will be described by first-order formulas taken from a so-called *frame language*. It comprises all first-order formulas built up from a binary relation symbol R, which is interpreted as the accessibility relation of a Kripke frame (cf. Blackburn et al. 2001, p. 126).

Definition 5.2.12 (Frame Language). The *frame language* over a set of variables \mathfrak{S} is denoted $\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ and consists of all first-order formulas built up from a binary relation symbol R and the variables in \mathfrak{S} by means of the constants \bot and \top , the connectives \land , \lor and \rightarrow , and the quantifiers \forall and \exists .

In standard modal logic, it is usually assumed that the frame language also includes the *identity predicate* =. For simplicity, we will henceforth neglect the issues arising from this predicate and restrict ourselves to the simplified frame language without equality. Nevertheless, this is not an essential restriction and the reader can easily adjust our results to the more general setting.

As usual in first-order logic, we will say that a formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ is *closed*, if it does not contain free variables. Note that, by interpreting the binary relation symbol R as the accessibility relation of a frame, every Kripke frame may now be considered as a *model* for the first-order language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$. Hence, given a frame F and a closed formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$, we will write $F \Vdash \varphi$ and say that F*satisfies* φ , if F satisfies φ in classical first-order logic. For any set of closed formulas $\Phi \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$, we will also use the notation $F \Vdash \Phi$ as an abbreviation for ' $F \Vdash \varphi$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$ '.

Let now $\Phi \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ be an arbitrary set of closed formulas. The *class of frames determined by* Φ is denoted by $\mathsf{Fr}(\Phi)$ and defined to be the class of all Kripke frames satisfying the formulas in Φ . In other words, we put $\mathsf{Fr}(\Phi) := \{F \mid F \text{ is a frame with } F \Vdash \Phi\}$. On the other hand, the *modal logic determined by* Φ is denoted by $\mathfrak{L}(\Phi)$ and consists of all standard formulas that are valid in all frames from $\mathsf{Fr}(\Phi)$, so we define $\mathfrak{L}(\Phi) := \{\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}} \mid F \models \alpha \text{ for all } F \in \mathsf{Fr}(\Phi)\}$.¹² A modal logic determined by at least one set of sentences $\Phi \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ is also said to be *elementarily determined*.

Let us consider some examples. As indicated in Table 5.1, the class of all *reflexive* Kripke frames is determined by the first-order sentence $\forall u.Ruu$ and the corresponding standard modal logic is known as KT or T. On the other hand, the class of all *transitive* frames is determined by the sentence $\forall uvw.(Ruv \land Rvw \rightarrow Ruw)$ and the very same sentence also determines the standard modal logic K4. These two first-order sentences together determine the class of all frames that are both reflexive and transitive, which corresponds to the modal logic known as KT4 or S4.

It was already mentioned that we are only interested in frame conditions of a specific type– namely, those conditions that can be described by a number of *geometric implications*. Towards a definition of this concept, let us say that a first-order formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ is *geometric*, if it does not contain occurrences of \rightarrow or \forall . We now import the following notions from Negri (2003; 2005).

Definition 5.2.13 (Geometric Implication, Geometric Axiom). By a geometric implication, we will mean a closed formula of the shape $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \rightarrow \psi)$, where $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ are geometric formulas. A geometric axiom, on the other hand, is a closed formula of the form $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \rightarrow \exists \vec{u}(\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \psi_n))$, where each $\varphi, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$ is a conjunction of atomic formulas from the frame language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$.

In the definition of a geometric axiom, we also allow the special case in which some of the conjunctions $\varphi, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$ are *empty*. In particular, if the antecedent φ of the implication is empty, we identify it with \top and write the geometric axiom in the form $\forall \vec{w} \exists \vec{u}(\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \psi_n)$. Similarly, if each of the formulas ψ_1, \ldots, ψ_n is an empty conjunction, the whole consequent $\exists \vec{u}(\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \psi_n)$ will be identified with \bot , so the geometric axiom has the form $\forall \vec{w} \neg \varphi$.

We are now ready to introduce the most important concept of this section: the class of all *geometric extensions* of the basic modal logic K. This class comprises all standard modal logics that are determined by at least one *finite* set of geometric implications from the frame language. For the sake of simplicity, such an extension of K will also be referred to as a *geometric modal logic*.

¹² Recall that $F \models \alpha$ was defined to mean that α is valid over F in the inquisitive system lnqK. However, by the truthconditionality of standard formulas, this is equivalent to saying that α is valid over F in the standard modal logic K.

¹³ To be clear: by an *atomic formula* from $\mathcal{L}_{F}^{\mathfrak{S}}$, we mean any formula of the form Ruv, where $u, v \in \mathfrak{S}$. Thus, in particular, the logical constants \bot and \top will *not* be considered as atomic formulas.

Definition 5.2.14 (Geometric Modal Logic). A standard modal logic $\mathfrak{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ is said to be *geometric*, if there exists a finite set of geometric implications $\Phi \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by Φ .¹⁴

An inquisitive system $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ will be called *geometric*, if the underlying base logic \mathfrak{L} is geometric. In order to see some examples, let us consider the first-order sentences depicted in Table 5.1. One readily sees that each of these sentences is a geometric implication (and, in fact, even a *geometric axiom*).¹⁵ Consequently, every normal modal logic generated by some combination of the axiom schemes T, 4, 5, B and D is a geometric modal logic. As we have seen above, this includes a wide range of very famous modal logics such as, for example, T, B, D, S4, S5 and many others.

It is easy to see that every geometric axiom is also a geometric implication, but not the other way around. Nevertheless, it is possible to show that every geometric implication is equivalent to a conjunction of geometric axioms. As a consequence, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 5.2.15. A standard modal logic $\mathfrak{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^K$ is geometric if and only if there exists a finite set of geometric axioms $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_F^{\mathfrak{S}}$ such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by A.

Proof. The right-to-left direction is trivial, since every geometric axiom is also a geometric implication. For the other direction, suppose that $\mathfrak{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ is geometric, i.e., there exists a finite set $\Phi \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ of geometric implications such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by Φ . Consider an arbitrary such implication $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \to \psi)$ from Φ . As observed by Palmgren (2002, p. 298), φ and ψ are equivalent to formulas of the form $\exists \vec{v}(\varphi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \varphi_m)$ and $\exists \vec{u}(\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \psi_n)$, respectively, where each φ_i and ψ_i is a conjunction of atomic formulas and \vec{u}, \vec{v} and \vec{w} are assumed to be pairwise disjoint. But then, clearly, $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \to \psi)$ is equivalent to the conjunction of the geometric axioms $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi_i \to \exists \vec{u}(\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \psi_n))$ where $1 \le i \le m$. By repeating this procedure for the other elements of Φ , we thus obtain a finite set of geometric axioms $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ that determines \mathfrak{L} . \Box

Proposition 5.2.15 shows that every geometric modal logic can also be determined by a set of geometric *axioms*, rather than by a set of geometric *implications*. This will play a crucial role in the next section, where we will see a general strategy that allows to transform any set of geometric axioms into a corresponding set of sequent rules. Using this strategy, we will obtain cut-free labelled sequent calculi for all geometric extensions of the inquisitive system InqK.

Finally, let us say a bit more about the relationship between geometric modal logics and the notions introduced in Section 5.2.1. First, it is easy to verify that every geometric modal logic is also a *normal* modal logic in the sense of Definition 5.2.1. In fact, it is even possible to prove a stronger claim: every geometric modal logic is *canonical*. This follows from a more general result by Fine (1975), saying that *any* modal logic determined by first-order frame conditions is canonical.¹⁶ As shown by Goldblatt et al. (2003), however, the converse of this statement is *not* true, i.e., there exist canonical modal logics that are not elementarily determined (and therefore not geometric). We thus arrive at the following picture: the geometric modal logics form a proper subclass of the canonical modal logics, which in turn form a proper subclass of the normal modal logics.

5.3 Sequent Calculi for Geometric Extensions of InqK

We now want to define labelled sequent calculi for the full class of geometric extensions of the basic system InqK. More specifically, for every geometric standard modal logic \mathfrak{L} determined by a finite set of geometric axioms $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{F}^{\mathfrak{S}}$, we will construct a cut-free labelled sequent calculus

¹⁴ Strictly speaking, the finiteness of Φ is not a necessary condition for the results we will obtain in this chapter. Nevertheless, we will keep this constraint, as it greatly simplifies the completeness proof given in Section 5.6.

¹⁵ Observe that, in the first-order formulas corresponding to reflexivity and seriality, the antecedent of the implication is taken to be \top and therefore not displayed in the table.

¹⁶ This result is also known as *Fine's canonicity theorem*. See Goldblatt (2020) for further details.

 $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ that is sound and complete with respect to the corresponding inquisitive system $Inq\mathfrak{L}$. The construction is based on a general strategy described by Negri (2003; 2005), which allows to generate sequent rules from geometric axioms in a schematic and uniform way.

As before, we will assume two countably infinite sets of *state variables*, denoted by \mathfrak{S} and \mathfrak{V} , respectively. The variables in \mathfrak{S} are used for *singleton states* and the variables in \mathfrak{V} are used for *arbitrary* information states. For convenience, we shall assume that \mathfrak{S} is also the set of variables that we used in our definition of the frame language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ (see Definition 5.2.12). Following the convention adopted in the previous chapters, we will use the meta-variables u, v, w, etc., for elements of \mathfrak{S} and the meta-variables x, y, z, etc., for elements of \mathfrak{V} . The set of *labels* is defined in exactly the same way as in our treatment of intuitionistic inquisitive logic, except that the R-operator can no longer be used to embed arbitrary labels, but only variables from \mathfrak{S} .

Definition 5.3.1 (Labels). The set of *labels* is denoted by $\Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ and consists of all expressions generated by the following grammar, where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ are arbitrary variables:

$$\pi ::= w \mid x \mid \emptyset \mid \pi \cdot \pi \mid \pi + \pi \mid R(w).$$

Labels are interpreted in the usual way as descriptions of information states. Thus, intuitively, $\pi \cdot \sigma$ stands for the *intersection* and $\pi + \sigma$ for the *union* of the states denoted by π and σ . As before, we will also use the notation $\pi\sigma$ as a shorthand for $\pi \cdot \sigma$. A label of the form R(w) represents the *neighbourhood* of a world w, i.e., the set of all worlds accessible from w in a Kripke model.

Let us recall some basic vocabulary. A *relational atom* is defined to be an expression of the form $\pi \leq \sigma$, where π and σ are arbitrary labels. A *labelled formula*, on the other hand, is an expression of the form $\pi : \varphi$, where π is a label and $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ is a formula. Relational atoms and labelled formulas have their usual (intended) meaning. That is, $\pi \leq \sigma$ should be read as ' π is a subset of σ ' and $\pi : \varphi$ should be read as ' φ is supported by π '. By a *sequent*, we mean any expression of the form $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, where Γ is a finite multiset containing labelled formulas and relational atoms, and Δ is a finite multiset containing only labelled formulas (but no relational atoms). Given a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, we also call Γ the *antecedent* and Δ the *succedent* of the sequent.

We start by defining a labelled sequent calculus GLinqK for the basic system InqK of inquisitive Kripke logic. Afterwards, we will describe how GLinqK can be extended to a proof system for arbitrary geometric systems Inq \mathfrak{L} .¹⁷ Our sequent calculus for InqK is presented in Figure 5.2. As can be seen, the axioms, the rules for the propositional connectives and most of the order rules are exactly the same as in our labelled sequent calculus for InqB. The only new ingredients are the rules $L\Box$, $R\Box$ and (nb). Intuitively, (nb) says that, if a singleton state w is a subset of another singleton state u, then also the neighbourhood of w is a subset of the neighbourhood of u. The rules $L\Box$ and $R\Box$, on the other hand, mirror the support clause for \Box introduced in Definition 5.1.3. Note that $R\Box$ comes with a side condition, saying that w must be a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion of the rule. Moreover, as usual, we assume that order rules always satisfy the *closure condition*: if an instance of an order rule produces a duplication of relational atoms in the conclusion of the rule, then also the contracted instance of the rule is added to our system.¹⁸

Definition 5.3.2 (The System GLinqK). We define GLinqK to be the sequent calculus depicted in Figure 5.2. A sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is *derivable* in our system, if there exists a proof tree in GLinqK ending with this sequent. Given any finite subset $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, we say that φ is *provable* from Γ in GLinqK, if for some (or, in fact, any) variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable.¹⁹

We adopt the usual terminology from the previous chapters. That is, in an instance of an axiom or a rule of inference, the multiset Γ is called the *left context* and the multiset Δ is called

¹⁷ Recall that an inquisitive system $Inq \mathcal{L}$ is called *geometric*, if the underlying standard modal logic \mathcal{L} is geometric.

¹⁸ As before, this is necessary in order to ensure that contraction on relational atoms is admissible in our system.

¹⁹ As in the previous chapters, we write $x : \Gamma$ for the set of labelled formulas defined by $(x : \Gamma) := \{x : \psi \mid \psi \in \Gamma\}$.

Axioms: $\frac{1}{w:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}Ax \qquad \frac{1}{w:\bot,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}Ax^{\bot} \qquad \frac{1}{w\leqslant\emptyset,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}Ax^{\emptyset}$ Logical Rules: $\begin{array}{ll} \displaystyle \frac{w:p,w\leqslant\pi,\pi:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{w\leqslant\pi,\pi:p,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}Lp & \qquad \displaystyle \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:p}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:p}Rp \\ \displaystyle \frac{w:\bot,w\leqslant\pi,\pi:\bot,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{w\leqslant\pi,\pi:\bot,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}L\bot & \qquad \displaystyle \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:L}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:L}R\bot \end{array}$ $\frac{\pi:\varphi,\pi:\psi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{\pi:\varphi\wedge\psi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} L\wedge \qquad \qquad \frac{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\quad\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\psi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\wedge\psi} R\wedge$ $\frac{\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{\pi:\varphi\otimes\psi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} L \otimes \frac{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi,\pi:\psi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\otimes\psi} R \otimes \frac{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi,\pi:\psi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\varphi\otimes\psi}$ $\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \varphi \quad \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \pi: \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} L \to$ $\frac{x\leqslant \pi, x:\varphi, \Gamma\Rightarrow \Delta, x:\psi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow \Delta, \pi:\varphi\rightarrow \psi} \mathrel{R\rightarrow}$ $\frac{R(w):\varphi,w\leqslant\pi,\pi:\Box\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{w\leqslant\pi,\pi:\Box\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}\,L\Box\qquad\qquad \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,R(w):\varphi}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\Box\varphi}\,R\Box$ Order Rules: $\frac{\pi \leqslant \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (tr) \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi \sigma + \pi \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (dis)$ $\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (in) \qquad \frac{\pi + \tau \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \tau \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (un)$ $\frac{\pi\sigma \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (il) } \qquad \frac{\sigma\pi \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ir) } \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ul)}$ $\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma + \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (ur) } \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \emptyset, \pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \frac{w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant w, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (sg)}$ $\frac{\pi \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (rf)} \quad \frac{w \leqslant \pi, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \underbrace{w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}_{w \leqslant \pi + \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \text{ (cd)}$ $\frac{R(w) \leqslant R(u), w \leqslant u, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant u, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}$ (nb)

Figure 5.2: The system GLinqK. In each case, w and u range over variables from \mathfrak{S} , x ranges over variables from \mathfrak{V} , and π , σ , τ , etc., stand for arbitrary labels. In Rp and $R \perp$, w must be a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion of the rule and π is required to be a non-singleton label, i.e., $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$. Similarly, w must be fresh in $R \square$, and x must be fresh in $R \rightarrow$.

the *right context*. In the conclusion of each rule, and also in the axioms, the labelled formulas and relational atoms not belonging to the context are said to be *principal*. The corresponding expressions occurring in the premises of a rule are called *active*. So, for example, in an application of $R\Box$ with premise $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi$ and conclusion $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$, the labelled formula $\pi : \Box \varphi$ is principal, while the expressions $w \leq \pi$ and $R(w) : \varphi$ are both active.
$$\frac{u \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (T) \qquad \frac{u \leqslant R(v), v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (B) \qquad \frac{v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (D)$$
$$\frac{w \leqslant R(u), w \leqslant R(v), v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant R(v), v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (A) \qquad \frac{w \leqslant R(v), v \leqslant R(u), w \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{v \leqslant R(u), w \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (5)$$

Figure 5.3: Some instances of the geometric rule scheme. The rules correspond to reflexivity, symmetry, seriality, transitivity and Euclideanness, respectively. Rule (D) has a side condition, saying that $v \in \mathfrak{S}$ must be a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion of the rule.

We now want to extend our calculus GLinqK to a proof system for arbitrary geometric inquisitive systems Inq \mathfrak{L} . To this end, we will employ a general method by Negri (2003; 2005) that allows to transform any given set of geometric axioms into a corresponding set of proof rules. The basic idea is as follows: consider an arbitrary inquisitive system Inq \mathfrak{L} such that \mathfrak{L} is a geometric standard modal logic. Then, by Proposition 5.2.15, there exists a finite set of geometric axioms $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by A. We choose an arbitrary geometric axiom $\theta \in \mathsf{A}$. By Definition 5.2.13, the axiom θ must be of the form $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \to \exists \vec{u}(\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \psi_n))$, where each $\varphi, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$ is a conjunction of atomic formulas from the frame language. For simplicity, we restrict ourselves to the case in which \vec{u} contains only one variable, and we distribute the existential quantifier over the disjunctions. More precisely, we transform θ into a formula of the shape $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \to (\exists u_1\psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \exists u_n\psi_n))$, where none of the variables u_i occurs free in φ . Let now Φ be the multiset of all atoms occurring in φ and let Ψ_i be the multiset of all atoms occurring in ψ_i . Furthermore, given any set of atoms from the frame language $\Sigma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$, let us write Σ° for the result of replacing each atomic formula Rv_1v_2 in Σ by the corresponding relational atom $v_2 \leq R(v_1)$. The geometric axiom θ is then converted into the sequent rule (θ -grs) of the form

$$\frac{\Psi_1^{\circ}(v_1/u_1), \Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \frac{\Psi_n^{\circ}(v_n/u_n), \Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{(\theta \text{-}\mathsf{grs})} (\theta \text{-}\mathsf{grs})$$

where each v_i is a fresh variable from \mathfrak{S} and $\Psi_i^{\circ}(v_i/u_i)$ stands for the result of substituting v_i for u_i in each relational atom occurring in the multiset Ψ_i° . The generic rule (θ -grs) is also referred to as the *geometric rule scheme* (cf. Negri 2003; Dyckhoff and Negri 2012).²⁰ To see an example, consider the geometric axiom $\forall uvw.(Ruv \land Rvw \rightarrow Ruw)$, expressing the *transitivity* of a Kripke frame. The corresponding instance of the geometric rule scheme takes the form

$$\frac{w \leqslant R(u), w \leqslant R(v), v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{w \leqslant R(v), v \leqslant R(u), \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}$$
(4)

which can be seen as a proof-theoretical formulation of axiom scheme 4. In the same way, one can also generate instances of the geometric rule scheme for each of the other geometric axioms presented in Table 5.1. The resulting sequent rules are depicted in Figure 5.3. For every inquisitive system $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ given by some set of geometric axioms A, we may now construct a sequent calculus $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ by extending GLinqK with the respective instances of the geometric rule scheme.

²⁰ If the consequent of θ is empty (that is, if θ is of the form $\forall \vec{w} \neg \varphi$), then (θ -grs) is taken to be a *zero-premise rule* (and thus an *axiom*). Moreover, one can also extend the rule scheme to the more general setting in which the frame language includes the identity predicate =. In this case, an atomic formula of the form $v_1 = v_2$ should be translated as the pair of relational atoms $v_1 \leq v_2, v_2 \leq v_1$. As mentioned above, however, we will not deal with this case here.

Definition 5.3.3 (The Systems $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$). Let $\operatorname{Inq} \mathfrak{L}$ be a geometric inquisitive logic and let $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_F^{\mathfrak{S}}$ be a finite set of geometric axioms such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by A.²¹ We define $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$ to be the labelled sequent calculus obtained by adding, for each geometric axiom $\theta \in A$, the corresponding instance (θ -grs) of the geometric rule scheme to the basic system GLinqK.

For example, in order to obtain a sequent calculus for the inquisitive system InqKT, we may enrich the proof system GLinqK with the sequent rule (T) presented in Figure 5.3. And in order to obtain a sequent calculus for the logic InqKD4, we may add the rules (D) and (4) to GLinqK.

As usual, we say that a formula φ is *provable* from a finite subset $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ in one of the calculi $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$, if there is a variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ such that $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$. In order to make sure that contraction is admissible in each of the systems $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$, we also adopt the familiar *closure condition* for instances of the geometric rule scheme. That is, if an instance (θ -grs) of the scheme produces a duplication of relational atoms in the multiset Φ° occurring in the conclusion of the rule, then also the contracted version of (θ -grs) is taken to be part of our sequent calculi.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. In Section 5.4, we will highlight some remarkable structural properties of our proof systems. We will see that each of the calculi $GLinq\mathcal{L}_A$ enjoys cut-admissibility, height-preserving invertibility of all rules, and height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction. In Section 5.5, we will establish the soundness of our proof systems and show that, if \mathcal{L} is determined by some combination of the geometric axioms presented in Table 5.1, then the completeness of $GLinq\mathcal{L}_A$ can also be established indirectly, by using a suitable Hilbert-style system for $Inq\mathcal{L}$. In Section 5.6, finally, we will use a countermodel construction in order to provide a general completeness proof covering each of the calculi $GLinq\mathcal{L}_A$.

5.4 **Basic Properties**

Let us start by pointing out some important features of our proof systems. Throughout this section, let $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{F}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ be an arbitrary but fixed finite set of geometric axioms and let $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_{A}$ be the corresponding labelled sequent calculus introduced in Definition 5.3.3. We first show that the generalized initial sequents, familiar from the previous chapters, are derivable in $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_{A}$.

Lemma 5.4.1. All sequents of the following form are derivable in $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$:

(i) $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$, (ii) $\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$.

Proof. The derivability of (i) is proved in the usual way, by induction on the structure of φ . Most cases are treated in the same way as in the classical setting (see the proof of Lemma 3.2.1). The only new case is the inductive step for \Box . In this case, we construct the following derivation:

$$\frac{\overline{R(w) \leqslant R(w), R(w) : \psi, w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \Box \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}}{\frac{R(w) : \psi, w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \Box \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}{\frac{R(w) : \psi, w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \Box \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}{\frac{w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \Box \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \Box \psi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \psi}} L\Box$$
(rf)

The sequent in (ii), on the other hand, can be derived from (i) by an application of (rf).

Lemma 5.4.2. All sequents of the following form are derivable in $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$:

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi, \\ (ii) \ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \emptyset : \varphi, \\ (iii) \ \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi, \\ (iv) \ \pi : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi. \end{array}$

²¹Recall that, by Proposition 5.2.15, such a set of geometric axioms does in fact exist.

 $\frac{\overline{w \leqslant \emptyset, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}}{\frac{w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}{\pi \leqslant \emptyset, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}} R\Box$ $\frac{\overline{w : \bot, w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}}{\frac{w \leqslant \sigma, w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}{\frac{w \leqslant \pi, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \sigma : \bot, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi}} L\bot$

Proof. The derivability of (i) and (iii) is established by induction on φ (see Lemma 3.2.2). The only new part is the inductive step for \Box , which is covered by the following two derivations:

As before, the sequents in (ii) and (iv) can be obtained from (i) and (iii) by the rule (rf).

Next, we want to show that $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ also preserves the structural properties of the labelled sequent calculi considered in the previous chapters. As usual, we say that a rule of inference is *height-preserving admissible* (or *hp-admissible*), if it satisfies the condition that, whenever all premises of the rule are derivable by a proof tree of height at most n, then also the conclusion of the rule is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n (where the *height* of a tree is taken to be the length of its longest branch). If the admissibility of a rule is not height-preserving invertible (or *hp-invertible*), if it is the case that, whenever the conclusion of the rule is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n the rule is derivable by a proof tree of height at not be height-preserving invertible (or *hp-invertible*), if it is the case that, whenever the conclusion of the rule is derivable by a proof tree of height at most n, then also each of its premises is derivable by such a proof tree.

The substitution operator for labels is defined in exactly the same way as in our sequent calculus for Inql (see Section 4.4). Thus, in particular, if $u, v, w \in \mathfrak{S}$ are singleton variables, then we put R(w)(u/v) := R(u), if v = w, and R(w)(u/v) := R(w), if $v \neq w$. The definition is extended to multisets in the usual way. The *substitution rules* are now defined to be the rules

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta(u/w)} (u/w) \qquad \text{ and } \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma(\pi/x) \Rightarrow \Delta(\pi/x)} (\pi/x)$$

where u and w are variables from \mathfrak{S} , x is a variable from \mathfrak{V} , and π is an arbitrary label.

Proposition 5.4.3. The substitution rules are hp-admissible in $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_{A}$.

Proof. By induction on the height of a derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. The base case is treated in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.2.6. For the inductive step, suppose that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable by a proof tree \mathcal{D} of height n > 1. Consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If this rule does not have eigenvariables, then we simply apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and then the rule itself.²² And if the last rule in \mathcal{D} has eigenvariables, then we first use the induction hypothesis in order to rename the eigenvariables, before performing the desired substitution. So, for example, suppose that we want to substitute a variable $u \in \mathfrak{S}$ for some other variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$. Moreover, assume that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of the geometric rule scheme having the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\Psi_{1}(v_{1}/u_{1}), \Phi, \Gamma' \Rightarrow \Delta'} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{m}}{\cdots \qquad \Psi_{m}(v_{m}/u_{m}), \Phi, \Gamma' \Rightarrow \Delta'} (\theta \text{-grs})$$

where each $v_i \in \mathfrak{S}$ is an eigenvariable of the rule. By applying the induction hypothesis to the m premises, we first replace the eigenvariables v_i by fresh variables v'_i satisfying $v'_i \neq w$. For

²² As in our labelled sequent calculus for InqB, a rule is said to have an *eigenvariable*, if a root-first application of this rule allows to introduce a fresh variable in a derivation. In the proof system $\text{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$, this includes the rules Rp, $R \perp$, $R \rightarrow$, $R \square$ and possibly some instances of the geometric rule scheme. For further details, we refer to Section 3.1.

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} LW \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} RW \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} W^{\leqslant}$$
$$\frac{\pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi : \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} LC \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi} RC \qquad \frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} C^{\leqslant}$$

Figure 5.4: The structural rules of weakening and contraction.

each *i* with $1 \le i \le m$, this yields a derivation \mathcal{D}'_i for $\Psi_i(v'_i/u_i), \Phi, \Gamma' \Rightarrow \Delta'$ such that \mathcal{D}'_i is of height at most n-1. We now use the induction hypothesis again in order to perform the substitution (u/w) in each of these *m* derivations. Finally, by an application of the rule (θ -grs), we obtain a derivation \mathcal{D}' for $\Phi(u/w), \Gamma'(u/w) \Rightarrow \Delta'(u/w)$ such that \mathcal{D}' is of height at most *n*. This concludes the proof. For the other rules involving eigenvariables, the argument is similar. \Box

We can now prove that the structural rules of *weakening* and *contraction*, depicted in Figure 5.4, are hp-admissible in $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$. In addition, we show that all rules of our system are hp-invertible.

Proposition 5.4.4. *The weakening rules are hp-admissible in* $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ *.*

Proof. For each of the three weakening rules, the proof proceeds by an easy induction on the height of a derivation \mathcal{D} for the premise of the rule. In the inductive step, we consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If this rule does not have eigenvariables, then we apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule, and then the rule itself. Otherwise, we first use Proposition 5.4.3 in order to introduce a new eigenvariable not clashing with the variables occurring in the weakening formula. For further details, the reader is referred to the proof of Proposition 3.2.7.

Proposition 5.4.5. All rules of $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ are hp-invertible.

Proof. The hp-invertibility of the rules for the propositional connectives is established in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.2.8. Moreover, the hp-invertibility of $L\Box$ and the order rules (including instances of the geometric rule scheme) follows immediately from the hp-admissibility of weakening. Thus, we only need to show that $R\Box$ is hp-invertible. To this end, let \mathcal{D} be an arbitrary derivation for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$ and let n be the height of \mathcal{D} . Using induction on n, we show that, for every singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ not occurring in the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$, there is also a derivation \mathcal{D}' for $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi$ such that \mathcal{D}' has height at most n.

For the base case, assume that \mathcal{D} has height n = 1. In this case, $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$ must be an instance of an axiom and $\pi : \Box \varphi$ cannot be principal (recall that the principal formula of an instance of Ax is always of the form w : p for some atom p). Hence, $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi$ is also an instance of an axiom and therefore derivable by a proof tree \mathcal{D}' of height n = 1.

For the inductive step, suppose that \mathcal{D} has height n > 1 and let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be an arbitrary variable not occurring in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$. If the last step in \mathcal{D} is a rule for which $\pi : \Box \varphi$ is not principal, then we apply the induction hypothesis to the premises of the rule (possibly together with a height-preserving substitution), and we then use the same rule again. On the other hand, if the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of $R\Box$ for which $\pi : \Box \varphi$ is principal, then \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{D^{r}}{\underset{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \Box \varphi}{u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi: \Box \varphi}} R \Box$$

where $u \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$. By substituting w for u in the subderivation \mathcal{D}^* , we now obtain the desired derivation \mathcal{D}' for $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi$. \Box

Proposition 5.4.6. *The contraction rules are hp-admissible in* $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ *.*

Proof. For each of the three contraction rules, the proof is done simultaneously, by induction on the height of a derivation for the premise of the respective rule. The overall structure of the argument is the same as in the proof of Proposition 3.2.9. For the sake of brevity, we only consider the inductive step for the rule RC.²³ Suppose that the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi, \pi : \varphi$ is derivable by a proof tree \mathcal{D} of height n > 1. We need to show that there also exists a derivation \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$ such that \mathcal{D}' is of height at most n. For this purpose, consider the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} . If the labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is not principal in this rule, then both occurrences of $\pi : \varphi$ also appear in each of the premises of the rule. Thus, by applying the induction hypothesis to the premises and then the same rule again, we obtain the desired derivation \mathcal{D}' for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$. On the other hand, if $\pi : \varphi$ is principal in the last rule applied in \mathcal{D} , we distinguish cases, depending on the form of φ . If φ is atomic or if the main operator of φ is one of the propositional connectives, then the argument is the same as in the classical setting. Therefore, let us assume that φ is of the shape $\varphi = \Box \psi$ for some formula $\psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$. In this case, the derivation \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}^*}{\substack{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi, \pi : \Box \psi \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \psi, \pi : \Box \psi}} R \Box$$

where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in the end-sequent of \mathcal{D} . By applying the heightpreserving invertibility of $R\square$ and a subsequent height-preserving substitution to the premise of the indicated application of $R\square$, we now obtain a derivation of height at most n-1 for the sequent $w \leq \pi, w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \psi, R(w) : \psi$. Using the induction hypothesis and an application of $R\square$, this yields the desired derivation \mathcal{D}' of height at most n for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \psi$. \Box

Next, we will prove that the cut rule is admissible in $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$. A definition of this rule was given in Section 3.2.3. The overall structure of our argument is the same as in the previous chapters. We thus proceed by a main induction on the rank of the cut formula, with a subinduction on the height of the cut rule application. First, we restate our definition of the degree of a label.

Definition 5.4.7. The *degree of a label* π is denoted by $deg(\pi)$ and defined as follows: if $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a singleton variable, then we put $deg(\pi) := 0$, and if $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then we put $deg(\pi) := 1$.

The degree of a formula φ is denoted by $deg(\varphi)$ and defined to be the number of occurrences of the logical symbols \bot , \land , \rightarrow , \mathbb{V} and \Box in φ . The rank of a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is defined in the familiar way, so we put $rank(\pi : \varphi) := (deg(\varphi), deg(\pi))$, where $deg(\varphi)$ is the degree of φ and $deg(\pi)$ is the degree of π . Ranks are again compared using a *lexicographic ordering*. That is, we write $rank(\pi : \varphi) < rank(\sigma : \psi)$ and say that the rank of $\pi : \varphi$ is smaller than the rank of $\sigma : \psi$, if we either have $deg(\varphi) < deg(\psi)$, or we have both $deg(\varphi) = deg(\psi)$ and $deg(\pi) < deg(\sigma)$.

Lemma 5.4.8. Let π and σ be arbitrary labels and let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be a singleton variable. It holds:

- (i) If $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$, then $rank(w : \varphi) < rank(\pi : \varphi)$,
- (ii) $rank(\pi : \varphi_i) < rank(\sigma : \varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_2)$ for i = 1, 2 and $\otimes \in \{\land, \rightarrow, \lor\}$,

(iii) $rank(\pi : \varphi) < rank(\sigma : \Box \varphi)$.

Proof. The first two statements are proved in the same way as in our treatment of InqB (see Lemma 3.2.12). The last claim follows directly from the fact that we have $deg(\varphi) < deg(\Box \varphi)$. \Box

As in the previous chapters, the *height of a cut rule application* is taken to be the sum of the heights of the two derivations for the premises $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \varphi$ and $\pi : \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta$ of this application.²⁴ And the *rank of a cut rule application* is the rank of the associated cut formula $\pi : \varphi$.

²³ As before, the rule LC is treated symmetrically. Moreover, the hp-admissibility of the rule C^{\leq} can be easily established by exploiting the closure condition for the order rules and for instances of the geometric rule scheme.

²⁴ Again, by the *height* of a proof tree, we mean the length of a longest branch in this tree.

$$\begin{array}{l} \displaystyle \frac{\sigma:\varphi,\sigma\leqslant\pi,\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{\sigma\leqslant\pi,\pi:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} \, (\mathsf{glp}) & \qquad \displaystyle \frac{w\leqslant\pi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:\alpha}{\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,\pi:\alpha} \, (\mathsf{grp}) \\ \\ \displaystyle \frac{u\leqslant R(w),u:\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta}{w:\Diamond\varphi,\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta} \, L\Diamond & \qquad \displaystyle \frac{u\leqslant R(w),\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,u:\varphi}{u\leqslant R(w),\Gamma\Rightarrow\Delta,w:\Diamond\varphi} \, R\Diamond \end{array}$$

Figure 5.5: Some further admissible rules. In the rule (grp), w must be a fresh variable and α must be a declarative formula, i.e., $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_{1}^{\mathsf{K}}$. In the rule $L\diamondsuit$, the variable u must be fresh.

Theorem 5.4.9 (Cut-Admissibility). *The cut rule is admissible in* $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$.

Proof. We proceed by a main induction on the rank of the (labelled) cut formula with a subinduction on the height of the cut. Most cases are treated in the same way as in our sequent calculus for InqB (see Theorem 3.2.13). One of the new parts is the case in which the cut formula is of the form π : $\Box \varphi$ and principal on both sides. In this case, the cut rule application must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\frac{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi} R \Box} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{R \Box} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{u \leqslant \pi, \pi : \Box \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta} L \Box$$
$$\frac{u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta}{u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} L \Box$$

Using the hp-admissibility of substitution and contraction, this derivation is transformed into

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\underbrace{u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi}_{u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \overline{R}(w) : \varphi} \underbrace{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi}_{\overline{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi} R\Box} \frac{\mathcal{D}_{2}}{R(u) : \varphi, u \leqslant \pi, \pi : \Box \varphi, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Theta}}_{R(u) : \varphi, u \leqslant \pi, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta, \Theta} (cut)$$

where the first application of the cut rule is of lower height and the second application is of lower rank than the original one (the latter assertion follows from part (iii) of Lemma 5.4.8). \Box

Finally, let us sketch some further admissibility results. Figure 5.5 comprises four additional rules that can be shown to be admissible in $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$. As before, the rule (glp) can be seen as a generalization of the rule Lp, reflecting the *persistency* of the support relation: if a formula φ is supported by a state π and if σ is an enhancement of π , then φ is also supported by σ . The rule (grp), on the other hand, generalizes the rule Rp and accounts for the *truth-conditionality* of declarative formulas: if a declarative α is true at every world w of a state π , then α is also supported by π . The rules $L\diamondsuit$ and $R\diamondsuit$, finally, reflect the truth conditions for \diamondsuit described above: a formula $\diamondsuit \varphi$ is true at a world w, just in case there exists some world $u \in R(w)$ such that φ is true at u.

Proposition 5.4.10. *Each of the rules depicted in Figure* 5.5 *is admissible in* GLinq \mathcal{L}_A .

Proof. The admissibility of (glp) is proved in exactly the same way as in the classical setting, by exploiting the admissibility of the cut rule in $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$ (see Proposition 3.2.14). In order to prove the admissibility of (grp), we proceed by induction on the structure of the declarative formula $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_1^{\mathsf{K}}$. Again, most cases are treated in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.2.14. The only difference is that, in the base case, we also need to consider the case in which α is of the form $\alpha = \Box \varphi$ for some arbitrary formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$. For this purpose, let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be a fresh variable and suppose that $w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, w : \Box \varphi$ is derivable. Then, by the invertibility of the rule $R\Box$,

there must also be a derivation \mathcal{D} for the sequent $u \leq w, w \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(u) : \varphi$, where $u \in \mathfrak{S}$ is again a fresh variable. Using this derivation, we now obtain the following proof tree:

$$\begin{array}{c}
 \mathcal{D} \\
 \underbrace{u \leqslant w, w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, R(u) : \varphi}_{w \leqslant w, w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \overline{R(w)} : \varphi} (w/u) \\
 \underbrace{w \leqslant w, w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \overline{R(w)} : \varphi}_{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi} R\Box
 \end{array}$$

This concludes the proof. The admissibility of the rules $L \diamondsuit$ and $R \diamondsuit$ can easily be established by deriving the conclusion of the corresponding rule directly from the associated premise.

5.5 Indirect Completeness Proofs

As an interlude, we will now establish the soundness of all calculi $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ and show that, if \mathfrak{L} is a standard modal logic determined by some combination A of the geometric axioms presented in Table 5.1, then the completeness of $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ can also be established indirectly, by using an appropriate Hilbert-style system for $Inq \mathfrak{L}$. In Section 5.6, we will then use a countermodel construction in order to provide a general completeness proof, covering each of the systems $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$.

Let us start by proving the soundness of our calculi. First of all, if $w \in W$ is a world of a Kripke model $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ and if $s = \{w\}$ is the corresponding singleton state, then we will also write R(s) instead of R(w), where R(w) refers to the neighbourhood of w in M. The labels used in our systems are now interpreted in the obvious way, so we adopt the following definition.

Definition 5.5.1 (Interpretation). Let $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ be a Kripke model. An *interpretation* over M is a function $I : \mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V} \to \mathcal{P}(W)$ such that, for all singleton variables $w \in \mathfrak{S}$, the state $I(w) \subseteq W$ is a singleton. Given an interpretation I over some Kripke model M, it is inductively extended to a function from the set $\Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ of all labels to the set $\mathcal{P}(W)$ in the following way:

(i) $I(\emptyset) := \emptyset$,

(ii) $I(\pi \cdot \sigma) := I(\pi) \cap I(\sigma),$

- (iii) $I(\pi + \sigma) := I(\pi) \cup I(\sigma),$
- (iv) I(R(w)) := R(I(w)).

We will adopt the familiar terminology. In particular, given any interpretation I over some Kripke model M, we will say that a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ is *satisfied* by I, if φ is supported by the state $I(\pi)$, i.e., if we have $M, I(\pi) \models \varphi$. Furthermore, we say that a relational atom $\pi \leq \sigma$ is satisfied by I, just in case we have $I(\pi) \subseteq I(\sigma)$. A sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is called *valid in a Kripke model* M, if it satisfies the condition that, for all interpretations I over M, if I satisfies all labelled formulas and relational atoms in Γ , then there exists a labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$ in Δ such that I satisfies $\pi : \varphi$. We are now ready to prove the soundness of our calculi: if φ is provable from Γ in any of the systems $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$, then φ is entailed by Γ in the corresponding inquisitive logic $\mathsf{Inq}\mathfrak{L}$.

Proposition 5.5.2 (Soundness of $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$). Let $\operatorname{Inq} \mathfrak{L}$ be a geometric system, let A be a finite set of geometric axioms determining \mathfrak{L} , and let $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$ be the proof system given by Definition 5.3.3. For any finite $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^K$, if $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$ for some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, then $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\operatorname{Inq}} \varphi$.²⁵

Proof. Let Inq \mathfrak{L} be an arbitrary geometric inquisitive system, let A be a finite set of geometric axioms such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by A, and let $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ be the corresponding sequent calculus

²⁵ Recall that $\models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\ln q}$ was defined to be the semantic consequence relation associated with the inquisitive Kripke logic Inq \mathfrak{L} . Thus, we have $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\ln q} \varphi$ if and only if, for every Kripke model M based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame and for every state sover M, it is the case that $M, s \models \Gamma$ implies $M, s \models \varphi$. For further details, the reader is referred to Definition 5.2.7.

introduced in Definition 5.3.3. Consider an arbitrary Kripke model $M = \langle W, R, V \rangle$ such that $F = \langle W, R \rangle$ is an \mathfrak{L} -frame (thus, in particular, F satisfies each of the geometric axioms in A).²⁶

We first prove that, if a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$, then $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M. To this end, suppose that there exists a derivation \mathcal{D} for $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ in $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$. Using induction on the structure of \mathcal{D} , we show that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is also valid in M. Most cases can be treated in the same way as in the classical setting. We only need to consider the case in which the last step in \mathcal{D} is one of the rules for \Box , an instance of (nb), or an instance of the geometric rule scheme. First, assume that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of the rule $R\Box$. In this case, \mathcal{D} must be of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}'}{\underset{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, \pi: \Box \varphi}{w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, \pi: \Box \varphi}} R\Box$$

where $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ is a fresh variable not occurring in $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, \pi : \Box \varphi$. By induction hypothesis, we know that the sequent $w \leqslant \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, R(w) : \varphi$ is valid in M. We need to show that this also holds for the sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, \pi : \Box \varphi$. Towards a contradiction, suppose that $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, \pi : \Box \varphi$ is *not* valid in M, i.e., there exists an interpretation I over M such that I satisfies all expressions in Γ , but I satisfies neither $\pi : \Box \varphi$ nor any expression in Σ . By the semantics of \Box , this implies that there exists some world $u \in W$ such that $u \in I(\pi)$ and $M, R(u) \not\models \varphi$. Let now I^* be the interpretation which is just like I, except that the variable w is mapped to the singleton state $\{u\}$, so we put $I^*(w) := \{u\}$. Then, clearly, I^* satisfies $w \leqslant \pi$ and each of the expressions in Γ . Therefore, by induction hypothesis, I^* must also satisfy $R(w) : \varphi$ or some labelled formula in Σ . If I^* satisfies $R(w) : \varphi$, then we must have $M, R(u) \models \varphi$ by definition of I^* , which is a contradiction to the fact that $M, R(u) \not\models \varphi$. And if I^* satisfies some element of Σ , then also the original interpretation I must satisfy this element, which is a contradiction to our assumption about I. Thus, in either case, we arrive at a contradiction, so $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Sigma, \pi : \Box \varphi$ is valid in M.

If the last step in \mathcal{D} is an application of $L\Box$ or (nb), then the proof is similar. In order to show the soundness of the geometric rules, let now $\theta \in A$ be an arbitrary geometric axiom. Without loss of generality, assume that θ is given to us in the form $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \rightarrow (\exists u_1 \psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \exists u_n \psi_n))$, where each $\varphi, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$ is a conjunction of atomic formulas from the frame language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$. Moreover, suppose that \mathcal{D} ends with an application of the corresponding geometric rule, so \mathcal{D} is of the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}_{1}}{\Psi_{1}^{\circ}(v_{1}/u_{1}), \Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta} \cdots \qquad \Psi_{n}^{\circ}(v_{n}/u_{n}), \Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\theta \text{-grs})$$

where each v_i is a fresh variable not occurring in the conclusion, Φ° is the set of relational atoms corresponding to the atomic formulas in φ , and Ψ_i° is the set of relational atoms corresponding to the atomic formulas in ψ_i .²⁷ By induction hypothesis, we know that each of the sequents $\Psi_i^{\circ}(v_i/u_i), \Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in the Kripke model M. We need to prove that this also holds for $\Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta$. To this end, let I be an arbitrary interpretation over M and suppose that I satisfies all expressions in Φ° and Σ . Since M is based on a frame F satisfying the geometric axiom θ , there must be some world $w_i \in W$ such that F satisfies the first-order formula ψ_i , provided that the variable u_i is interpreted as w_i and all free variables in ψ_i are interpreted in accordance with I. Let now I^* be the interpretation which is just like I, except that the variable v_i is mapped to the singleton state $\{w_i\}$, so we put $I^*(v_i) := \{w_i\}$. Then, clearly, I^* satisfies all expressions in $\Psi_i^{\circ}(v_i/u_i), \Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma$. Hence, by induction hypothesis, there must be some element of Δ which is satisfied by I^* and therefore also by I. Since I was an arbitrary interpretation satisfying all expressions in Φ° and Σ , this shows that the sequent $\Phi^{\circ}, \Sigma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in M, as desired.

²⁶ As explained above, F is an \mathfrak{L} -frame, if F validates every formula in \mathfrak{L} . Here, \mathfrak{L} is assumed to be the standard modal logic determined by A, so this is equivalent to saying that F satisfies each of the geometric axioms in A when considered as a model of first-order logic. For a more detailed explanation of the relevant notions, see Section 5.2.3.

²⁷ By what was said in Section 5.3, given any set $\Theta \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ of atomic formulas from the frame language, we write Θ° for the result of replacing every atomic formula Ruv in Θ by the corresponding relational atom $v \leq R(u)$.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \textit{Axioms:} \\ (\text{IPL}) & \text{All axioms of the `intuitionistic' system given in Figure 1.5,} \\ (\rightarrow \text{Dis}) & \Box(\varphi \rightarrow \psi) \rightarrow (\Box \varphi \rightarrow \Box \psi), \\ (\mathbb{V}\text{Dis}) & \Box(\varphi \otimes \psi) \rightarrow (\Box \varphi \vee \Box \psi), \\ (\text{Split}) & (\alpha \rightarrow (\varphi \otimes \psi)) \rightarrow ((\alpha \rightarrow \varphi) \otimes (\alpha \rightarrow \psi)), \text{ where } \alpha \in \mathcal{L}_!^{\mathsf{K}} \text{ is declarative,} \\ (\text{DN}) & \neg \neg \alpha \rightarrow \alpha, \text{ where } \alpha \in \mathcal{L}_!^{\mathsf{K}} \text{ is declarative.} \end{array}$ The rules of inference of our system are *modus ponens* (from $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ and $\Gamma \vdash \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, one can infer $\Gamma \vdash \psi$) as well as *necessitation* (from $\vdash \varphi$, one can infer $\vdash \Box \varphi$).

Figure 5.6: The Hilbert-style system HinqK.

This concludes the induction. Thus, if $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$, then $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ is valid in all Kripke models M based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame. Let now $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^K$ be an arbitrary finite set and suppose that $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$, where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. As we have just seen, this implies that, for every Kripke model M, based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame, and for all interpretations I over M, it is the case that $M, I(x) \models \Gamma$ implies $M, I(x) \models \varphi$. But then, clearly, it follows $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\operatorname{Inq}} \varphi$. \Box

We now want to establish the completeness of $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ for the special case in which $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_F^{\mathfrak{S}}$ consists of one or more of the geometric axioms presented in Table 5.1. The overall structure of our argument will be the same as in the previous chapters. Thus, given any standard modal logic \mathfrak{L} determined by some combination A of the geometric axioms from Table 5.1, we will first define a Hilbert-style system Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} for Inq \mathfrak{L} , where $\Theta \subseteq \{T, 4, 5, B, D\}$ is the set of standard axiom schemes associated with the geometric axioms in A. Afterwards, we will show that Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} is equivalent to the corresponding natural deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} introduced in Section 5.2.2, which allows us to conclude that Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} is sound and complete with respect to Inq \mathfrak{L} . Finally, we will use the system Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} in order to establish the completeness of GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A .

A sound and complete Hilbert-style proof system for the basic logic InqK is depicted in Figure 5.6. As can be seen, our system is denoted by HinqK and comprises all axioms of the system from Figure 1.5, together with the distributivity axioms (\rightarrow Dis) and (\lor Dis), the split axiom (Split) and the double negation axiom (DN). The only rules of inference are modus ponens and necessitation. Observe that, in the axiom schemes (Split) and (DN), α is allowed to range over arbitrary *declarative* formulas, and not just over *standard* formulas. Moreover, the necessitation rule can only be applied, if the premise of the rule is derived without using hypotheses. We will now extend HinqK to a proof system Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} for the inquisitive logic Inq \mathfrak{L} , where \mathfrak{L} is an arbitrary standard modal logic generated by some combination Θ of the axiom schemes presented in Table 5.1.

Definition 5.5.3 (The Systems Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ}). Let \mathfrak{L} be a standard modal logic generated by some combination $\Theta \subseteq \{\mathsf{T}, \mathsf{4}, \mathsf{5}, \mathsf{B}, \mathsf{D}\}$ of the axiom schemes from Table 5.1.²⁸ The Hilbert-style system Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} is obtained by adding all axioms from Θ to the basic system HinqK given in Figure 5.6.

So, for example, in order to construct a Hilbert-style system for InqKT, we can add all instances of the scheme $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \alpha$ to HinqK. And in order to obtain a Hilbert-style system for InqKD4 we may add all instances of $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \Diamond \alpha$ and $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \Box \Box \alpha$ to HinqK. Note that, in each case, α must be a *standard* formula, so we require $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$. The provability relation associated with the system

²⁸ Recall that a standard modal logic \mathfrak{L} is *generated* or *axiomatized* by Θ , if \mathfrak{L} is the smallest normal modal logic containing Θ (see Section 5.2.1). Thus, strictly speaking, Θ should be a set of standard formulas, rather than a set of axiom schemes. However, for simplicity, we will also identify an axiom scheme with the collection of its instances.

 $\operatorname{Hinq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ is denoted by $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}}$ and inductively defined in the usual way. Thus, we will write $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ and say that φ is provable from Γ in $\operatorname{Hinq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$, if one of the following three conditions is satisfied:

- (1) φ is an element of Γ or an axiom of Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} .
- (2) There exists some formula $\psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ such that both $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ and $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \psi \to \varphi$.
- (3) There exists some $\psi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ such that $\varphi = \Box \psi$ and $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \psi$.

Using induction on the definition of $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$, it is easy to prove that the relation $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}}$ is *monotonic*, i.e., if we have $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ and $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta$, then also $\Delta \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. We now want to show that each of the calculi $\mathsf{Hing}\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ is equivalent to the corresponding natural deduction system $\mathsf{Ning}\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ given by Definition 5.2.10. To this end, one first has to prove the *deduction theorem* for $\mathsf{Hing}\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$.

Theorem 5.5.4 (Deduction Theorem). Let Θ be some combination of the axiom schemes from Table 5.1 and let \mathfrak{L} be generated by Θ . Then, in Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} , we have $\Gamma, \varphi \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \psi$ if and only if $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi \to \psi$.²⁹

The argument is essentially the same as in the classical setting (see the proof of Theorem 1.5.4). Using the deduction theorem, one can now prove that each of the Hilbert-style calculi Hinq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} is equivalent to the corresponding natural deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} given by Definition 5.2.10.

Theorem 5.5.5. Let Θ be some combination of the axiom schemes from Table 5.1 and let \mathfrak{L} be generated by Θ . It holds $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ if and only if $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$, where $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}}$ is the provability relation of $\operatorname{Ninq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$. *Proof.* For the left-to-right direction, one proceeds by induction on the definition of $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$. This is straightforward, since all axioms depicted in Figure 5.6 are clearly provable in $\operatorname{Ninq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ and modus ponens and necessitation are also available in $\operatorname{Ninq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$. Moreover, by Definition 5.2.10, each of the special axioms from Θ is also an axiom of $\operatorname{Ninq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$. For the right-to-left direction, one can use induction on the structure of a natural deduction proof for $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$. This is also not difficult, since most of the natural deduction rules correspond directly to some axiom of $\operatorname{Hinq} \mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$. \Box

As a corollary, it follows that $\text{Hing}\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ is sound and complete with respect to $\text{Ing}\mathfrak{L}$. We now want to use our Hilbert-style systems in order to prove the completeness of $\text{GLing}\mathfrak{L}_A$ for the special case in which $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_F^{\mathfrak{S}}$ is some combination of the geometric axioms presented in Table 5.1. To this end, we first show that each of the axioms from Figure 5.6 is provable in GLingK.

Lemma 5.5.6. Let φ be an instance of one of the axiom schemes depicted in Figure 5.6. Then, φ is provable in GLinqK, i.e., for any $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, there exists a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in GLinqK.

Proof. For the axioms from Figure 1.5, the proof is straightforward. Thus, we only need to show the provability of the two distribution axioms, the split axiom and the double negation axiom. For the axiom schemes (\rightarrow Dis) and (DN), we may construct the following derivations:

²⁹ The reader might wonder whether this statement is in fact true, since textbook sources sometimes claim that the deduction theorem fails for modal proof systems containing the necessitation rule. However, as shown by Hakli and Negri (2012), this is actually a misconception: if necessitation is restricted to cases in which the premise does not depend on assumptions (as in our proof systems), then the usual version of the deduction theorem can be obtained.

$$\frac{\Rightarrow x:\varphi \Rightarrow x:\varphi \rightarrow \psi}{\Rightarrow x:\psi} \text{ (mp)} \qquad \qquad \frac{\Rightarrow x:\varphi}{\Rightarrow x:\Box\varphi} \text{ (nec)}$$



Note that, in the derivation for (DN), we use the admissible rule (grp) from Figure 5.5. This is legitimate, since $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_1^K$ is assumed to be declarative. The axiom (\mathbb{W} Dis) can be derived as follows:³⁰

where the subderivation ${\mathcal D}$ is of the form

$$\begin{array}{c} \underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,R(u) \in R(w),R(w):\varphi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi}{\underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,u \in w,R(w):\varphi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi}{\underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,v \in w,R(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi}{\underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,v \in w,R(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi}{\underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,u \in w,R(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi,W(v):\psi}{\underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,u \in w,R(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi,W(v):\psi}{\underset{\scriptstyle \ldots,u \in w,R(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,W(w):\varphi \forall \psi \Rightarrow \ldots,R(u):\varphi}} R\Box \end{array}$$
(nb)

The split axiom (Split), finally, can be derived in the same way as in the proof of Lemma 3.3.5. \Box

Next, we need to show that modus ponens and necessitation are admissible in GLinqK.

Lemma 5.5.7. The rules (mp) and (nec), depicted in Figure 5.7, are admissible in GLinqK.

Proof. The admissibility of (mp) is proved in the usual way, by using the admissibility of the cut rule. For further details, the reader is referred to the proof of Lemma 3.3.6. In order to show the admissibility of (nec), assume that $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLinqK, where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. For any singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$, this yields a derivation for $w \leq x \Rightarrow R(w) : \varphi$ by the admissibility of substitution and weakening. But then, by an application of $R\Box$, we obtain a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \Box \varphi$. \Box

We now want to prove the completeness of $GLinq\mathcal{L}_A$ for the special case in which A consists of one or more of the geometric axioms given in Table 5.1. To this end, we first show that every formula provable in the corresponding Hilbert-style system for Inq \mathcal{L} is also provable in $GLinq\mathcal{L}_A$.

 $[\]overline{{}^{30}\operatorname{Recall}\operatorname{that}\vee\operatorname{was}\operatorname{defined}\operatorname{by}\varphi\vee\psi:=\neg(\neg\varphi\wedge\neg\psi).$

Theorem 5.5.8. Let \mathfrak{L} be determined by some combination A of the geometric axioms from Table 5.1 and let $\Theta \subseteq \{\mathsf{T}, 4, 5, \mathsf{B}, \mathsf{D}\}$ be the corresponding set of standard axiom schemes.³¹ If we have $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ in the Hilbert-style system Hing_{Θ} , then $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in GLing_{A} for any $x \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Proof. The statement is proved by induction on a Hilbert-style proof for $\vdash_{\Theta}^{H} \varphi$. By Lemma 5.5.6 and 5.5.7, we already know that all axioms of the basic system HinqK are derivable in GLinq \mathcal{L}_A and that modus ponens and necessitation are admissible in GLinq \mathcal{L}_A . Hence, it suffices to show that each of the special schemes in {T, 4, 5, B, D} is derivable in terms of the corresponding sequent rule depicted in Figure 5.3. For T, 4 and B, we may construct the following derivations:³²

By Lemma 5.4.1 (i)

$$\frac{\overline{v \leqslant R(w), R(w) : \alpha, v \leqslant R(u), u \leqslant R(w), w \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, y : \Box \alpha \Rightarrow v : \alpha}}{R(w) : \alpha, v \leqslant R(u), u \leqslant R(w), w \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, y : \Box \alpha \Rightarrow v : \alpha} L\Box} \qquad (4)$$

$$\frac{R(w) : \alpha, v \leqslant R(u), u \leqslant R(w), w \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, y : \Box \alpha \Rightarrow v : \alpha}{u \leqslant R(w), w \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, y : \Box \alpha \Rightarrow R(u) : \alpha} R\Box$$

$$\frac{w \leqslant y, y \leqslant x, y : \Box \alpha \Rightarrow y : \Box \alpha}{y \leqslant x, y : \Box \alpha \Rightarrow Q : \Box \alpha} R \Box$$

Note that, in each case, the application of the admissible rule (grp) is indeed correct, since $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathsf{K}}$ is assumed to be a standard formula (and therefore also a declarative formula). For the axiom schemes 5 and D, similar derivations can be found. The details are left to the reader.

Corollary 5.5.9. Let \mathfrak{L} be determined by some combination A of the geometric axioms from Table 5.1. Then, $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{A}$ is sound and complete with respect to $\operatorname{Inq}\mathfrak{L}$, i.e., for any finite $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\operatorname{Inq}} \varphi$ if and only if $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{A}$ for any $x \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Proof. The soundness of $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$ has been established in Proposition 5.5.2. For the completeness part, let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^K$ be an arbitrary finite set of formulas and assume that it holds $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\operatorname{Inq}} \varphi$. By Theorem 5.2.11, this yields $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}} \varphi$, where Θ is the set of standard axiom schemes corresponding to the geometric axioms in A, and $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{N}}$ is the provability relation associated with the natural

³¹So, for example, if A contains the geometric axiom expressing *reflexivity*, then Θ includes all instances of $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \alpha$, and if A contains the geometric axiom corresponding to *transitivity*, then Θ includes all instances of $\Box \alpha \rightarrow \Box \Box \alpha$.

³² In the derivation for axiom scheme B, we use the fact that \diamondsuit was defined by $\diamondsuit \varphi := \neg \Box \neg \varphi$.

deduction system Ninq \mathfrak{L}_{Θ} . But then, by Theorem 5.5.5, we also have $\Gamma \vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \varphi$ in the Hilbert-style system $\mathsf{Hinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$. Using the deduction theorem for $\mathsf{Hinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\Theta}$ (see Theorem 5.5.4), one readily sees that this implies $\vdash_{\Theta}^{\mathsf{H}} \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$, where $\bigwedge \Gamma$ is the conjunction of the elements of Γ . Therefore, by Theorem 5.5.8, the sequent $\Rightarrow x : \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$ is derivable in $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$ for any $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. Now, by the invertibility of the rules $R \to \operatorname{and} L \land$, it follows that $y \leq x, y : \Gamma \Rightarrow y : \varphi$ is derivable in $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$, where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable. But then, by performing the substitution (x/y) and a subsequent application of (rf), we obtain the desired derivation for $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ in $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$. \Box

5.6 Completeness via Countermodels

In the previous section, we have seen a restricted completeness proof, covering a limited class of the proof systems $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$. We now want to give a general completeness proof, applicable to *each* of our labelled sequent calculi. More precisely, given any inquisitive logic $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ such that \mathfrak{L} is determined by some finite set of geometric axioms $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_F^{\mathfrak{S}}$, we will show that $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ is sound and complete with respect to $Inq\mathfrak{L}$. Consequently, the strategy described in Section 5.3 is in fact adequate in order to generate cut-free labelled sequent calculi for the full class of geometric extensions of the basic system InqK. This generalizes a famous result by Negri (2005), who provides a general method for the construction of cut-free labelled sequent calculi for all geometric extensions of the standard modal logic K (see also Negri and Von Plato 1998; Negri 2003; Dyckhoff and Negri 2012). Our argument is based on the construction of an infinite proof search tree and the extraction of a countermodel from an open branch of this tree.³³

Throughout this section, let $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ be an arbitrary geometric inquisitive system, let $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{F}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ be an arbitrary finite set of geometric axioms determining \mathfrak{L} , and let $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_{A}$ be the sequent calculus for $Inq\mathfrak{L}$ given by Definition 5.3.3. We start by introducing some basic terminology.

Definition 5.6.1 (Proof Search Tree, Branch). Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ be a formula. A *proof search tree* for φ is a possibly infinite tree of sequents \mathfrak{T} , constructed from a root node of the form $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ with $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, by root-first applications of the proof rules of $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{\mathsf{A}}$. By a *branch* in a proof search tree \mathfrak{T} , we mean any sequence β of consecutive sequents in \mathfrak{T} such that the first sequent in β is the root node $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ of \mathfrak{T} , and β is either infinite or it ends with one of the leaf nodes of \mathfrak{T} .

In what follows, proof search trees are assumed to be *upward growing*, so the root node is always written at the bottom and leaves are written at the top of the tree. Given a proof search tree \mathfrak{T} and a branch β in \mathfrak{T} , we say that β is *closed*, if β is finite and the topmost sequent in β is an instance of one of the axioms of $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$. If a branch is not closed, it is said to be *open*. The tree \mathfrak{T} is called closed, if *every* branch in \mathfrak{T} is closed, and it is said to be open otherwise. For any branch β of the form $\Gamma_0 \Rightarrow \Delta_0, \Gamma_1 \Rightarrow \Delta_1, \Gamma_2 \Rightarrow \Delta_2, \ldots$, we also define the sets $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $\Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by putting

$$\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} := \bigcup_{i \geq 0} \Gamma_i \qquad \text{and} \qquad \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow} := \bigcup_{i \geq 0} \Delta_i,$$

so $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ is the union of all the *antecedents* of sequents in β , and $\Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ is the union of all the *succedents* of sequents in β . Note that, if β is infinite, then each of the sets $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $\Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ can be infinite as well. Finally, for any *finite* branch β , we will also write $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ for the *topmost sequent* in β .

We now want to use a countermodel construction in order to establish the completeness of the calculus $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$. The basic idea of our argument can be summarized as follows: first, we will describe a procedure that allows to construct proof search trees for formulas in a systematic way. More precisely, given any formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^K$ as input, our algorithm starts to construct a proof search tree \mathfrak{T} for φ by successively applying the rules of $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$ root-first in all possible

³³ A similar strategy was also used by Negri (2009; 2014) in order to prove the completeness of her labelled sequent calculi for geometric extensions of K and for intermediate logics characterized by geometric frame conditions.

ways. If φ is valid in Inq \mathfrak{L} , then the search terminates and our algorithm outputs a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$. Otherwise, the search goes on forever and \mathfrak{T} becomes infinite. By Kőnig's lemma, \mathfrak{T} will have at least one infinite branch, which is then used to extract a countermodel for φ .

In order for this strategy to work, we have to make sure that our proof search algorithm is *exhaustive*, i.e., if the input formula φ is provable in $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$, then the procedure should actually be able to find a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$ after a finite number of steps. In other words, if the search tree produced by our algorithm has an infinite branch, then this branch should always be *saturated*, in the sense that every rule applicable to the branch is in fact applied at some stage.

To make sure that this condition is met, we must consider some difficulties that might arise during the search procedure. One problem is associated with the 'cumulative' rules of our system, i.e., those rules in which the principal formulas and the principal atoms are always copied in the premises of the rule. This includes all order rules of $GLinq\mathfrak{L}_A$, but also the logical rules $Lp, L\perp$, $L\rightarrow$ and $L\square$. The problem is that these rules allow us to create repetitions of rule applications that are essentially *identical*, which might cause our algorithm to get stuck in an infinite loop. For example, naive applications of the rule $L\square$ might produce an infinite loop of the form

Clearly, such a loop is undesirable, since the repeated applications of $L\Box$ do not yield any new formulas and prevent the other rules of our system from being applied to the branch. In order to resolve this issue, we have to employ a *loop-checking mechanism* that prevents our algorithm from performing redundant applications of rules. In particular, whenever our algorithm wants to perform a root-first application of a 'cumulative' rule to a sequent in a branch β , it first checks whether the result of this application is already contained in β . If this is the case, then the application is taken to be redundant and our algorithm does not apply the rule. Otherwise, the rule application is carried out in the usual way. So, for example, before performing an application of $L\Box$ with principal expressions $w \leq \pi$ and $\pi : \Box \varphi$ in a branch β , we always check whether $R(w) : \varphi$ does already occur in $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. If so, we refrain from applying the rule. Otherwise, the application is allowed and will be performed by our algorithm. Similarly, before performing an application of $L \rightarrow$ with principal expressions $\pi \leq \sigma$ and $\sigma : \varphi \rightarrow \psi$, we need to check whether $(\pi : \varphi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ or $(\pi : \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. The rule is now only applied, if *neither* of these two conditions is satisfied.

Another problem arises from the fact that applications of order rules can create new labels, which can then be used for further applications of order rules, and so on. This might cause our algorithm to produce infinite sequences of rule applications, creating increasingly more complex labels. For instance, using only the rule (in), we might produce an infinite loop of the form

$$\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma \tau \sigma \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma \tau \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma \tau \sigma, \pi \leqslant \sigma \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\frac{\pi \leqslant \sigma \tau, \pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\pi \leqslant \sigma, \pi \leqslant \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}} (in)$$

In order to avoid loops of this kind, we have to make sure that, at any point in the procedure, only a finite number of order rule applications can be performed. The basic idea is to assign a *weight* to each possible instance of an order rule and to divide the construction of the proof search tree into different stages: at stage 0, only order rule applications of weight at most 0 are performed; at stage 1, only order rule applications of weight at most 1 are performed, and so forth.

Algorithm 1 The Procedure PROOFSEARCH

Input: A formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$. **Output:** If φ is provable, the program outputs a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$. Otherwise, it runs forever. 1 $n \leftarrow 0$; 2 Initialize \mathfrak{T} as the tree consisting only of the root node $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$, for some $x \in \mathfrak{V}$; 3 **while** true **do** 4 $\mathfrak{T} \leftarrow \mathsf{ExtendTree}(\mathfrak{T}, n)$; 5 **if** \mathfrak{T} is closed **then return** \mathfrak{T} ; 6 $n \leftarrow n + 1$; 7 **end**

Let us make this idea more precise. First, recall that any label π is essentially a finite string of symbols, built up from the constant \emptyset and a countable set of variables $\mathfrak{S} \cup \mathfrak{V}$ by means of a finite number of function symbols. As is well known, any such string can be encoded by a *natural number*, in such a way that the code number of each string is effectively computable and any string can be reconstructed from its code number in a unique way. A concrete way of doing this is the well-known *Gödel numbering*, i.e., the encoding used by Gödel in the proof of his famous *incompleteness theorems* (cf. Gödel 1931; Smith 2013, pp. 136–139). We thus obtain the following fact.

Fact 5.6.2. There exists a function $\# : \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V}) \to \mathbb{N}$, assigning to each label $\pi \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V})$ some natural number $\#(\pi) \in \mathbb{N}$, such that each of the following three conditions is satisfied:

(i) # is injective, i.e., distinct labels are assigned distinct numbers under #.

(ii) # is computable, i.e., there exists an effective procedure that computes $\#(\pi)$, for any label π .

(iii) Given any number $n \in \mathbb{N}$, one can compute the set of all labels π with $\#(\pi) \leq n$.

In what follows, we will assume a fixed numbering function $\# : \Lambda(\mathfrak{S}, \mathfrak{V}) \to \mathbb{N}$ satisfying each of the conditions mentioned in Fact 5.6.2. Note that we do not care about the exact specification of this function—all that matters is that such a function *can* be defined. Given any label π , we also call $\#(\pi)$ the weight of π . The set of all labels of weight at most n will be denoted by Λ^n , so we put $\Lambda^n := \{\pi \mid \#(\pi) \leq n\}$. Recall that, for any natural number n, the set Λ^n is computable by the last condition mentioned in Fact 5.6.2. Now, let us say that a label π is *dominant* in an application of an order rule, if π has an occurrence in the conclusion of this application which does not belong to the context of the rule. For instance, in an application of the rule (in) with premise $\pi \leq \sigma \tau, \pi \leq \sigma, \pi \leq \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\pi \leq \sigma, \pi \leq \tau, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, each of the labels π , σ and τ would be dominant. For order rules that do not have principal atoms in the conclusion—such as, e.g., the rules (rf), (il) or (ur)—we assume that the dominant labels are simply the labels from which the active expressions of this rule are constructed. So, for example, in an application of (il) with premise $\pi\sigma \leq \pi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$ and conclusion $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$, both of the labels π and σ are dominant (but $\pi\sigma$ is not dominant). The weight of an order rule application is now defined to be the maximum of the weights of the dominant labels of this application. Thus, for instance, the weight of the aforementioned application of (il) would be the number $n = \max\{\#(\pi), \#(\sigma)\}$.

We are now able to avoid the problem sketched above, by bounding the weight of legitimate order rule applications at each stage of the search procedure: at stage 0, we only allow order rule applications of weight at most 0; at stage 1, we only allow order rule applications of weight at most 1, and so on. Clearly, by the injectivity of #, there are only finitely many order rule applications at each stage, but every possible application will be reached at some point.

We are now ready to describe the construction of our proof search tree. The overall structure of the procedure is presented in Algorithm 1. As can be seen, given any formula $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ as input, our algorithm first assigns the value 0 to a variable n and initializes \mathfrak{T} as the proof search tree consisting only of the root node $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$, where $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ is some state variable. Afterwards,

Algorithm 2	2 The	Procedure	Extend	Tree (Excer	ot)
-------------	-------	-----------	--------	--------	-------	-----

	Input: A finite proof search tree \mathfrak{T} and a natural number <i>n</i> .						
	Output: An extension of \mathfrak{T} .						
	% Perform all root-first applications of Lp with loop-checking:						
1	while \mathfrak{T} has an open branch β such that Γ_{ρ}^{top} contains $w \leq \pi$ and $\pi : p$ with $(w : p) \notin \Gamma_{\rho}^{\downarrow}$ do						
2	Extend \mathfrak{T} by writing the sequent $w: p, \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ above $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$;						
3	end						
	% Perform all root-first applications of Rp :						
4	while \mathfrak{T} has an open branch β such that Δ_{β}^{top} is of the form $\Delta, \pi : p$ for $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$ do						
5	Choose a fresh $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and extend \mathfrak{T} by writing $w \leq \pi, \Gamma_{\beta}^{top} \Rightarrow \Delta, w : p$ above $\Gamma_{\beta}^{top} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{top}$;						
6	end						
	% Perform all root-first applications of $L \rightarrow$ with loop-checking:						
7	while \mathfrak{T} has an open β s. t. Γ_{β}^{top} contains $\pi \leq \sigma, \sigma: \varphi \to \psi$ with $(\pi:\varphi) \notin \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, (\pi:\psi) \notin \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ do						
8	Extend \mathfrak{T} by writing both $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}, \pi : \varphi \text{ and } \pi : \psi, \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \text{ above } \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}};$						
9	end						
	% Perform all root-first applications of $R \rightarrow$:						
10	while \mathfrak{T} has an open branch β such that $\Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ is of the form $\Delta, \pi: \varphi \to \psi$ do						
11	Choose a fresh $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ and write $x \leq \pi, x : \varphi, \Gamma_{\beta}^{top} \Rightarrow \Delta, x : \psi$ above $\Gamma_{\beta}^{top} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{top}$;						
12	end						
	% Perform all root-first applications of $L\Box$ with loop-checking:						
13	while \mathfrak{T} has an open branch β such that $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ contains $w \leq \pi, \pi : \Box \varphi$ with $(R(w) : \varphi) \notin \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ do						
14	Extend \mathfrak{T} by writing $R(w): \varphi, \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ above $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$;						
15	end						
	% Perform all root-first applications of $R\Box$:						
16	while \mathfrak{T} has an open branch β such that $\Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ is of the form $\Delta, \pi : \Box \varphi$ do						
17	Choose a fresh $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and extend \mathfrak{T} by writing $w \leq \pi, \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta, R(w) : \varphi$ above $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$;						
18	end						
	% Perform all root-first applications of (in) having weight at most n :						
19	while \mathfrak{L} has an open β s. t. Γ_{β}^{top} contains $\pi \leq \sigma, \pi \leq \tau$ with $\pi, \sigma, \tau \in \Lambda^n$ and $(\pi \leq \sigma \tau) \notin \Gamma_{\beta}^{v}$ do						
20	Extend 5 by writing $\pi \leq \sigma \tau$, $\Gamma_{\beta}^{r} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{r}$ above $\Gamma_{\beta}^{r} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta}^{r}$;						
21							
	% Perform all root-first applications of (cd) having weight at most n :						
22	while Σ has an open β s. i. Γ_{β} contains $w \in \pi + \delta$ with $w, \pi + \delta \in \Lambda^{*}$, $(w \in \pi), (w \in \delta) \notin \Gamma_{\beta}$ do						
23	$ \text{Extend } \mathfrak{L} \text{ by writing both } w \leqslant \pi, 1_{\beta} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta} \text{ and } w \leqslant \theta, 1_{\beta} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta} \text{ above } 1_{\beta} \Rightarrow \Delta_{\beta} ; $						
24	ena 9/ Derform all root first applications of (ul) begins weight at most m						
25	for each open branch β in \mathcal{T} and for all π , $\sigma \in \Lambda^n$ with $(\pi < \pi \pm \sigma) d \Gamma^{\downarrow}$ do						
25	Fytend \mathcal{T} by writing $\pi \leq \pi \pm \sigma \Gamma^{\text{top}} \rightarrow \Lambda^{\text{top}}$ above $\Gamma^{\text{top}} \rightarrow \Lambda^{\text{top}}$.						
20	$\square \text{ Latence } \sim \text{ by writing } n \ll n + 0, 1 \beta \rightarrow \Delta_{\beta} \text{ above } 1 \beta \rightarrow \Delta_{\beta} \text{,}$						
27	6. Add similar loops for the other rules						
20	γ_0 Add similar loops for the other fulles						
20							

the algorithm enters a (possibly infinite) while-loop. At each iteration of the loop, the procedure calls a subroutine EXTENDTREE, which will be described in detail below. Roughly speaking, this subroutine updates the tree \mathfrak{T} , by performing all non-redundant applications of logical rules, all weight-n applications of order rules and all possible applications of the geometric rules of $\operatorname{GLinq} \mathfrak{L}_A$. Once the subroutine is finished, our program checks whether the updated tree \mathfrak{T} is closed. If this is the case, then \mathfrak{T} is a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$, so the algorithm halts and outputs \mathfrak{T} . Otherwise, n is incremented and we proceed with the next iteration of the loop.

Let us now turn to the description of the subroutine EXTENDTREE. An excerpt from the pseudocode for this subroutine is provided in Algorithm 2. Given any finite proof search tree \mathfrak{T} and any natural number n as input, the procedure EXTENDTREE executes the following steps:

- (1) First, we perform all non-redundant applications of Lp to the open branches of ℑ. That is, our algorithm selects an arbitrary open branch β in ℑ such that the topmost sequent of β is of the form w ≤ π, π : p, Γ ⇒ Δ with (w : p) ∉ Γ[↓]_β, and it then extends this branch by writing w : p, w ≤ π, π : p, Γ ⇒ Δ above the topmost sequent of β. Afterwards, we proceed with the next branch in ℑ until no further applications of Lp are possible. This corresponds to the while-loop in lines 1–3 of Algorithm 2. Note that, due to the loop-checking mechanism, this step must terminate after a finite number of iterations of the loop.
- (2) Once this is done, we perform all possible applications of *Rp*. Thus, while ℑ contains an open branch β such that the topmost sequent of β is of the form Γ ⇒ Δ, π : p with π ∉ 𝔅, we select a fresh variable w ∈ 𝔅 not occurring in the tree and extend ℑ by writing w ≤ π, Γ ⇒ Δ, w : p above the topmost sequent of β. This corresponds to the while-loop in lines 4–6 of Algorithm 2. Observe that, since w is a singleton label, the new formula w : p cannot be used in further applications of *Rp*, so this step must terminate as well.³⁴ In the subsequent steps, we execute similar while-loops for the rules L⊥ and R⊥. The details are essentially the same as in the first two steps and therefore left to the reader.
- (3) Next, we perform all possible applications of L∧ and R∧. That is, while ℑ has an open branch β with topmost sequent of the form π : φ ∧ ψ, Γ ⇒ Δ, we extend the branch by writing π : φ, π : ψ, Γ ⇒ Δ on top of β. Similarly, while ℑ has an open branch β with topmost sequent of the form Γ ⇒ Δ, π : φ ∧ ψ, we split the branch and write both Γ ⇒ Δ, π : φ and Γ ⇒ Δ, π : ψ on top of β. The rules L w and R w are treated analogously.
- (4) Afterwards, all possible applications of the rules L→, R→, L□ and R□ are performed. The corresponding while-loops are displayed in lines 7–18 of Algorithm 2. Note that, for L→ and L□, we use our loop-checking mechanism, so this step is guaranteed to terminate.
- (5) In the subsequent steps, we perform all order rule applications of weight at most *n*. Let us consider a few representative cases. In order to perform all weight-*n* applications of the rule (in), we execute the loop in lines 19–21 of Algorithm 2. That is, while ℑ has an open branch β with topmost sequent of the form π ≤ σ, π ≤ τ, Γ ⇒ Δ such that each of the labels π, σ and τ has weight at most *n* and π ≤ στ does not already occur in Γ[↓]_β, we extend this branch by writing π ≤ στ, π ≤ σ, π ≤ τ, Γ ⇒ Δ on top of β. The rules (tr), (dis), (un) and (nb) are treated similarly. For order rules involving a branching—that is, for (sg) and (cd)—we perform a loop-checking for each of the two premises. The corresponding while-loop for (cd) is displayed in lines 22–24. For order rules without principal atoms, we simply iterate over all weight-*n* instances of the rule. For example, in order to close the tree under weight-*n* applications of (ul), we just add all relational atoms of the form π ≤ π + σ with π, σ ∈ Λⁿ to each open branch β. This corresponds to the for-loop in lines 25–27 of our algorithm. The rules (il), (ir), (ur) and (rf) are treated in the same way. Clearly, since every order rule can only have finitely many instances of weight at most *n*, this step must terminate.
- (6) Finally, we perform all possible applications of the geometric rules of $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$. To this end, we select an arbitrary geometric axiom $\theta \in A$ and consider the corresponding rule

$$\frac{\Psi_1^{\circ}(v_1/u_1), \Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \frac{\Psi_m^{\circ}(v_m/u_m), \Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Phi^{\circ}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} \left(\theta \text{-grs}\right)$$

For each open branch β in \mathfrak{T} , our algorithm first determines all subsets $\Theta_1^{\beta}, \ldots, \Theta_k^{\beta} \subseteq \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ in the topmost sequent that are instantiations of the set of principal atoms Φ° .³⁵ Note that we do not require these subsets to be disjoint, so some formula occurrences in $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{top}}$ may also

³⁴ Recall that, in the rule Rp, the principal formula must be of the form π : p for some *non-singleton* label $\pi \notin \mathfrak{S}$.

 $^{^{35}}$ By an *instantiation* of Φ° , we mean any set of relational atoms obtained from Φ° by uniform substitution of variables.

be contained in more than one of the sets Θ_i^{β} . For every open branch β in \mathfrak{T} and for each of the subsets $\Theta_i^\beta \subseteq \Gamma_\beta^{\text{top}}$, our algorithm now performs the corresponding root-first application of (θ -grs) to the respective branch β , in such a way that the k applications of (θ -grs) in β are executed all at once and all branches of \mathfrak{T} are expanded at the same time. Thus, if the topmost sequent of a branch β contains k instantiations of Φ° , then this will cause the branch β to be split into m^k new branches. After that, our algorithm selects the next geometric axiom in A and proceeds in the same way. Because A is finite and since every geometric rule (θ -grs) is applied only a finite number of times, this step clearly terminates.

Once this is finished, our algorithm returns the updated tree \mathfrak{T} to the program in Algorithm 1. This concludes the description of the procedure EXTENDTREE. Note that, by what was said above, this procedure must be *terminating*, i.e., given any tree \mathfrak{T} and any natural number n as input, EXTENDTREE will in fact halt and return an updated version of \mathfrak{T} after a finite number of steps.

Let us now consider the tree \mathfrak{T} constructed by Algorithm 1 for some input formula φ . Clearly, if \mathfrak{T} becomes closed at some stage of the construction, our algorithm will halt and output \mathfrak{T} , which is now a derivation for $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$. Otherwise, Algorithm 1 will run forever and \mathfrak{T} becomes infinitely large. In this case, \mathfrak{T} must contain an infinite branch β , and such a branch will always be *saturated*, in the sense that every rule applicable to the branch is in fact applied at some stage (this follows directly from the specification of EXTENDTREE and the iterated executions of this subroutine during the construction of \mathfrak{T}). In other words, an infinite branch in \mathfrak{T} will always be closed under all possible applications of the rules of $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$, so we obtain the following facts.

Lemma 5.6.3 (Closure under Logical Rules). Let β be an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1. Then, β is closed under root-first applications of the logical rules, so we have:

- (i) If it holds $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then also $(w : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. And if $(\pi : p) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then there exists a variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that both $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(w : p) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$.
- (ii) If it holds $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : \bot) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then also $(w : \bot) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. And if $(\pi : \bot) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then there exists a variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that both $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(w : \bot) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. (iii) If we have $(\pi : \varphi \land \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then both $(\pi : \varphi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. And if $(\pi : \varphi \land \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$.
- $\Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \text{ then at least one of } (\pi:\varphi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \text{ and } (\pi:\psi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \text{ is the case.}$ (iv) If we have $(\pi:\varphi \lor \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then at least one of $(\pi:\varphi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi:\psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ is the case.
- (iv) If we have (x : φ ∨ φ) ∈ Γ_β, then all clust one of (x : φ) ∈ Γ_β and (x : φ) ∈ Γ_β is the clust. And if (π : φ ∨ ψ) ∈ Δ_β[↓], then both (π : φ) ∈ Δ_β[↓] and (π : ψ) ∈ Δ_β[↓].
 (v) If (π ≤ σ) ∈ Γ_β[↓] and (σ : φ → ψ) ∈ Γ_β[↓], then (π : φ) ∈ Δ_β[↓] or (π : ψ) ∈ Γ_β[↓]. And if (π : φ → ψ) ∈ Δ_β[↓], then there is an x ∈ 𝔅 with (x ≤ π), (x : φ) ∈ Γ_β[↓] and (x : ψ) ∈ Δ_β[↓].
 (vi) If (w ≤ π) ∈ Γ_β[↓] and (π : □φ) ∈ Γ_β[↓], then also (R(w) : φ) ∈ Γ_β[↓]. And if (π : □φ) ∈ Δ_β[↓], then there exists a variable w ∈ 𝔅 such that both (w ≤ π) ∈ Γ_β[↓] and (R(w) : φ) ∈ Δ_β[↓].

Proof. We only prove statement (vi), the other parts are similar. First, suppose that we have both $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : \Box \varphi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, at some point in the execution of Algorithm 1, some initial segment of β must end with a sequent of the form $w \leq \pi, \pi: \Box \varphi, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta$. Hence, during the next execution of the subroutine EXTENDTREE, our algorithm will perform the corresponding root-first application of $L\Box$ to this initial segment, so it follows $(R(w) : \varphi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, as desired. Now, assume that $(\pi : \Box \varphi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, at some stage, an initial segment of β must end with a sequent of the form $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, \pi' : \Box \varphi$. Thus, during the next execution of EXTENDTREE, the procedure will perform the corresponding root-first application of $R\Box$ to this initial segment, so there must be some variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma^{\downarrow}_{\beta}$ and $(R(w) : \varphi) \in \Delta^{\downarrow}_{\beta}$.

Lemma 5.6.4 (Closure under Order Rules). Let β be an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1. Then, β is closed under root-first applications of the order rules, so we have:

- (i) All atoms of the form $\pi \leq \pi$ and $\pi_1 \pi_2 \leq \pi_i$ and $\pi_i \leq \pi_1 + \pi_2$ are in $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, for i = 1, 2.
- (ii) If we have both $(\pi \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\sigma \leq \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then $(\pi \leq \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$.

 $\begin{array}{ll} (iii) \ If (\pi \leqslant \sigma + \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ then \ also \ (\pi \leqslant \pi \sigma + \pi \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \\ (iv) \ If \ we \ have \ both \ (\pi \leqslant \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ and \ (\pi \leqslant \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ then \ (\pi \leqslant \sigma \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \\ (v) \ If \ both \ (\pi \leqslant \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ and \ (\tau \leqslant \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ then \ (\pi + \tau \leqslant \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \\ (vi) \ If \ (\pi \leqslant w) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ then \ (\pi \leqslant \emptyset) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ or \ (w \leqslant \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \\ (vii) \ If \ (w \leqslant \pi + \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ then \ (w \leqslant \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ or \ (w \leqslant \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \\ (viii) \ If \ (w \leqslant u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ then \ also \ (R(w) \leqslant R(u)) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \end{array}$

Proof. We only prove part (viii). Suppose $(w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, clearly, there must be some $n \geq 0$ such that, starting from the *n*-th iteration of the while-loop in Algorithm 1, the topmost sequent of the current initial segment of β always contains $w \leq u$ in the antecedent. Let now k be given by $k := \max\{n, \#(w), \#(u)\}$. Then, during the k-th execution of EXTENDTREE, our algorithm performs the corresponding root-first application of (nb), so it follows $(R(w) \leq R(u)) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. \Box

It is also possible to prove similar closure properties for the *geometric rules* of $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$. The details are left to the reader. We now want to use a countermodel construction in order to prove the completeness of $\operatorname{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_A$ with respect to $\operatorname{Inq}\mathfrak{L}$. In order to understand the basic idea, let \mathfrak{T} be the tree constructed by Algorithm 1 for some input formula φ . We will show that, if \mathfrak{T} contains an infinite branch β , then this branch can be used to construct a Kripke model M_β and an interpretation function I_β over M_β such that all expressions in $\Gamma_\beta^{\downarrow}$ are satisfied under I_β and all expressions in $\Delta_\beta^{\downarrow}$ are not satisfied under I_β . As a consequence, it then follows that the labelled formula $x : \varphi$, occurring in the root of \mathfrak{T} , is not satisfied under I_β , so M_β is the desired countermodel for φ .

A small technical difficulty arises from the fact that $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ could also contain relational atoms of the form $w \leq u$, for some singleton variables $w, u \in \mathfrak{S}$. In order for these atoms to be satisfied in our model, we have to make sure that the singleton states denoted by w and u are *identified* in M_{β} . For this purpose, we first define an equivalence relation \sim_{β} on \mathfrak{S} in the following way.

Definition 5.6.5 (The Relation \sim_{β}). Let β be a branch in some proof search tree. The binary relation \sim_{β} on \mathfrak{S} is defined by $w \sim_{\beta} u :\Leftrightarrow (w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, for all singleton variables $w, u \in \mathfrak{S}$.

Lemma 5.6.6. If β is an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1, then \sim_{β} is an equivalence relation on \mathfrak{S} , so \sim_{β} is reflexive, symmetric and transitive.

Proof. The reflexivity and transitivity of \sim_{β} follows immediately from parts (i) and (ii) of Lemma 5.6.4. Thus, it suffices to show that \sim_{β} is symmetric. For this purpose, let $w, u \in \mathfrak{S}$ be arbitrary and suppose that $w \sim_{\beta} u$, so we have $(w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. By Lemma 5.6.4 (vi), this implies $(w \leq \emptyset) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ or $(u \leq w) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Because β is infinite, we cannot have $(w \leq \emptyset) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, as this would mean that β contains an instance of Ax^{\emptyset} . Hence, it follows $(u \leq w) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and therefore $u \sim_{\beta} w$. \Box

In what follows, we will write $[w]_{\beta}$ for the *equivalence class* of a variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ with respect to \sim_{β} . Using the equivalence relation \sim_{β} , we are now able to define the desired Kripke model M_{β} and the interpretation I_{β} for each infinite branch in the tree constructed by our algorithm.

Definition 5.6.7 (The Kripke Model M_{β}). Let β be an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1. We define M_{β} to be the Kripke model $M_{\beta} = \langle W_{\beta}, R_{\beta}, V_{\beta} \rangle$ given by:

(i) $W_{\beta} := \{ [w]_{\beta} \mid w \in \mathfrak{S} \}$, so W_{β} is the set of all equivalence classes of the relation \sim_{β} ,

(ii) $([w]_{\beta}, [u]_{\beta}) \in R_{\beta} \iff$ there are $w' \in [w]_{\beta}$ and $u' \in [u]_{\beta}$ such that $(u' \leq R(w')) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$,

(iii) $V_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}, p) = 1 \iff \text{there exists some } u \in [w]_{\beta} \text{ such that } (u:p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}.$

Definition 5.6.8 (The Interpretation I_{β}). Let β be an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1. For all $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, we define an interpretation I_{β} over M_{β} as follows:

- (i) $I_{\beta}(w) := \{[w]_{\beta}\}, \text{ so } I_{\beta}(w) \text{ is the singleton containing only } [w]_{\beta},$
- (ii) $I_{\beta}(x) := \{ [w]_{\beta} \in W_{\beta} \mid \text{there exists } u \in [w]_{\beta} \text{ such that } (u \leq x) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \}.$

We assume that I_{β} is extended to arbitrary labels in the usual way (see Definition 5.5.1). Moreover, in the following, we will also write F_{β} for the Kripke frame given by $F_{\beta} := \langle W_{\beta}, R_{\beta} \rangle$. One can now prove that, for every label π , the state $I_{\beta}(\pi)$ simply amounts to the set of all equivalence classes $[w]_{\beta}$ for which $w \leq \pi$ occurs in $\Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. This is expressed by the following lemma.

Lemma 5.6.9. Let β be an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1. For every singleton variable $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ and for every label π , we have: $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ if and only if $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$.

Proof. Let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be arbitrary. We proceed by induction on the structure of the label π .

Case 1: Let $\pi = u$ for some $u \in \mathfrak{S}$. Using the definitions of I_{β} and \sim_{β} , one readily sees that we have the following equivalences: $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(u)$ iff $[w]_{\beta} = [u]_{\beta}$ iff $w \sim_{\beta} u$ iff $(w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$.

Case 2: Let $\pi = x$ for some variable $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. For the left-to-right direction, suppose that it holds $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(x)$. Then, by definition of I_{β} , there exists some $u \in [w]_{\beta}$ such that $(u \leq x) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Since $u \in [w]_{\beta}$, we also have $(w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by definition of \sim_{β} . Now, from $(w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(u \leq x) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, we may conclude $(w \leq x) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.4 (ii). The converse direction is straightforward, since $(w \leq x) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ directly implies $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(x)$ by definition of I_{β} .

Case 3: Let $\pi = \emptyset$. By Definition 5.5.1, we have $I_{\beta}(\emptyset) = \emptyset$ and so $[w]_{\beta} \notin I_{\beta}(\emptyset)$. And since β is infinite, we also have $(w \leq \emptyset) \notin \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, because otherwise β would contain an instance of Ax^{\emptyset} .

Case 4: Let $\pi = \sigma\tau$. For the left-to-right direction, suppose that it holds $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\sigma\tau)$. Since we have $I_{\beta}(\sigma\tau) = I_{\beta}(\sigma) \cap I_{\beta}(\tau)$ by Definition 5.5.1, this yields $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\sigma)$ and $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\tau)$. Therefore, by induction hypothesis, we must have $(w \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(w \leq \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, so it follows $(w \leq \sigma\tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.4 (iv). For the converse direction, assume that it holds $(w \leq \sigma\tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. By Lemma 5.6.4 (i), we also have $(\sigma\tau \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\sigma\tau \leq \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, so this implies $(w \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(w \leq \tau) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.4 (ii). Now, by induction hypothesis, we may conclude $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\sigma)$ and $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\tau)$. But then, because $I_{\beta}(\sigma\tau) = I_{\beta}(\sigma) \cap I_{\beta}(\tau)$, we also have $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\sigma\tau)$, as desired. If π is of the form $\pi = \sigma + \tau$, then the argument is similar.

 $\begin{array}{l} Case \ 5: \operatorname{Let} \pi = R(u) \ \text{for some variable } u \in \mathfrak{S}. \ \text{For the left-to-right direction, suppose } [w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(R(u)). \ \text{Since we have } I_{\beta}(R(u)) = R_{\beta}([u]_{\beta}) \ \text{by definition of } I_{\beta}, \ \text{this yields } ([u]_{\beta}, [w]_{\beta}) \in R_{\beta}. \ \text{Hence, by definition of } R_{\beta}, \ \text{there are some } u' \in [u]_{\beta} \ \text{and } w' \in [w]_{\beta} \ \text{such that } (w' \leq R(u')) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}. \ \text{Because } u' \in [u]_{\beta} \ \text{and } w' \in [w]_{\beta}, \ \text{we must have } (u' \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ \text{and } (w \leq w') \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ \text{by definition of } \sim_{\beta}. \ \text{From } (w \leq w') \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ \text{and } (w' \leq R(u')) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ \text{it follows } (w \leq R(u')) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ \text{by Lemma 5.6.4 (ii). And since } (u' \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}, \ \text{we also have } (R(u') \leq R(u)) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ \text{by Lemma 5.6.4 (ii). The right-to-left direction is trivial, since } (w \leq R(u)) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow} \ \text{directly implies } ([u]_{\beta}, [w]_{\beta}) \in R_{\beta} \ \text{and therefore } [w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(R(u)) \ \text{by definition of } R_{\beta} \ \text{and } I_{\beta}. \ \Box$

Next, we can show that our interpretation does in fact have the desired properties. That is, all expressions in $\Gamma^{\downarrow}_{\beta}$ are satisfied under I_{β} and all expressions in $\Delta^{\downarrow}_{\beta}$ are not satisfied under I_{β} .

Lemma 5.6.10. Let β be an infinite branch in the proof search tree constructed by Algorithm 1. For every relational atom $(\pi \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, it is the case that $I_{\beta}(\pi) \subseteq I_{\beta}(\sigma)$.

Proof. Let $(\pi \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ be arbitrary. Moreover, let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be an arbitrary variable and suppose $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$. By Lemma 5.6.9, this yields $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Now, because $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, it follows $(w \leq \sigma) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.4 (ii). But then, using Lemma 5.6.9 again, we may conclude $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\sigma)$. Since $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ was arbitrary, this shows $I_{\beta}(\pi) \subseteq I_{\beta}(\sigma)$. \Box

Lemma 5.6.11. Let β be an infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1. For every labelled formula $\pi : \varphi$, if $(\pi : \varphi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models \varphi$, and if $(\pi : \varphi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, then $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \not\models \varphi$.

Proof. Let β be an arbitrary infinite branch in the tree constructed by Algorithm 1 for some input. Moreover, let π be an arbitrary label. We proceed by induction on the structure of φ . *Case 1*: Let $\varphi = p$ be atomic. For the first part, assume $(\pi : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Let $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ be arbitrary and suppose $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$. By Lemma 5.6.9, this implies $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Now, as we have both $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, it follows $(w : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.3 (i). But then, by definition of V_{β} , we also have $V_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}, p) = 1$. Thus, as $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ was arbitrary, it holds $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models p$ by Definition 5.1.3. For the second part, assume that $(\pi : p) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, by Lemma 5.6.3 (i), there exists some $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(w : p) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. From $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, it follows $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ by Lemma 5.6.9. Towards a contradiction, suppose $V_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}, p) = 1$. Then, by definition of V_{β} , there exists some $u \in [w]_{\beta}$ such that $(u : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Thus, u satisfies $(w \leq u) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(u : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, so it holds $(w : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.3 (i). But now we have both $(w : p) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(w : p) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, so β must contain an instance of Ax, which is a contradiction to the assumption that β in infinite. Therefore, we have $V_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}, p) = 0$. But then, since $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$, it follows $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \not\models p$ by Definition 5.1.3. The case $\varphi = \bot$ is easy and can be treated similarly.

Case 2: Let $\varphi = \psi \land \chi$. For the first part, suppose that $(\pi : \psi \land \chi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. By Lemma 5.6.3 (iii), this yields $(\pi : \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : \chi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Hence, by induction hypothesis, we must have $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models \psi$ and $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models \chi$, so it follows $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models \psi \land \chi$ by Definition 5.1.3. For the second part, assume $(\pi : \psi \land \chi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, by Lemma 5.6.3 (iii), we have $(\pi : \psi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ or $(\pi : \chi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, which implies $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \nvDash \psi$ or $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \nvDash \chi$ by induction hypothesis. Therefore, we may conclude $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \nvDash \psi \land \chi$. The case $\varphi = \psi \lor \chi$ is treated similarly.

Case 3: Let $\varphi = \psi \to \chi$. For the first part, suppose $(\pi : \psi \to \chi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Towards a contradiction, assume $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \not\models \psi \to \chi$, i.e., there exists a state $s \subseteq I_{\beta}(\pi)$ such that $M_{\beta}, s \models \psi$ and $M_{\beta}, s \not\models \chi$. Then, by Lemma 5.1.12, there exists a *finite* substate $t \subseteq s \subseteq I_{\beta}(\pi)$ such that $M_{\beta}, t \not\models \chi$. By persistency, t must also satisfy $M_{\beta}, t \models \psi$. Moreover, because t is finite, we can write t in the form $t = \{[w_1]_{\beta}, \ldots, [w_n]_{\beta}\}$ for some $w_1, \ldots, w_n \in \mathfrak{S}$. Hence, t can be represented by the label σ given by $\sigma := w_1 + \ldots + w_n$, so we have $I_{\beta}(\sigma) = t$. But then, from $M_{\beta}, t \models \psi$ and $M_{\beta}, t \not\models \chi$, it follows $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\sigma) \models \psi$ and $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\sigma) \not\models \chi$. Now, since we have $I_{\beta}(\sigma) \subseteq I_{\beta}(\pi)$ and $I_{\beta}(\sigma) = \{[w_1]_{\beta}, \ldots, [w_n]_{\beta}\}$, we must have $[w_i]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$. Thus, by Lemma 5.6.9, it holds $(w_i \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$, so we may conclude $(\sigma \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.4 (v). But then, as we have $(\sigma \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : \psi \to \chi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, it follows $(\sigma : \psi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ or $(\sigma : \chi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.3 (v). By induction hypothesis, this yields $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\sigma) \models \psi$ and $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\sigma) \models \chi$. Therefore, we must have $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models \psi \to \chi$, as desired.

For the second part, assume $(\pi : \psi \to \chi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, by Lemma 5.6.4 (v), there is an $x \in \mathfrak{V}$ with $(x \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, $(x : \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(x : \chi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. By induction hypothesis and Lemma 5.6.10, this yields $I_{\beta}(x) \subseteq I_{\beta}(\pi)$, M_{β} , $I_{\beta}(x) \models \psi$ and M_{β} , $I_{\beta}(x) \not\models \chi$. Hence, M_{β} , $I_{\beta}(\pi) \not\models \psi \to \chi$.

Case 4: Let $\varphi = \Box \psi$. For the first part, assume $(\pi : \Box \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Moreover, suppose for a contradiction that $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \not\models \Box \psi$, i.e., there exists some $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ such that $M_{\beta}, R_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}) \not\models \psi$. Since $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$, we must have $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.9. But then, because $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(\pi : \Box \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$, we may conclude $(R(w) : \psi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ by Lemma 5.6.3 (vi). Thus, by induction hypothesis, we have $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(R(w)) \models \psi$ and so $M_{\beta}, R_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}) \models \psi$, which is a contradiction to the assumption that $M_{\beta}, R_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}) \not\models \psi$. Therefore, we must have $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \models \Box \psi$. For the second part, assume $(\pi : \Box \psi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. Then, by Lemma 5.6.3 (vi), there exists some $w \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that $(w \leq \pi) \in \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and $(R(w) : \psi) \in \Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$. By induction hypothesis and Lemma 5.6.9, this implies $[w]_{\beta} \in I_{\beta}(\pi)$ and $M_{\beta}, R_{\beta}([w]_{\beta}) \not\models \psi$, so it follows $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(\pi) \not\models \Box \psi$ by Definition 5.1.3.

Finally, we need to prove that our countermodel M_{β} does in fact have the frame properties expressed by the geometric axioms in A. In other words, we have to show that F_{β} is an \mathfrak{L} -frame.³⁶

³⁶ Recall that, by an L-frame, we mean any Kripke frame F that validates all formulas in the standard modal logic L. Here, L is assumed to be determined by A, so this simply means that F satisfies each of the geometric axioms in A.

Lemma 5.6.12. Let β be an infinite branch in the proof search tree constructed by Algorithm 1. The Kripke frame F_{β} , defined by $F_{\beta} := \langle W_{\beta}, R_{\beta} \rangle$, is an \mathfrak{L} -frame.

Proof. It suffices to show that F_{β} satisfies each of the geometric axioms in A when considered as a model of first-order logic. To make things precise, let us recall some notation. Given any first-order formula $\theta \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ and any variable assignment $g : \mathfrak{S} \to W_{\beta}$, we write $F_{\beta} \Vdash_{g} \theta$, if F_{β} satisfies θ with respect to g in first-order logic. And if $\Sigma \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ is a set of atomic formulas, we write Σ° for the result of replacing each Ruv in Σ by the relational atom $v \leq R(u)$.

Let now $\theta \in A$ be an arbitrary geometric axiom and assume that θ is given to us in the form $\forall \vec{w}(\varphi \to (\exists u_1 \psi_1 \lor \ldots \lor \exists u_n \psi_n))$, where $\vec{w} = w_1 \cdots w_k$ is some vector of variables from \mathfrak{S} and each $\varphi, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$ is a conjunction of atomic formulas from $\mathcal{L}^{\mathfrak{S}}_{\mathsf{F}}$. We write Φ for the multiset of all atoms in φ and Ψ_i for the multiset of all atoms in ψ_i . Let $g:\mathfrak{S}\to W_\beta$ be an arbitrary variable assignment and suppose $F_{\beta} \Vdash_{g} \varphi$. By definition of W_{β} , there must be some variables $w_{1}^{*}, \ldots, w_{k}^{*} \in$ \mathfrak{S} such that $g(w_i) = [w_i^*]_\beta$ for all $1 \leq i \leq k$. Moreover, from $F_\beta \Vdash_g \varphi$, it follows $F_\beta \Vdash_g \Phi$. Using the definition of R_{β} and Lemma 5.6.4 (viii), one readily sees that this yields $\Phi^* \subseteq \Gamma^{\downarrow}_{\beta}$, where Φ^* is the multiset of relational atoms given by $\Phi^* := \Phi^{\circ}(w_1^*, \dots, w_k^*/w_1, \dots, w_k)$. Now, since β is infinite, it must be closed under root-first applications of the geometric rule (θ -grs). Therefore, for some multiset $\Psi_i^* := \Psi_i^\circ(w_1^*, \dots, w_k^*/w_1, \dots, w_k)$, we must have $\Psi_i^*(v_i/u_i) \subseteq \Gamma_\beta^\downarrow$, where $v_i \in \mathfrak{S}$ is the eigenvariable used in the corresponding application of (θ -grs). Let now g^* be the variable assignment which is just like g, except that u_i is mapped to $[v_i]_{\beta}$, so we have $g^*(u_i) := [v_i]_{\beta}$. Using the fact that $\Psi_i^*(v_i/u_i) \subseteq \Gamma_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ and the definition of R_{β} , it is now straightforward to verify that we have $F_{\beta} \models_{g^*} \Psi_i$, so it holds $F_{\beta} \models_{g^*} \psi_i$. But then, by definition of g^* , we must also have $F_{\beta} \models_{g} \exists u_{i}\psi_{i}$ and therefore $F_{\beta} \models_{g} \exists u_{1}\psi_{1} \lor \ldots \lor \exists u_{n}\psi_{n}$. Because g was an arbitrary assignment such that $F_{\beta} \Vdash_{g} \varphi$, this shows that F_{β} satisfies θ , as desired.

We are now ready to give a general completeness proof, covering each of the proof systems $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$. As a consequence of this, it follows that our generic method described in Section 5.3 is in fact adequate in order to generate cut-free labelled sequent calculi for all geometric extensions of the basic inquisitive system InqK. This can be seen as the main result of this chapter and generalizes the corresponding result for standard modal logic established by Negri (2005).

Theorem 5.6.13 (Soundness and Completeness). Let $Inq \mathcal{L}$ be an arbitrary geometric system, let $A \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{F}^{\mathfrak{S}}$ be a finite set of geometric axioms determining \mathfrak{L} , and let $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_{A}$ be the proof system given by Definition 5.3.3. Then, $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ is sound and complete with respect to $Inq \mathfrak{L}$, i.e., for any finite $\Gamma \cup$ $\{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$, we have: $\Gamma \models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \varphi$ if and only if $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow x : \varphi$ is derivable in $\mathsf{GLinq}_{\mathsf{A}}$, for any $x \in \mathfrak{V}$. *Proof.* The soundness of $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ has been established in Proposition 5.5.2. For the completeness part, let $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{K}}$ be an arbitrary finite set of formulas and assume that the sequent $x : \Gamma \Rightarrow$ $x: \varphi$ is not derivable in $\operatorname{GLing} \mathfrak{L}_A$. Suppose for a contradiction that $\Rightarrow x: \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$ is derivable in $\operatorname{GLing} \mathfrak{L}_A$, where $\bigwedge \Gamma$ stands for the conjunction of the elements of Γ . By the invertibility of the rules $R \to \text{and } L \land$, this implies that $y \leqslant x, y : \Gamma \Rightarrow y : \varphi$ is derivable, where $y \in \mathfrak{V}$ is a fresh variable. But then, by performing the substitution (x/y) and a subsequent application of (rf), we also obtain a derivation for $x:\Gamma\Rightarrow x:arphi$, which is a contradiction to our assumption. Therefore, the sequent $\Rightarrow x : \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$ is *not* derivable in GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A . Let now \mathfrak{T} be the proof search tree constructed by Algorithm 1 for the input $\bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$, so the root node of \mathfrak{T} has the form $\Rightarrow x : \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$ arphi for some $x\in\mathfrak{V}.$ By what was said above, this sequent is not derivable in $\mathsf{GLinq}\mathfrak{L}_\mathsf{A}$, so \mathfrak{T} must be infinite. Hence, by Kőnig's lemma, \mathfrak{T} must have an infinite branch β . Let now M_{β} be the Kripke model and let I_{β} be the interpretation defined above. Then, by Lemma 5.6.11, none of the labelled formulas in $\Delta_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$ is satisfied under I_{β} , so it follows $M_{\beta}, I_{\beta}(x) \not\models \bigwedge \Gamma \to \varphi$. Therefore, by the semantics of \rightarrow and \wedge , there exists a state $s \subseteq I_{\beta}(x)$ such that $M_{\beta}, s \models \psi$ for all $\psi \in \Gamma$ and $M_{\beta}, s \not\models$ φ . Thus, because M_β is based on an \mathfrak{L} -frame by Lemma 5.6.12, we may conclude $\Gamma \not\models_{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{Inq}} \varphi$. \Box

Conclusion

In this thesis, we developed and investigated various proof systems for propositional inquisitive logic. After giving a short introduction to inquisitive semantics, we presented a very elegant natural deduction system for InqB, established a normalization theorem for this system and derived a restricted version of the subformula property from it. Our system was based on an extended natural deduction formalism in which not only formulas, but also rules can act as assumptions that may be discharged in the course of a derivation. Afterwards, we provided a G3-style labelled sequent calculus GLingB for basic inquisitive logic. In this calculus, labels were used in order to incorporate the support semantics of inquisitive logic directly into the syntax of the proof system. Special attention was paid to a thorough investigation of the structural properties of our calculus. In particular, we proved that GLingB enjoys cut-admissibility, height-preserving admissibility of weakening and contraction, and height-preserving invertibility of all rules. The completeness of our system was established proof-theoretically, by using a suitable Hilbert-style axiomatization of IngB. We also sketched a possible proof search strategy for GLingB and established a normal form result for the labels used in our system. In the second part of the thesis, we constructed cutfree labelled sequent calculi for various extensions and modifications of basic inquisitive logic. First, we considered an intuitionistic variant of IngB introduced by Ciardelli et al. (2020). Our sequent calculus for this variant was obtained from the system GLingB in a modular way and was shown to preserve the structural properties of the latter. Finally, we considered various systems of inquisitive Kripke logic. We provided a general method that allows to construct a cut-free labelled sequent calculus $GLinq \mathfrak{L}_A$ for every inquisitive Kripke logic $Inq \mathfrak{L}$ determined by some finite set of geometric implications A. This generalizes a famous result for standard modal logic established by Negri (2005). Our completeness proof was based on the construction of an infinite proof search tree and the extraction of a countermodel from an open branch of this tree.

We conclude this thesis by outlining some directions for future work. As pointed out in Chapter 2, our natural deduction system NinqB⁺ only satisfies a weak form of the subformula property, so it is not an analytic proof system in a strict sense. It would therefore be desirable to have a natural deduction system for InqB that allows for an unrestricted subformula property (at least to the extent to which *classical* natural deduction does). First investigations suggest that such a system might possibly be obtained by extending NinqB⁺ with non-primitive rules of arbitrary level, i.e., we should maybe allow the non-primitive rules of our system to discharge other non-primitive rules in a proof tree. A solution of this kind could most likely also be adapted to other non-classical logics such as, e.g., Kreisel-Putnam logic or Gödel-Dummett logic. To the best of our knowledge, higher-level natural deduction systems have not been used so far in order to obtain normalization theorems for logics that otherwise would not have an analytic natural deduction system, so this seems to be a very promising subject for further research.

Regarding our labelled sequent calculi, it would also be of great importance to develop effective *proof search procedures*, i.e., algorithms that, given any formula φ as input, either output a derivation for a sequent of the form $\Rightarrow x : \varphi$, or a finite countermodel for φ . In Section 3.4, we have already discussed some of the problems encountered in trying to construct such an algorithm for the system GLinqB. The main difficulty arises from the complex syntax of the labels used in our system, which makes it hard to define a suitable *saturation condition* for branches in a proof search tree. Our normal form result for labels (see Proposition 3.4.4) might play an important role here, since it allows to reduce the complexity of labels in a uniform way.

Finally, it would also be interesting to extend the labelled sequent calculi presented in this thesis to other systems of inquisitive logic such as, e.g., the *classical antecedent fragment* of first-order inquisitive logic (see Grilletti 2021) or extensions of InqB with *properly inquisitive modalities* (see Ciardelli 2016b, Chapter 7). We expect this to be relatively easy. In addition, it would be desirable to construct other sequent-style proof systems for inquisitive logic such as, e.g., display calculi and nested sequent calculi (see Belnap 1982; Brünnler 2006). Concerning display calculi, a first step in this direction has already been taken by Frittella et al. (2016) and Greco et al. (2017), who provide a so-called multi-type display calculus for inquisitive logic (see also Frittella et al. 2014). As far as we know, nested sequent calculi for inquisitive logic have not been studied so far.

Bibliography

Belnap, Nuel D. (1982). "Display Logic". In: Journal of Philosophical Logic 11, pp. 375-417.

- Blackburn, Patrick, de Rijke, Maarten, and Venema, Yde (2001). *Modal Logic*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Brünnler, Kai (2006). Deep Sequent Systems for Modal Logic. In: Advances in Modal Logic (AiML). Ed. by Guido Governatori, Ian Hodkinson, and Yde Venema. Vol. 6. London: College Publications, pp. 107–119.
- Chagrov, Alexander and Zakharyaschev, Michael (1997). Modal Logic. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Chen, Jinsheng and Ma, Minghui (2017). Labelled Sequent Calculus for Inquisitive Logic. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Workshop on Logic, Rationality, and Interaction (LORI). Ed. by Alexandru Baltag, Jeremy Seligman, and Tomoyuki Yamada. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Vol. 10455. Berlin: Springer, pp. 526–540.
- Ciardelli, Ivano (2009). *Inquisitive Semantics and Intermediate Logics*. MSc thesis. Institute for Logic, Language and Computation, University of Amsterdam.
- Ciardelli, Ivano (2014). *Modalities in the Realm of Questions: Axiomatizing Inquisitive Epistemic Logic*. In: *Advances in Modal Logic (AiML)*. Ed. by Rajeev Goré, Barteld Kooi, and Agi Kurucz. Vol. 10. London: College Publications, pp. 94–113.
- Ciardelli, Ivano (2016a). Dependency as Question Entailment. In: Dependence Logic: Theory and Applications. Ed. by Samson Abramsky et al. Cham: Birkhäuser/Springer, pp. 129–181.
- Ciardelli, Ivano (2016b). *Questions in Logic*. PhD thesis. Institute for Logic, Language and Computation, University of Amsterdam.
- Ciardelli, Ivano (2022). Inquisitive Logic. Consequence and Inference in the Realm of Questions. Trends in Logic. Vol. 60. Springer. Open access publication. Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-031-09706-5.
- Ciardelli, Ivano, Groenendijk, Jeroen, and Roelofsen, Floris (2019). *Inquisitive Semantics*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Open access publication. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/ oso/9780198814788.001.0001.
- Ciardelli, Ivano, Iemhoff, Rosalie, and Yang, Fan (2020). "Questions and Dependency in Intuitionistic Logic". In: *Notre Dame Journal of Formal Logic* 61.1, pp. 75–115.
- Ciardelli, Ivano and Roelofsen, Floris (2011). "Inquisitive Logic". In: *Journal of Philosophical Logic* 40.1, pp. 55–94.
- Ciardelli, Ivano and Roelofsen, Floris (2015). "Inquisitive Dynamic Epistemic Logic". In: *Synthese* 192.6, pp. 1643–1687.

- Craig, William (1953). "On Axiomatizability Within a System". In: *The Journal of Symbolic Logic* 18.1, pp. 30–32.
- Dyckhoff, Roy and Negri, Sara (2012). "Proof Analysis in Intermediate Logics". In: Archive for Mathematical Logic 51, pp. 71–92.
- Fine, Kit (1975). Some Connections Between Elementary and Modal Logic. In: Proceedings of the 3rd Scandinavian Logic Symposium. Ed. by Stig Kanger. Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics. Vol. 82. Amsterdam: North Holland, pp. 15–31.
- Fitting, Melvin (1983). Proof Methods for Modal and Intuitionistic Logics. Dordrecht, Boston, and Lancaster: Reidel.
- Frittella, Sabine et al. (2014). *Multi-Type Sequent Calculi*. In: *Trends in Logic XIII*. Ed. by Andrzej Indrzejczak, Janusz Kaczmarek, and Michal Zawidzki. Lodz: Lodz University Press, pp. 81–93.
- Frittella, Sabine et al. (2016). A Multi-Type Calculus for Inquisitive Logic. In: Proceedings of the International Workshop on Logic, Language, Information, and Computation (WoLLIC). Ed. by Jouko Väänänen, Åsa Hirvonen, and Ruy de Queiroz. Berlin and Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 215– 233.
- Gentzen, Gerhard (1935a). "Untersuchungen über das logische Schließen. I". In: *Mathematische Zeitschrift* 39.2, pp. 176–210.
- Gentzen, Gerhard (1935b). "Untersuchungen über das logische Schließen. II". In: *Mathematische Zeitschrift* 39.3, pp. 405–431.
- Gödel, Kurt (1931). "Über formal unentscheidbare Sätze der Principia Mathematica und verwandter Systeme I". In: *Monatshefte für Mathematik und Physik* 38, pp. 173–198.
- Goldblatt, Robert (2020). Fine's Theorem on First-Order Complete Modal Logics. In: Metaphysics, Meaning, and Modality: Themes from Kit Fine. Ed. by Mircea Dumitru. Oxford University Press. Chap. 16, pp. 316–334.
- Goldblatt, Robert, Hodkinson, Ian, and Venema, Yde (2003). "On Canonical Modal Logics that are not Elementarily Determined". In: *Logique et Analyse* 46.181, pp. 77–101.
- Goré, Rajeev and Ramanayake, Revantha (2012). Labelled Tree Sequents, Tree Hypersequents and Nested (Deep) Sequents. In: Advances in Modal Logic (AiML). Ed. by Thomas Bolander et al. Vol. 9. London: College Publications, pp. 279–299.
- Greco, Giuseppe, Palmigiano, Alessandra, and Yang, Fan (2017). Proper Multi-Type Display Calculi for Classical and Intuitionistic Inquisitive Logic. Contribution to the conference on Topology, Algebra, and Categories in Logic (TACL) in Prague.
- Grilletti, Gianluca (2021). "Completeness for the Classical Antecedent Fragment of Inquisitive First-Order Logic". In: *Journal of Logic, Language and Information* 30, pp. 725–751.
- Groenendijk, Jeroen (1999). *The Logic of Interrogation: Classical Version*. In: *Proceedings of the 9th Coference on Semantics and Linguistic Theory (SALT)*. Ed. by Tanya Matthews and Devon Strolovitch. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, pp. 109–126.
- Groenendijk, Jeroen (2009). Inquisitive Semantics: Two Possibilities for Disjunction. In: Proceedings of the 7th International Tbilisi Symposium on Logic, Language, and Computation (TbiLLC). Ed. by Peter Bosch, David Gabelaia, and Jérôme Lang. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Vol. 5422. Berlin and Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 80–94.
- Groenendijk, Jeroen and Roelofsen, Floris (2009). *Inquisitive Semantics and Pragmatics*. Presented at the Workshop on Language, Communication, and Rational Agency at Stanford. Retrieved from https://eprints.illc.uva.nl/id/eprint/348/1/PP-2009-18.text.pdf.

- Groenendijk, Jeroen and Stokhof, Martin (1984). *Studies on the Semantics of Questions and the Pragmatics of Answers.* PhD thesis. University of Amsterdam.
- Hakli, Raul and Negri, Sara (2012). "Does the Deduction Theorem Fail for Modal Logic?" In: *Synthese* 187, pp. 849–867.
- Harrop, Ronald (1956). "On Disjunctions and Existential Statements in Intuitionistic Systems of Logic". In: *Mathematische Annalen* 132, pp. 347–361.
- Harrop, Ronald (1960). "Concerning Formulas of the Types $A \to B \lor C$, $A \to (Ex)B(x)$ in Intuitionistic Formal Systems". In: *The Journal of Symbolic Logic* 25.1, pp. 27–32.
- Hintikka, Jaakko (1962). *Knowledge and Belief: An Introduction to the Logic of the Two Notions*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- Kanger, Stig (1957). Provability in Logic. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell.
- Ketonen, Oiva (1944). Untersuchungen zum Prädikatenkalkül. In: Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae. Series A, I. Mathematica-physica 23. Helsinki.
- Kleene, Stephen Cole (1952). Introduction to Metamathematics. Amsterdam: North Holland.
- Kreisel, Georg and Putnam, Hilary (1957). "Eine Unableitbarkeitsbeweismethode für den Intuitionistischen Aussagenkalkül". In: Archiv für mathematische Logik und Grundlagenforschung 3, pp. 74–78.
- Kripke, Saul A. (1965). Semantical Analysis of Intuitionistic Logic I. In: Formal Systems and Recursive Functions. Ed. by John N. Crossley and Michael A. E. Dummett. Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics. Vol. 40. Amsterdam: Elsevier, pp. 92–130.
- Łukasiewicz, Jan (1952). "On the Intuitionistic Theory of Deduction". In: *Indagationes Mathematicae* 55, pp. 202–212.
- Mac Lane, Saunders and Moerdijk, Ieke (1994). *Sheaves in Geometry and Logic. A First Introduction to Topos Theory.* New York: Springer.
- Mascarenhas, Salvador (2009). *Inquisitive Semantics and Logic*. MSc thesis. Institute for Logic, Language and Computation, University of Amsterdam.
- Mints, Grigori (1997). "Indexed Systems of Sequents and Cut-Elimination". In: Journal of Philosophical Logic 26.6, pp. 671–696.
- Negri, Sara (2003). "Contraction-Free Sequent Calculi for Geometric Theories with an Application to Barr's Theorem". In: *Archive for Mathematical Logic* 42, pp. 389–401.
- Negri, Sara (2005). "Proof Analysis in Modal Logic". In: *Journal of Philosophical Logic* 34, pp. 507–544.
- Negri, Sara (2009). Kripke Completeness Revisited. In: Acts of Knowledge: History, Philosophy and Logic. Essays Dedicated to Göran Sundholm. Ed. by Giuseppe Primiero and Shahid Rahman. College Publications, pp. 233–266.
- Negri, Sara (2011). "Proof Theory for Modal Logic". In: Philosophy Compass 6.8, pp. 523-538.
- Negri, Sara (2014). "Proofs and Countermodels in Non-Classical Logics". In: *Logica Universalis* 8, pp. 25–60.
- Negri, Sara and Von Plato, Jan (1998). "Cut Elimination in the Presence of Axioms". In: *The Bulletin of Symbolic Logic* 4.4, pp. 418–435.
- Negri, Sara and Von Plato, Jan (2001). *Structural Proof Theory*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Negri, Sara and Von Plato, Jan (2011). *Proof Analysis: A Contribution to Hilbert's Last Problem*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Palmgren, Erik (2002). "An Intuitionistic Axiomatisation of Real Closed Fields". In: *Mathematical Logic Quarterly* 48, pp. 297–299.
- Prawitz, Dag (1965). *Natural Deduction: A Proof-Theoretical Study*. Stockholm, Göteborg and Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksell.
- Putnam, Hilary (1965). "Craig's Theorem". In: The Journal of Philosophy 62.10, pp. 251-260.
- Schroeder-Heister, Peter (1981). Untersuchungen zur regellogischen Deutung von Aussagenverknüpfungen. PhD thesis. University of Bonn. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.15496/ publikation-68454.
- Schroeder-Heister, Peter (1982). Sentential Calculi with Rules of Arbitrary Levels. Manuscript. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.15496/publikation-68454.
- Schroeder-Heister, Peter (1984). "A Natural Extension of Natural Deduction". In: *The Journal of Symbolic Logic* 49.4, pp. 1284–1300.
- Schroeder-Heister, Peter (2014). "The Calculus of Higher-Level Rules, Propositional Quantification, and the Foundational Approach to Proof-Theoretic Harmony". In: *Studia Logica* 102, pp. 1185–1216.
- Schütte, Kurt (1956). "Ein System des Verknüpfenden Schliessens". In: Archiv für mathematische Logik und Grundlagenforschung 2, pp. 55–67.
- Smith, Peter (2013). An Introduction to Gödel's Theorems. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Stalnaker, Robert (1976). Propositions. In: Issues in the Philosophy of Language: Proceedings of the 1972 Oberlin Colloquium in Philosophy. Ed. by Alfred F. MacKay and Daniel D. Merrill. New Haven and London: Yale University Press, pp. 79–91.
- Stalnaker, Robert (1978). "Assertion". In: Syntax and Semantics 9, pp. 315-332.
- Stalnaker, Robert (1999). Context and Content: Essays on Intentionality in Speech and Thought. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Takeuti, Gaisi (1987). *Proof Theory*. Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics. Vol. 81. Amsterdam: North Holland.
- ten Cate, Balder and Shan, Chung-Chieh (2007). *Axiomatizing Groenendijk's Logic of Interrogation*. In: *Questions in Dynamic Semantics*. Ed. by Maria Aloni, Alastair Butler, and Paul Dekker. Amsterdam: Elsevier. Chap. 3, pp. 63–82.
- Troelstra, A. S. and Schwichtenberg, H. (1996). *Basic Proof Theory*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Väänänen, Jouko (2007). Dependence Logic: A New Approach to Independence Friendly Logic. London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Vol. 70. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Viganò, Luca (2000). Labelled Non-Classical Logics. Boston and Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Von Plato, Jan (2008). "Gentzen's Proof of Normalization for Natural Deduction". In: *The Bulletin of Symbolic Logic* 14.2, pp. 240–257.
- Von Plato, Jan (2012). "Gentzen's Proof Systems: Byproducts in a Work of Genius". In: *The Bulletin of Symbolic Logic* 18.3, pp. 313–367.
- Yang, Fan (2014). On Extensions and Variants of Dependence Logic: A Study of Intuitionistic Connectives in the Team Semantics Setting. PhD thesis. University of Helsinki.
- Yang, Fan and Väänänen, Jouko (2016). "Propositional Logics of Dependence". In: Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 167, pp. 557–589.